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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31  
(In millions, except per share amounts)

2018 2019

Revenues $4,494 $4,891

Net Income $391 $425

Operating Income After Income Taxes1 $292 $332

Total Assets $12,400 $12,491

Shareholders’ Equity $2,955 $2,916

PER SHARE DATA

Net Income Per Diluted Share $9.09 $10.46

Operating Income Per Diluted Share1 $6.79 $8.16

Book Value Per Share $69.81 $75.94 

1 Operat ing income af ter income taxes and operat ing income af ter income taxes per dilu ted share are non-GA AP measures. 
Operat ing income before income taxes is the total operat ing income of each of the three business segments (Commercial 
L ines; Personal L ines; and Other) before income taxes. The def ini t ions and reconciliat ions of operat ing income and operat ing 
income per dilu ted share to the most direct ly comparable GA AP measures, income f rom continuing operat ions and income 
f rom continuing operat ions per diluted share, respect ively, can be found in the endnotes.
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FIVE-YEAR TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE*

* The graph above compares the per formance of the company’s common stock since December 31, 2014, with the per formance 
of the S&P Proper t y & Casualt y Insurance Index and the S&P 500 Index . Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2014, in 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.’s common stock or applicable index , including reinvestment of div idends. Source: S&P 
Global Market Intelligence ©2019
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A N N U A L  M E E T I N G  O F  S H A R E H O L D E R S

The management and Board of Directors of The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

invite you to attend the company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The meeting  

will be held on Tuesday, May 12, 2020, at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time. While we intend 

to hold our annual meeting in person at our corporate headquarters, we are 

monitoring the public health impact of the novel coronavirus outbreak and the 

COVID-19 illness. If we determine that holding an in-person annual meeting could 

pose a risk to the health and safety of our shareholders, employees, and directors, 

or if we are otherwise required by state, local or other authorities to limit physical  

attendance and/or access to the meeting site, the Company may decide to hold 

the annual meeting solely by means of remote communication. In the event we 

decide to hold the annual meeting solely by remote communication, we will 

announce that determination in advance as promptly as practicable, and details 

on how to participate and demonstrate your ownership as of the record date will 

be issued by press release, posted on both our website and our proxy hosting 

website and filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission as additional 

proxy material. 

C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E  A N D  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board Committee Charters, Code of 

Conduct and other governance information are available on our website at  

hanover.com, under “About Us — Corporate Governance.” For a printed copy  

of any of these documents, shareholders may contact the company’s secretary  

at our corporate offices. 

For information on our values, corporate responsibility and inclusion and diversity, 

see those headings on our website under “About Us.” 

The company has filed its CEO and CFO Section 302 certificates as exhibits to its 

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. In 2019,  

the company also has submitted its annual CEO certification to the New York 

Stock Exchange.

C O M M O N  S T O C K

The common stock of The Hanover 

Insurance Group, Inc. is traded on 

the New York Stock Exchange under 

the symbol “THG.” As of the close 

of business on March 17, 2020, the 

company had approximately 15,878 

shareholders of record. On the same 

date, the closing price of the company’s 

common stock was $92.93 per share.

C O M M O N  S T O C K  P R I C E S

2019 HIGH LOW

First Quarter $120.17 $108.54

Second Quarter $128.90 $114.11

Third Quarter $135.71 $127.20

Fourth Quarter $139.27 $126.14

2018 HIGH LOW

First Quarter $120.84 $106.61

Second Quarter $123.22 $112.61

Third Quarter $130.49 $115.28

Fourth Quarter $120.25 $105.29
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To Our Shareholders,To Our Shareholders,

Our company delivered strong  

performance and clearly was on the 

move in 2019. In a dynamic and  

competitive marketplace, we continued 

to build on our strong financial  

foundation, advancing our businesses 

and shaping the future in ways that 

will benefit all of our stakeholders.

Now, nearly three months into 2020, 

as I write this letter, our country is 

in the midst of responding to the 

COVID-19 pandemic. We believe our 

company is well-prepared to manage 

through the current circumstances. 

We have taken the recommended 

actions to protect the health and 

well-being of our employees, while 

meeting our customers’ expectations, 

continuing to work diligently with our 

agents, all in what we believe is in the 

best interest of our shareholders. 

Our company is in excellent financial 

condition, with a strong balance sheet 

and considerable financial flexibility. 

We are comfortable with our highly 

rated and well-laddered investment 

portfolio.

In the face of continuing change and 

challenge, I am more confident than 

ever we have built a distinctive and 

diversified business comprised of 

talented people delivering high-quality 

insurance solutions and capable of 

sustaining broad-based, consistent 

profitability.

We have a clear strategic focus,  

a unique and proven business  

strategy, and a broad product portfolio 

that enables us to deliver innovative 

insurance products and services to 

our customers through a select group 

of the best independent agents in  

our business. 

The property and casualty industry has 

undergone pervasive and significant 

change in recent years. Not long ago, 

a company’s ability to deliver superior 

top- and bottom-line performance was  

heavily influenced by dramatic pricing 

19%

19%

21%

26%

15%

–   Small Commercial
–   Middle Market
–   Specialty Lines
–   Personal Auto
–   Homeowners

$4.6B

3

  JOHN C. ROCHE 
President and Chief Executive Off icer

INSURANCE PRODUCT MIX 
2019 Net Premiums Written
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swings and market cycles. Today, 

however, success is determined 

by an individual company’s ability 

to understand the nuances of the 

business, as well as prevailing market 

conditions — by product line, sector, 

geographic location and more —  

and to meet the changing customer 

expectations for customizable products 

and technology-enhanced services.

As the industry has changed, we have 

adjusted our operating model and 

developed capabilities that set us 

apart from our competition. We have 

invested in our local market presence, 

as well as in market intelligence more 

broadly, to help us anticipate and  

capitalize on emerging trends. We have 

developed advanced underwriting, 

loss analysis and mix management 

capabilities using sophisticated data, 

analytics and digital tools. We also 

have established specialized product 

expertise, an unmatched distribution 

capability and a market-leading  

claims experience. 

Now, as we seek to take our  

organization to the next level, we are 

determined to make the most of our 

inherent strengths — leveraging our 

experienced team and unique culture, 

anticipating evolving market trends, 

identifying emerging opportunities, 

and reacting with agility and expertise  

— to enable our partners and our 

company to grow with purpose and 

profitability.

Building on Our Strong  Building on Our Strong  
Financial Foundation Financial Foundation 

Our financial performance during 2019 

is a reflection of our sound business 

strategy, rigorous financial and  

exposure management, and  

disciplined underwriting approach.

During the year, we continued to build 

on the positive momentum we have 

established across our businesses.  

We generated operating income1 of  

$332 million, up 14% from $292 million. 

Once again, we delivered top-quartile  

returns, with an operating return on 

equity2 of 12% and an adjusted return 

on equity2 of 12.8%. Virtually all of 

our businesses delivered target or 

above-target returns. This broad-

based profitability demonstrates our 

underwriting expertise and reflects 

the significant management actions 

we have taken with respect to the mix 

of our product portfolio and risks. 

Over the course of the year, we actively 

managed our business mix, focusing 

growth on our most profitable lines, 

taking rate and pricing actions as 

needed, and addressing vulnerabilities 

in more challenging lines. All in, we  

COMBINED RATIO

95.6%96.1%97.3%
100.4%

98.1%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

31.6%
32.1%

32.6%
33.2%33.3%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

EXPENSE RATIO3

95.6%96.1%97.3%
100.4%

98.1%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

31.6%
32.1%

32.6%
33.2%33.3%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
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increased net premiums written by 

4.5%, or nearly 6% excluding targeted 

underwriting actions4, and we  

generated a combined ratio, excluding 

catastrophes5, of 91.8%. In addition, we 

delivered a 50 basis point improvement 

in our expense ratio3 as we continued 

to instill a disciplined expense culture 

while investing in strategic, profitable 

growth. 

Also, as good stewards of our balance 

sheet, we prudently managed our 

capital, redeploying earnings into 

profitable business initiatives and 

returning the excess capital to our 

shareholders. During 2019, we  

redeployed approximately $850 million 

in equity generated by the sale of 

Chaucer, our former Lloyd’s specialty 

business. This prompt deployment was  

achieved through three accelerated 

share repurchase programs and two 

special dividends. These actions further 

demonstrate our commitment to  

allocate our capital with our share-

holders’ best interests in mind.

Our strong financial performance over 

the last several years was a key factor 

in the continued appreciation of our 

company’s stock price through the 

end of 2019. 

Focusing on Our VisionFocusing on Our Vision

With a strong financial foundation 

in place, we are committed to be 

the premier property and casualty 

franchise in the independent agency 

channel — one that delivers significant 

value for our agent partners, customers,  

shareholders, employees and the 

communities we call home.

In keeping with that commitment, we 

invested heavily in our strategy during 

2019, determined to be an agency 

carrier of choice, delivering leading 

specialized capabilities, and developing  

digital capabilities and innovative 

tools to help our partners grow.

Enhancing Our Position as an  Enhancing Our Position as an  
Insurance Carrier of Choice Insurance Carrier of Choice 

As we seek to profitably grow our 

business, we remain committed  

to creating mutually beneficial  

relationships with our independent 

agent partners. We reinforced this 

commitment during 2019, working 

closely with our agents to identify 

emerging customer needs and  

providing effective and reliable  

insurance solutions. We further  

enhanced our strong local market 

presence, providing detailed market 

MIX BY LINE OF BUSINESS 
2019 Net Premiums Written
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SPECIALTY PRODUCT MIX 
2019 Net Premiums Written

and peer agency benchmarks to help 

our agents maximize their potential, 

and serve their customers better. At 

the same time, we gained valuable 

market insight to inform our own  

strategy and plans. 

Our unique approach has enabled us 

to help our agent partners and our 

company identify evolving market 

trends and challenges, and respond 

effectively, creating and capitalizing 

on new opportunities. As a result, 

during 2019, we increased transactional 

new business in personal and small 

commercial lines — two of the most 

profitable areas of our business —  

and generated solid growth across 

the best-performing segments of  

our franchise.

We strengthened our distribution 

capability as well during the year,  

selectively adding new agent partners  

and expanding certain existing agency 

relationships, while increasing the 

number of agents who write more than  

five lines of business with us. In addition, 

we enhanced the depth of our existing 

relationships, as demonstrated by the 

growing number of agents who write 

more than $5 million in premium with us. 

This cohort now generates nearly 60% 

of our overall premium and delivers 

superior underwriting profits. 

Expanding Our Specialized  Expanding Our Specialized  
Capabilities Capabilities 

Over the past several years, we have 

developed a broad, specialized and 

differentiated product set across all 

areas of our business, and we are 

committed to continue to add  

capabilities to drive future growth and 

make our company even more relevant 

to our agent partners and customers. 

During 2019, we continued to build 

out our specialty portfolio, expanding 

new product capabilities, including 

excess and surplus, cyber and financial  

institutions, and enhancing our  

professional liability platform. We also 

advanced our Total Hanover initiative, 

leveraging our specialty capabilities 

across our commercial lines customer 

base. Our specialty business today 

generates $1 billion in premium, making 

our company a leading domestic  

specialty insurance provider. 

We expanded our specialized  

capabilities across our core businesses 

as well. In personal lines, we continued  

to focus on the whole account market, 

enhancing our home, auto and ancillary 
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coverages. For example, we completed 

the rollout of our popular Hanover 

Prestige product during the year, 

delivering high-value home, auto and 

condominium coverages for customers 

with more complex insurance needs. 

Our profitable account business now 

represents approximately 85% of our 

total personal lines book. 

In core commercial lines, we continued  

to focus on small and mid-size accounts. 

We leveraged our market-leading 

small commercial platform, as well as 

our expertise and product solutions  

in specialized middle market industry 

segments, driving strong growth across 

both businesses. We also enhanced 

our international capabilities for 

domestic customers with risks outside 

of the United States, through a global 

partner, rounding out our core  

commercial offering. 

Responding to Innovation and Responding to Innovation and 
Efficiency Imperatives Efficiency Imperatives 

Our industry faces an innovation 

imperative. Advancements in web, 

mobile, voice, digital and cloud-based 

technologies are leading to new  

customer expectations and redefining  

the way we, along with our agent  

partners, serve our customers. 

The way we embrace innovation is 

unique in its agency orientation. For 

us, digital is a proxy for efficiency and 

a new way to engage with customers.  

The technology is not, however, 

intended to take the agent out of the 

process. We are strong believers that 

the insurance segments we serve will 

continue to demand and require the 

advice of experienced independent 

agents. Instead, technology is a way to  

provide improvements and efficiencies 

for our customers and agents. We 

call this approach our “digital assist” 

model. 

Our intent is to focus on evolving 

customer segments, leveraging data, 

analytics and emerging technology 

to meet our agents’ and customers’ 

needs, improving the customer  

experience, and helping our agents 

and our company grow.

With this in mind, we made investments  

across the insurance value chain during 

the year. For example, we deployed a 

new personal lines quote-and-issue  

platform, expanded capabilities through 

a web-based customer self-service 

tool and mobile application, and 

created new live chat capabilities for 

agents. We invested in new claims 

and risk solutions capabilities as well, 

including digital customer self-service 

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

$2.50SPECIAL

SPECIAL

$2.45

$4.75
$2.22

$2.04

$1.88

$1.69

DIVIDENDS DECLARED  
PER COMMON SHARE

2015 2016 2017 2018* 2019*

$75.94

$69.81$70.59
$67.40$66.21

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE

* Book value per share in 2018 and 2019 include the declarat ion of the $ 4.75 and $2.50 per share special cash div idends, respect ively, related to the sale of Chaucer  
at the end of 2018. GA AP book value per share in 2018 and 2019 was $69.81 and $75.94, respect ively.
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tools that enhance claims handling, 

providing faster adjudication and digital 

delivery of claims payments, and  

expanded the use of drone technology  

to improve the claims inspection  

process and help mitigate losses. We 

also are working on innovative solutions 

to drive growth — launching a new 

digital quote-and-issue platform in 

commercial lines, while leveraging 

data and analytics to streamline the 

underwriting processes. 

Digital advancements provide  

important competitive advantages 

for our company. We will continue to 

develop innovative approaches to our 

work, improving our data and analytics, 

and modernizing the customer and 

agent experiences. 

Advancing Our Caring, Socially Advancing Our Caring, Socially 
Responsible CultureResponsible Culture

As much as anything, the success we 

have achieved in building our company  

is a reflection of our talented and 

dedicated team, and our unique, 

collaborative and agile culture. 

Our team and our culture are true 

differentiators, enabling our business 

strategy and setting our company 

apart from our competitors. 

As a team, we take great pride in all 

we have accomplished in our business 

and all we have done to enhance our 

reputation as a leading employer and 

a responsible corporate citizen.

Our efforts to create a special company 

were recognized again in 2019. Forbes 

magazine included our company 

among its annual ranking of America’s 

best employers. 

We also made significant progress  

on our journey to become an even 

more inclusive and diverse company.  

I joined more than 750 CEOs across 

the country in signing the CEO Action 

for Diversity and Inclusion Pledge,  

reinforcing our commitment to promote 

diversity and inclusion in the workplace, 

and to foster a culture based on trust 

and respect. 

8
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With this in mind, we provided  

companywide awareness and  

educational training for managers and 

employees, diversified and expanded  

our recruiting efforts, and made 

increasing use of flexible working 

arrangements, supporting efforts to 

attract professionals from more diverse 

backgrounds. We also earned a perfect 

score on the Corporate Equality Index 

and were recognized as a best place 

to work for LGBTQ equality by the 

Human Rights Campaign Foundation. 

We take pride in our commitment to be 

a socially responsible organization —  

one that acknowledges the impact 

our business has on the environment, 

makes a difference in the communities 

where we live and work, and governs 

its actions with integrity. 

To this end, we continue to manage 

our facilities in an environmentally 

sensitive manner and strive to reduce 

our carbon footprint, making effective 

use of energy and seeking to conserve 

resources. 

Our company and our employees 

maintained their long-standing  

commitment to making a difference 

in our communities, supporting many 

causes through volunteerism and 

financial contributions, and placing a 

special focus on youth and education. 

As a premier property and casualty 

company, we are delivering value for 

our key constituents through our work 

and through our community service. 

We believe this is the best way to build 

our company’s long-term value.

To learn more about our efforts  

in these areas, I encourage you to  

visit our website at hanover.com, 

which includes a compilation of our 

activities in our inaugural Global 

Reporting Initiatives (GRI) content 

index, as well as our new responsible 

investment policy.

Looking Ahead with Confidence Looking Ahead with Confidence 

As we prepare our company for the 

future, we recognize the world we 

insure will increase in complexity and 

we will be challenged by even more 

rapidly changing market conditions 

and evolving consumer preferences. 

We have great confidence in our ability 

to anticipate emerging trends and 

respond swiftly, creating opportunities  

for our agent partners and our company. 

We view the ever-changing dynamics 

of our business as an opportunity to 

shape a bright and successful future, 

delivering sustainable value for our 

shareholders and all of our stakeholders. 

Sincerely, 

JOHN C. ROCHE 
President and Chief Executive Off icer

https://hanover.com/
https://www.hanover.com/_ASSETS/pdf/gri-index.pdf
https://www.hanover.com/_ASSETS/pdf/gri-index.pdf
https://www.hanover.com/_ASSETS/pdf/gri-index.pdf
https://www.hanover.com/_ASSETS/pdf/esg-policy-ada.pdf
https://www.hanover.com/_ASSETS/pdf/esg-policy-ada.pdf
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The Partner Group The Partner Group 

J O H N  C .  R O C H E

President and Chief Executive Officer

J E F F R E Y  M .  F A R B E R

Executive Vice President,  

Chief Financial Officer

M A R K  L .  B E R T H I A U M E

Executive Vice President,  

Chief Technology Innovation Officer

J .  K E N D A L L  H U B E R *

Executive Vice President,  

General Counsel

D E N N I S  F .  K E R R I G A N *

Executive Vice President,  

Deputy General Counsel  

R I C H A R D  W .  L AV E Y

Executive Vice President,  

President, Hanover Agency Markets 

D E N I S E  M .  L O W S L E Y

Executive Vice President,  

Chief Human Resources Officer 

B R YA N  J .  S A LVA T O R E

Executive Vice President,  

President, Specialty 

A N N  K .  T R I P P

Executive Vice President,  

Chief Investment Officer and Treasurer,  

President, Opus Investment  

Management, Inc.
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PART I

ITEM 1 — BUSINESS

ORGANIZATION

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. (“THG”) is a holding company organized as a Delaware corporation in 1995. We trace our roots
to as early as 1852, when the Hanover Fire Insurance Company was founded. Our primary business operations are property and
casualty insurance products and services. We market our products and services through independent agents and brokers in the United
States (“U.S.”). Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of THG; The Hanover Insurance Company (“Hanover
Insurance”) and Citizens Insurance Compam ny of America (“Citizens”), which are our principal propertytt and casualty subsu idiaries; and
other insurance and non-insurance subsiu diaries. Our results of operations also include the results of our discontinued operations,
consisting primarily of our former accident and health and life insurance businesses, as well as our former Chaucer international
business. As discussed further in “Discontinued Operations” below, on Decembem r 28, 2018, we completed the sale of Chaucer
Holdings Limited (“Chaucer”), our United Kingdom (“U.K.”) domiciled Lloyd’s international specialty business, to China
Reinsurance (Group) Corporation (“China Re”). The sales of our Chaucer-related Irish and Australian entities were subsu equently
completed on February 14, 2019 and April 10, 2019, respectively.

INFORMATION ABOUT OPERATINRR G SEGMENTS

We conductd our business operations through three operating segments. These segments are Commercial Lines, Personal Lines, and
Other. We report interest expense related to our corporate debt separately from the earnirr ngs of our operating segments.

Information with respect to each of our segments is included in “Results of Operations - Segments” in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and in Note 13 – “Segment Information” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following is a discussion of our operating segments.

GENERAL

In our Commercial Lines and Personal Lines segments, we underwrite commercial and personal property and casualty insurance
through Hanover Insurance, Citizens and other THG subsu idiaries, through an independent agent and broker network concentrated in
the Northeast, Midwest and Southeastt U.S. We also continue to actively grow our Commercial Lines’ presence in the Westernrr region
of the U.S., particularly in Califorff nir a, which is our largest state for Commercial Lines as measured by net premiums written. Included
in our Other segment are Opus Investment Management, Inc. (“Opus”), a wholly owned subsu idiaryr of THG, which provides
investment management services to our insurance and non-insurance companies, as well as to unaffiliated institutions, pension funds
and other organizations; earnirr ngs on holding companm y assets; holding company and othet r expenses, including certain costs associated
with retirement benefits due to former life insurance employmm ees and agents; and a run-offff voluntary pools business.

Our business strategy focuses on providing our agents and customers with competitive insurance products delivered with clear and
consistent underwriting and pricing expectations, while prudrr ently growing and diversifyinff g our product and geographia cal business
mix. We conduct our business with an emphasismm on disciplined underwriting, pricing, quality claim handling and customer service. In
2019, we wrote approximately $4.6 billion in net premiums. Agency relationships and active agency management are core to our
strategy.

RISKSSS

The industry’s and our profitabff ility are significantly affecff ted by numerous factors, including price; competition; volatile and
unpredn ictable developments, such as weathet r conditions, catastrophes and other disasters; legal and regulatory developments affectff ing
pricing, underwriting, policy coverage and other aspects of doing business, as well as insurer and insureds’ liability; extra-contractutt al
liabia lity; increased attorner y involvement in claims matters; size of jury awards; acts of terrorism; fluctuat tions in interest rates and the
value of investmet nts; and othet r general economic conditions and trends, such as inflationary pressure or unemplm oyment, that may
affect the adequacy of reserves or the demand for insurance producd ts. Our investment portfolio and its future returns are impacm ted by
the capital markets and current economic conditions, which affeff ct our liquidity, realized losses and impaim rments, credit defaula t levels,
our ability to hold such investments until recovery and othet r factors. Additionally, the economic conditions in geographica locations
where we conduct business, especially those locations where our business is concentrated, affeff ct the growth and profitability of our
business. The regulatoryr environments in those locations, including any pricing, underwriting or product controls, shared market
mechanisms or mandatory pooling arrangements, and other conditions, such as our agency relationships, affectff the growth and
profitability of our business. Our loss and loss adjud stment expense (“LAE”) reserves are based on estimates, principally involving case
assessments and actuarial projections, at a given time, of what we expect the ultimate settlement and administration of claims will cost
based on facts and circumstances then known, predictions of future events, estimates of futurtt e trends in claims frequeq ncy and severity
and judicial theories of liability, costs of repairs and replacement, legislative activity and other factors. We regularly reassess our
estimate of loss reserves and LAE, both for current and past years, and resulting changes have and will affect our reported profitability
and financial position.
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Refereff nce is also made to “Risk Factors” in Part I – Item 1A.

LINESEE OF BUSIUU NESSII

Commercial Lines

Our Commercial Lines segment generated $2.8 billion, or 59.5%, of consolidated operating revenues and $2.7 billion, or 59.1%, of net
premiums written, for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2019.

The following table provides net premiums written by line of business for our Commercial Lines segment.
Net Premiums

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 Written % of Total
(in millions,ii exceptee ratios)( , p )
Commercial multiple peril $ 909.4 33.6%
Commercial automobile 336.1 12.4
Workers' compensam tion 334.6 12.4
Other commercial lines:

agement and professional liability 250.1 9.2
Marine 249.6 9.2
Hanover Programs 200.3 7.4
Specialty industrial and commercial property 149.0 5.5
Monoline general liability 97.2 3.6
Surety 65.6 2.4
Other 115.3 4.3

Total $ 2,707.2 100.0%

Our Commercial Lines product suite provides agents and customers with products designed for small, middle and specialized markets.

Commercial Lines coverages include:

Commercial multiple peril coverage insures businesses against third-party general liability from accidents occurring on their premises
or arising out of their operations, such as injun ries sustained from products sold. It also insures business property for damage, such as
that caused by fire, wind, hail, water damage (which may include flood), theftff and vandalism.

Commercial automobile coverage insures businesses against losses incurred from personal bodily injun ry, bodily injun ry to third parties,
property damage to an insured’s vehicle and property damage to othet r vehicles and property. Commercial automobile policies are
often written in conjunction with other commercial policies.

Workerr rs� compensation coverage insures employersm against employeem medical and indemnity claims resulting from injun ries related to
work. Workers’ compensation policies are oftenff written in conjunction with other commercial policies.

Othett r commercial lines is comprised of:ff

• management and professionff al liability coverage is primarily composedm of commercial professional, management, and
medical liability, which provides protection for directors, offiff cers and other employm ees of companies that may be sued in
connection with their performance, and errors and omissions protection to companies and individuals against negligence
or bad faith, as well as protection for emplm oyment practices liability;

• marine coverage includes inland and ocean marine and insures businesses against physical losses to property, such as
contractor’s equipment, builders’ risk and goods in transit, and also covers jewelers block, fine art and other valuables;

• Hanover Programs (formff erly referred to as “AIX”) provide coverage to markets where there are specialty coverage or
risk management needs related to groups of similar businesses, including commercial multiple peril, workers’
compensation, commercial automobile, general liability and other commercial coverages;

• specialtytt industrial and commercial propertytt provides insurance to small and medium-sized chemical, paint, solvent and
other manufacturitt ng and distribution companies, and fire and allied lines coverages;

• monoline general liability coverage includes bodily injun ry, property damage and personal injun ry arising from products
sold, or accidents occurring on premises, or from operations;

• surety provides businesses with contract surety coverage in the event of a failure to perforff m or pay claims, and
commercial surety coverage related to fiducd iary or regulatoryrr obligations; and

• other commercial lines coveragesee include umbrm ella, fidelity and crime.
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Our strategy in Commercial Lines focuses on building deep relationships with partnett r independent agents through differeff ntiated
productd offerff ings, industry segmentation, and franchise value through limited distribution. We continue to make enhancements to our
products and technology platforms that are intended to drive more total account placements in our small commercial and middle
market business, while delivering enhanced margins in our specialty businesses. This aligns with our focus of delivering the
capaa bia lities that will help expand the depth and breadth of our partnerships with a limited numberm of agents.

Our small commercial, middle market and specialty businesses each constitute approximately one-third of our total Commercial Lines
business. Small commercial offerings, which generally include premiums of $50,000 or less, deliver value through productd expertise,
local presence and ease of doing business. Middle market accounts, with premiums generally in the range of $50,000 to $250,000,
require greater claim and underwriting expertise, as well as a focus on industrytt segments where we can deliver differff entiation in the
market and value to agents and customers. Small and middle market accounts, which sometimes together are referff red to as our “Core
Commercial Lines” business, comprise approximately $1.7 billion of the Commercial Lines segment net premiums written. Our
specialty lines of business include management and professional liabilita y, marine, Hanover Programs, specialty industrial and
commercial property, monoline general liabilitya and surety.

In our small commercial and middle market businesses, we offeff r coverages and capabilities in several key industries including
technology, schools and human services organizations, such as non-profitff youtht and communim ty service organizations. We also
provide furthet r segmentation in our core middle market commercial producd ts, including real estate, hospitality, manufacturitt ng,
contractors and wholesale distributors.

Part of our strategy is to expand our specialty lines offeff rings in order to provide our agents and policyholders with a broader product
portfolio and to increase our market share of our partner agents’ total business. We have over time acquiq red various specialized
businesses aimed at furthet r diversifyiff ng and growing our specialty lines. We used these acquiq sitions as platforms to expand our
product offeff rings and grow through our existing agency and broker distribution netwott rk.

We believe our small commercial capabilities, distinctiveness in the middle market, and continued development of specialty business
provides us with a diversified portfolio of products and enables us to deliver significff ant value to our agents and policyholders. We
believe these effortff s will enable us to continue to imprm ove the overall mix of our business and ultimately our underwriting
profitability.

Personal Lines

Our Personal Lines segment generated $1.9 billion, or 40.0%, of consolidated operating revenues and $1.9 billion, or 40.9%, of net
premiums written, for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2019.

The following table provides net premiums written by line of business for our Personal Lines segment.

Net Premiums
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 Written % of Total
(in millions,ii exceptee ratios)( , p )
Personal automobile $ 1,186.1 63.3%
Homeowners 636.9 34.0
Other 51.5 2.7
Total $ 1,874.5 100.0%
Personal Lines coverages include:

Personal automobile coverage insures individuals against losses incurred from personal bodily injurn y,rr bodily injun ry to third parties,
property damage to an insured’s vehicle and property damage to othet r vehicles and othert property.

Homeowners coverage insures individuals for losses to their residences and personal property, such as those causea d by fire, wind, hail,
water damage (excluding flood), theftff and vandalism and against third-party liability claims.

Othertt personal lines are comprised of personal inland marine (jewelry, art, etc.), umbrm ella, fire, personal watercraft and othet r
miscellaneous coverages.
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Our strategy in Personal Lines is to provide account–oriented business (i.e., writing both an insured’s automobile and homeowners
insurance) through our partnett r agencies, with a focus on increasing geographia c diversificatioff n. The market for our Personal Lines
business is very competitive, with continued pressure on independent agents from direct writers, as well as from the increased usage of
real time compamm rative rating tools and increasingly sophisticated rating and pricing tools. We maintain a focus on partnett ring with high
quality, value-added agencies that stresstt the impomm rtance of consultative selling and account rounding (thet conversion of single policy
customers to accounts with multiple policies and/odd r additional coverages). We are focused on making investments that are intended to
help us maintain profitabff ility, build a distinctive position in the market and provide us with profitabla e growth opportunities. We
continue to refinff e our products and to work closely with these high potential agents to increase the percentage of business they place
with us and to ensure that it is consistent with our preferred mix of business. Additionally, we remain focused on furthet r diversifyiff ng
our state mix beyond the largest historical core states of Michigan, Massachusetts and New York. We expect these effoff rts to decrease
our risk concentrations and our dependency on these three states, as well as to contribute to improm ved profitaff bia lity over time.

Other

The Othet r segment consists of: Opus, which provides investment advisory services to affiliates and also manages approximately $3.5
billion of assets for unaffilff iated institutions such as insurance companies, retirement plans and foundations, including $1.6 billion of
funds managed on behalf of China Re for our former Chaucer segment. The Othet r segment also includes earnirr ngs on holding
compam ny assets; holding company and other expenses, including certain costs associated with retirement benefits due to former life
insurance employees and agents; and our run-off voluntary property-casualty pools business.

MARKETINGNN AND DISTRII IBRR UTIONII

We serverr a variety of standard, specialty and targeted industry markets. Consistent with our objective to diversifyff our underwriting
risks on a geographic and line of business basis, we currently have a split of approximately 40% Personal Lines, 40% core
Commercial Lines, and 20% specialty lines. Commercial Lines, including our small, middle market and specialty businesses, and
Personal Lines segments distribute our products primarily through an independent agent network.

Commercial and Personal Lines

Our Commercial and Personal Lines agency distribution and field structure are designed to maintain a strong focus on local markets
and the flexibility to respond to specific market conditions. During 2019, we wrote 20.9% of our Commercial and Personal Lines
business in Michigan and 9.5% in Massachusetts. Our structurt e is a key factor in the establishment and maintenance of productive,
long-term relationships with well-established independent agencies. We maintain 39 local officff es across 27 states. The majoria ty of
processing suppu ort for these locations is provided from Worcester, Massachusetts; Howell, Michigan; Salem, Virginia; and Windsor,
Connecticut.

Independent agents account for subsu tantially all of the sales of our Commercial and Personal Lines property and casualty producd ts.
Agencies are appointed based on profitability, track record, financial stability, professionalisff m and business strategy. Once appointed,
we monitor their perforff mance and, subjeu ct to legal and regulatory requirements, may take actions as necessary to change these
business relationships, such as discontinuing the authority of the agent to underwrite certain products or revising commissions or
bonus opportunities. We compensate agents primarily through base commissions and bonus plans that are tied to an agency’s written
premium, growth and profitability.

Our Hanover Programs business and some specialty business is also distributed through managing general agents or wholesale
distributors who have expertise in the industries served or producd ts offeff red.

We are licensed to sell property and casualty insurance in all fifty states in the U.S., as well as in the District of Columbim a. Throughout
the U.S., we actively market Commercial Lines policies in 37 states and Personal Lines policies in 19 states.

6

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



The following tabla e provides our top Commercial and Personal Lines geographical markets based on total net premiums written in the
state in 2019.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2019 Commercial Lines Personal Lines

Total Commercial and
Personal Lines

(in(( millions,ii exceptee ratios)( , p )

Net
Premiums
Written % of Total

Net
Premiums
Written % of Total

Net
Premiums
Written % of Total

Michigan $ 137.6 5.1% $ 820.5 43.8% $ 958.1 20.9%
Massachusetts 190.8 7.0 242.4 12.9 433.2 9.5
New Yorkrr 231.7 8.6 125.1 6.7 356.8 7.8
Califorff nir a 324.4 12.0 —— —— 324.4 7.1
Illinois 121.1 4.5 101.5 5.4 222.6 4.9
Texas 217.4 8.0 —— —— 217.4 4.7
New Jersey 142.7 5.3 63.3 3.4 206.0 4.5
Connecticut 59.0 2.2 99.8 5.3 158.8 3.5
Georgia 82.8 3.1 57.0 3.0 139.8 3.1
Virginia 81.2 3.0 39.0 2.1 120.2 2.6
Maine 65.2 2.4 50.6 2.7 115.8 2.5
Wisconsin 50.4 1.9 44.2 2.4 94.6 2.1
Tennessee 52.3 1.9 37.7 2.0 90.0 2.0
Indiana 54.3 2.0 34.9 1.9 89.2 1.9
Florida 84.2 3.1 —— —— 84.2 1.8
Minnesota 77.2 2.9 —— —— 77.2 1.7
New Hampshire 43.5 1.6 33.4 1.8 76.9 1.7
Pennsylvania 62.4 2.3 14.1 0.8 76.5 1.7
North Carolina 69.2 2.6 2.2 0.1 71.4 1.6
Louisiana 37.3 1.4 32.9 1.8 70.2 1.5
Other 522.5 19.1 75.9 3.9 598.4 12.9
Total $ 2,707.2 100.0% $ 1,874.5 100.0% $ 4,581.7 100.0%

We manage our Commercial Lines portfolio, which includes our core and specialty businesses, with a focus on growth from the most
profitable industry segments within our underwriting expertise. Our core business is generally comprised of several coordinated
commercial lines of business, consisting of small and middle market accounts, which include targeted industry segments.
Additionally, we have multiple specialty lines of business. The Commercial Lines segment seeks to maintain strong agency
relationships as an approach to secure and retain our agents’ best business. We monitor quality of business written through ongoing
quality reviews, accountabilitya for which is shared at the local, regional and corprr orate levels.

We manage Personal Lines business with a focus on acquiring and retaining preferred accounts. Currently, approximately 85% of our
policies in force are account business. Approximately 57% of our Personal Lines net premium written is generated in the combined
states of Michigan and Massachusetts. In Michigan, based upon direct premiums written for 2019, we underwrite approximately 7%
of the state’s total market.

Approximately 67% of our Michigan Personal Lines net premium written is in the personal automobile line and 31% is in the
homeowners line. Michigan business represents approximately 47% of our total personal automobile net premiums written and
approximately 40% of our total homeowners net premiums written. In Michigan, we are a principal market for many of our appointed
agencies, with approximately $2.2 million of total direct premiums written per agency in 2019. In June 2019, the state of Michigan
approved majoa r changes to the laws governirr ng personal automobile insurance, designed to reduce individual motorist premiums. See
“Risk Factors – Michigan PIP Reform” in Part I – Item 1A.

Approximately 68% of our Massachusetts Personal Lines net premium written is in the personal automobile line and 29% is in the
homeowners line. Massachusetts business represents approximately 14% of our total personal automobile net premiums written and
approximately 11% of our total homeowners net premiums written.

We sponsor local and national agent advisory councils to gain the benefitff of our agents’ insight and enhance our relationships. These
councils provide feedbad ck, input on the development of products and services, guidance on marketing effoff rts, suppu ort for our
strategies and assist us in enhancing our local market presence.

Other

With respect to our Othert segment business, we market our third-party investment advisory servirr ces directly through Opus.
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PRICINII GNN ANDNN COMPETPP ITTT IONTT

The property and casualty industry is a very competitive market. In the Commercial and Personal Lines segments, we market through
independent agents and brokers and compete for business on the basis of productd , price, agency service and relationships, customer
service, local relationships, ratingsaa and effecff tive claims handling, among other things. Our compem titors include national, international,
regional and local companim es that sell insurance through various distribution channels, including independent agencies, captive agency
forces, brokers and direct to consumers through the internet or otherwise. They also include mutual insurance companies, reciprocals
and exchanges. We believe that our emphasimm s on maintaining strong agency relationships and a local presence in our markets, coupled
with investments in products, operating effiff ciency, technology and effecff tive claims handling, enable us to compete effectively. Our
broad product offeriff ngs in Commercial Lines and total account strategy in Personal Lines are instrumental to our ability to capia talize
on these relationships and imprmm ove profitabia lity.

We seek to achieve targeted combined ratios in each of our productdd lines. Targets vary by product and geographya and change with
market conditions. The targeted combined ratios reflect competmm itive market conditions, investment yield expectations, our loss payout
patterns and target returt ns on equity. This approach is intended to enable us to achieve measured growth and consistent profitff ability.

For all majoa r product lines in the Commercial and Personal Lines segments, we emplm oy pricing teams that produce exposure and
experience-based rating models to support underwriting and pricing decisions. In addition, we seek to utilize our understanding of
local markets to achieve superior underwriting results. We rely on market information provided by our local agents and on the
knowledge of staff in the local branch offices. Since we maintain a strong regional focus and a significff ant market share in a number of
states, we can better apply our knowledge and experience in making underwriting and rate setting decisions. Also, we seek to gather
objectb ive and verifiable information at a policy level during the underwrrr iting process, including prior loss experience, past driving
records and, where permitted, credit histories.

CLAIMSMM MANAGEMNN ENMM TNN

Claims management includes the receipt of initial loss notifications, generation of appropriate responses to claim reports, loss
appraisals, identificaff tion and handling of coverage issues, determination of whethet r furthert investigation is requiq red, retention of legal
representation where appropriate, establishment of case reserves, approval of loss payments and notification to reinsurers. Part of our
strategy focuses on effiff cient, timely and fair claim settlements to meet customer service expectations and maintain valuabla e
independent agent relationships. Additionally, effeff ctive claims management is importam nt to our business since claim payments and
related loss adjud stment expenses are our single largest expenditures.

We utilize experienced claims adjusters, appraisers, medical specialists, managers and attorneys to manage our claims. Our property
and casualty operations have field claims adjusd ters located throughout the states and regions in which we do business. Claims field
staff members work closely with the independent agents who bound the policies under which coverage is claimed. Claims offiff ce
adjud sting staff is suppu orted by general adjud sters for large property and large casualty losses, by automobile and heavy equipment
damage appraisers for automobile material damage losses, and by medical specialists whose principal concentration is on workers’
compensation and automobile injun ry cases. Additionally, the claims officff es are supporu ted by staff attorneys, botht in the home office
and in regional locations, who specialize in litigation defense and claim settlements. We have a catastrott phe response team to assist
policyholders impam cted by severe weathert events. This team mobilizes quickly to impacted regions, often in advance for a large
tracked storm, to suppu ort our local claims adjusters and facilitate a timely response to resulting claims. We also maintain a special unit
that investigates suspected insurance fraud and abuse. We utilize claims processing technology which allows most of the smaller and
more routine Personal Lines claims to be processed at centralized locations.

CATASTROPHES

We are subject to claims arising out of catastrophes, which historically have had a significant impamm ct on our results of operations and
financial condition. Coverage for such events is a core part of our business, and we expect to experience catastrophe losses in the
futurett , which could have a material adverse impactm on our financial results and position. Catastrophes can be caused by various
events, including, among others, hurricanes, tornadoes and other windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter weather,t fire, explosions
and terrorisr m. The incidence and severity of catastrophes are volatile and difficult to predict.

We endeavor to manage our catastrophe risks through underwriting procedures, including the use of deductibles and specificff
restrictions for flood and earthquake coverage, subject to regulatory restrictions and competitive pressures and through geographic
exposure management and reinsurance. The catastrophe reinsurance program is structured to protect us on a per-occurrerr nce and
aggregate excess basis. We monitor geographic location and coverage concentrations with a view toward managing corporate
exposure to catastrophic events. Although catastrophes can cause losses in a varietytt of property and casualty lines, commercial
multiple peril and homeowners property coverages have, in the past, generated the majoritya of catastrophe-related claims.
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REINSUNN RANCUU ECC

Reinsurance Program Overview

We maintain ceded reinsurance programs designed to protect against large or unusual loss and LAE activity. We utilize a varietytt of
proportional and non-proportional reinsurance agreements, which are intended to control our individual policy and aggregate exposure
to large property and casualty losses, stabilize earnings and protect capital resources. These programs include facultative reinsurance
(to limit exposure on a specifieff d policy); specificff excess and proportional treaty reinsurance (to limit exposure on individual policies
or risks within specified classes of business); and catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance (to limit exposure to any one event that might
impacmm t more than one individual contract). Our proportional reinsurance consists of quota share reinsurance agreements and our non-
proportional reinsurance includes excess of loss and stop loss reinsurance agreements.

Catastrophe reinsurance protects us, as the ceding insurer, from significant losses arising from a single event including, among othert s,
hurricanes, tornadrr oes and other windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter weather, fire, explosions, flood and terrorism. We
determine the appropriate amount of reinsurance based upon our evaluation of the risks insured, exposure analyses prepared by
consultants, our risk appetite and on market conditions, including the availability and pricing of reinsurance. Although we believe our
catastrophe reinsurance program, including our retention and co-participation amounts for 2020, is appropriate given our surplus level
and the current reinsurance pricing environment, there can be no assurance that our reinsurance program will provide coverage levels
that will prove adequate should we experience losses from one significant or several large catastrophes during 2020. Additionally, as a
result of the current economic environment, as well as losses incurred by reinsurers in the past several years, the availability and
pricing of appropriate reinsurance programs may be adversely affected in future renewal periods. We may not be able to pass these
costs on to policyholders, or there may be a delay in passing these costs to policyholders, in the form of higher premiums or
assessments.

We cede to reinsurers a portion of our risk based upon insurance policies subject to such reinsurance. Reinsurance contractstt do not
relieve us from our obligations to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers to honor their obligations could result in losses to us. We believe
that the terms of our reinsurance contracts are consistent with industry practice in that they contain standard terms with respect to lines
of business covered, limit and retention, arbir tration and occurrence. We believe our reinsurers are financially sound, based upon our
ongoing review of the financial strength ratings assigned to them by rating agencies, their reputations in the reinsurance marketplace,
our collections history, advice from third parties and the analysis and guidance of our reinsurance advisors.

Reference is made to Note 14 — “Reinsurance” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Reference is also made to
“Involuntary Residual Markets” below.

Our 2020 reinsurance program for our Commercial Lines and Personal Lines segments is substantially consistent with our 2019
program design. The following discussion summarizes both our 2019 and 2020 reinsurance programs for our Commercial Lines and
Personal Lines segments (excluding coverage available under the U.S. federal terrorism program which is described below under
“Terrorism”), but does not purport to be a complete description of the program or the various restrictions or limitations which may
apply:

• Our Commercial Lines and Personal Lines segments are primarily protected by a property catastrophe occurrence
program, a property per risk excess of loss treaty, as well as a casualty excess of loss treaty, with retentions of $200
million, $2 million, and $2 million, respectively. We have lower retentions in place for certain lines, as discussed below.

• The property catastrophe occurrence program provides coverage, on an occurrence basis, up to $1.175 billion
countrywide, less a $200 million retention, with no co-participation, for all defined perils. Additionally, there is an
aggregate feature, effectff ive July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020, which provides for up to $75 million of coverage in
excess of $300 million in aggregate catastrophe losses. The catastrophe losses subject to the aggregate feature are limited
only to those events that exceed $7.5 million of incurred losses per event.

• The property per risk excess of loss treaty provides coverage, on a per risk basis, up to $100 million, less a $2 million
retention, with a co-participation for the second half of 2019 and the first half of 2020 of 43% for reinsurance placed in
the $2 million to $3 million layer, 27.5% for $0.5 million in excess of the $3 million layer, and no co-participation for
reinsurance placed in excess of the $3.5 million to $100 million layer. There is a $10 million annual aggregate deductible
for the $10 million excess of $10 million layer. Accordingly, we retain $10 million of loss excess of the $10 million
attachment point before we can make a reinsurance recovery from the $10 million excess of $10 million layer.

• The casualty excess of loss treaty provides coverage, on a per occurrence basis for each loss, up to $75 million less a $2
million retention, with no co-participation. The casualty program for 2019 provides coverage for management liability and
healthcare lines in a $1 million to $2 million layer, with co-participations ranging from 35% to 55% through Decemberm
31, 2019. This portion of the program was not renewed for 2020.
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• For 2019 and 2020, Commercial Lines segments are further protected by excess of loss treaty agreements for specific
lines of business. For examplm e, the surety and fidelity bond excess of loss treaty provides coverage, on a per principal
basis, up to $40 million, less a $5 million retention, with co-participations of 50% for the $5 million to $10 million layer
and no co-participation for the $10 million to $40 million layer.

• In addition to certain layers of coverage from our Commercial and Personal Lines segment reinsurance program as
described above, Hanover Programs also includes surplus share, quota share, excess of loss, stop loss, facultative and
other forms of reinsurance that cover the writings from Hanover specialtyt and proprietaryrr programs. There are a variety of
different programs, and the reinsurance structurt e is generally customized to fit the exposure profileff for each program.

Our intention is to renew the surety and fidelity bond treaty, the propertytt per risk excess of loss treaty and the property catastrophe
treaty in July 2020 with the same or similar terms and conditions, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our
currenrr t levels of reinsurance, pricing and terms and conditions. Our 2020 casualty excess of loss treaty is effective January 1, 2020.

Terrorism
As a result of the continuing threat of terror rist attacks, the insurance industry maintains a high level of focus with respect to the
potential for losses causea d by terrorist acts. Insured losses may encompassmm people, property and business operations covered under
workers’ compensation, commercial multiple peril and othert Commercial Lines policies, as well as Personal Lines policies. In certain
cases, such as workers’ compensation, we are not able to exclude coverage for these losses, either becausea of regulatory requirements
or competitive pressures. We continually evaluate the potential effect of these low frequency, but potentially high severity events in
our overall pricing and underwriting plans, especially for policies written in majoa r metropolitan areas.
Although certain terrorism-related risks embeddem d in our Commercial and Personal Lines are covered under the existing Catastrophe,
Property per Risk and Casualty Excess of Loss corporate reinsurance treaties (see “Reinsurance – Reinsurance Program Overview”
above for additional information), private sector catastrophe reinsurance is limited or unavailabla e for losses attributed to acts of
terrorism, particularly those involving nuclear, biological, chemical and/or radiological events. As a result, the industry’s primary
reinsurance protection against large-scale terrorist attacks in the U.S. is provided through a federal program that provides
compensation for insured losses resulting from acts of terrorism.
The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 first established the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program (the “Program”). Coverage under
the Program applies to workers’ compensation, commercial multiple peril and certain other Commercial Lines policies for direct
written policies. In December 2019, legislation was enacted to extend the current Program, which would have expired in Decembem r
2020, through Decemberm 2027. All commercial property and casualty insurers are required to participate in the Program. Under the
Program, a participating issuer, in exchange for making terrorism insurance available, may be entitled to be reimbursm ed by the Federal
government for a portion of its aggregate losses. The Program does not cover losses in surety, Personal Lines or certain other lines of
business. Losses caused by terrorist acts are not excluded from homeowners or personal automobile policies.

As required by the current Program, we offeff r policyholders in specific lines of commercial insurance the option to elect terrorism
coverage. In order for a loss to be reinsured under the Program, the loss must meet aggregate industry loss minimumm s and must be the
result of an act of terrorr ism as certified by the Secretary of the Treasury in consultation with the Secretary of Homeland Security and
the U.S. Attorney General. Losses from acts which do not qualifyff or are not so certifiedff will not receive the benefit of the Program and
in fact, may be deemed covered losses whether or not terrorism coverage was purchased. Further,t under The Terrorism Risk Insurance
Program Reauthorization Act of 2015, our share of U.S. domestic losses in 2019 from such events, if deemed certifieff d terrorist events,
would have been limited to 19% of losses in excess of an approximate $431 million deductible, which represented 19.8% of year-end
2018 statutt ory policyholder surplus of our insurers, and, under the 2019 re-auta horization, is estimated to be $455.7 million in 2020,
representing 18.4% of 2019 year-end statutory policyholder surplus, up to a combined annual aggregate limit for the federal
government and all insurers of $100 billion. Such events could be material to our financial position or results of operations.
Given the unpredictability of terrorism losses, future losses from acts of terrorism could be material to our operating results, financial
position, and/or liquidity. We attempt to manage our exposures on an individual line of business basis and in the aggregate by one-half
square mile grids in majora metropolitan areas.

Reinsurance Recoverables

When we experience loss events that are subject to a reinsurance contract, reinsurance recoveries are recorded. The amount of the
reinsurance recoverabla e can vary based on the estimated size of the individual loss or the aggregate amount of all losses in a particular
line, book of business or an aggregate amount associated with a particular accident year. The valuation of losses recoverablea depends
on whether the underlying loss is a reported loss, or an incurred but not reported loss. For reported losses, we value reinsurance
recoverabla es at the time the underlying loss is recognized, in accordance with contract terms. For incurred but not reported losses, we
estimate the amount of reinsurance recoverabla e based on the terms of the reinsurance contractstt and historical reinsurance recovery
information and apply that information to the gross loss reserve estimates. The most significant assumption we use is the average size
of the individual losses that will exceed our reinsurance retentions for those claims that have occurred but have not yet been reported
to us. The reinsurance recoverable is based on what we believe are reasonable estimates and is disclosed separately on the financial
statements. However, the ultimate amount of the reinsurance recoverable is not known until all losses are settled.
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Other than our investment portfolio, the single largest asset class is our reinsurance receivables, which consist of our estimate of
amounts recoverable from reinsurers with respect to losses incurred to date (including losses incurred but not reported) and unearned
premiums, net of amounts estimated to be uncollectible. These estimates are expected to be revised at each reporting period and such
revisions, which could be material, affectff our results of operations and financial position. Reinsurance recoverables include amounts
due from state mandatoryr reinsurance or other involuntary risk sharing mechanisms, and private reinsurers to whom we have
voluntarily ceded business.

We are subju ect to concentration of risk witht respect to reinsurance ceded to various mandatoryrr residual markets, facilities and pooling
mechanisms. As a condition to conduct business in various states, we are required to participate in residuald market mechanisms,
facilff ities and pooling arrangements which usually are designed to provide insurance coverages to individuals or othet r entities that are
otherwise unable to purchase such coverage voluntarily or at rates deemed reasonabla e. These market mechanisms, facilities and
pooling arrangements comprise $1,034.6 million of our total reinsurance recoverables on paid and unpain d losses and unearned
premiums at Decembem r 31, 2019, $1,023.7 million of which is attribtt utable to the Michigan Catastrophic Claims Association
(“MCCA”).

The MCCA is a mandatory reinsurance association which reinsures claims under Michigan’s unlimited personal injuryn protection
coverage which currently is required under all Michigan automobile insurance policies. The MCCA reinsures all such claims in excess
of a statutt orily established company retention, currently $580,000. Funding for MCCA comes from assessments against automobile
insurers based upon their share of insured automobiles in the state. Insurers are allowed to pass along this cost to Michigan automobile
policyholders. This recoverablea accounted for 62% and 64% of our total personal automobile gross reserves at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. Because the MCCA is supported by assessments permitted by statutt e, and there have been no significff ant
uncollectible balances from MCCA identified during the three years ending December 31, 2019, we believe that we have no
significant exposure to uncollectible reinsuranca e balances from this entity. As discussed under “Risk Factors – Michigan PIP Reformff ”,
in June 2019, Michigan enacted majora reforms of its current system governing personal and commercial automobile insurance. These
changes, among othert things, will eliminate, effeff ctive July 2, 2020, the requirement to purchase unlimited personal injun ry protection
and are also expected in July 2021, to implm ement cost savings measures with respect to personal injun ry protection claims, including
MCCA-reinsured claims. Our currer nt estimate of MCCA reinsurance receivables has not been reduced for these potential future claim
cost savings.

In addition to the reinsurance ceded to various residuald market mechanisms, facilities and pooling arrangements, we have $779.4
million of reinsurance assets due from traditional reinsurers as of December 31, 2019. These amounts are due principally from highly-
rated reinsurers, defined as rated A- or higher by A.M. Best or other equivalent rating agency. In certain instances, for examplmm e in our
Hanover Programs business, we also require a deposit of assets in trust, letters of credit or othet r acceptabla e collateral. This would be to
support balances due from reinsurers that provide reinsurance only on a collateralized basis. The following table displays balances
recoverablea from our ten largest reinsurance groupsu at Decembem r 31, 2019, along with the A.M. Best rating foff r each group’s ultimate
parent or lead rating unit, if an A.M. Best rating is available. Reinsurance recoverabla es are comprised of paid losses recoverable,
outstanding losses recoverabla e, incurred but not reported losses recoverabla e, and ceded unearned premium.

REINSURERS
A.M. Best
Rating

Reinsurance
Recoverable

(in milii lioll ns)( )
HDI Group (Hannover Ruckversicherungr s AG) A $ 126.4
Lloyd's Syndicates A 96.5
Alleghany Corporation (Transatlantic Reinsurance Co.) A+ 79.4
Swiss Re Ltd. A+ 74.0
Toa Reinsurance Company Ltd. A 64.0
Munich Reinsurance Companies A+ 58.2
Axis Capital Holding Ltd. A+ 28.6
Siward I Reinsurance Company Ltd. (1) 23.1
EXOR N.V. (Partner Reinsurance Company of the U.S.) A+ 22.7
Markel Corporation A 19.3
Subtu otal 592.2
All other reinsurers 187.2
Residual markets, facilities, and pooling arrangements 1,034.6
Total $ 1,814.0

(1) No A.M. Best rating available. Reinsurance recoverable fully collateralized by assets in trusr t.
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Reinsurance recoverablea balances in the tablea above are shown before consideration of balances owed to reinsurers and any potential
rights of offseff t, including collateral held by us, and are net of an allowance for uncollectible recoverables. Reinsurance treaties are
generally purchased on an annual basis. Treaties typiyy cally contain provisions that allow us to demand that a reinsurer post letters of
credit or assets as security if a reinsurer is an unauthorized reinsurer under applicable regulations or if its rating falls below a
predetermined contracttt ualt level. In regards to reinsurance recoverabla es due from Lloyd’s Syndicates, as part of the Lloyd’s “chain of
security” affordff ed to all of its policyholders, recourse is available to the Lloyd’s Central Fund in the event of the failure of an
individual syndicate and its capital providers.

Although reinsurance makes the reinsurer liable to us to the extent the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer, ceded reinsurance
arrar ngements do not eliminate our obligation to pay claims to our policyholders. Accordingly, we bear credit risk with respect to our
reinsurers. Specifically,ff our reinsurers may not pay claims made by us on a timely basis, or they may not pay some or all of these
claims. In addition, from time to time insurers and reinsurers may disagree on the scope of the reinsurance or on the underlying
insured risks. Any of these events would increase our costs and could have a material adverse effectff on our business.

We have established a reserve for uncollectible reinsurance of $3.9 million as of Decemberm 31, 2019, or 0.2% of the total reinsurance
recoverabla e balance, which was determined by considering reinsurer specific defauff lt risk on paid and unpaid recoverablea s as indicated
by their financial strengtht ratings, any ongoing solvency issues, any current risk of dispute on paid recoverabla es, and our past
collection experience. There have been no significant balances determined to be uncollectible and thus no significff ant charges recorded
during 2019 for uncollectible reinsurance recoverabla es.

Our exposure to credit risk from any one reinsurer is managed through diversificatff ion by reinsuring with a numbem r of differeff nt
reinsurers, principally in the United States and European reinsurance markets. When reinsurance for our Commercial and Personal
Lines segments is placed, our standards of acceptability generally requiq re that a reinsurer must have a minimumm policyholder surplus
of $500 million, a rating from A.M. Best and/or S&P of “A” or better, or an equivalent financial strength if not rated. In addition, for
lower rated or non-rated reinsurers, we customize collateral and restrict participation to effeff ctively manage counterparty risk, with
review and approval required by the counterpartrr y credit committee.
REGULATLL IONTT
Our property and casualty insurance subsiu diaries are subjeb ct to extensive regulation in the states in which they transact business and
are supeu rvised by the individual state insurance departments. Numerous aspects of our business are subject to regulation, including
premium rates, mandatory covered risks, limitations on the ability to non-renew, rejee ct business or limit writings in certain geographa ic
areas, prohibited exclusions, licensing and appointment of agents, restrictions on the size of risks that may be insured under a single
policy, reserves and provisions for unearned premiums, losses and other obligations, deposits of securities for the benefit of
policyholders, investments and capia tal, policy forms and coverages, advertising, and othet r conduct, including restrictions on the use of
credit information and other factors in underwriting, as well as other underwriting and claims practices. These restrictions limit the
ability of insurers to underwrite or price policies on the basis of available third-party information (such as “social media”) and “big
data”. Insurers are also subjeu ct to state laws and regulations governing the use and protection of personal information collected in the
ordinary course of operations. States also regulate various aspects of the contractualt relationships betweett n insurers and independent
agents.
Such laws, rules and regulations are usually overseen and enforced by the various state insurance departments, as well as through
private rights of action and by state attorneys general. Such regulations or enforcement actions are oftenff responsive to current
consumer and political sensitivities, such as automobile and homeowners insurance rates and coverage forms, or which may arise afteff r
a majora event. Such rules and regulations may result in rate suppu ression, limit our ability to manage our exposure to unprofitabla e or
volatile risks, require expenditures to facilitate compliance, or lead to fines, premium refunff ds or othet r adverse consequenq ces. The
federal government also may regulate aspects of our businesses, such as the use of insurance (credit) scores or othet r information in
underwriting and the protection of confidff ential information.
In addition, as a condition to writing business in certain states, insurers are required to participate in various pools or risk sharing
mechanisms or to accept certain classes of risk, regardless of whether such risks meet their underwriting requirements for voluntary
business. Some states also limit or imposem restrictions on the ability of an insurer to withdraw from certain classes of business. For
example,mm Massachusetts, New York and California each imposem material restrictions on a company’s ability to materially reduce its
exposures or to withdraw from certain lines of business in their respective states. The state insurance departments can imposm e
significant charges on an insurer in connection with a market withdrawal or refuse to approve withdrawal plans on the grounds that
they could lead to market disruprr tion. Laws and regulations that limit cancellation and non-renewal of policies or that subjeb ct
withdrawal plans to prior approval requirements may significantly restrict our ability to exit unprofiff tabla e markets. Such actions and
related regulatory restrictions may limit our ability to reduce our potential exposure to hurricane-related losses.

The insurance laws of many states subject property and casualty insurers doing business in those states to statutory property and
casualty guaranty fund assessments. The purpose of a guaranty fund is to protect policyholders by requiring that solvent property and
casualtyt insurers pay the insurance claims of insolvent insurers. These guaranty associations generally pay these claims by assessing
solvent insurers proportionately based on each insurer’s share of voluntary premiums written in the state. While most guaranty
associations provide for recovery of assessments through subsequent rate increases, surcharges or premium tax credits, there is no
assurance that insurers will ultimately recover these assessments, which could be material, particularly following a large catastrot phe
or in markets which become disruptrr ed.
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We are subject to periodic financial and market conduct examinations conducd ted by state insurance departments. We are also required
to file annual and othet r reports with state insurance departments relating to the financial condition of our insurance subsidiaries and
other matters. The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) and the Federal Insurance Office are each actively
engaged in reviewing and considering proposed insurer risk-based capia tal standards, risk analysis, solvency assessments and othert
regulatory initiatives.

Other aspects of our business are subject to regulation as well. For example, Opus is subju ect to regulation by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and state securities laws regulating the marketing and provision of institutional investment
management services.

INVOLII UNTANN RY RESIEE DUALII MARKETMM STT

As noted above, as a condition of our license to write business in various states, we are required to participate in mandatory propertytt
and casualty residual market mechanisms which provide insurance coverages where such coverage may not otherwise be available or
at rates deemed reasonable.a Such mechanisms provide coverage primarily for personal and commercial property, personal and
commercial automobile, and workers’ compensation, and include assigned risk plans, reinsurance facilities and involuntary pools,
joint underwriting associations, fair access to insurance requirements (“FAIR”) plans and commercial automobile insurance plans.

For examplem , since most states compel the purchase of a minimal level of automobile liability insurance, states have developed shared
market mechanisms to provide the required coverages and in many cases, optional coverages, to those drivers who, because of their
driving records or othet r factors, cannot find insurers who will insure them voluntarily. Also, FAIR plans and othet r similar property
insurance shared market mechanisms increase the availability of property insurance in circumstances where homeowners are unable to
obtain insurance at rates deemed reasonabla e, such as in coastal areas or in areas subject to other hazards. Licensed insurers writing
business in such states are ofteff n required to pay assessments to cover reserve deficiencies generated by such plans.

With respect to FAIR plans and othert similar property insurance shared market mechanisms that have significff ant exposures, it is
difficult to accurately estimate our potential financial exposure for future events. Assessments following a large coastal event,
particularly one affectff ing Massachusetts, Texas, New York or North Carolina, or a large wildfire event affectff ing California, could be
material to our results of operations. Our participation in such shared markets or pooling mechanisms is generally proportional to our
direct writings for the typey of coverage written by the specific pooling mechanism in the applicabla e state or other jurisdiction. For
examplem , we are subju ect to mandatory participation in the Michigan Assigned Claims (“MAC”) facility. MAC is an assigned claim
plan covering people injuredn in uninsured motor vehicle accidents. Our participation in the MAC facility is based on our share of
personal and commercial automobile direct written premium in the state and resulted in underwriting losses of $13.9 million in 2019.
There were no other mandatory residual market mechanisms that were significff ant to our 2019 results of operations.

RESERVE FOROO UNPAID LOSSESSS AND LOSSSS ADJUSTMDD ENTMM EXPENSESNN

Reference is made to “Results of Operations – Segments – Reserve for Losses and Loss Adjusd tment Expenses” of Management’s
Discussion and Analysis for discussion of prior year development. Additionally, information regarding loss and LAE reserve
development appears in Note 15 – “Liabilities for Outstanding Claims, Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following tabla e reconciles reservesrr determined in accordance with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance
statutory authorities (“Statutory”) to reserves determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The
primary differff ence between the Statutt ory reserves and our GAAP reserves is the requirement, on a GAAP basis, to present reinsurance
recoverabla es as an asset, whereas Statutory guidance provides that reserves are reflected net of the corresponding reinsurance
recoverabla es. We do not use discounting techniques in establa ishing GAAP reserverr s for property and casualty losses and LAE, nor
have we participated in any loss portfolio transfers or othert similar transactions.
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Statutory reserve for losses and LAE $ 4,184.2 $ 3,935.6 $ 3,717.8

GAAP adjustments:
Reinsurance recoverabla es on unpain d losses of our
insurance subsidiariesu 1,574.8 1,472.6 1,455.0

Statutory reserves for discontinued accident and health business (113.2) (112.4) (122.4)
Other 8.6 8.3 8.1

GAAP reserve for losses and LAE $ 5,654.4 $ 5,304.1 $ 5,058.5

Reserves for discontinued accident and health business of our insurance subsidiaries are included in liabia lities of discontinued
operations for GAAP and loss and loss adjud stment expenses for Statutory reporting.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discontinued operations include our discontinued accident and health and lifeff businesses and our former Chaucer operations.

Accident and Health and Life Businesses

The discontinued accident and health business includes interests in 24 accident and health reinsurance pools and arrangements that we
retained subseu quent to the sale of First Allmerica Financial Life Insurance Company (“FAFLIC”) in 2009. We ceased writing new
premiums in this business in 1999, subjeb ct to certain contractut al obligations. The reinsurance pool business consists primarily of long-
term care, the medical and disability portions of workers’ compensation risks, assumed personal accident, individual medical, long-
term disability, and special risk business. This business also includes residual health insurance policies. Total reserves for the assumed
accident and health business were $113.9 million at December 31, 2019. The long-term care pool accounted for approximately 71% of
these reserves as of Decemberm 31, 2019. Reserves for the long-term care pool, individual medical, and residual health insurance
policies are discounted. Reserves for all othet r assumed accident and healtht business are undiscounted. Assets and liabilita ies related to
the discontinued accident and health business are reflected as assets and liabilities of discontinued lifeff businesses.

Loss estimates associated witht subsu tantially all of the discontinued accident and health business are provided by managers of each
pool. We adopt reserve estimates for this business that consider this informatioff n, expected returns on assets assigned to this business
and othert facts. We update these reserves as new information becomes availablea and further events occur that may affecff t the ultimate
resolution of unsettled claims. Based on information provided to us by the pool managers, we believe the reservesrr recorded related to
this business are adequate. However, since reserve and claim cost estimates related to the discontinued accident and health business
are dependent on several assumptions, including, but not limited to, morbidity, lapses, future premium rates, future healtht carea costs,
persistency of medical care inflation and investment perforff mance, and these assumptm ions can be impactm ed by technical developments
and advancements in the medical field, medical and long-term care inflation and other factors, there can be no assurance that the
reserves established for this business will prove sufficient.ff Revisions to these reserverr s could have a material adverse effectff on our
results of operations for a particular quarterly or annual period or on our financial position. See also “Risk Factors” in Parta I – Item
1A.

Our long-term care pool accounts for the majoritya of our remaining reinsurance pool business. The potential risk and exposure of our
long-term care pool is based upon expected estimated claims and payment patterns, using assumptions for, among other things,
morbidity, lapses, future premium rates, and the interest rate used for discounting the future projected cash flows, as well as regulatory
developments affectff ing the ceding insurers. The long-termr exposure of this pool depends upon how our actual experience compares
with these future cash flow projection assumptions.

Our former lifeff insurance businesses, which are also included in discontinued operations, include activities that were not significff ant to
our 2019, 2018 or 2017 results, although we retain tax and other indemnification obligations witht respect to these businesses.

Chaucer

In 2018, we sold the majoa rity of our Chaucer segment. Prior to the sale, this business reflected our international property and casualty
insurance products that were sold through a wholly-owned subsu idiary, Chaucer, which operates through the Society and Corporation
of Lloyd’s (“Lloyd’s”) and is domiciled in the U.K. We subsu equently complmm eted the sales of the Chauca er-related Irish and Australian
entities on February 14, 2019 and April 10, 2019, respectively. During 2019, we received a cash payment of $22.0 million in final
settlement of the contingent proceeds related to the Chaucer transaction. Results from the Chaucer segment were not significant in
2019.

See also the “Discontinued Chaucer Business” section in our Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 2 – “Discontinued
Operations” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Our wholly-owned subsu idiary, Opus, is responsible for managing our investment portfolio. Opus directly manages our entire fixed
maturity and equity security portfolios, which togethet r witht cash, constitute approximately 91% of our investment portfolio. Opus is
also responsible for the selection and monitoring of externarr l asset managers for our commercial mortgage loan participations and
limited partnership investments. We select and monitor externalrr managers based on investment stylt e, performance and corporate
governance.
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Our investments are generally of high quality and our fixed maturities and equities are broadly diversified across sectors of the fixed
income and equity markets. Our overall investment strategy is intended to balance investment income with credit and interest rate risk,
while maintaining sufficieff nt liquidity and providing the opportuntt ity for capital growth. The asset allocation process takes into
consideration the types of business written and the level of surplus requiq red to suppu ort our differeff nt businesses and the risk return
profiles of the underlying asset classes. We recognize Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues as importanm t factors to
include in the fundamental investment research process performed because these factors can influence the sustainability of an
investment and its risk and return profile. We look to balance the goals of capia tal preservation, net investment income stability,
liquidity and total returt n.rr

The majoa rity of our assets are invested in the fixed income markets. Through fundamental research and credit analysis, with a focus
on value investing, Opus seeks to identifyff a portfolio of stable income-producing higher quality U.S. government, foreign government,
municipal, corporate, residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities and asset-backed securities. We have a general policy of
diversifyinff g investments botht within and across majora investment and industry sectors to mitigate credit and interest rate risk. We
monitor the credit quality of our investments and our exposure to individuad l markets, borrowers, industries, sectors and, in the case of
commercial mortgage-backed securities and commercial mortgage loan participations, property typesy and geographa ic locations.

Investments held by our insurance subsiu diaries are subject to diversification requirements under state insurance laws. Investment
considerations include asset/litt ability profile,ff including duration, convexity and othet r characteristics within specifiedff risk tolerances.
The investment portfolio duration is approximately 4.3 years. We seek to maintain sufficienff t liquidity to support our cash flow
requirements by monitoring the cash requiq rements associated with our insurance and corporate liabilities, laddering the maturities
within the portfolff io, closely monitoring our investment durations, holding high quality liquid public securities and managing the
purchases and sales of assets.

Refereff nce is made to “Investments” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

RATING AGENCIES

Insurance compamm nies are rated by financial strength rating agencies to provide both industry participants and insurance consumers
informff ation on specificff insurance companies. Higher ratings generally indicate the rating agencies’ opinion regarding financial
stability and a stronger ability to pay claims.

Strong ratings are importmm ant factors in marketing our productdd s to our agents and customers, since rating information is broadly
disseminated and generally used throughout the industry. We believe that a rating of “A-” or higher from A.M. Best Co. is particularly
importm ant for our business. Insurance company financial strengthtt ratings are assigned to an insurer based upon factors deemed by the
rating agencies to be relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward protection of investors. Such ratings are neither a rating of
securities nor a recommendation to buy, hold or sell any security.

EMPLOYEES

As of Decembem r 31, 2019, we had approximately 4,300 emplm oyees, all of whom are located in the United States. We believe our
relations with emplmm oyees are good.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Refereff nce is made to “Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part III - Item 10.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We file our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, our definitive proxy statement
on Scheduld e 14A, and other requiq red informff ation with the SEC. Shareholders may obtain reports, proxy and information statements,
and othert information with respect to our filings, at the SEC’s website, httpt s://www.// sec.gov.

Our website address is https://www.hanover.com. We make availabla e, free of charge, on or through our website, our annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, currentrr reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant
to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as soon as reasonabla y practicable afterff we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Our Code of Conducd t is also available, free of charge, on our website. Additionally, our
Corporrr ate Governance Guidelines and the charters of our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Committee of Independent
Directors and Nominating and Corporate Governar nce Committee, are availabla e on our website. All documents are also availabla e in
print to any shareholder who requests them. Unless specificallyff incorporr rated by reference, information on our website is not part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A–RISK FACTORS
RISK FACTORSOO ANDNN FORWOO AWW RD LOOKIOO NGII STATEMENEE TSNN
We wish to caution readers that the following importanttt factors, among otherstt , in some cases have affectff ed, and in the future could
affect,ff our actual results and couldll cause our actual results to differi materially from histii orical results and from those exee prx essed in anyn
forward-ldd ooking statements madedd from time to time by us on the basisii of our then-current expex ctations. The wordsdd �believes�,
�anticipates�, �expex cts�, �projections�, �outlook�, �shoul� dll �, �could�, �pl� an�, �gui� dance�, �likely�, �on track to�, �targer ted� and
similar expressions are intended to idendd tifyff forward-looking statements. Our businesses are in rapia dlyll changing and compem titive
marketskk and involve a highi degre ee of riskii and unprn edictability. Forwarr rd-looking projeco tions are subjectb to these risks and
unprn edictability.t

Our resultll stt maya fluctuate as a result of cyclical or non-cyclical changesn in the propertytt and casualtyll insurance industry.tt
The property and casualty insurance industry historically has been subject to significant fluctuatt tions and uncertainties. Our
profitability is materially affected by the following items:

• increases in costs, particularly increases occurring afterff the time our insurance products are priced, including construction,
automobile repair, and medical and rehabilitation costs. This includes inflation, rises in the cost of products due to tariffsff
or other factors and “cost shifting” from health insurers to casualty and liabia lity insurers (whether as a result of an
increasing numbem r of injun red parties without healtht insurance, coverage changes in health policies to make such coverage
secondary to casualty policies, the further implmm ementation or the repeal of national healthcare legislation, lower
reimbursement rates for the same procedures by health insurers or government-sponsored insurance, or the
implm ementation of the Medicare Secondary Payer Act, which imposmm es reporting and other requirements with respect to
medical and related claims paid for Medicare eligible individuals). As it relates to construction, there are ofteff n temporary
increases in the cost of building supplies and construction laboa r afteff r a significant event (for examplmm e, so called “demand
surge” that causes the cost of laboa r, construcrr tion materials and othert items to increase in a geographica area affectedff by a
catastrophe). In addition, we are limited in our ability to negotiate and manage reimbursabla e expenses incurred by ouru
policyholders;

• competitive and regulatory pressures, which affectff the prices of our products and the naturtt e of the risks covered;

• volatile and unpredictable developments, including severe weather, catastrophes, wildfires and terrorist actions;

• legal, regulatory and socio-economic developments, such as new theories of insured and insurer liabia lity and related
claims and extra-contracttt uat l awards such as punitive damages, financed litigation, where a third party unrelated to a
lawsuit provides capital to a plaintiff in return for a portion of any financial recoveryrr from the lawsuit, and “social
inflation” or other increases in the costs of litigation, size of jury awards or changes in applicable laws and regulations
(such as changes in the thresholds affecting “no fault” liability or when non-economic damages are recoverable for bodily
injun ry claims or coverage requirements) that impactm our claim payouts;

• fluctuations in interest rates, as a result of a change in monetary policy or othet rwise, inflationary pressures, default rates,
commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and other factors that affectff net income, including with respect to investment
returt nsr and operating results for certain of our lines of business; and

• other general economic conditions and trends that may affectff the adequacy of reserves.
The demand for property and casualty insurance can also vary significantly based on general economic conditions (either nationally or
regionally), rising as the overall level of economic activity increases and falling as such activity decreases. Loss patterns also tend to
vary inversely with local economic conditions, increasing during difficuff lt or unstable economic times and moderating during
economic upswings or periods of stability. The fluctuations in demand and competition could produce unpredictable underwriting
results.

Actual losses from claill msii agaig nstii our propertytt and casualtll ytt insurance subsidiadd ries may exceed their reserves for claims.
Our property and casualty insurance subsidiu aries maintain reserverr s to cover their estimated ultimate liability for losses and loss
adjustment expenses with respect to reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each accounting period. Reserves do not
represent an exact calculation of liability. Rather, reserves represent estimates, involving actuat rial projections and judgments at a
given time, of what we expect the ultimate settlement and administration of incurred claims will cost based on facts and circumstances
then known, predictions of future events, estimates of future trends in claims frequency and severity and judicial theories of liability,
costs of repair and replacement, legislative activity and myriad othert factors.
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The inherent uncertainties of estimating reserves are greater for certain types of propertytt and casualty insurance lines. These include
automobile bodily injury liability, automobile personal injury protection, general liability, and workers’ compensation, where a longer
period of time may elapse beforff e a definitive determination of ultimate liability may be made, environmental liability, where the
technological, judicial and political climates involving these typey s of claims are continuously evolving, and casualty coverages such as
professional liability. There is also greater uncertainty in establa ishing reserves with respect to new business, particularly new business
that is generated with respect to newer product lines, such as our financial institutions and cyber-risk lines, by newly appointed agents,
or in new geographa ies where we have less experience in conducting business. In these cases, there is less historical experience or
knowledge and less data that the actuaries can rely on. Estimating reserves is furthert complicated by unexpected claims or unintended
coverages that emerge dued to changing conditions. These emerging issues may increase the size or numbem r of claims beyond our
underwriting intent and may not become apparent for many years after a policy is issued, such as was the case for the industry with
respect to environmental, asbestos, and certain product liability claims. Similar concerns have emerged with what has been called
“silent” cyber, or claims arising for cybery losses under traditional policies where such coverage is not contemplated.mm These losses are
reflected as prior year reserve development. Although we undertake underwriting actions designed to limit losses once emerging
issues are identified, we remain subju ect to losses on policies issued during those years preceding the underwriting actions.
Additionally, the introduction of new Commercial Lines products and the development of new niche and specialty lines present new
risks. Certain specialty products, such as the human services program, non-profit directors and officff ers liabia lity and emplm oyment
practices liability policies, lawyers and other professff ional liability policies, healthcare lines and directors and officers coverage may
also requiq re a longer period of time (the so-called “tail”) to determine the ultimate liability associated with the claims and may
produce more volatility in our results and less certainty in our accident year reserves. Some lines of business, such as surety,tt are less
susceptible to establishing reserves based on actuarial or historical experience and losses may be episodic, depending on economic and
other factors. Changes in laws, such as so-called “reviver” statutes that retrospectively change the statutes of limitations for certain
claims, such as sexual molestation claims, add furthet r uncertainty to the adequacy of prior estimates.
We regularly review our reserving techniques, reinsurance and the overall adequacy of our reserves based upon, among other things:

• our review of historical data, legislative enactments, judicial decisions, legal developments and trends in imposimm tion of
damages, changes in political attitudes and trends in general economic conditions;

• our review of per claim informar tion;

• historical loss experience of our property and casualty insurance subsu idiaries and the industrytt as a whole; and

• the terms of our property and casualty insurance policies.
Underwritinrr g results and operating income could be adversely affeff cted by furthet r changes in our net loss and LAE estimates related to
significff ant events or emerging risks, such as risks related to attacks on or breaches of cloud-based data information storage or
computermm network systems (“cyber-risks”), privacy regulations or disruprr tions causea d by majora power grid failures or widespread
electrical and electronic equipment failure due to aging infrastructure, natural factors like hurricanes, earthquakes, wildfires, solar
flares and pandemic or man-made factors like terrorism.
Estimating losses following any majora catastrophe or with respect to emerging claims is an inherently uncertain process. Factors that
add to the complexity of estimating losses from these events include the legal and regulatory uncertainty, the complexity of factors
contribut ting to the losses, delays in claim reporting, and with respect to areas with significantff property damage, the impacmm t of
“demand surge” and a slower pace of recovery resulting from the extent of damage sustained in the affectedff areas due, in part, to the
availability and cost of resources to effect repairs. Emerging claims issues may involve complex coverage, liabilita y and othert costs
which could significantly affeff ct LAE. As a result, there can be no assurance that our ultimate costs associated with these events or
issues will not be substantially different from current estimates (forff examplm e, actualt losses arising from an event could have varied
widely depending on the interprerr tation of various policy provisions). Investors should consider the risks and uncertainties in our
business that may affectff net loss and LAE reserve estimates and future performance, including the difficuff lties in arriving at such
estimates.
Anticipated losses associated with business interruptu ion exposure, the impact of wind versus water as the cause of loss, disputes over
the extent of damage caused by hail storms (particularly with respect to roof damage claims), supplemental payments on previously
closed claims caused by the development of latent damages or new theories of liabia lity and inflationary pressures leading to claims
cost escalation could also have a negative impactm on future loss reserve development. Many states permit insureds to simplm y sign-over
their claims to contractors or others (so-called “assignment of benefits”), which frequently generate higher claim demands. Othertt
states permit filing of suits without prior discussions, which has a similar effectff and also increases loss adjusd tment costs.
Because of the inherent uncertainties involved in setting reserves and establishing current and prior-year “loss picks”, including those
related to catastrophes, we cannot provide assurance that the existing reserves or future reserves established by our property and
casualty insurance subsidiaries will prove adequate in light of subseu quent events. Our results of operations and financial condition
have in the past been, and in the future could be, materially affecff ted by adverse loss development for events that we insured in prior
periods.
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Due to geographical concentratt tion in our propeo rtytt and casualty business, changes in economic, regulatory and othertt conditiodd ns in
the regions where we operate couldll have a signii fii cant negate ivtt e impam ct on our businesii s as a wholell . Geograpa hic concentratt tions also
expose us to losses that are potentiallyll dispii roporto ionatett to our market share in the event of natural or other catastrophes.
We generate a significant portion of our property and casualty insurance net premiums written and earnings in Michigan,
Massachusetts and other states in the Northeastt , including New York. In addition, a significant amount of Commercial Lines’ net
written premium is generated in California. For the year ended Decembem r 31, 2019, approximately 20.9% and 9.5% of our net
premiums written in our property and casualty business were generated in the states of Michigan and Massachusetts, respectively, and
12.0% of our Commercial Lines’ net premiums written was generated in Califorff nir a. Many states in which we do business imposm e
significant rate control and residual market charges, and restrict an insurer’s ability to exit such markets (forff examplm e, the Insurance
Commissioner in Califorff nirr a has taken steps to limit non-renewal of property policies in geographic areas prone to wildfires). The
revenues and profitabff ility of our property and casualty insurance subsiu diaries are subju ect to prevailing economic, regulatory,
demographia c and other conditions, including adverse weather in Michigan and the Northeastt . Because of our geographic concentration
in certain regions, our business, as a whole, could be significantly affected by changes in the economic, regulatory and othert
conditions in such areas.
Further,t certain new catastrophe models assume an increase in frequency and severity of certain weather or other events, such as fires,
whethert as a result of global climate change or otherwise.t Financaa ial strength rating agencies emphasim ze capital and reinsurance
adequacy for insurers with geographic concentrations of risk that may be subjectu to disproportionate risk of loss. These factors also
may result in insurers seeking to diversify their geographic exposure, which could result in increased regulatory restrictions in those
markets where insurers seek to exit or reduce coverage, as well as an increase in competitive pressures in less weather-exposed
markets.

Our profio tabii ility maya be advedd rsely affected if our pricing modelsdd differi materially from actual results.ll

The profitability of our business depends on the extent to which our actuatt l claims experience is consistent with the assumptm ions we
use in pricing our policies. We price our business in a manner that is intended to be consistent, over time, with actual results and returtt nrr
objeb ctives. Our estimates and models, and/or the assumptions behind them, may differ materially from actual results.

If we fail to appropriately price the risks we insure, fail to change or are slow to change our pricing model to appropriately reflect our
current experience, or if our claims experience is more frequent or severe than our underlying risk assumptions, our profitff margins will
be negatively affected.ff If we underestimate the frequency and/or severity of extreme adverse events occurring, our financial condition
may be adversely affected. If we overestimate the risks we are exposed to, we may overprice our products, and new business growth
and retention of our existing business may be adversely affeff cted.

Limitationtt s on the abilityll tott predict the potentialtt impact of weather eventstt and catastrophtt es may impact our future profits and cash
flows.

Our business is subject to claims arising out of catastrott phes that may have a significff ant impacmm t on our results of operations and
financial condition. We have experienced, and in the futurett may experience, catastrophe losses that could have a material adverse
impact on our business. Catastrophes can be causa ed by various events, including hurricanes, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, wind,
hail, fires, drought, severe winter weathet r, volcanic eruptrr ions, tropical storms, tsunamis, sabota age, terrorist actions, explosions,
nuclear accidents, solar flares, and power outages. The frequency and severity of catastrot phes are inherently unpredictable.

The extent of gross losses from a catastrophe is a function of the total amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the event and
the severity of the event. The extent of net losses depends on the amount and collectability of reinsurance.
Additionally, the severity of certain catastrophes could be so significant that it restricts the ability of certain locations to recover their
economic viability in the near term. And, repeated catastrophes or the threat of catastrophes could undermine the long-term economic
viability of certain locations like coastal or wildfire-exposed communim ties, which could have a significaff nt negative impam ct on our
business.
Although catastrophes can cause losses in a variety of property and casualty lines, homeowners and commercial multiple peril
property insurance have, in the past, generated the vast majoa rity of our catastrophe-related claims. Our catastrophe losses haveaa
historically been principally weather-related, particularly from hurricanes, or hail damage, as well as snow and ice damage from
winter storms.
Although the insurance industry and rating agencies have developed various models intended to help estimate potential insured losses
under thousands of scenarios, there is no reliable way of predicting the probability of such events or the magnitude of such losses
before a specific event occurs. We utilize various models and other techniques in an attemptm to measure and manage potential
catastrophe losses within various income and capia tal risk appetites. However, such models and techniques have many limitations. In
addition, due to historical concentrations of business, regulatory restrictions and other factors, our ability to manage such
concentrations is limited, particularly in the Northeast and in the state of Michigan.
We purchase catastrophe reinsurance as protection against catastrophe losses. Reinsurance is subju ect to the adequacy and counterparr rty
reinsurance risks described below. Should we experience losses from one significff ant or several large catastrophes, there can be no
assurance that our reinsurance program will provide adequate coverage levels.
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Our business is depeee ndentdd on our abilitytt to manage risk, and the failure of the risk mitigatiott n strategies we utilize could have a
material adversedd effect on our financial conditiodd n or results of operations.

Our business performff ance is highly dependent on our ability to manage operational risks that arise from a large number of day-to-day
business activities, including insurance underwriting, claims processing, servicing, investment, financial and tax reporting, compliance
with regulatoryrr requirements and other activities. We utilize numerous strategies to mitigate our insurance risk exposure, including:
underwriting; setting exposure limits, deductibles and exclusions to mitigate policy risk; updating and reviewing the terms and
conditions of our policies; managing risk aggregation by product line, geography, industry type, credit exposure and other bases; and
ceding insurance risk. We seek to monitor and control our exposure to risks arising out of these activities through an enterprise-wide
risk management framework. However, there are inherent limitations in all of these tactics, and no assurance can be given that these
processes and procedures will effectivff ely control all known risks or effectively identify unforeseen risks or that an event or series of
events will not result in loss levels in excess of our probabla e maximumm loss models, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our
financial condition or results of operations. It is also possible that losses could manifest themselves in ways that we do not anticipate
and that our risk mitigation strategies are not designed to address. Such a manifestation of losses could have a material adverse effeff ct
on our financial condition or results of operations. These risks may be heightened during times of challenging macroeconomic
conditions.

We cannot guaranteett the adequacyc of or abilitll ytt to maintain our current level of reinsurance coverage.

Similar to insurance companies, reinsurance compamm nies can also be adversely impactm ed when catastrophes occur. In setting our
retention levels and coverage limits, we consider our level of statutory surplus and exposures, as well as the current reinsurance
pricing environment, but there can be no assurance that we adequaqq tely set these levels or limits or that we will be able to maintain our
current or desired levels of reinsurance coverage. In particular, and as discussed under “Reinsurance Program Overview”, not all of
our 2020 reinsurance programs for the Commercial and Personal Lines are fully placed. Reinsurance is a significant factor in our
overall cost of providing primary insurance. However, unlike primary insurers, reinsurers are not subju ect to rate or othert restritt ctions
requiring them to continue availabia lity of reinsurance or limiting cost increases or mandating coverage forms. An individual insurer’s
reinsurance expense is correlated to the level of losses experienced by its reinsurers. Future catastrophic events and other changes in
the reinsurance marketplacet , including as a result of investment losses or disruprr tions due to challenges in the financial markets that
have occurred or could occur in the future, may adversely affeff ct our ability to obtain such coverages, as well as adversely affectff the
cost of obtaining that coverage.

Additionally, the availability, scope of coverage, cost, and creditworthit ness of reinsurance could continue to be adversely affectff ed as a
result of not only new catastrophes, but also terrorist attacks and the perceived risks associated with futurtt e terrorist activities, global
conflicts, including the threat of nuclear conflictff , and the changing legal and regulatory environment (including changes which could
create new insured risks). Federal reinsurance for terror rism risks coverage offeff red by insurers is availabla e under the federal terrorism
risk insurance program, but it only applies to certifieff d events of terrorism (as defined in the legislation) and contains certain capsa and
deducd tibles. Although the federal terrorism risk insurance program coverage is in effeff ct through December 31, 2027, should this
program be modified unfavff orably by the governmrr ent in the futurt e, private reinsurance for events of terrorism may not be availabla e to
us or available at reasonable or acceptable rates.

Althoughgg we monitor their financial soundness, we cannot be sure that our reinsurersrr willii pay in a timelii yll fashion, if at all.ll

We purchase reinsurance by transferring (known as ceding) part of the risk that we have assumed to reinsurance companies in
exchange for part of the premium we receive in connection with the risk. As of December 31, 2019, our reinsurance receivable
(including from the MCCA) amounted to approximately $1.8 billion. Although reinsurance makes the reinsurer liable to us to the
extent the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer, it does not relieve us (the reinsured) of our liability to our policyholders.
Accordingly, we bear counterparty risk with respect to our reinsurers, including risks resulting frff om over-concentrat tion of exposures
within the industry. Although we monitor the financial strengtht ratings assigned to them by rating agencies, their reputations in the
reinsurance marketplace,tt our collections history with them, the credit quality of our reinsurers, and the analysis and guidance of our
reinsurance advisors, and we believe that the financial condition of our reinsurers is sound, we cannot be sure that they will pay the
reinsurance recoverabla es owed to us currently or in the futurett or that they will pay such recoverables on a timely basis. The
contract tual obligations under reinsurance agreements are typiy cally with individual subsu idiaries of the reinsurance groupu and are not
typically guaranteed by other group members. In certain circumstances, with “unauthot rized” reinsurers or those with lower financial
strength ratings, we may require collateral equal to 100% of estimated reinsurance recoverables.
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Climate change maya adversdd elyll impact our results of operations.

The increased frequency and severity of weather-related catastrophes and other losses, such as from wildfires, incurred by the industrytt
in 2019 and in prior years is increasingly indicative of changing weathet r patternsrr and, climate-warming trends (“global climate
change”), which could cause such events to persist. Increased weather-related catastrophes would lead to higher overall losses, which
we may not be able to recoup, particularly in a highly regulated and competitive environment, and higher reinsurance costs. As noted
above, certain catastrophe models assume an increase in frequency and severity of certain weathet r or othet r events, which could result
in a disproportionate impam ct on insurers with certain geographic concentrations of risk. This would also likely increase the risks of
writing propertytt insurance in coastal areas or areas susceptible to wildfires or flooding, particularly in jurisdictions that restrict pricing
and underwriting flexibility. The threat of rising seas or other catastrophe losses as a result of global climate change may also cause
property values in coastal or such other communities to decrease, reducing the total amount of insurance coverage that is required.

In addition, global climate change could have an impam ct on assets that we invest in, resulting in realized and unrealized losses in future
periods that could have a material adverse impam ct on our results of operations and/or financial position. It is not possible to foresee
which, if any, assets, industries or markets will be materially and adversely affected, nor is it possible to foresee the magnitude of such
effect.

We maya incur financial losses resultingtt froff m our participationtt in shared market mechanisms,ii mandatdd ortt yr reinsurance programs
and mandatdd ortt yr and voluntartt yr poolinll gn arrangements.tt

In most of the jurisdictions that we operate in, our property and casualty insurance subsidiaries are requiq red to participate in
mandatory property and casualty shared market mechanisms, government-sponsored reinsurance programs or pooling arrangements.
These arrangements are designed to provide various insurance coverages to individuals or other entities that are othet rwise unable to
purchase such coverage or to suppou rt the costs of uninsured motorist claims in a particular state or region. We cannot predict whether
our participation in these shared market mechanisms or pooling arrangements will provide underwriting profits or losses to us. For the
year ended December 31, 2019, we experienced an underwriting loss of $14.1 million from participation in these mechanisms and
pooling arrarr ngements, comparmm ed to underwrirr ting losses of $23.2 million and $13.6 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively. We may
face similar or more significant earnings fluctuations in the future.

Additionally, increases in the number of participants or insureds in state-sponsored reinsurance pools, FAIR plans or other residual
market mechanisms, particularly in the states of Massachusetts, Texas, Califorff nirr a, New York, or North Carolina, combined with
regulatory restritt ctions on the ability to adequately price, underwrite, or non-renew business, as well as new legislation, or changes in
existing case law, could expose us to significff ant risks of increased assessments from these residual market mechanisms. There could
also be a significantff adverse impactm as a result of losses incurred in those states due to hurricane or othert high loss exposures, as well
as the declining number of carriers providing coverage in those regions. We are unable to predict the likelihood or impamm ct of such
potential assessments or other actions.
We also have credit risk associated witht certain mandatory reinsurance programs, such as the MCCA. See “Risk Factors – Michigana
PIP Reform,” for more information on the MCCA.
In addition, we may be adversely affected by liabilities resulting from our previous participation in certain voluntaryr property and
casualty assumed reinsurance pools. We have terminated our participation in virtuatt lly all property and casualty voluntary pools, but
we remain subject to claims related to the periods when we participated. The propertytt and casualty industry’s assumed reinsurance
businesses have sufferff ed substantial losses during the past several years, particularly related to environmental and asbestos exposure
for property and casualty coverages, in some cases resulting from incidents alleged to have occurred decades ago. Due to the inherent
volatility in these businesses, possible issues related to the enforceability of reinsurance treaties in the industry and the continuing
history of increased losses, we cannot provide assurance that our current reserves are adequate or that we will not incur losses in the
future.tt Our operating results and financial position may be adversely affecff ted by liabia lities resulting from any such claims in excess of
our loss estimates. As of December 31, 2019, our reserves totaled $37.4 million for these legacy voluntaryr property and casualty
assumed reinsurance pools, with the largest being the Excess Casualty Reinsuranca e Association (“ECRA”)RR pool.
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Our businesses are heavily regulatll edtt ,dd and changes in regulation maya reduce our profitaii bilityii .yy
Our insurance businesses are subju ect to supeu rvision and regulation by the state insurance authority in each state where we transact
business. This system of supeu rvision and regulation relates to numerous aspects of an insurance company’s business and financial
condition, including limitations on the authorization of lines of business, underwriting limitations, the ability to utilize credit-based
insurance scores, gender, geographa ic location, information publu icly available (such as on social media), education, occupation, income
or othet r factors in underwriting, the ability to terminate agents, supeu rvisory and liability responsibilities for agents, the setting of
premium rates, the requirement to write certain classes of business that we might otherwise avoid or charge differff ent premium rates,
restrictions on the ability to withdraw from certain lines of business or terminate policies or classes of policyholders, the establishment
of standards of solvency, the licensing of insurers and agents, compensation of and contractual arrangements with independent agents,
concentration of investments, levels of reserves, the payment of dividends, transactions with affilff iates, changes of controt l, protection
of private information of our agents, policyholders, claimants and othet rs (which may include highly sensitive financial or medical
information or othet r private information such as social securitytt numbers,m driving records, driver’s license numbers,m etc.) and the
approval of policy forms. From time to time, various states and Congress have proposed to prohibit or othet rwise restrict the use of
credit-based insurance scores in underwriting or rating our Personal Lines business. The elimination of the use of credit-based
insurance scores could causeaa significant disruptrr ion to our business and our confidff ence in our pricing and underwriting. Most insurance
regulations are designed to protect the interests of policyholders rather than stockhokk lders and othert investors.
Legislative and regulatory restrictions are constantly evolving and are subject to then current political pressures. For examplm e,
following majora events, states have considered, and in some cases adopted, proposals such as homeowners’ “Bill of Rights”,
restrictions on storm deductibles, additional mandatory claim handling guidelines and mandatory coverages. More recently, the
California Insurance Commissioner requested that all insurers operating in Californff ia voluntarily divest from any investments they
may have in thermal coal and restricted the ability of carrir ers to non-renew certain coverages in wildfire disaster areas, and the New
York Department of Financial Services and regulatory agencies in othert states have enacted comprem hensive cybersecurity regulations.
Also, the federal Medicare, Medicaid and State Children’s Healtht Insurance Program Extension Act mandates reporting and other
requirements applicable to property and casualty insurance companies that make payments to or on behalf of claimants who are
eligible for Medicare benefits. These requirements have made bodily injun ry claim resolutions more difficult, particularly for complex
matters or for injun ries requiring treatment over an extended period, and imposm e significant penalties for non-compliance and reporting
errors. These requirements also have increased the circumstances under which the federal governmrr ent may seek to recover from
insurers amounts paid to claimants in circumstances where the government had previously paid benefits.
State regulatory oversight and various proposals at the federal level, through the Federal Insurance Office or othet r agencies, may, in
the future, adversely affect our ability to sustain adequate returns in certain lines of business or in some cases, operate lines profitably.ff
In recent years, the state insurance regulatory framework has come under increased federal scrutiny, and certain state legislaturt es have
considered or enacted laws that alter and, in many cases, increase state authority to regulate insurance companies and insurance
holding company systems.
Our business could be negatively impacm ted by adverse state and federal legislation or regulation, or judicial developments, including
those resulting in:

• decreases in rates, including for examplm e, recent regulatory or bureauaa actions to mandate reduced d premiums for workers’
compemm nsation insurance;

• limitations on premium levels;

• coverage and benefitff mandates;

• limitations on the ability to manage care and utilization or other claim costs;

• requirements to write certain classes of business or in certain geographa ies;

• restrictions on underwrrr iting, on methods of compem nsating independent producdd ers, or on our ability to cancel or renew
certain business (which negatively affects our ability to reduce concentrations of property risks);

• higher liability exposures for our insureds;

• increased assessments or higher premium or other taxes; and

• enhanced ability to pierce “no fault” thresholds, recover non-economic damages (such as “pain and sufferiff ng”), or pierce
policy limits.

These regulations serverr to protect the customers and othet r third parties who deal with us and are heavily influenced by the then current
political environment. If we are found to have violated an applicable regulation, administrative or judicial proceedings may be
initiated against us that could result in censures, fines, civil penalties (including punitive damages), the issuance of cease-and-desist
orders, premium refunds or the reopening of closed claim files, among other consequences. These actions could have a material
adverse effecff t on our financial position and results of operations.
In addition, we are reliant upon independent agents and brokers to market our products. Changes in regulations related to insurance
agents and brokers that materially impamm ct the profitability of the agent and broker business or that restrict the ability of agents and
brokers to market and sell insurance products would have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Further, as we continue to expand our business into new regions, either organically or through acquisition, we become subjeu ct to the
regulations and differeff nt regulatory bodies governing such business in those locales.
From time to time, we are also involved in investigations and proceedings by federal, state, and othert governmrr ental and self-ff
regulatory agencies. We cannot provide assurance that these investigations, proceedings and inquiries will not result in actions that
would adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.
Michigan PIPPP Reform
Since 1973, the state of Michigan has required all personal and commercial automobile polices issued in the state to include no-fauff lt
personal injun ry protection (“PIP”) coverage without a capa on maximumm benefits allowed (i.e., “unlimited PIP benefits”). Insurers are
required to retain a portion of the risk and the Michigan Catastrophic Claims Association (thet “MCCA”), a legislatively-created
reinsurance mechanism, reinsures the portion of the risk in excess of the insurer’s mandated retention. The mandatory retention
amount increases biennially at a statutt ory mandated rate and is currently $580,000. Premiums on Michigan automobile policies
include a charge for botht the insurer’s retained amount and a separately identified pass-through charge determined by the MCCA.
These mandated PIP benefits, which are subject to limited cost and utilization controls, are much greater than provided in any other
state. Michigan average automobile premium rates are reportedly the highest in the United States and this benefit is regarded as a
primary driver to overall premium rates.
In response to concerns about the overall cost and affoff rdability of automobile insurance in Michigan, which has also contrit buted to a
reportedly high incidence of uninsured drivers, especially in Detroit and in othet r urbar n areas of the state, the state enacted legislation
in June 2019 that will significantly change the current no-fauff lt and PIP system. The new legislation will eliminate, effecff tive July 2,
2020, the current requirement that all insureds purchase unlimited PIP coverage and substitutt e instead tiered limits, ranging from zero
(for those with certain health benefits meeting specified criteria) to unlimited benefits. In contrasttt , the minimumm amounts of bodily
injuryrr coverage drivers are required to purchase will increase, and we anticipate an increase in tort liability and related litigation from
these changes. The legislation includes underwriting and othet r restritt ctions and mandates, in addition to subjeu cting rates, forms and
rules to prior approval from the Michigan Department of Insurance and Financial Services (“Michigan Insurance Department”) before
implm ementation.
The legislation also imposem s various cost controt ls, including medical fee schedules based on a multiple of Medicare reimbursm ement
rates, and mandated PIP premium rate reductions with an eight-year premium rate freeze for the PIP component of automobile
policies. The Michigan Insurance Department is also preparing regulations to establish utilization controlstt . The rate freeze was
effective contemporanem ously with the adoption of the legislation and the mandatory rate reduction is effectiveff July 2, 2020. The
expense and utilization controls do not go into effect until July 1, 2021.
In response to the savings expected to be garnered from the expense and utilization controls when they become effecff tive, the MCCA
reassessed its outstanding liabia lities and estimated that the deficit reported in more recent years had been “erased” (notwithstt anding a
persistent reported annual deficit, the MCCA’s annual operations have always been cash flow positive). As of December 31, 2019,
our estimated reinsurance recoverablea from the MCCA was $1.0 billion. This estimate has not been reduced for the potential future
claim cost savings.
Many medical and other providers who receive reimbursement under the current PIP system strenuously objectb to the fee scheduld es,
cost controls and utilization restrictions imposmm ed by the new legislation. Since the reform legislation was adopted, we have
experienced an increase in litigation from medical and othet r providers demanding higher reimbursements under the current system.
On October 3, 2019, litigation captioned Andary et. al. v. USAA Casualtytt Insurance Company and Citizens Insurance Company of
America [a subsidiary of THG], Circuit Court for the County of Ingham, Michigan Case 19-738-CZ, was filed. The plaintiffsff seek a
declaratory judgment that the fee schedules, attendant care reimbursm ement limits, cost controt ls and utilization provisions of the new
legislation violate multiple provisions of the Michigan state constitution. We intend to vigorously contest plaintiffs’ claims.
For the year ending December 31, 2019, Michigan personal automobile insurance represented approximately 47% of our total
personal automobile net premiums written. PIP net premium (which does not include the MCCA pass-through assessment) represents
approximately 29% of those Michigan premiums. It is not clear at this time whether projected savings from the various cost contrott l
measures, assuming they remain in effect, will be commensurate with the required PIP reductions and rate controls. Accordingly, there
is increased uncertainty attributablea to these changes regarding the futurtt e performance of our Personal Lines business.
We are subject to litigaii tion riskii s,kk includindd gn riskskk relatll ingtt to the application and interpretation of contracts, and adversedd outcott mes
in litigati iott n and legal proceedingdd sgg could adversely affectff our results of operations and financial conditiodd n.
We are subject to litigation risks, including risks relating to the application and interpretation of insurance and reinsurance contracts
and our handling of claim matters (which can lead to bad faith and othet r forms of extra-contractual liability), and are routinely
involved in litigation that challenges specific terms and language incorporated into property and casualty contracts, such as claims
reimbursements, covered perils and exclusion clauses, among otherst , or the interpretation or administration of such contracts. We are
also involved in legal actions that do not arise in the ordinary course of business, some of which assert claims for substu antial amounts.
Adverse outcomes could materially affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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We are subject to mandatdd ortt yr assessmentstt by stattt ett guarantytt funds;dd an increase in these assessmenee ts couldll adversely affect our
results of operations and financial condition.dd
All fifty U.S. states and the District of Columbia have insurance guaranty fund laws requiring property and casualty insurance
companies doing business within the state to participate in guaranty associations. These associations are organized to pay contractual
obligations under insurance policies issued by impamm ired or insolvent insurance companies. The associations levy assessments, up to
prescribed limits, on all member insurers in a particular state on the basis of the proportionate share of the premiums written by
member insurers in the lines of business in which the impamm ired or insolvent insurer is engaged. Although mandatory assessments by
state guaranty funds that are used to cover losses to policyholders of insolvent or rehabia litated companies can be substantially
recovered over time through policyholder surcharges or a reduction in future premium taxes in many states (provided the collecting
insurer continues to write business in such state), there can be no assurance that all fuff nds will be recoupable in the future. During
2019, we had a total assessment of $1.8 million levied against us, with refunds of $1.1 million received in 2019 for a total net
assessment of $0.7 million. As of Decemberm 31, 2019, we have $0.5 million of reserverr s related to guaranty fund assessments. In the
futurtt e, these assessments may increase above levels experienced in prior years. Futurett increases in these assessments depend upon the
rate of insolvencies of insurance companies.

If we are unable to attrtt act and retain qualifiedll personnel, or if we experience the loss or retirementi of key executives or other keye
employell es,s we may not be able to compete effece tively and our operatiott ns could be impm actedtt sigi ngg ificaff ntly.tt

Our future success will be affectff ed by our continued ability to attract, develop and retain qualified executives and othet r key
employees, particrr ularly those experienced in the property and casualty indud stry.

Our profio tabii ilitytt could be adversdd ely affecteff d by our relatll ionshtt ips with our agencies.

We distribute our products exclusively through independent agents and brokers who have the principal relationships with
policyholders. Agents and brokers generally own the “renewal rights”, and thus our business model is dependent on our relationships
with, and the success of,ff the agents and brokers with whom we do business.

We periodically review the agencies, including managing general agencies, with whom we do business, to identify those that do not
meet our profitff ability standards or are not aligned with our business objectb ives. Following these periodic reviews, we may restrict such
agencies’ access to certain types of policies or terminate our relationship with them, subjeb ct to applicabla e contractualtt and regulatoryrr
requiq rements that limit our ability to terminate agents or require us to renew policies. We may not achieve the desired results from
these measures.

Because we rely on independent agents as our sales channel, any deterioration in the relationships with our independent agents or
failure to provide competitive compensation to our independent agents could lead agents to place more premium with other carrir ers
and less premium with us. In addition, we could be adversely affeff cted if the agencies, including managing general agencies, with
whom we do business exceed the authority that we have given them, fail to transfer premium to us or breach the obligations that they
owe to us. Although we routinely monitor our agency relationships, such actions could expose us to liability.

Also, if agency consolidation continues at its current pace or increases in the futurtt e and more agencies are consolidated into larger
agencies or managing general agencies, our sales channel could be materially affected in a numbem r of ways, including loss of market
access or market share in certain geographic areas if an acquirer is not one of our appointed agencies, loss of agency talent as the
people most knowledgeable about our products and with whom we have developed strott ng working relationships exit the business
following a disposition of an agency, increases in our commission costs as larger agencies acquire more negotiating leverage over
their fees, and interference with the core agency business of selling insurance due to integration or distraction. Any such disruption
that materially affects our sales channel could have a negative impamm ct on our results of operations and financial condition.

As the speed of digitization accelerates, we are subject to risks associated with both our agents’ and our ability to keep pace. In an
increasingly digital world, agents who cannot provide a digital or technology-driven experience risk losing customers who demand
such an experience, and such customers may choose to utilize more technology-driven agents or abandon the independent agency
channel altogether. Additionally, if we are not able to keep pace with competitors’ digital offeriff ngs, we may not be able to meet the
demand from our agents or their customers, which could lead to a loss of customers, agents or both.

We maya be affectff edtt by disrii uptiott ns caused by the introductiott n of new productd s,tt related technologll ygg changes,n and new operatintt g
modelsdd in Commercial Lines,s Personal Linii es and specialtytt busineii sses and future acquisitions, and expaxx nsionii intott new geographic
areas.

There are increased underwriting risks associated with premium growth and the introducd tion of new products or programs in our
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and specialty businesses. Additionally, there are increased underwriting risks associated with the
appointment of new agencies and managing general agencies and with the expansion into new geographical areas.
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The introduction of new Commercial Lines products and the development of new niche and specialty lines, presents new risks. Certain
new specialty productd s may present longer “tail” risks and increased volatility in profitability. Our expansion into western states,
including California, presents additional underwriting risks since the regulatory, geographia c, naturatt l risk, legal environment,
demographa ic, business, economic and other characteristics of these states present challenges differeff nt from those in the states where
we historically have conducted business. In addition, our agency relationships in these new geographies are not as developed.

Our Personal Lines production and earnirr ngs may be unfavorabla y affectff ed by the continued introduction of new products, expanded
risk appetites and our focus on account business (i.e., policyholders who have both automobile and homeowner insurance with us) that
we believe, despite pricing discounts, will ultimately be more profitabla e business. We may also experience adverse selection, which
occurs when insureds purchase our products because of under-pricing, operational difficulties or implm ementation impediments with
independent agents or the inability to grow new markets after the introductd ion of new productd s or the appointment of new agents.

As we enter new states or regions or grow our business, there can be no assurance that we will not experience higher loss trends than
anticipated.

We maya experience difficultiei s with technologyll ,yy implm emenll tingn new technologio es, data security and/or outsourcing relatll iott nshipsii ,s
which couldll have a negative impact on our abilityii to conduct our business.

We use computer systems to store, retrieve, evaluate and utilize customer and company data and information. Our computer,
information technology and telecommunications systems, in turn, interfaceff with and rely upon third-party systems, including cloud-
based data storage. Our business is highly dependent on our ability and the ability of certain third parties, to access these systems to
perform necessary business functions, including, without limitation, providing insurance quotes, processing premium payments,
making changes to existing policies, filing and paying claims, providing customer support and managing investmet nt portfolios.
Systems attacks, failures or outages could compromise our ability to perforff m these functions in a timely manner, which could harm
our ability to conduct business and hurt our relationships with our business partners and customers. In the event of a disaster such as a
natural catastrophe, an indud strial accident, a blackout, a computer virus, a cybey r security attack or intrusr ion, a terrorist attack or war,
or interference from solar flares, our systems or the external systems that we rely on may be inaccessible to our emplm oyees, customers
or business partners for an extended period of time. Even if ouruu emplmm oyees are able to report to work, they may be unable to perfoff rm
their duties for an extended period of time if our data or the systems that we rely on are disabla ed or destroyed or if our disaster
recovery plans are inadequate or sufferff from unforeseen consequeq nces. This could result in a materially adverse effect on our business
results and liquidity.

We increasingly rely on technological and data-driven solutions to operate our business. If we are slow to adapt to, roll out or
implm ement new technologies, particularly those that leverage data and analytics, it could materially affect our ability to meet the
expectations of our customers or compete with more technologically adept competitors, particularly those with more resources to
devote to new technologies or technological enhancements.

In addition, we outsource certain technology and business process functions and data storage to third parties and may do so
increasingly in the futurett . If we do not effeff ctively develop, implement and monitor our outsourcing strattt egies, third-party providers do
not perform as anticipated or we or they experience technological or other problems with a transition or in operations, we may not
realize productivity imprmm ovements or cost efficiencies and may experience operational difficulties, liabilities for breaches of
confidff ential information, increased costs and a loss of business. Our outsourcing of certain technology, data storage and business
process functions to third parties may expose us to enhanced risk related to data security, which could result in monetary and
reputational damages. In addition, our ability to receive services from third-party providers outside of the United States might be
impam cted by cultural differences, political instability, regulatoryrr requirements or policies inside or outside of the United States. As a
result, our abilityt to conducd t our business might be adversely affected.
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Data security incidentsdd ,s including,dd but not limitedii to, those resultill ngii fromff a malicious cyber security attatt ck on us or our busineii ss
partnett rs and service providei rs, or intrusions into our systyy emstt or data sources couldll disii ruptu or othett rwise negativtt elyll impactm our
businessii .s

Our systems and the systems that we rely on, like others in the financial services industryt , are vulnerabla e to cyber security risks, and
we are subject to disruptrr ion and othert adverse effects causeda by such activities. Large corporations such as ours are subjectb to daily
attacks on their systems and other vulnerabilities to data security incidents. These attacks and incidents have included, or may in the
futurtt e include: unauthoa rized access, viruses, malware or other malicious code, ransomware, deceptive social engineering campaim gns
(also known as “phishing” or “spoofing”), loss or theft of assets, emplomm yee errors or malfeaff sance, third-party errors or malfeasance, as
well as system failures and other security events. Such attacks may have various goals, from seeking confidential information or the
misdirection of payments, to causing operational disruptrr ion. Such activities could result in material disruptions to our operations,
financial loss or material damage to our reputation. Like other companies, we have froff m time to time experienced, and are likely to
continue to experience, security events and data intrusirr on, and while none of these events to date have had a material adverse effectff on
our business, no assurances can be made that such attacks or security events will not have a material adverse effect on our business in
the future. As the breadth and complexity of cybey r security attacks and other data security events become more prevalent and the
methods used to perpetrate them evolve, we may be requirq ed to devote additional personnel, or financial or systems resources, to
protecting our data security or investigating or remediating vulnerabilities as a result of data security incidents. Such resources could
be costly in time and expenses, and could detract from resources spent on our core property and casualty insurance operations. In
addition, we may not be able to detect an incident, assess its severity or impam ct, or appropriately respond in a timely manner, which
could increase our exposure to an incident.

The third parties with whom we work are also subject to these same risks, and we are vulnerabla e if a cybey r security attack or other data
security incident involves a third-party vendor or service provider. Such an event could threaten to disruptu our business if the third
party’s operations are comprmm omised, or provide attackers an avenue to pivot and attack our systems by exploiting the relationships that
we have with our trusrr ted business partners. While we take measures to protect against such events (e.g., utilizing secure transmission
capaa ba ilities with third-party vendors and others with whom we do business when possible), review and assess our third party
providers’ cybey rsecurity controls, as appropriate, and make changea s to our business processes to manage these risks, we cannot assure
that our efforts will always be successful.

Any failure to protecttt the confidff entdd iatt lity of customer informn ationtt couldll adverdd serr ly affecff t our reputation or expose us to fines,s
penaltiestt or litiii gai tion, which could have a material adversedd effect on our business, financial conditiondd and resultstt of operations.

We are required to safeguard the confidff ential personal information of our customers and applicants and are subject to an increasing
numberm of federal, state, local and international laws and regulations regarding privacy and data security, as well as contractual
commitments. These laws and regulations are rapia dly evolving, complex, vary significantly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and
sometimes conflict. In the absence of updated, uniforff m federal privacy legislation, there is a growing trend in the jurisdictions that we
operate in, including California, which recently enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, to adopt state-specific, sweeping
privacy legislation that provides consumers with various privacy rights and impom ses significff ant compliance burdens on covered
companies. Failure to comply with any privacy laws or regulations could subju ect us to governmental enforcement actions and fines,
penalties, litigation, private rights of action or public statements against us by consumer advocacy groups or othet rs if confidential
customer information is misappa ropriated from our computer systems, those of our vendors or others with whom we do business, or
otherwise. Despite the security measures that may be in place, any such systems may be vulnerablea to the types of attacks and security
incidents described above. Any well-publicized compromise of security could deter people from entering into transactions that involve
transmitting confidential information, or damage our reputation, which could have a material adverse effectff on our business.
Additionally, the chilling effect of privacy legislation may make our business partners more reluctant to share information with us that
we may find useful in pricing our products or otherwise conducting our business.

Integre ationtt of acquireii d busineii sses involvesll a number of riskii s.kk

There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate future acquisitions or that we will not assume unknok wn
liabilities and reserve deficiencies in connection with such acquisitions. If we are unable to successfully integrate new businesses, then
we could be impededm from realizing the benefits of an acquisition. The integration process could disruprr t our business, and a failure to
successfully integrate newer businesses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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Intense competitioii n couldll negativett ly affectff our ability to maintain or increase our profitaii bility,ii particulaii rly in light of the various
competitive, financialii ,ll strategic, technological,ll structural, informational and resource advantagea see that our competitors have.

We compete, and will continue to compete, with a large numbem r of companies, including international, national and regional insurers,
specialty insurance companies, underwrrr iting agencies and financial services institutions. We also compete with mutual insurance
compamm nies, reciprocal and exchange companies that may not have shareholders and may have different profitability targets than
publicly or privately owned companies. In recent years, there has been substu antial consolidation and convergence among companim es in
the financial services industry, resulting in increased competition from large, well-capia talized financial services firms. Many of our
competitors have greater financial, technical, technological, and operating resources than we do, greater access to data analytics or
“big data”, and may be able to offeff r a wider range of,ff or more sophisticated, commercial and personal line products. Some of our
competitors also have different marketing, advertising and sales strategies than we do and market and sell their producd ts to consumers
directly. In addition, competition in the U.S. property and casualty insurance market has intensified over the past several years. This
competition has had, and may continue to have, an adverse impam ct on our revenues and profitaff bia lity.

The industry and we are challenged by changing practices caused by the Internet, mobile devices, application-based programs relying
on algorithms and computer modeling to underwrirr te policies and administer claims, and the increased usage of real time compam rative
rating tools and claims management processes, which have led to greater competition in the insurance business in general, particularly
on the basis of price and pressure to reduced coverages to compete on price and to respond to customer requests as quickly as possible.

We also face heightened competition resulting from the entry of new competitors and the introduction of new products by new and
existing competitors. Recent entries into the property and casualty marketplace by large technology companm ies, retail compam nies, so-
called “Insurtech” companies and othet r non-traditional insurance providers, who aim to leverage their information about and direct
access to customers, technology without the burden of legacy systems, access and ability to manipulate “big data”, artificial
intelligence, speed in responding to customer requests or other developing opportunitt ties, may increase competition. Increased
competition could make it difficult for us to obtain new or retain existing customers. It could also result in increasing our service,
administrative, policy acquisition or general expenses as we seek to distinguish our products and services from those of our
competitors. In addition, our administrative, technology and management information systems expenditures could increase
substantially as we try to maintain or imprm ove our competitive position or keep up with evolving technology in order to deliver the
same or similar customer or agency experience as the one offered by our competitors.

We compete for business not just on the basis of price, but also on the basis of product coverages, reputation, financial stret ngth,
quality of service (including claims adjud stment service), experience and breadth of product offeriff ng. We cannot provide assurance that
we will be able to maintain a competitive position in the markets where we operate, or that we will be able to expand our operations
into new markets.

We are rated by several rating agencies, and downgradesdd to our ratings could adverselyll affect our operations.s

Our ratings are impomm rtant in establa ishing our competitive position and marketing the products of our insurance companies to our
agents and customers. Rating information is broadly disseminated and generally used throughout the industry. Many policyholders,
particularly larger commercial customers, will not purchase, and many agents will not distribute, products of insurers that do not meet
certain financial strength ratings.

Our insurance compamm ny subsiu diaries are rated by A.M. Best, Moody’s, and Standard & Poor’s. These ratings reflect the rating
agency’s opinion of our insurance subsiu diaries’ financial strength,t operating performance, position in the market place, risk
management, and ability to meet their obligations to policyholders. These ratings are not evaluations directed to investors, and are not
recommendations to buy, sell or hold our securities. Our ratings are subjectu to periodic review by the rating agencies, and we cannot
guarantee the continued retention or imprm ovement of our currerr nt ratings. This is particularly truer given that rating agencies may
change their criteria or increase capital requirements for various rating levels.

A downgrade in one or more of our or any of our subsu idiaries’ claims-paying ratings could negatively impm act our business and
competitive position, particularly in lines where customers require us to maintain minimum ratings. Additionally, a downgrade in one
or more of our debt ratings could adversely impam ct our ability to access the capitala markets and othert sources of funds, increase the
cost of current credit facilities, and/or adversely affect pricing of new debt sought in the capital markets in the futurtt e. Our ability to
raise capital in the equity markets could also be adversely affecteff d.
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Negativett changes in our level of statutoryr surplus could adversely affectff our ratingii sgg and profio tabii ility.yy

The capacity for an insurance compamm ny’s growth in premiums is in part a function of its statutory surplus. Maintaining appropriate
levels of statutt ory surplus, as measured by state insurance regulators, is considered imporm tant by state insurance regulatory authorities
and by rating agencies. As our business grows, or due to othert factors, regulators may require that additional capia tal be retained or
contributt ted to increase the level of statutory surplus. Failure to maintain certain levels of statutory surplus could result in increased
regulatory scrutiny, action by state regulatoryrr authorities or a downgrade by private rating agencies. Surplus in our insurance company
subsidiaries is affected by, among other things, results of operations and investment gains, losses, impaim rments, and dividends from
each of those compam nies to its parent company. A numberm of these factors affecting our level of statutory surplus are, in turn,
influenced by factors that are out of our controltt , including the frequency and severity of catastrophes, changes in policyholder
behavior, changes in rating agency models and economic factors, such as changes in equitq y markets, credit markets or interest rates.

The NAIC uses a system for assessing the adequacy of statutory capital for property and casualty insurers. The system, known as risk-
based capital, is in addition to the states’ fixed dollar minimummm capital and other requirements. The system is based on risk-based
formulmm as that apply prescribed factors to the various risk elements in an insurer’s business and investments to report a minimum
capital requiq rement proportional to the amount of risk assumed by the insurer. Any failure to maintain appropriate levels of statutory
surplus would have an adverse impam ct on our ability to maintain or grow our business.

We may not be able to grow as quicklyll or as profitaff blyll as we intend, which is importm antt t to our current strtt ategy.gg

Over the past several years, we have made, and our current plans are to continue to make, significaff nt investments in our Commercial
and Personal Lines of business, in order to, among othert things, strengthen our product offeriff ngs and service capabilities, expand into
new geographic areas, improm ve technology and our operating models, build expertise in our personnel, and expand our distribution
capaa bia lities, with the ultimate goal of achieving significant, sustained growth. The ability to achieve significant profitable premium
growtht in order to earn adequatq e returt nsrr on such investments and expenses, and to grow further without proportionate increases in
expenses, is an importmm ant part of our current strategy. There can be no assurance that we will be successful at profitabla y growing our
business, or that we will not alter our current strategy due to changes in our markets or an inability to successfully maintain acceptabla e
margins on new or existing business or for other reasons, in which case premiums written and earned, operating income and net book
value could be adversely affeff cted.

An impairment in the carryingn value of goodwilldd and intangible assets couldll negativelytt impam ct our consolidatii edtt results of
operatiott ns and shareholderdd srr � equityii .yy

Upon an acquisition of a business, we record goodwill and intangible assets at fair value. Goodwill and intangible assets determined to
have indefinite usefulff lives are not amortized, while othet r intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill
and intangible assets that are not amortized are reviewed for impam irment at least annually. Evaluating the recoverability of such assets
requires us to rely on estimates and assumptions related to return on equity, margin, growth rates, discount rates, and othert data. There
are inherent uncertainties related to these factors, and significant judgment is required in applying these factors. Goodwill and
intangible asset impaim rment charges can result from declines in operating results, divestiturt es or sustained market declines and other
factors. As of Decemberm 31, 2019, goodwill and intangible assets that are not amortized totaled $193.8 million and represented
appa roximately 7% of shareholders’ equity. Our legacy Hanover Insurance and Citizens businesses represent 67% of this balance;
Hanover Programs represents 26% of this balance; and, the remaining acquisitions combined represent 7% of this balance. Although
we believe these assets are recoverabla e, we cannot provide assuranuu ce that futurett market or business conditions would not result in the
impaimm rment of a portion of these assets. Impaim rment charges could materially affecff t our financial position and our financial results in
the quarter or annual period in which they are recognized.

We couldll be subjectb to addidd tiii onal losses related to the sale of our discii ontinuedii FAFLFF IC and variabii le lifeff insurance and annuityii
businessesee and our sale of our Chaucer business.
On January 2, 2009, we sold our remaining lifeff insurance subsiu diary,rr FAFLIC, to Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance
Company (“Commonweath Annuity”). Coincident with the sale transaction, Hanover Insurance and FAFLIC entered into a
reinsurance contract whereby Hanover Insurance assumed FAFLIC’s discontinued accident and health insurance business. We
previously owned Commonwealth Annuity, but we sold it in 2005 in conjunction with our disposal of our variabla e life insurance and
annuity business. In connection with these transactions, we agreed to indemnify Commonwealth Annuity for certain contingent
liabia lities, including taxes, litigation and certain regulatory matters.
On December 28, 2018, we sold the majorita ytt of our Chaucer business (specifically our U.K.-based Lloyd’s entities) to China Re, with
the rest of the Chauca er sale completed in April 2019. In connection with these transactions, we made certain representations and
warranties and agreed to indemnify China Re for certain pre-sale contingent liabia lities, including tax and litigation matters.

We cannot provide assurance as to what the costs of any indemnifications will be when they ultimately settle.
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We maya incur finaii ncial losses related to our discii ontinueii d assumed accidendd t and healthll reinsurance poolsll and arrangements.

We previously participated, through FAFLIC, in approximately 40 assumed accident and health reinsurance pools and arrangements.
The business was retained in the sale of FAFLIC and assumed by Hanover Insurance through a reinsurance agreement. In 1999, prior
to the sale of FAFLIC to Commonwealth Annuity, FAFLIC had ceased writing new premiums in this business, subject to certain
contrat ctualt obligations. Our reinsurance pool business consists primarily of long-term care, the medical and disability portions of
workers’ compensation risks, assumed personal accident, individual medical, long-term disabia lity and special risk business. We are
currently monitoring and managing the run-offff of our related participation in the 24 pools with remaining liabilities. See “Item 1 –
Business – Discontinued Operations”, for information on the processes and risks associated with reserves establa ished for these
businesses.

Our long-term care pool accounts for the majority of our remaining accident and health reinsurance pool business. The potential risk
and exposure of our long-term care pool is based upon expected estimated claims and payment patterns, using assumptm ions for, among
other things, morbidity, lapses, future premium rates, the impam ct of policy inflation protection riders, and the interest rate used for
discounting the fututt re projected cash flows. The long-term exposure of this pool depends upon how our actualtt experience compam res
with these future cash flow projecto ion assumptions. If any of our assumptions prove to be inaccurate, our reserves may be inadequate,
which may have a material adverse effecff t on our results of operations. For examplmm e, during the fourtht quarter of 2017, we received
updated future cash flow projections from the manager of our long-term care pool that reflected a significant increase in projected
claim costs. As a result of this deterioration, we increased our long-term care pool reserves by $23.3 million (44%), before tax, during
the fourth quarter of 2017 and we continue to monitor developments in the legacy long-term care industry. Although the updated
futurtt e cash flow projections from the pool manager received during the fourtht quarter of 2018 and 2019 were substu antially consistent
with that from the fourtht quarter of 2017, there is no assurance that these future cash flow projections will remain stable into the
futurtt e.

For some of these pools and arrangements, we variously acted as a reinsurer, a reinsured or both. In some instances, we ceded
significaff nt exposures to othet r reinsurers in the marketplace. The potential risk to us as a participant in such pools is primarily that
other compam nies that reinsured this business from us may fail to pay their reinsurance obligations. Thus, we are exposed to both
assumed losses and to credit risk related to these pools.

Based on the information provided by the pool managers, we believe that the reserves recorded related to this business are appropriate.
However, due to the inherent volatility in this business and the reporting lag of losses that tend to develop over time and which
ultimately affect excess covers, as well as uncertainty surrounding botht futurt e claim expenses and with future premium rate levels for
certain of these businesses, there can be no assurance that current reserves are adequate or that we will not have additional losses in
the future. Although we have discontinued participation in these reinsurance arrangements, unreported and new claims related to the
years in which we were a participant may be reported, and previously reported claims may develop unfavorabla y. If any such
unreported claims or unfavorabla e development is reported to us, our results of operations and financial position may be negatively
impactem d.

Other market fluctuations and general economic,c market and political conditiodd ns maya alsoll negativelytt affectff our business,
profitability, investment portfolff io,ll and the market value of our common stock.

It is difficuff lt to predict the impacm t of a challenging economic environment on our business. In Commercial Lines, a diffiff cult economy
in the past has resulted in reductions in demand for insurance products and services since there are more companiesmm ceasing to do
business and there are fewer business start-ups, particularly as businesses are affected by a decline in overall consumer and business
spending. Additionally, claims frequency could increase as policyholders submit and pursue claims more aggressively than in the past,
frff aud incidences may increase, or we may experience higher incidents of abandoned properties or poorer maintenance, which may also
result in more claims activity. We have experienced higher workers’ compensation claims as injun red emplm oyees take longer to return
to work, increased surety losses as construct tion companies experience financial pressures and higher retroactive premium returns as
audit results reflect lower payrolls. Our business could also be affectff ed by an ensuing consolidation of independent insurance
agencies. Our ability to increase pricing has been impam cted as agents and policyholders have been more price sensitive, customers
shop for policies more frequently or aggressively, utilize comparative rating models or, in Personal Lines in particular, turn to direct
sales channels rather than independent agents. We have also experienced decreased new business premium levels, retention and
renewal rates, and renewal premiums. Specificalff ly, in Personal Lines, policyholders may reduce coverages or change deductibles to
reduce premiums, experience declining home values, or be subject to increased foreclosures, and policyholders may retain older or
less expensive automobiles and purchase or insure fewer ancillaryrr items such as boats, trailers and motor homes for which we provide
coverages. Additionally, if as a result of a difficult economic environment, drivers continue to eliminate automobile insurance
coverage or to reduce their bodily injuryn limit, we may be exposed to more uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage losses.
Conversely, favorable economic conditions may also impam ct our business and results of operations. For example,m recent low
unemplmm oyment has caused employersm to hire less experienced workers, which has contributed to higher workers’ compensation and
higher commercial automobile losses.
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At Decemberm 31, 2019, we held approximately $8.2 billion of investmet nt assets in categories such as fixed maturities, equity
securities, other investments, and cash and short-term investments. Our investments are primarily concentrated in the domestic market.
Our investment returns, and thus our profitff ability, statutt oryrr surplus and shareholders’ equity, may be adversely affecff ted from time to
time by conditions affecff ting our specificff investments and, more generally, by bond, stock, real estate and other market fluctuations
and general economic, market and political conditions, including the impactmm of changing governmrr ent policies, including monetary
policies, and geopolitical risks (which may include the impact of terrorism in the Middle East or pandemic events). These broader
market conditions are out of our control. Our ability to make a profitff on insurance products depends in significant part on the returnst
on investments suppu orting our obligations under these products, and the value of specific investments may fluctuate substantially
depending on the foregoing conditions. We may use a variety of strategies to hedge our exposure to interest and currency rates and
other market risks. However, hedging strategies are not always availablea and carry certain credit risks, and our hedging could be
ineffecff tive. Moreover, increased government regulation of certain derivative transactions used to hedge certain market risks has served
to prevent (or otherwise substantially increase the cost associated with) hedging such risks.

Additionally, the aggregate performance of our investment portfolio depends, to a significant extent, on the ability of our investment
managers to select and manage appropriate investments. As a result, we are also exposed to operational risks, which may include, but
are not limited to, a failure to follow our investment guidelines, technological and staffinff g deficiencies and inadequatq e disaster
recovery plans. The failure of these investment managers to perforff m their services in a manner consistent with our expectations and
investment objectib ves could adversely affectff our ability to conduct our business.

Debt securities comprise a material portion of our investment portfolio. The concentration of our investment portfolio in any one type
of investment, industry or geographa y could have a disproportionately adverse effectff on our investment portfolio. The issuers of debt
securities, as well as borrowers under the loans we make, customers, trading counterpartrr ies, counterpar rties under swaps and othert
derivative contracts,t banks which have commitments under our various borrowing arrangements, and reinsurers, may be affecteff d by
declining market conditions or credit weaknesses. These parties may defauff lt on their obligations to us due to lack of liquidity,
downturns in the economy or real estate values, operational failure, bankruptcy or othert reasons. Future increases in interest rates
could result in increased defaults as borrowers are unable to pay the additional borrowing costs on variabla e rate securities or obtain
refinancing. We cannot provide assurance that impaim rment charges will not be necessary in the future. In addition, evaluation of
availabla e-for-sff ale securities for othet r-than-temporary impam irment includes inherent uncertainty and subjective determinations. We
cannot be certain that such impairments are adequate as of any stated date. Our ability to fulfill our debt and othet r obligations could be
adversely affecff ted by the defaula t of third parties on their obligations owed to us.

Deterioration in the global financial markets may adversely affect our investment portfolff io and have a related impam ct on our othet r
compremm hensive income, shareholders’ equity and overall investment performance. Recent economic activity has slowed, although
growtht continues at a moderate rate, and monetary policies in developed economies currently remain accommodative. However, the
effects of geo-political developments and conditions in global financial markets could change rapia dly in ways that we cannot
anticipate, resulting in additional realized and unrealized losses.

Market conditions also affectff the value of assets under our emplm oyee pension plans, including our Cash Balance Plan. The expense or
benefit related to our emplm oyee pension plans results from several factors, including, but not limited to, changes in the market value of
plan assets, interest rates, regulatory requirements or judicial interpretation of benefits. At December 31, 2019, our plan assets
included approximately 90% of fixed maturities and 10% of equity securities and other assets. Additionally, our qualified plan assets
exceeded liabia lities by $15.1 million at Decemberm 31, 2019. Declines in the market value of plan assets and lower interest rates from
levels at December 31, 2019, among other factors, could impam ct our funding estimates and negatively affect our results of operations.
Deterioration in market conditions and differences between our assumptions and actualt occurrerr nces, and behaviors, could result in a
need to fund more into the qualified plans to maintain an appropriate funding level.

Additional uncertainties, which could affecff t our business prospects and investments include the current U.S. political environment,
which is characterized by potentially sharprr policy differences which may affectff all aspects of the economy.m The impam ct of these
differences may accelerate as the country approaches presidential and legislative elections in November 2020.

These same market and political conditions and factors could also causa e the market price of our common stock to fluctuate or become
volatile, which could adversely affectff our stock price. Because our stock price is influenced by our financial performance, industryrr
trends and sentiment and other larger macro-economic factors that are out of our control, the price of our common stock may not
remain at or exceed current or historical levels.
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We maya expee erience unrealized losses on our investments,tt especiallyll duringii a periodii of heighi tened volatility, or if assumptm iontt s
related to our investment valuations are changen d, which couldll have a matertt ial adverse effectff on our resultsll of operatiott ns or
financial conditiott n.
Our investment portfolio and shareholders’ equity can be, and in the past have been, significanff tly impam cted by changes in the market
values of our securities. U.S. and global financial markets and economies remain uncertain. This could result in unrealized and
realized losses in future periods, and adversely affecff t the liquidity of our investments, which could have a material adverse impact on
our results of operations and our financial position. Information with respect to interest rate sensitivity is included in “Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis. Valuation of financial instruments (i.e., Level 1, 2, or 3) include
methodologies, estimates, assumptm ions and judgments that are inherently subju ective and open to different interpretations and could
result in changes to investment valuations or the ability to receive such valuations on sale. During periods of market disruptirr on, it may
be difficult to value certain of our securities if trading becomes less frequeq nt and/or market data becomes less observable. In addition,
in times of financial market disruptu ion, certain asset classes that were in active markets with significff ant observarr bla e data may become
illiquid. In those cases, the valuation process includes inputs that are less observable and requiq re more subjectivity and judgment by
management. Furthermore, a change in the subju ective methodologies, estimates, assumptm ions and judgments used to value our
investments could also materially affect the valuation of certain investments.
If, following such declines, we are unable to hold our investment assets until they recover in value, or if such asset value never
recovers, we would incur other-than-temporam ry impam irments that would be recognized as realized losses in our results of operations,
reducd e net income and earnirr ngs per share and adversely affect our liquidity and capia tal position. Impamm irment determinations, like
valuations, are also subju ective, and changes to the methodologies, estimates, assumptmm ions and judgments used to determine
impaim rments may affect the timing and amount of impaim rment losses recognized in our results of operations. Tempomm rary declines in the
market value of fixed maturities are recorded as unrealized losses, which do not affectff net income and earnings per share, but reduce
other comprehensive income, which is reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We cannot provide assurance that we will not
have additional other-that n-temporm ary impam irments and/or unrealized or realized investment losses in the future.t

We invest a portion of our portfolff io in common stock or preferred stocks. The value of these assets fluctuates with the equity markets.
Particularly in times of economic weakness, the market value and liquidity of these assets may decline, and may impact net income,
capital and cash flows.

We are exposexx d to significant capitaltt market risks relatll edtt to changesn in interest rates, credit spreads,s and equity prices,ii whichii may
adversely affect our results of operations, finaii ncialii position or cash flows.

We are exposed to significantff capital markets risk related to changes in interest rates, credit spreads, and equity prices. Significant,
declines in equity prices, changes in interest rates, and changes in credit spreads each could have a material adverse effect on our
results, financial position or cash flows. Our exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the market price and cash flow
variability associated with changes in interest rates. Our investment portfolff io contains interest rate sensitive instrumrr ents, such as fixed
income securities, which may be adversely affected by changes in interest rates from governmental monetary policies, domestic and
international economic and political conditions and other factors beyond our controltt . A rise in market yields would reduce the fair
value of our investment portfolio, but provide the opportunity to earnrr higher rates of return on funds reinvested. A further decline in
interest rates, on the other hand, would increase the fair value of our investment portfolio, but we would earn lower rates of return on
reinvested assets. We may be forced to liquidate investments prior to maturity at a loss in order to cover liabilities, and such
liquidation could be accelerated in the event of significantff loss events, such as catastrophes. Although we take measures to manage the
economic risks of investing in a changing interest rate environment, we may not be able to mitigate the interest rate risk of our assets
relative to our liabilities.
Although there are uncertainties associated with the cessation of the London Interbank Offeff red Rate (“LIBOR”) at the end of 2021,
we do not believe that the transition from LIBOR is material to our organization.

Our investment portfolio is invested primarily in high quality, investment-grade fixed income securities. However, we also invest in
non-investment-grade high yield fixed income securities and alternative investments. These securities, which pay a higher rate of
interest, also have a higher degree of credit or default risk. These securities may also be less liquid in times of economic weaknesskk or
market disruptions. Additionally, the reported value of our investments do not necessarily reflect the lowest current market price for
the asset, and if we requiq re significant amounts of cash on short notice, we may have difficulty selling our investments in a timely
manner, be forced to sell them for less than we otherwise would have been able to realize, or both.t While we have procedures to
monitor the credit risk and liquidity of our invested assets, we expect from time to time, and particularly in periods of economic
weakness, to experience default losses in our portfolio. This would result in a corresponding reduction of net income, capital and cash
flows.

Inflationary pressures may negae tively impacm t expenses,s reservee es and the value of investmtt entstt .

Inflationary pressures in the U.S. with respect to medical and health care, automobile repair and construction costs, as well as social
inflation of litigation costs, jury awards and settlement expectations, all of which are significant components of our indemnity
liabilities under policies we issue to our customers, and which could also impamm ct the adequacy of reserves we have set aside for prior
accident years, may have a negative effect on our results of operations. Inflationary pressures also causa e or contribute to, or are the
result of,ff increases in interest rates, which would reduced the fair value of our investment portfolio.
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We are a holdill ngii companym and rely on our insurance company subsidiadd ries for cash flow; we may not be able to receive dividends
from our subsidiii arii ies in needed amountstt and maya be requiredii to provideii capital to suppopp rt theirii operations.
We are a holding company for a groupu of insurance companies, and our principal assets are the shares of capitala stock of these
subsidiaries. Our ability to make required interest payments on our debt, as well as our ability to pay operating expenses and pay
dividends to shareholders, depends upon the receipt of sufficieff nt funds from our subsu idiaries. The payment of dividends by our
insurance company subsidiaries is subject to regulatory restrictions and will depend on the surplus and future earnings of these
subsidiaries, as well as these regulatory restrictiott ns. We are requiq red to notify insurance regulators prior to paying any dividends from
our insurance subsiu diaries, and pre-approval is requiq red with respect to “extraordinary dividends”.
Because of the regulatory limitations on the payment of dividends from our insurance compamm ny subsidiaries, we may not always be
able to receive dividends from these subsidiaries at times and in amounts necessary to meet our debt and other obligations, or to pay
dividends to our shareholders. The inability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends to us in an amount sufficient to meet our debt interest
and funding obligations would have a material adverse effeff ct on us. These regulatory dividend restrictions also impedemm our ability to
transfer cash and other capia tal resources among our subsu idiaries. Similarly, our insurance subsu idiaries may require capital from the
holding company to suppu ort their operations.
Our dependence on our insurance subsidiau ries for cash flow, and their potential need for capital support, exposes us to the risk of
changes in their ability to generate sufficient cash inflows from new or existing customers or from increased cash outflows. Cash
outflows may result from claims activity, expense payments or investmet nt losses. Because of the nature of our business, claims
activity can arise suddenly and in amounts which could outstrip our capital or liquidity resources (particularly in the event of a large
catastrophe loss). Reductions in cash flow or capital demands from our subsu idiaries could have a material adverse effect on ouruu
business and results of operations.
We maya require addidd tioii nal capital or creditdd in the future,e which maya not be availaii blell or only availabii le on unfavff orablell termsrr .
We monitor our capital adequacy on a regular basis. Our future capia tal and liquidity requirements depend on many factors, including
our premiums written, loss reserves and claim payments, investment portfolio composition and risk exposures, the availabia lity of
letters and lines of credit, as well as regulatory and rating agency capia tal requirements. In addition, our capia tal strength can affectff our
ratings.
To the extent that our existing capital is insufficient or unavailable to fund our futurtt e operating requirements and/or cover claim
losses, we may need to raise additional funds through financings or limit our growth.t Any equiq ty or debt financing, if available, may
be on terms that are unfavorabla e to us. In the case of equity financings, dilution to our shareholders could result and, in any case, such
securities may have rights, preferences, and privileges that are senior to our common stock. If we are not able to obtain additional
capital as necessary, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Errors or omissions in connection with the administradd tion of anyn of our products maya cause our business and profitabiliii tyii to be
negatively impacted.

We are responsible to our policyholders for administering their policies, premiums and claims and ensuring that appropriate records
are maintained that reflect their transactions. We are subject to risks that errors or omissions of information occurrer d with respect to
the administration of our products. We are also subju ect to misconduct and frauda on the part of our emplmm oyees and agents. As a result,
we are subjeu ct to risks of liabilities associated with “bad faith”, unfair claims practices, unfaff ir trade practices or similar allegations.
Such risks may stem frff om allegations of agents, vendors, policyholders, claimants, reinsurers, regulators, governmental authorities, or
others. We may incur charges associated with any errorr rs and omissions previously made or that are made in futurtt e periods. These
charges may result from our obligation to policyholders to correrr ct any errorr rs or omissions or refunff d premiums, non-complmm iance with
regulatory requirements, from fines imposem d by regulatory authorities, or from other items.

We are subjeb ct to all of the foregoing risks with respect to the third-party asset management operations of Opus. Opus, which had $3.5
billion of unaffiliatedff assets under management as of December 31, 2019, is subju ect to federal (SEC) and other regulatory
requirements and is subju ect to operational, technological, information security, investment and othet r risks, as well as claims by third
parties whose funds it manages.

Changesn in current accountintt g practices and future pronouncementstt maya materiallyll impacm t our reportee edtt finaii ncial results.

Unanticipated developments in accounting practices may require us to incur considerable additional expenses to complym with such
developments, particularly if we are required to prepare information relating to prior periods for comparative purposes or to appa ly the
new requirements retroactively. Such developments may also significff antly impm act the presentation of such financial statements and
may require restatements. The impactm of changes in current accounting practices and future pronouncements cannot be predicted, but
they may affect the calculation of net income, net equity and other relevant financial statement line items.
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Failure to maintain effective interntt al control over financial reportingn couldll have a materialii advedd rse effect on our businessii and
stoctt k price.

As a publicly traded company, we are required to maintain effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting. While management has
certified that our internar l controlt over financial reporting was effectivff e as of Decembem r 31, 2019, because internal control over
financial reporting is complex, we cannot assure you that our internal control over financial reporting will be effectivff e in the future.
Any failure to design, implm ement or maintain required controls, gapsa in internar l controls, or difficulties encountered in their operation,
could adversely affect our results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. If we are not able to maintain or document
effective internal control over financial reporting, our independent registered publu ic accounting firm would be unable to certify the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting or opine that our financial statements fairly present, in all material
respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with GAAP. Significant internal control
deficiencies may also prevent us from reporting our financial inforff mation on a timely basis or cause us to restate previously issued
financial information, and thereby subju ect us to litigation and adverse regulatory consequences, including fines and other penalties,
and could result in a breach of the covenants under our credit agreements. Investor confidenff ce in us and the reliability of our financial
statements could erode, resulting in a decline in our stock price.

ITEM 1B–UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2–PROPERTIES
We conductd our business operations primarily in our company-owned facilities in Worcester, Massachusetts and Howell, Michigan.
We also lease offiff ces throughout the United States for branch sales, underwriting and claims processing functions, and the operations
of acquiq red subsiu diaries.
We believe our facilities are adequate for our present needs in all material respects.

ITEM 3–LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company has been named a defendaff nt in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. In addition, the
Company is involved, from time to time, in examinations, investigations and proceedings by governmr ental and self-regulatoryr
agencies. The potential outcome of any such action or regulatory proceedings in which the Company has been named a defenff dant or
the subject of an inquiry or investigation, and its ultimate liability, if any, from such action or regulatory proceedings, is difficult to
predict at this time. The ultimate resolutions of such proceedings are not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial
position, although they could have a material effect on the results of operations for a particular quarter or annual period.

ITEM 4–MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5–MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

COMMON STOCK AND STOCKHOLDER OWNERSHIP

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “THG”. On Februarr ry 19, 2020, we had
approximately 15,933 shareholders of record and 38,446,006 shares of common stock outstanding. On the same date, the trading price
of our common stock was $137.51 per share.

DIVIDENDS

On Decemberm 5, 2019, the Board of Directors declared a special dividend of $2.50 per outstanding share.

We currently expect that quarterly cash dividends, comparable to what we have paid in the past of $0.65 per share in the fourth quarter
of 2019, will continue to be paid in the future; however, the payment of future quarterly or special dividends on our common stock
will be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time based upon cash available at our holding company, our results of
operations and financial condition and such other factors as the Board of Directors considers relevant.

Dividends to shareholders may be funded from dividends paid to us from our subsidiaries. Dividends from insurance subsidiaries are
subju ect to restrictionstt imposmm ed by state insurance laws and regulations. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and Note 12 – “Dividend Restrictions” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program which provides for aggregate repurchases of up to $900 million,
including a $300 million increase to the program on December 5, 2019. Under the repurchase authorization, we may repurchase our
common stock from time to time, in amounts, at prices, and at times we deem appropriate, subject to market conditions and othet r
considerations. Our repurchases may be executed using open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions, accelerated
repurchase programs or other transactions. We are not required to purchase any specificff numbem r of shares or to make purchases by any
certain date under this program. Pursuant to the terms of accelerated share repurchase (“ASR”) agreements executed on Decemberm 30,
2018 (the “December 2018 ASR”) and on June 28, 2019 (the “June ASR”), we repurchased approximately 3.2 million shares of our
common stock for $400.0 million. On December 9, 2019, pursuant to the terms of a third ASR agreement (the “Decemberm 2019
ASR”) we paid $150.0 million and received an initial deliveryrr of approximately 0.9 million shares of common stock, which was
approximately 80% of the total numberm of shares expected to be repurchased under the Decemberm 2019 ASR. Final settlement of the
December 2019 ASR is expected to occur not later than March 25, 2020.

Shares purchased in the fourthff quarter of 2019 were as follows:

PERIOD

Total
Number of
Shares

Purchased

Average
Price Paid
per Share

Total
Number of
Shares

Purchased
as Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans

or Programs

Approximate
Dollar
Value of
Shares

That May Yet
be

Purchased
Under

the Plans or
Programs

(in millions) (3)
October 1 - 31, 2019 (1)(2) 235,431 $ 126.61 231,511 $ 196
Novemberm 1 - 30, 2019 (1) 65,130 133.32 65,016 187
Decemberm 1 - 31, 2019 (1) 905,262 133.81 904,860 336
Total 1,205,823 $ 132.37 1,201,387 $ 336

(1) Includes 3,290, 114 and 402 shares withheld to satisfyff tax withholding amounts due from employmm ees related to the receipt
of stock which resulted from the exercise or vesting of equity awards for the months ended October 31, November 30 and
Decemberm 31, 2019, respectively.

(2) Includes 201,511 shares of common stock received as final settlement of the June ASR.
(3) As noted above, the Board of Directors authorized a $300 million increase in December 2019 to the $600 million stock

repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors in December 2018, providing for aggregate repurchases of up to
$900 million.
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ITEM 6 - SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in millions, except per share data)
Statements of Income
Revenues

Premiums $ 4,474.5 $ 4,254.4 $ 3,980.4 $ 3,789.5 $ 3,653.6
Net investment income 281.3 267.4 243.9 231.6 231.1
Net realized investment gains (losses) 109.4 (50.7) 21.1 10.2 19.2
Fees and othert income 25.5 23.2 22.5 22.6 23.6

Total revenues 4,890.7 4,494.3 4,267.9 4,053.9 3,927.5
Losses and Expenses

Losses and loss adjud stment expenses 2,865.5 2,724.6 2,579.6 2,546.0 2,367.9
Amortization of deferff red acquisition costs 926.7 891.8 840.7 803.6 778.0
Loss on repayment of debt —— 28.2 —— 88.3 24.1
Other operating expenses 576.4 567.2 554.7 550.0 540.8

Total losses and expenses 4,368.6 4,211.8 3,975.0 3,987.9 3,710.8
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 522.1 282.5 292.9 66.0 216.7

Income tax expense (benefit) 93.1 43.5 76.8 (1.0) 59.3
Income from continuing operations, net of taxes 429.0 239.0 216.1 67.0 157.4
Discontinued Operations:

le of Chauca er business, net of taxes (1.2) 131.9 —— —— ——
Income (loss) from Chaucer business, net of taxes 1.6 20.0 (13.1) 89.1 173.4
Income (loss) from discontinued life businesses, net of taxes (4.3) 0.1 (16.8) (1.0) 0.7

Net income $ 425.1 $ 391.0 $ 186.2 $ 155.1 $ 331.5
Net income per common share (diluted) $ 10.46 $ 9.09 $ 4.33 $ 3.59 $ 7.40
Dividends declared per common share $ 4.95 $ 6.97 $ 2.04 $ 1.88 $ 1.69

Balance Sheets (at December 31)
Total assets $ 12,490.5 $ 12,399.7 $ 15,469.6 $ 14,220.4 $ 13,781.2
Debt 653.4 777.9 786.9 786.4 803.1
Total liabia lities 9,574.3 9,445.0 12,471.9 11,362.9 10,936.8
Shareholders' equity 2,916.2 2,954.7 2,997.7 2,857.5 2,844.4
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INTRODUCTION

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to assist readers
in understanding the consolidated results of operations and financial condition of The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (“THG”). Consolidated results of operations and financial condition are prepared in accordance witht generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). This discussion should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and related footnotes included elsewhere herein.

Results of operations include the accounts of The Hanover Insurance Compamm ny (“Hanover Insurance”) and Citizens Insurance
Compamm ny of America (“Citizens”), our principal propertytt and casualty companies, and certain other insurance and non-insurance
subsidiaries. Our results of operations also include the results of our discontinued operations, consisting primarily of our former
Chaucer international business, Chaucer Holdings Limited (“Chaucer”), a United Kingdom (“U.K.”) domiciled specialist insurance
underwriting group which operates through the Society and Corporation of Lloyd’s (“Lloyd’s”), and the international insurance and
non-insurance subsidiaries, which collectively constituted our former Chaucer segment. On Decembem r 28, 2018, we complmm eted the
sale of Chaucer to China Reinsurance (Group) Corporation (“China Re”), and subsequently complm eted the sales of the Chaucer-related
Irish and Australian entities on February 14, 2019 and April 10, 2019, respectively. For all periods presented, operations from Chaucer
are presented as discontinued operations. Discontinued operations also include the results of our accident and health and former life
insurance businesses.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Business operations consist of three operating segments: Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other.

Our strategy, which focuses on the independent agency distribution channel, reinforces THG’s commitment to our agency partnerst . It
is designed to generate profitff able growth by leveraging the strengthst of our distribution approach, including expansion of our agency
footprint in underpenetrated geographies, as warranted. As part of that strategy, we have increased our capabia lities in specialty
markets and investments designed to develop growth solutions for our agency distribution channel. Our goal is to grow responsibly in
all of our businesses, while managing volatility.

Net income was $425.1 million in 2019, compared to $391.0 million in 2018, an increase of $34.1 million, primarily due to an
increase in the net change in fair value of equity securities and from an increase in operating income in 2019. Net income in 2018
benefitted from the gain on the sale of Chaucer and Chaucer income earned during a portion of the year prior to its sale.

Operating income before interest expense and income taxes (a non-GAAP financial measure; see also “Results of Operations –
Consolidated – Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) was $453.6 million in 2019 compared to $406.5 million in 2018, an increase of
$47.1 million. This increase is primarily due to lower catastrophe losses, earned premium growth,t lower expenses and higher net
investment income, partially offsetff by higher non-catastrophe current accident year losses.

Pre-tax catastrophe losses were $169.3 million in 2019, compared to $219.2 million in 2018, a decrease of $49.9 million. Net
favorabla e development on prior years’ loss and loss adjud stment expense (“LAE”) reserves (“prior years’ loss reserves”) was $0.9
million in 2019, compared to unfavorabla e development of $0.4 million in 2018.

Commercial Lines

Our account-focused approach to the small commercial market, distinctiveness in the middle market and continued development of
specialty lines provides us with a diversifieff d portfolio of products and delivers significaff nt value to agents and policyholders. Each of
these businesses is expected to contribute to premium growtht in Commercial Lines over the next several years as we continue to
pursue our core strategy of developing strot ng partnerships with agents, enhanced franchise value through limited distribution,
distinctive products and coverages, and continued investment in industry segmentation.

These effoff rts have driven and, subject to market conditions, we believe they will continue to drive, imprm ovement in our overall mix of
business and our underwriting profitability. Commercial Lines net premiums written grew by 3.7% in 2019, primarily due to growth in
our commercial multiple peril, inland marine, workers’ compemm nsation and professional liability lines of business, partially offsetff by
specific underwriting actions in our Hanover Programs and commercial automobiles lines.

Underwriting results improm ved in 2019, as compared to 2018, primarily due to lower catastrophe losses, earnerr d premium growth and
lower expenses, partially offsff et by higher current accident year large property loss activity in our specialty industritt al property line and,
to a lesser extent, our inland marine and Hanover Programs lines. The competitive nature of the Commercial Lines market requires us
to be highly disciplined in our underwriting process to ensure that we write business at acceptable margins, and we continue to seek
rate increases across our lines of business.

Personal Lines

Personal Lines focuses on partnet ring with high quality, value-oriented agencies that deliver consultative selling and stresst the
impom rtance of account rounding (the conversion of single policy customers to accounts with multiple policies and additional
coverages, to address customers’ broader objectb ives). Approximately 85% of our policies in force are account business. We are
focused on seeking profitabff le growth opportunities, building a distinctive position in the market and diversifying geographia cally.
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Net premiums written grew by 5.7% in 2019, primarily due to higher renewal premium, driven by rate increases. Underwriting results
declined in 2019, as compared to 2018, primarily due to higher non-catastrophe current accident year losses, partially offsetff by earned
premium growth and lower expenses. We continue to seek rate increases that meet or exceed underlying loss cost trends, subjeu ct to
regulatoryrr and competitive considerations.

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIRR NG SEGMENTS

Primary business operations include insurance producd ts and services currently provided through three operating segments:
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other. Commercial Lines includes commercial multiple peril, commercial automobile,
workers’ compensation, and other commercial coverages, such as management and professional liabia lity, marine, Hanover Programs,
specialty industrial and commercial property, monoline general liability and surety. Personal Lines includes personal automobile,
homeowners, and other personal coverages, such as umbrm ella. Included in the “Other” segment are Opus Investment Management,
Inc., which markets investment management services to institutions, pension funds, and other organizations; earninrr gs on holding
compam ny assets; holding company and other expenses, including certain costs associated with retirement benefits due to our former
life insurance employeesm and agents; and a run-offff voluntary property and casualty pools business. The operations of Chaucer are
classified as discontinued operations for the period ending Decemberm 31, 2019, and all prior periods presented. We present the
separate financial information of each segment consistent with the manner in which our chief operating decision maker evaluates
results in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing perforff mance.

We report interest expense on debt separately from the earnings of our operating segments. This consists of interest on our senior and
subordinated debenturestt .

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – CONSOLIDATED

2019 Compared to 2018

Consolidated net income was $425.1 million in 2019, compared to $391.0 million in 2018, an increase of $34.1 million. The year over
year comparison of consolidated net income reflects an increase in after-tax net realized and unrealized investment gains of $132.1
million, principally related to the changes in fair value of equiq ty securities. Additionally, operating income before interest expense and
income taxes increased $47.1 million, primarily due to lower catastrophe losses, earned premium growth, lower expenses and higher
net investment income, partially offsetff by higher current accident year large loss activity, particularly in the property lines. The
increase in the year over year net income comparison was partially offseff t by the $131.9 million gain from the sale of our former
Chaucer business in 2018.

2018 Compared to 2017

Consolidated net income was $391.0 million in 2018, compared to $186.2 million in 2017, an increase of $204.8 million. The year
over year comparison of consolidated net income reflects a $131.9 million gain, net of taxes, on the sale of our former Chaucer
business. Additionally, operating income before interest expense and income taxes increased $79.2 million, primarily due to lower
catastrophe losses and higher net investment income. Income increased from our discontinued operations, primarily Chaucer and, to a
lesser extent, our discontinued life businesses, which incurred a 2017 reserve charge related to our participation in a long-term care
pool (See also “Discontinued Operations” section below). Also, income tax expense on operating income decreased $20.2 million,
driven by a decrease in the U.S. statuttt ory tax rate from 35% to 21% effectff ive January 1, 2018. These increases in net income were
partially offsetff by net realized and unrealized investment losses, net of taxes, of $30.9 million in 2018, compared to net realized
investment gains, net of taxes, of $26.2 million in 2017, principally related to reductions in fair value of equity securities. Effeff ctive
January 1, 2018, we implm emented ASU 2016-01, which requires that the changes in fair value of equity securities be presented in net
income. Prior to then, these changes were recognized through accumulm ated othert comprehensive income (see also Note 1 – “Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Net income was also affecteff d by $22.3 million
in losses, net of taxes, associated with the repayment of debt in 2018.

37

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



The following table reflects operating income before interest expense and income taxes for each operating segment and a
reconciliation to consolidated net income from operating income before interest expense and income taxes (a non-GAAP measure).
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Operating income (loss) before interest expense and income taxes:

Commercial Lines $ 300.1 $ 265.7 $ 177.4
Personal Lines 144.9 146.2 158.7
Other 8.6 (5.4) (8.8)

Operating income beforeff interest expense and income taxes 453.6 406.5 327.3
Interest expense on debt (37.5) (45.1) (45.2)

Operating income before income taxes 416.1 361.4 282.1
Income tax expense on operating income (84.5) (69.3) (89.5)

Operating income 331.6 292.1 192.6
Non-operating items:

Net realized investment gains (losses) 109.4 (50.7) 21.1
Net loss from repayment of debt —— (28.2) ——
Other (3.4) —— (10.3)
Income tax benefit (expense) on non-operating items (8.6) 25.8 12.7

Income from continuing operations, net of taxes 429.0 239.0 216.1
Discontinued operations:

Sale of Chauca er business, net of taxes (1.2) 131.9 ——
Income (loss) from Chaucer business, net of taxes 1.6 20.0 (13.1)
Income (loss) from discontinued life businesses, net of taxes (4.3) 0.1 (16.8)

Net income $ 425.1 $ 391.0 $ 186.2

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to consolidated net income, discussed above, we assess our financial perforff manr ce based upon pre-tax “operating income,”
and we assess the operating performance of each of our three operating segments based upon the pre-tax operating income (loss)
generated by each segment. As reflected in the table above, operating income before taxes excludes interest expense on debt and
certain other items which we believe are not indicative of our core operations, such as net realized and unrealized investment gains
and losses. Such gains and losses are excluded since they are determined by interest rates, financial markets and the timing of sales.
Also, operating income before taxes excludes net gains and losses on disposals of businesses, gains and losses related to the repayment
of debt, discontinued operations, costs to acquire businesses, restructurint g costs, the cumulative effeff ct of accounting changes and
certain other items. Although the items excluded from operating income beforff e taxes are importm ant components in understanding and
assessing our overall financial performff ance, we believe a discussion of operating income before taxes enhances an investor’s
understanding of our results of operations by highlighting net income attributable to the core operations of the business. However,
operating income beforff e taxes, which is a non-GAAP measure, should not be construed as a substitute for income before income taxes
or income from continuing operations, and operating income should not be construerr d as a substitute for net income.

Catastrophe losses and prior years’ reserverr development are significant componem nts in understanding and assessing the financial
perforff mance of our business. Management reviews and evaluates catastrophes and prior years’ reserve development separately from
the other components of earnir ngs. Referff ences to “current accident year underwriting results” exclude prior accident year reserverr
development, and may also be presented, “excluding catastrophes”. Prior years’ reserve development and catastrophes are not
predictable as to timing or the amount that will affect the results of our operations and have an effect on each year’s operating and net
income. Management believes that providing certain financial metrics and trends excluding the effeff cts of catastrophes and prior years’
reserverr development helps investors to understand the variability in periodic earnings and to evaluate the underlying perforff mance of
our operations. Discussion of catastrophe losses in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis includes development on prior years’
catastrophe reserves and, unless otherwise indicated, such development is excluded from discussions of prior year loss and LAE
reserverr development.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - SEGMENTS

The following is our discussion and analysis of the results of operations by business segment. The operating results are presented
beforff e interest expense, taxes and other items which management believes are not indicative of our core operations, including realized
gains and losses, as well as unrealized gains and losses on equity securities, and the results of discontinued operations.

The following table summarizes the results of operations for the periods indicated:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Operating revenues

Net premiums written $ 4,581.7 $ 4,384.8 $ 4,109.1
Net premiums earned $ 4,474.5 $ 4,254.4 $ 3,980.4
Net investment income 281.3 267.4 243.9
Other income 25.5 23.2 22.5

Total operating revenues 4,781.3 4,545.0 4,246.8
Losses and operating expenses

Losses and LAE 2,864.6 2,724.6 2,574.9
Amortization of deferff red acquisition costs 926.7 891.8 840.7
Other operating expenses 536.4 522.1 503.9

Total losses and operating expenses 4,327.7 4,138.5 3,919.5
Operating income beforeff interest expense and income taxes $ 453.6 $ 406.5 $ 327.3

2019 Compared to 2018

Operating income before interest expense and income taxes was $453.6 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2019, compared to
$406.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of $47.1 million. This increase was primarily due to lower
catastrophe losses, earned premium growth, lower expenses and higher net investment income, partially offsetff by higher current
accident year large loss activity in our specialty industrial property line, personal automobile, and, to a lesser extent, our homeowners
and marine lines.

Net premiums written increased by $196.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to the year ended Decemberm 31,
2018, due to growtht in both our Commercial and Personal Lines segments.

2018 Compared to 2017

Operating income before interest expense and income taxes was $406.5 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018, compared to
$327.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of $79.2 million. This increase was primarily due to lower
catastrophe losses, higher net investment income, a favorablea change in reinsurance reinstatement premiums driven by prior year large
loss activity, earned premium growth and lower expenses, partially offsff et by higher non-catastrophe current accident year losses.

Net premiums written increased by $275.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to the year ended Decemberm 31,
2017, due to growtht in both our Commercial and Personal Lines segments.

PRODUCTUU IOTT NOO AND UNDERDD WRITINTT GNN RESULTEE STT

The following tabla e summarizes premiums written on a gross and net basis, net premiums earned and loss (including catastrophe
losses), LAE, expense and combined ratios for the Commercial Lines and Personal Lines segments. Loss, LAE, catastrophe loss and
combined ratios shown below include prior year reserve development. These items are not meaningful for our Othert segment.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )

Gross
Premiums
Written

Net
Premiums
Written

Net
Premiums
Earned

Catastrophe
Loss Ratios

Loss &
LAE Ratios

Expense
Ratios

Combined
Ratios

Commercial Lines $ 3,127.3 $ 2,707.2 $ 2,654.2 3.1 60.6 34.6 95.2
Personal Lines 1,991.2 1,874.5 1,820.3 4.7 68.9 27.4 96.3
Total $ 5,118.5 $ 4,581.7 $ 4,474.5 3.8 64.0 31.6 95.6
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )

Gross
Premiums
Written

Net
Premiums
Written

Net
Premiums
Earned

Catastrophe
Loss Ratios

Loss &
LAE Ratios

Expense
Ratios

Combined
Ratios

Commercial Lines $ 2,968.1 $ 2,610.7 $ 2,548.4 5.6 61.5 34.9 96.4
Personal Lines 1,875.6 1,774.1 1,706.0 4.5 67.7 27.8 95.5
Total $ 4,843.7 $ 4,384.8 $ 4,254.4 5.2 64.0 32.1 96.1

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )

Gross
Premiums
Written

Net
Premiums
Written

Net
Premiums
Earned

Catastrophe
Loss Ratios

Loss &
LAE Ratios

Expense
Ratios

Combined
Ratios

Commercial Lines $ 2,826.8 $ 2,462.0 $ 2,399.6 7.1 63.7 35.6 99.3
Personal Lines 1,736.7 1,647.1 1,580.8 5.1 66.1 28.0 94.1
Total $ 4,563.5 $ 4,109.1 $ 3,980.4 6.4 64.7 32.6 97.3

The following table summarizes net premiums written, and loss and LAE and catastrophe loss ratios by line of business for the
Commercial Lines and Personal Lines segments. Loss and LAE and catastrophe loss ratios include prior year reserve development.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )

Net
Premiums
Written

Loss &
LAE Ratios

Catastrophe
Loss Ratios

Commercial Lines:
Commercial multiple peril $ 909.4 63.0 7.5
Commercial automobile 336.1 71.9 0.4
Workers' compensam tion 334.6 50.7 ——
Other commercial 1,127.1 58.3 1.4

Total Commercial Lines 2,707.2 60.6 3.1
Personal Lines:

Personal automobile 1,186.1 74.0 0.5
Homeowners 636.9 61.5 12.8
Other personal 51.5 41.5 2.8

Total Personal Lines 1,874.5 68.9 4.7
Total $ 4,581.7 64.0 3.8

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )

Net
Premiums
Written

Loss &
LAE Ratios

Catastrophe
Loss Ratios

Commercial Lines:
Commercial multiple peril $ 861.4 66.4 10.7
Commercial automobile 344.8 79.9 0.8
Workers' compensam tion 317.1 51.0 ——
Other commercial 1,087.4 54.9 4.7
Total Commercial Lines 2,610.7 61.5 5.6

Personal Lines:
Personal automobile 1,127.5 72.0 0.5
Homeowners 604.0 61.2 12.1
Other personal 42.6 48.1 2.2

Total Personal Lines 1,774.1 67.7 4.5
Total $ 4,384.8 64.0 5.2
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )

Net
Premiums
Written

Loss &
LAE Ratios

Catastrophe
Loss Ratios

Commercial Lines:
Commercial multiple peril $ 815.3 66.2 11.8
Commercial automobile 322.7 70.6 1.4
Workers' compensam tion 311.1 58.6 ——
Other commercial 1,012.9 61.1 7.3

Total Commercial Lines 2,462.0 63.7 7.1
Personal Lines:

Personal automobile 1,041.6 70.7 0.6
Homeowners 566.9 59.8 13.5
Other personal 38.6 35.9 1.8

Total Personal Lines 1,647.1 66.1 5.1
Total $ 4,109.1 64.7 6.4

The following table summarizes GAAP underwriting results for the Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other segments and
reconciles them to operating income (loss) before interest expense and income taxes.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

(inii millions)( )
Commercial

Lines
Personal
Lines Other Total

Underwriting profitff (loss), excluding prior year reserve
development and catastrophes $ 176.0 $ 171.8 $ (0.1) $ 347.7

Prior year favorabla e (unfavoff rabla e) loss and LAE reserverr
development on non-catastrophe losses 28.7 (26.6) (1.2) 0.9

Prior year favorable catastrophe development 24.6 2.9 —— 27.5
Current year catastrophe losses (107.8) (89.0) —— (196.8)
Underwriting profitff (loss) 121.5 59.1 (1.3) 179.3
Net investment income 180.1 80.1 21.1 281.3
Fees and othert income 9.2 11.4 4.9 25.5
Other operating expenses (10.7) (5.7) (16.1) (32.5)
Operating income beforeff interest expense and income taxes $ 300.1 $ 144.9 $ 8.6 $ 453.6

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

(inii millions)( )
Commercial

Lines
Personal
Lines Other Total

Underwriting profitff (loss), excluding prior year reserve
development and catastrophes $ 193.2 $ 176.8 $ (3.0) $ 367.0

Prior year favorabla e (unfavoff rabla e) loss and LAE reserverr
development on non-catastrophe losses 34.1 (33.3) (1.2) (0.4)

Prior year favorable catastrophe development 6.8 2.5 —— 9.3
Current year catastrophe losses (149.1) (79.4) —— (228.5)
Underwriting profitff (loss) 85.0 66.6 (4.2) 147.4
Net investment income 182.2 73.7 11.5 267.4
Fees and othert income 8.9 11.6 2.7 23.2
Other operating expenses (10.4) (5.7) (15.4) (31.5)
Operating income (loss) before interest expense and income taxes $ 265.7 $ 146.2 $ (5.4) $ 406.5
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

(inii millions)( )
Commercial

Lines
Personal
Lines Other Total

Underwriting profitff (loss), excluding prior year reserve
development and catastrophes $ 173.4 $ 174.0 $ (3.0) $ 344.4

Prior year favorabla e (unfavoff rabla e) loss and LAE reserverr
development on non-catastrophe losses 9.4 (9.4) (1.2) (1.2)

Prior year favorable catastrophe development 1.4 —— —— 1.4
Current year catastrophe losses (172.0) (80.9) —— (252.9)
Underwriting profitff (loss) 12.2 83.7 (4.2) 91.7
Net investment income 165.8 70.1 8.0 243.9
Fees and othert income 8.4 11.4 2.7 22.5
Other operating expenses (9.0) (6.5) (15.3) (30.8)
Operating income (loss) before interest expense and income taxes $ 177.4 $ 158.7 $ (8.8) $ 327.3

2019 Compared to 2018

Commercial Lines

Commercial Lines net premiums written were $2,707.2 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2019, compared to $2,610.7 million
for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018. This $96.5 million increase was primarily driven by pricing increases and strong retention.

Commercial Lines underwriting profitff for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2019 was $121.5 million, compared to $85.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of $36.5 million. Catastrophe-related losses for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2019 were
$83.2 million, compared to $142.3 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018, a decrease of $59.1 million. This decrease is
partially attributable to an increase in prior year favorable catastrophe development of $17.8 million, primarily due to the sale of
subrogation rights on certain Califorff nia wildfire losses incurrerr d in 2017 and 2018. Favorable development on prior years’ loss
reserves, excluding catastrophes, for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $28.7 million, compared to $34.1 million for the year
ended Decemberm 31, 2018, a decrease of $5.4 million.

Commercial Lines current accident year underwriting profit, excluding catastrophes, was $176.0 million for the year ended Decembem r
31, 2019, compared to $193.2 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018. This $17.2 million decrease was primarily due to higher
current accident year large property loss activity in our specialty industritt al property line and, to a lesser extent, in our marine and
Hanover Programs lines within other commercial lines, partially offsetff by earned premium growtht and lower expenses.

We are continuing to manage underwriting performance through increased rates, pricing segmentation, specific underwriting actions
and targeted new business growth.t Our ability to achieve overall rate increases is affected by the current compem titive pricing
environment, particularly within our workers’ compensation line, which may hamper our ability to grow in this portion of our
business.

Personal Lines

Personal Lines net premiums written were $1,874.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, comparmm ed to $1,774.1 million for
the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018, an increase of $100.4 million. This was primarily due to higher renewal premium driven by rateaa
increases, which was modestly offsetff by lower policy retention.

Net premiums written in the personal automobile line of business for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2019 were $1,186.1 million,
compamm red to $1,127.5 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018, an increase of $58.6 million. This increase was primarily due to
rate increases and an increase in policies in force of 1.4%. Net premiums written in the homeowners line of business for the year
ended Decemberm 31, 2019 were $636.9 million, comparedmm to $604.0 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018, an increase of
$32.9 million. This is attributable to rate increases and an increase in policies in force of 2.1%.

Personal Lines underwriting profit for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $59.1 million, compared to $66.6 million for the year
ended Decemberm 31, 2018, a decrease of $7.5 million. Catastrophe losses for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $86.1 million,
compared to $76.9 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018, an increase of $9.2 million. Unfavorable development on prior
years’ loss reserves for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $26.6 million, compared to $33.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2018, a decrease of $6.7 million.

Personal Lines current accident year underwriting profit, excluding catastrophes, was $171.8 million in the year ended Decembem r 31,
2019, compared to $176.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. This $5.0 million decrease was primarily due to higher
current accident year losses in our personal automobile and homeowners lines, partially offsff et by earnerr d premium growtht and lower
expenses.
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We have been able to obtain rate increases in our Personal Lines markets and believe that our ability to obtain increases will continue.
However, our ability to maintain Personal Lines net premiums written may be affecff ted by price competition, and regulatory and legal
developments. Additionally, these factors along with weather-related loss volatility may also affeff ct our ability to maintain and
imprm ove underwriting results. We monitor these trends and consider them in our rate actions.

In addition, and as discussed under “Risk Factors - Michigan PIP Reform”, Michigan enacted majora reformff s of its current system
governing personal and commercial automobile insurance. Michiganaa business represents 47% of our total personal automobile net
premiums written. We currently believe the net impamm ct of these reforms should not be significantff to our total net premiums written and
underwriting income in 2020; however, in light of the uncertainties attendant to these reforff ms, no assurances can be provided.

Other

Other operating income was $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to othet r operating losses of $5.4 million
for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018, an imprm ovement of $14.0 million. This was primarily due to higher net investment income,
which includes the investment of the remaining proceeds from the Chaucer sale transaction. All of the proceeds of the Chaucer
transaction were distributed in 2019 through share repurchases or special dividends, and thereforeff will not be available for investment
in 2020.

2018 Compared to 2017

Commercial Lines

Commercial Lines net premiums written were $2,610.7 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018, compared to $2,462.0 million
for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017. This $148.7 million increase was primarily driven by pricing increases, strong retention, and
targeted new business expansion, in addition to reductions in reinstatement premiums. Reinsurance reinstatements were $0.5 million
unfavorable in 2018 compared to $27.8 million unfavorable in 2017. The year over year favorabla e change was $27.3 million due to
several 2017 large losses above our retention level in our surety, inland marine and commercial multiple peril lines. The reinstatement
premiums represent the pro-rata reinsurance premium charged for reinstating the amount of reinsurance coverage utilized as a result of
the incurred losses that are reimbursabla e under our reinsurance treaties. See the Glossary of Selected Insurance Terms –
“Reinstatement premium”.

Commercial Lines underwriting profit for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018 was $85.0 million, compared to $12.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017, a change of $72.8 million. Catastrophe-related losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 were
$142.3 million, compared to $170.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, a decrease of $28.3 million. Favorabla e
development on prior years’ loss reservesrr for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018 was $34.1 million, compared to $9.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017, a favorable change of $24.7 million.

Commercial Lines current accident year underwriting profit, excluding catastrophes, was $193.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2018, compared to $173.4 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017. This $19.8 million improvement was primarily due to
the reduction in large loss-related reinsurance reinstatement premiums, lower expenses and earner d premium growth,t partially offff setff by
higher non-catastrophe current accident year losses. The reduction in reinsurance reinstatement premiums, net of ceding commissions,
increased non-catastrophe current accident year underwriting profitff by $21.5 million comparm ed to the prior year. The higher non-
catastrophe current accident year losses were driven by large property loss activity in our commercial multiple peril line and higher
loss activity in our commercial automobile liabia lity line, partially offseff t by lower loss activity in our other commercial lines.

Personal Lines

Personal Lines net premiums written were $1,774.1 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018, comparedm to $1,647.1 million for
the year ended Decemberm 31, 2017, an increase of $127.0 million. This was primarily due to higher renewal premium driven by rateaa
increases and strong retention, as well as new business growth.

Net premiums written in the personal automobile line of business for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018 were $1,127.5 million,
compamm red to $1,041.6 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2017, an increase of $85.9 million. This increase was primarily due to
rate increases and an increase in policies in force of 2.5%. Net premiums written in the homeowners line of business for the year
ended Decemberm 31, 2018 were $604.0 million, comparedm to $566.9 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017, an increase of
$37.1 million. This is attributable to rate increases and an increase in policies in force of 3.0%.

Personal Lines underwriting profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $66.6 million, compared to $83.7 million for the year
ended Decemberm 31, 2017, a decline of $17.1 million. Catastrophe losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $76.9 million,
compam red to $80.9 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2017, a decrease of $4.0 million. Unfavorable development on prior
years’ loss reserves for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $33.3 million, compared to $9.4 million for the year ended Decemberm
31, 2017, an increase of $23.9 million.
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Personal Lines current accident year underwriting profit, excluding catastrophes, was $176.8 million in the year ended Decembem r 31,
2018, compared to $174.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This $2.8 million increase was primarily a result of earneaa d
premium growth and lower expenses, partially offseff t by higher non-catastrophe current accident year losses. This increase in losses
was driven by higher homeowners property losses, partly due to large losses and non-catastrophe weather activity, higher personal
automobile bodily injun ry loss severity and, to a lesser extent, higher personal automobile property losses.

Other

Other operating losses were $5.4 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018, compared to $8.8 million for the year ended
Decemberm 31, 2017, an improvemm ent of $3.4 million, primarily due to higher net investment income.

RESERVE FOR LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

Overview of Loss Reserve Estimation Process

We maintain reserves for our property and casualty products to provide for our ultimate liability for losses and loss adjud stment
expenses (our “loss reserves”) with respect to reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each accounting period. These
reservesrr are estimates, taking into account past loss experience, modified for current trends, as well as prevailing economic, legal and
social conditions. Loss reserves represent our largest liability.

Management’s process for establishing loss reserves is a comprmm ehensive process that involves input from multiple functions
throughout our organization, including actuarial, finance, claims, legal, underwriting, distribution and business operations
management. The process incorporr rates facts currently known, as well as the current, and in some cases, the anticipated, state of the
law and coverage litigation. Based on information currently available, we believe that the aggregate loss reserves at Decemberm 31,
2019 were adequate to cover claims for losses that had occurred as of that date, including both those known to us and those yet to be
reported. However, as described below, there are significff ant uncertainties inherent in the loss reserving process. Our estimate of the
ultimate liability for losses that had occurred as of December 31, 2019 is expected to change in future periods as we obtain further
information, and such changes could have a material effectff on our results of operations and financial position.

Our loss reserves include case estimates for claims that have been reported and estimates for claims that have been incurred but not
reported (“IBNR”) at the balance sheet date. They also include estimates of the expenses associated with processing and settling all
reported and unreported claims, less estimates of anticipated salvage and subrogation recoveries. Our property and casualty loss
reserves are not discounted to present value.

Case reservrr es are established by our claim personnel individually on a claim by claim basis and based on information specificff to the
occurrence and terms of the underlying policy. For some classes of business, average case reserves are used initially. Case reserves are
periodically reviewed and modified based on new or additional information pertaining to the claim.

Our ultimate IBNR reserves are estimated by management and our reserving actuariestt on an aggregate basis for each line of business
or coverage for loss and loss expense liabilities not reflected within the case reserves. The sum of the case reserves and the IBNR
reserverr s represents our estimate of total unpaid losses and loss adjud stment expenses.

We regularly review our loss reserves using a variety of industry accepted analytical techniques. We update the loss reserves as
historical loss experience develops, additional claims are reported and resolved and new information becomes availabla e. Net changes
in loss reserves are refleff cted in operating results in the period in which the reserves are changed.

The IBNR reserve includes a provision for claims that have occurrerr d but have not yet been reported to us, some of which may not yet
be known to the insured, as well as a provision for future development on reported claims. IBNR represents a significff ant proportion of
our total net loss reserves, particularly for long-tail liability classes. In fact, approximately 49% of our aggregate net loss reserverr s at
December 31, 2019 were for IBNR losses and loss expenses.

Critical Judgments and Key Assumptions

We determine the amount of our net loss reserves (i.e., net of estimated reinsurance recoverabla es) based on an estimation process that
is complex and considers inforff mation from both company specificff and industry data, as well as general economic and othet r
information. The estimation process utilizes a combination of objeb ctive and subjeb ctive information, the blending of which requires
significant professiff onal judgment. There are various assumptions required, including future trends in frequency and severity of claims,
operational changes in claim handling and case reserving practices and trends related to general economic and social conditions.
Informff ed judgments as to our ultimate exposure to losses are an integral component of our loss reserve estimation process.

Given the inherent complexity of our loss reserve estimation process and the potential variability of the assumptions used, the actualtt
emergence of losses will vary, perhaps substantially, from the estimate of losses included in our financial statements, particularly in
those instances where settlements or othet r claim resolutions do not occur until well into the future. Our net loss reserves at
December 31, 2019 were $4.1 billion. Therefore, a relatively small percentage change in the estimate of net loss reserves would have a
material effect on our results of operations.
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There is greater inherent uncertainty in estimating insurance reserves forff certain typeyy s of property and casualty insurance lines,
particularly liability lines, where a longer period of time may elapse before a definitive determination of ultimate liability and losses
may be made (sometimes referred to as “long-tail” business). In addition, the technological, judicial, regulatoryrr and political climates
involving these types of claims are continuously evolving. There is also greater uncertainty in establishing reserves with respect to
business that is new to us, particularly new business which is generated with respect to newly introduced d product lines, by newly
appointed agents or in geographia es in which we have less experience in conductd ing business. In such cases, there is less historical
experience or knowledge and less data upon which we can rely. A combination of business that is both new to us and has longer
development periods provides even greater uncertainty in estimating insurance reserverr s. In our management and profesff sional liabilityt
lines, we are modestly increasing, and expect to continue to increase, our exposure to longer-tailed liability lines, including directors
and officff ers liability, errors and omissions liability and product liability coverages. In addition, in recent periods we have experienced
extensions of the “tails” in certain lines of business as the full value of claims are presented later than had been our historical
experience.

We regularly update our reserve estimates as new information becomes available and additional events occur which may impamm ct the
resolution of unsettled claims. Reserve adjustments are reflected in the results of operations as adjustd ments to losses and LAE. Oftenff ,
these adjud stments are recognized in periods subsequent to the period in which the underlying policy was written and the loss event
occurred. When these typeyy s of subsu equent adjud stments affecff t prior years, they are described separately as “prior year reserve
development”. Such development can be either favorable or unfavorabla e to our financial results and may vary by line of business. As
discussed below, estimated loss and LAE reserves for claims occurrir ng in prior years, in the aggregate, developed favorabla y by $0.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and unfavorabla y by $0.4 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively, although there was some significaff nt variance by line of business. Additionally, our estimated loss and
LAE reserves for catastrophe claims occurringr in prior years developed favorabla y by $27.5 million, $9.3 million and $1.4 million for
the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. There can be no assurance that current loss and LAE reserves will
be sufficff ient.

We regularly review our reserving techniques, our overall reservirr ng position and our reinsurance. Based on (i) our review of historical
data, legislative enactments, judicial decisions, legal developments in impositions of damages and policy coverage, political attitudes
and trends in general economic conditions, (ii) our review of per claim information, (iii) our historical loss experience and that of the
industry, (iv) the nature of policies written by us, and (v) our internal estimates of required reserves, we believe that adequate
provision has been made for loss reserves. However, establishment of appropriate reserves is an inherently uncertain process, and
there can be no certainty that current established reserves will prove adequate in light of subseu quent actualt experience. A significant
change to the estimated reserves would have a material impactm on our results of operations and financial position. An increase or
decrease in reserve estimates would result in a corresponding decrease or increase in financial results. For example,mm each one
percentage point change in the aggregate loss and LAE ratio resulting from a change in reserve estimation is currer ntly projected to
have an approximate $45 million impam ct on operating income, based on 2019 full year premiums.

The majoa r causes of material uncertainty relating to ultimate losses and LAE (“risk factors”) generally varyr for each line of business,
as well as for each separately analyzed component of the line of business. In some cases, such risk factors are explicit assumptmm ions of
the estimation method and in others, they are implm icit. For examplm e, a method may explicitly assume that a certain percentage of
claims will close each year, but will implicm itly assume that the legal interprrr etation of existing contractt language will remain
substantially unchanged. Actuat l results will likely vary from expectations for each of these assumptmm ions, resulting in an ultimate claim
liability that is different from that being estimated currently.

Some risk factors affect multiple lines of business. Examplmm es include changes in claim handling and claim reserving practices, changes
in claim settlement patternsrr , regulatory and legislative actions, court actions, so-called “social inflation”, timeliness of claim reporting,
state mix of claimants and degree of claimant fraud. Additionally, there is also a higher degree of uncertainty due to growth in our
acquired businesses, with respect to which we have less familiarity and, in some cases, limited historical claims experience. The extent
of the impam ct of a risk factor will also vary by components within a line of business. Individual risk factors are subject to interactions
with other risk factors within line of business compomm nents. Thus, risk factors can have offsff etting or compounding effectff s on required
reserves.

Inflation generally increases the cost of losses covered by insurance contracts. The effecff t of inflatioff n varies by product. Our property
and casualty insurance premiums are establia shed before the amount of losses and LAE and the extent to which inflation may affect
such expenses are known. Consequently, we attempt, in establishing rates and reserves, to anticipate the potential impam ct of inflation
in the projection of ultimate costs. For examplm e, we monitor and continue to experience increases in medical costs, wages and legal
costs, which are key considerations in setting reserve assumptimm ons for workers’ compensation, bodily injuryn and other liabia litytt lines.
We are also monitoring the continued advancements in technology and design found in automobiles and homes and the increased
claims settlement costs that result from repairs or replacement of such equipment. Estimated increases are reflected in our currenuu t
reserve estimates, but continued increases are expected to contritt bute to increased losses and LAE in the future.tt

45

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



We are also defendants in various litigation matters, including putative class actions, which may seek punitive damages, bad faith or
extra-contractual damages, legal fees and interest, or claim a broader scope of policy coverage or settlement and payment obligations
than our interpretation. Resolution of these cases are ofteff n highly unpredictable and could involve material unanticipated damage
awards. We have experienced, and others in the industry have reported, increased attorney involvement in claims, delayed
submissions of medical and other expense claims and a trend toward higher valued settlements and litigation, all of which contribute
to uncertainty regarding reserve estimates.

Loss and LAE Reserves by Line of Business

Reserving Process Overviewg

Our loss reserverr s include amounts related to short-tail and long-tail classes of business. “Tail” refers to the time period between the
occurrence of a loss and the final settlement of the claim. The longer the time span betweett n the incidence of a loss and the settlement
of the claim (i.e., a longer tail), the more the ultimate settlement amount may likely varyrr from our original estimate.

Short-tail classes consist principally of automobile physical and property damage, homeowners property, commercial property and
marine business. For these property coverages, claims are generally reported and settled shortly after the loss occurs because the
claims relate to tangible property and are more likely to be discovered shortly afteff r the loss occurs. Consequently, the estimation of
loss reserves for these classes is generally less complex.

While we estimate that approximately half of our written premium is in, what we would characterize as shorter-tail classes of business,
most of our loss reserves relate to longer-tail liability classes of business. Long-tailed classes include automobile liability,tt commercial
liability, third-party coverage and workers’ compensation. For many liability claims, significant periods of time, ranging up to several
years or more, may elapse between the occurrence of the loss, the discovery and reporting of the loss to us and the settlement of the
claim. As a result, loss experience in the more recent accident years for long-tailed liabia lity coverage has limited statistical credibility
because a relatively small proportion of losses in these accident years (thet calendar years in which losses are incurred) are reported
claims and an even smaller proportion are paid losses. Liabia litytt claims are also more susceptible to litigation and can be significantly
affectff ed by changing contract interpretations, the legal, political and social environment, the risk and expense of protratt cted litigation
and inflation. Consequently, the estimation of loss reserves for these coverages is more complm ex and typiy cally subju ect to a higher
degree of variability and uncertainty compared to short-tailed coverages.

Most of our indirect business from our run-offff voluntary and ongoing involuntary pools is assumed long-tailed casualty reinsurance.
Reserve estimates for this business are thereforeff subject to the variability caused by extended loss emergence periods. The estimation
of loss reserverr s for this business is further complicated by delays between the time the claim is reported to the ceding insurer and
when it is reported by the ceding insurer to the pool manager and then to us, and by our dependence on the quality and consistency of
the loss reporting by the ceding company and actuaritt al estimates by the pool manager. These reserving factors also apply to our
discontinued assumed accident and health reinsurance pools and arrangements that are included in our liabilities of discontinued life
businesses (See “Risk Factors” in Part I – Item 1A for furthet r discussion).

A review of loss reserves for each of the classes of business which we write is conductdd ed regularly, generally quarterly. This review
process takes into consideration a variety of trends that impamm ct the ultimate settlement of claims. Where appropriate, the review
includes a review of overall payment patterns and the emergence of paid and reported losses relative to expectations.

The loss reserve estimation process relies on the basic assumptm ion that past experience, adjusted for the effeff cts of current
developments and likely trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting futuff re outcomes. As part of this process, we use a variety of
analytical methods that consider experience, trends and other relevant factors. IBNR reserves are generally calculated by first
projecting the ultimate cost of all claims that have been reported or expected to be reported in the future and then subtu racting reported
losses and loss expenses. Reported losses include cumulative paid losses and loss expenses plus case reserves. Within the loss
reservirr ng process, standard actuarial methods which include: (1) loss development factor methods; (2) expected loss methods
(Bornheutter-Ferguson); and (3) adjud sted loss methods (Berquist-Sherman), are given due consideration. These methods are described
below:

• Loss development factor methods generally assume that the losses yet to emerge for an accident year are proportional to
the paid or reported loss amount observed to date. Historical patterns of the development of paid and reported losses by
accident year can be predictive of the expected future patterns that are applied to current paid and reported losses to
generate estimated ultimate losses by accident year.

• Bornheutter-Ferguson methods utilize the product of the expected ultimate losses times the proportion of ultimate losses
estimated to be unreported or unpan id to calculate IBNR. The expected ultimate losses are based upon current estimates of
ultimate losses from prior accident years, adjud sted to reflect expected earned premium, current rating, claims cost levels
and changes in business mix. The expected losses, and corresponding loss ratios, are a critical component of Bornheuttett r-
Ferguson methodologies and provide a general reasonabia lity guide.
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• Berquiq st-Sherman methods are used for estimating reserverr s in business lines where historical development patterns may
be deemed less reliable for more recent accident years’ ultimate losses. Under these methods, patterns of historical paid or
reported losses are first adjusted d to reflect currer nt payment settlement patterns and case reserverr adequaq cy and then
evaluated in the same manner as the loss development factor methods described above. When the adequaq cy of case
reserves change, the Berquist-Sherman incurred method may be deemed more reliabla e than the reported loss development
factor method. Likewise, when the settlement patterns change, the Berquisq t-Sherman paid method may be deemed more
reliable than the paid loss development factor method.

In addition to the methods described above, various tailored reservirr ng methodologies are used for certain businesses. For examplmm e, for
some low volume and high volatility classes of business, special reserving techniques are utilized that estimate IBNR by selecting the
loss ratio that balances actuatt l reported losses to expected reported losses as defined by the estimated underlying reporting pattern.rr
Also, for some classes with long exposure periods (e.g., construction defeff ct, engineering and surety), earnirr ngs patterns plus an
estimated reporting lag applied to the Bornheutter-Ferguson initial expected loss ratio are used to estimate IBNR. This is done in order
to reflect the changing average exposure periods by policy year (and consequently accident year).

In completing the loss reserve analysis, a variety of assumptiom ns must be made for each line of business, coverage and accident year.
Each estimation method has its own pattern, parameter and/or judgmental dependencies, with no estimation method being better than
the others in all situat tions. The relative strengths and weaknek sses of the various estimation methods, when applied to a particular class
of business, can also change over time, depending on the underlying circumstances. In many cases, multiple estimation methods will
be valid for the particular facts and circumstances of the relevant class of business. The manner of application and the degree of
reliance on a given method will vary by line of business and coverage, and by accident year based on an evaluation of the above
dependencies and the potential volatility of the loss frequency and severity patterns. The estimation methods selected or given weight
at a particular valuation date are those that are believed to produce the most reliable indication for the loss reserves being evaluated.
Selections incorporate inpun t from claims personnel, pricing actuatt ries, and underwriting management on loss cost trends and othet r
factors that could affectff ultimate losses.

For most classes of shorter-tailed business in our Commercial and Personal Lines segments, the emergence of paid and incurredr losses
generally exhibits a relatively stabla e pattern of loss development from one accident year to the next. Thus, for these classes, the loss
development factor method is generally appropriate. For many of the classes of shorter-tailed business, the emergence of paid and
incurred losses may exhibit a relatively volatile pattern of loss development from one accident year to the next. In certain cases where
there is a relatively low level of reliability placed on the available paid and incurred loss data, expected loss methods or adjud sted loss
methods are considered appropriate for the most recent accident year.

For longer-tailed lines of business, applying the loss development factor method ofteff n requires even more judgment in selecting
development factors, as well as more significff ant extrapolaa tion. For those long-tailed lines of business with high frequency and
relatively low per-loss severity (e.g., personal automobile liabia lity), volatility will oftenff be sufficiently modest for the loss
development factor method to be given significff ant weight, even in the most recent accident years, but expected loss methods and
adjusted loss methods are always considered and frequently utilized in the selection process. For those long-tailed lines of business
with low frequency and high loss potential (e.g., commercial general liability), anticipated loss experience is less predictable because
of the small numbem r of claims and errar tic claim severity patterns. In these situat tions, the loss development factor methods may not
produce a reliabla e estimate of ultimate losses in the most recent accident years since many claims either have not yet been reported or
are only in the early stages of the settlement process. Therefore, the loss reserve estimates for these accident years may be based on
methods less reliant on extrapolation, such as Bornheutter-Ferguson. Over time, as a greater numberm of claims are reported and the
statistical credibility of loss experience increases, loss development factor methods or adjud sted loss methods are given increasing
weight.

Management endeavors to apply as much available data as practicable to estimate the loss reserverr amount for each line of business,
coverage and accident year, utilizing varying assumptmm ions, projections and methods. The ultimate outcome is likely to fall within a
range of potential outcomes around this loss reserve estimated amount.

Our carried reserves for each line of business and coverage are determined based on the quarterly loss reservirr ng process. In making
the determination, we consider numerous quantitative and qualitative factors. Quantitative factors include changes in reserve estimates
in the period, the maturity of the accident year, trends observed over the recent past, the level of volatility within a particular class of
business, the estimated effeff cts of reinsurance, including reinstatement premiums, general economic trends and other factors.
Qualitative factors may include legal and regulatory developments, changes in claim handling and case reserving practices, recent
entry into new markets or producd ts, changes in underwriting practices or business mix, concernsrr that we do not have sufficff ient or
quality historical reported and paid loss and LAE information with respect to a particular line or segment of our business, effectff s of
the economym and political outlook, perceived anomalies in the historical results, evolving trends or othet r factors. In doing so, we must
evaluate whether a change in the data represents credible actionable information or an anomaly. Such an assessment requires
considerable judgment. Even if a change is determined to be apparent, it is not always possible to determine the extent of the change.
As a result, there can be a time lag between the emergence of a change and a determination that the change should be partially or fully
reflected in the carried loss reserves. In general, changes are made more quickly to reserves for more mature accident years and less
volatile classes of business.
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Reserving Process Uncertaitt ntiesg

As stated above, numerous factors (botht internal and external) contribute to the inherent uncertainty in the process of establishing loss
reserves, including changes in the rate of inflaff tion for goods and services related to insured damages (e.g., medical care, home repairs,
etc.), changes in the judicial interprrr etation of policy provisions and settlement obligations, changes in the general attitude of juries in
determining damage awards, legislative actions, such as expanding liability, coverage mandates or expanding or suspending statutt es of
limitations which otherwise limit the times within which claims can be made, changes in the extent of insured injun ries, changes in the
trend of expected frequency and/or severity of claims, changes in our book of business (e.g., change in mix due to new or modified
product offeriff ngs, new or rapia dly expanding geographia c areas, etc.), changes in our underwriting practices and changes in claim
handling procedures and/or systems. Regarding our indirect business from voluntary and involuntary pools, we are periodically
provided loss estimates by managers of each pool. We adopt reserve estimates for the pools that consider this information and other
facts.

In addition, we must consider the uncertain effects of emerging or potential claims and coverage issues that arise as legal, judicial,
social conditions, political risks and economic conditions change. For example, claims which we consider closed may be re-opened as
additional damages surface or new liabia lity or damage theories are presented. Also, historically, we have observerr d more frequent and
higher severity in workers’ compensation, bodily injury and other liability claims and more credit related losses (for examplm e, in ouru
surety business) during periods of economic uncertainty or high unemplm oyment. These, and other issues, could have a negative effectff
on our loss reserves by either extending coverage beyond the original underwriting intent or by increasing the number or size of
claims.

As part of our loss reservirr ng analysis, we consider the various factors that contribute to the uncertainty in the loss reserving process.
Those factors that could materially affect our loss reserve estimates include loss development patterns and loss cost trends, reporting
lags, rate and exposure level changes, the effeff cts of changes in coverage and policy limits, business mix shiftsff , the effeff cts of
regulatory and legislative developments, economic circumstances, the effects of changes in judicial interpretations, the effecff ts of
emerging claims and coverage issues and the effectff s of changes in claim handling and claim reserving practices. In making estimates
of reserves, however, we do not necessarily make an explicit assumpm tion for each of these factors. Moreover, all estimation methods
do not utilize the same assumptions and typically no single method is determinative in the reserve analysis for a line of business and
coverage. Consequently, changes in our loss reserve estimates generally are not the result of changes in any one assumption. Instead,
the variability will be affecff ted by the interplay of changes in numerous assumptmm ions, many of which are implmm icit to the approaches
used.

For each line of business and coverage, we regularly adjustd the assumptm ions and methods used in the estimation of loss reserves in
response to our actualtt loss experience, as well as our judgments regarding changes in trends and/or emerging patterns. In those
instances where we primarily utilize analyses of historical patterns of the development of paid and reported losses, this may be
reflected, for example,m in the selection of revised loss development factors. In longer-tailed classes of business and for which loss
experience is less predictabla e due to potential changes in judicial interpretations, potential legislative actions, the cost of litigation or
determining liabia lity and the ultimate loss, inflation, potential claims and other issues, this may be reflected in a judgmental change in
our estimate of ultimate losses for particular accident years. Most of the insurance policies we have written over many years are
written on an “occurrence” basis, which means we insure specified acts or events which occurrerr d during the covered period, even if
claims first arise from such events many years later. For examplm e, the industry incurredrr significant losses as a result of claims arising
from asbestos and environmental damage which occurred decades ago and was not known at such time, and in many cases policy
limits were available for each year during which such occurrence policies were in place.

The future impacm t of the various factors that contribute to the uncertainty in the loss reserving process is impossim ble to predict. There
is potential for significant variation in the development of loss reserves, particularly for long-tailed classes of business and classes of
business that are more vulnerable to economic or political risks.

Reserving Process forff CatasCC trophe Eventsg f p

The estimation of claims and claims expense reserves for catastrophes also comprises estimates of losses from reporterr d claims and
IBNR, primarily for damage to property. In general, our estimates for catastrophe reserves are determined on an event basis by
considering various sources of available information, including specificff loss estimates reported to us based on claim adjuster
inspections, overall industry loss estimates, our internar l data regarding exposures related to the geographa ical location of the event and
estimates of potential subrogation recoveries. However, depending on the nature of the catastrophe, the estimation process can be
further complicated by other impedimm ents. For examplm e, for hurricanes, other severe wind storms and wildfires, complications ofteff n
include the inability of insureds to promptly report losses, delays in the ability of claims adjud sting staff to inspect losses, difficulties in
determining whether wind storm losses are covered by our homeowners policy (generally for damage caused by wind or wind driven
rain) or are specifically excluded from coverage caused by flood, and challenges in estimating additional living expenses, assessing
the impactm of demand surge, exposure to mold or smoke damage and the effectff s of numerous othert considerations. Another examplm e is
the complication of estimating the cost of business interruption coverage on commercial lines policies. Estimates for catastrophes
which occur at or near the end of a financial reporting period may be even less reliable since we will have less claims data availabla e
and little time to complete our estimation process. In such situationst , we may adapt our practices to accommodate the circumstances.

48

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



For events designated as catastrophes, we generally calculate IBNR reserves directly as a result of an estimated IBNR claim count and
an estimated average claim amount for each event. Such an assessment involves a comprehensive analysis of the nature of the event,
of policyholder exposures within the affected geographic area and of available claims intelligence. Depending on the nature of the
event, available claims intelligence could include surveys of field claims associates within the affectedff geographica area, aerial
photographsa of the affected area, feedback from a catastrophe claims team sent into the area, as well as data on claims reported as of
the financial statement date. In addition, loss emergence from similar historical events is compared to the estimated IBNR for our
current catastrot phe events to help assess the reasonabla eness of our estimates.

Reserving Sensitivity Analysisllg y y

The following discussion presents disclosure related to possible variation in net reserve estimates (i.e., net of estimated reinsurance
recoverables) due to changes in key assumptions. This information is provided for illustrative purposes only. Many othet r assumptions
may also lead to material reserve adjustments. If any such variations do occur, then they would likely occur over a period of several
years and therefore their impact on our results of operations would be recognized during the same periods. It is importm ant to note,
however, that there is the potential for future variations greater than the amounts described below and for any such variations to be
recognized in a single quarterly or annual period. No consideration has been given to potential correlation or lack of correlation among
key assumptmm ions or among lines of business and coverage as described below. As a result, and becausea there are so many other faff ctors
which affectff our net reserve estimate, it would be inappropriate to take the amounts described below and simply add them together in
an attempt to estimate volatility in total. While we believe these are reasonably possible scenarios, the reader should not consider the
following sensitivity analysis as illustrative of a net reserve range.

• Personal and Commercial Automobile Bodily Injun ry – loss reserves recorded for bodily injurn y on voluntary business were
$713.5 million as of Decemberm 31, 2019. A key assumption for bodily injun ry is the inflation rate underlying the estimated
reserverr . A five point change (e.g., 4% changed to 9% or -1%) in the embem dded inflation rate would have changed total
reserves by approximately $90 million, either positive or negative, respectively, at December 31, 2019.

• Personal Automobile Personal Injun ry Protection Medical Payment – loss reserves recorded for personal injun ry protection
medical payment on voluntary business were $157.2 million as of December 31, 2019, of which approximately 95%
relates to Michigan policies. A key assumptmm ion for this coverage is the inflation rate underlying the estimated reserve.
Given the long reporting pattern for this line of business, an additional key assumption is the amount of additional
development required to reach full maturity, thereby reflecting ultimate costs, as represented by the tail factor. A five
point change in the embedm ded inflation rate and a one point change to the tail factor assumption (e.g., 2% changed to 1%
or 3%) would have changed total reserves by approximately $52 million, either positive or negative, at December 31,
2019.

• Workers’ Compensation – loss reserves recorded for workers’ compensation on voluntaryrr business were $442.4 million as
of Decemberm 31, 2019. A key assumptmm ion for workers’ compensation is the inflation rate underlying the estimated reserve.
Given the long reporting pattern for this line of business, an additional key assumption is the amount of additional
development required to reach full maturity, thereby reflecting ultimate costs, as represented by the tail factor. A five
point change in the embedm ded inflation rate and a one point change to the tail factor assumption would have changed total
reserves by approximately $129 million, eithert positive or negative, at December 31, 2019.

• Monoline and Multiple Peril General Liabia lity – loss reserves recorded for monoline and multiple peril general liability on
voluntary business were $846.7 million as of Decembem r 31, 2019. A key assumptm ion for monoline and multiple peril
general liability is the implm ied adequacy of the underlying case reserves. A ten point change in case adequacy (e.g., 10%
deficff iency changed to 0% or 20% deficiency) would have changed total reserves by approximately $92 million, either
positive or negative, at Decembem r 31, 2019.

• Specialty Programs – loss reserves recorded for Hanover Programs were $339.5 million as of December 31, 2019. Two
key assumptm ions underlying the actuarialtt reserve analysis for specialty programs are the inflation rate underlying the
estimated reserve for our commercial automobile liability, general liability and workers’ compensation coverages, as well
as the tail factor selection for workers’ compensation. A five point change to the embeddem d inflation rate for the
aforementioned coverages, and a one point change in the workers’ compensation tail factor on Hanover Programs would
have changed total reserves by approximately $54 million at Decembem r 31, 2019.
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Carried Reserves and Reserve Rollforwardf

The following table provides a reconciliation of the gross beginning and ending reserve for unpaid losses and loss adjud stment
expenses.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Gross loss and LAE reserves, beginning of year $ 5,304.1 $ 5,058.5 $ 4,660.0

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 1,472.6 1,455.0 1,349.2
Net loss and LAE reserverr s, beginning of year 3,831.5 3,603.5 3,310.8
Net incurred losses and LAE in respect of losses occurring in:

Current year 2,893.0 2,733.5 2,579.8
Prior year non-catastrophe development (0.9) 0.4 1.2
Prior year catastrophe development (27.5) (9.3) (1.4)

Total incurred losses and LAE 2,864.6 2,724.6 2,579.6
Net payments of losses and LAE in respect of losses occurring in:

Current year 1,315.4 1,232.3 1,203.8
Prior years 1,301.1 1,264.3 1,083.1

Total payments 2,616.5 2,496.6 2,286.9
Net reserve for losses and LAE, end of year 4,079.6 3,831.5 3,603.5

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 1,574.8 1,472.6 1,455.0
Gross reserve for losses and LAE, end of year $ 5,654.4 $ 5,304.1 $ 5,058.5

The following table summarizes the gross reserve for losses and LAE by line of business.

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Commercial multiple peril $ 1,122.0 $ 1,043.7 $ 963.5
Workers' compensam tion 698.2 677.3 653.5
Commercial automobile 427.0 399.6 380.2
Other commercial lines:

Hanover Programs 512.9 492.0 475.4
Management and professional liability 281.5 257.7 247.0
Monoline general liability 265.5 246.6 231.8
Umbrem lla 197.9 166.8 159.7
Marine 95.9 99.5 117.3
Surety 76.9 99.0 87.8
Specialty industrial and commercial property 71.1 54.5 68.8
Other lines 28.4 21.9 15.5

Total othet r commercial lines 1,530.1 1,438.0 1,403.3
Total Commercial Lines 3,777.3 3,558.6 3,400.5
Personal automobile 1,645.1 1,532.8 1,471.7
Homeowners and othert personal 194.3 174.8 147.6

Total Personal Lines 1,839.4 1,707.6 1,619.3
Total Othet r Segment 37.7 37.9 38.7

Total loss and LAE reserves $ 5,654.4 $ 5,304.1 $ 5,058.5

“Other commercial lines – Other lines” in the table above, is primarily comprised of fidelity and crime lines of business. Loss and
LAE reserves in our “Total Othet r Segment” relate to our run-off voluntary assumed reinsurance pools business.

Prior Year Developmentp

Conditions and trends that have affected reserve development in the past will not necessarily recur in the future. As discussed under
“Reserving Process Overview” in the preceding section, our historical loss experience and loss development patterns are importmm ant
faff ctors in estimating loss reserves, however, they are not the only factors we evaluate to establish reserves. Therefore, a mechanical
application of standard actuat rial methodologies in projecting ultimate claims could result in materially different reserves to those held.
Accordingly, it is not appropriate to extrapolate future favorable or unfavff orabla e development based on amounts experienced in prior
periods.
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The following tablea summarizes prior year unfavorabla e (favff orable) development by segment for the periods indicated:

2019 2018 2017

(in millions)( )

Loss
&

LAE Catastrophe Total

Loss
&

LAE Catastrophe Total

Loss
&

LAE Catastrophe Total
Commercial Lines $ (28.7) $ (24.6) $ (53.3) $ (34.1) $ (6.8) $ (40.9) $ (9.4) $ (1.4) $ (10.8)
Personal Lines 26.6 (2.9) 23.7 33.3 (2.5) 30.8 9.4 —— 9.4
Other Segment 1.2 —— 1.2 1.2 —— 1.2 1.2 —— 1.2

Total prior year unfavorabla e
(favorable) development $ (0.9) $ (27.5) $ (28.4) $ 0.4 $ (9.3) $ (8.9) $ 1.2 $ (1.4) $ (0.2)

Catastrophe Loss Developmentp p

In 2019, favorable catastrophe development was $27.5 million, primarily due to lower than expected losses related to the 2017 and
2018 California wildfires, including the sale of subru ogation rights on certain California wildfire losses, and the 2018 hurricane
Florence. In 2018, favorabla e catastrophe development was $9.3 million, primarily due to lower than expected losses related to the
2017 hurricanes Harvey, Irma and Maria and California wildfires. In 2017, favorablea catastrophe development was $1.4 million,
primarily due to lower than expected losses related to the 2016 hurricane Matthew.

Loss and LAE Development, excluding catastrophesp , g p

The following table provides a summary of unfavorable/(favorabla e) loss and LAE reserverr development, excluding catastrophes.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Commercial multiple peril $ (6.6) $ (1.2) $ 2.5
Workers’ compensation (32.6) (31.0) (9.1)
Commercial automobile 6.4 23.2 2.5
Other commercial lines:

Hanover Programs 24.6 18.2 (0.4)
General liability (7.8) (27.9) (1.9)
Marine (6.9) (4.7) 1.8
Surety (4.1) (9.0) 0.1
Umbrem lla 2.8 0.6 (0.2)
Other lines (4.5) (2.3) (4.7)

Total othet r commercial lines 4.1 (25.1) (5.3)
Total Commercial Lines (28.7) (34.1) (9.4)

Personal automobile 22.0 15.0 3.7
Homeowners and othert personal lines 4.6 18.3 5.7

Total Personal Lines 26.6 33.3 9.4
Total Othet r Segment 1.2 1.2 1.2

Total loss and LAE reserve development, excluding catastrophes $ (0.9) $ 0.4 $ 1.2

2019 Loss and LAE Development, excluding catastrophesp , g p

In 2019, net favorabla e loss and LAE development, excluding catastrophes, was $0.9 million. Commercial Lines favorable
development of $28.7 million was primarily due to lower than expected losses of $32.6 million within the workers’ compensation line
in accident years 2015 through 2018, and lower than expected losses in our commercial multiple peril line, primarily in accident years
2015 through 2016, partially offsff et by higher than expected losses in our commercial automobile and other commercial lines. Higher
than expected losses in the commercial automobile line was driven by higher bodily injun ry severity and personal injun ry protection in
accident years 2016 through 2017. Within othet r commercial lines, higher than expected losses of $24.6 million in Hanover Programs,
primarily in accident years 2011, 2013, 2015, and 2017, was partially offsetff by lower than expected losses in our general liability,
marine and surety lines. Personal Lines unfavorabla e development of $26.6 million was primarily due to higher than expected losses of
$22.0 million in the personal automobile line, driven by bodily injuryn severity and personal injuryn protection in accident years 2016
through 2017. In addition, Other Segment unfavorabla e development of $1.2 million was due to adverse loss trends in our run-off
voluntary pools business, which includes asbestos and environmental reserves.
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2018 Loss and LAE Development, excluding catastrophesp , g p

In 2018, net unfavorabla e loss and LAE development, excluding catastrophes, was $0.4 million. Commercial Lines favorable
development of $34.1 million was primarily due to lower than expected losses of $31.0 million within the workers’ compensation line
in accident years 2015 through 2017, and $25.1 million in othet r commercial lines, partially offsetff by higher than expected losses of
$23.2 million in the commercial automobile line, driven by higher bodily injun ry severity in the 2014, 2016 and 2017 accident years.
Within othet r commercial lines, lower than expected losses in our general liability lines, related to the 2014 through 2016 accident
years, and our surety line in accident years 2015 and 2017, was partially offsetff by higher than expected losses in Hanover Programs,
primarily in accident years 2010 through 2014. Personal Lines unfavorabla e development of $33.3 million was primarily due to higher
than expected losses within the homeowners line in accident years 2015 through 2017, and in the personal automobile line, driven by
bodily injuryn severity in the 2016 accident year and, to a lesser extent, the 2015 accident year. In addition, Othet r segment unfavorabla e
development of $1.2 million was due to adverse loss trends in our run-offff voluntary pools business which includes asbestos and
environmental reserves.

2017 Loss and LAE Development, excluding catastrophesp , g p

In 2017, net unfavorabla e loss and LAE development, excluding catastrophes, was $1.2 million. Commercial Lines favorable
development of $9.4 million was primarily due to lower than expected losses withit n the workers’ compensation line in accident years
2012 through 2016. Personal Lines unfavorabla e development of $9.4 million was primarily due to higher than expected losses in
homeowners for accident year 2016. In addition, Othet r segment unfavorable development of $1.2 million was due to higher than
expected losses in our run-offff voluntary pools business, which includes asbestos and environmental reserverr s.

Asbestostt and Environmentaltt Reserves

As of Decemberm 31, 2019, we have $37.9 million of net asbestos and environmental reserves, comprised of $8.4 million of direct
reserves and $29.5 million of assumed reinsurance pool reserves. This compares to net reserves of $38.9 million and $39.8 million as
of Decemberm 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Ending loss and LAE reserves for all direct business written by our property and
casualty companies related to asbestos and environmental damage liability were $8.4 million, $8.9 million and $9.5 million, net of
reinsurance of $17.6 million, $18.7 million and $20.2 million for the years ended Decembem r 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Activity for our direct asbestos and environmental reserves was not significff ant to our 2019, 2018 or 2017 financial results. As a result
of our historical direct underwriting mix of Commercial Lines policies toward smaller and middle market risks, past asbestos and
environmental damage liabia lity loss experience has remained minimal in relation to our total loss and LAE incurred experience.
Although we attempt to limit our exposures to asbestos and environmental damage liability through specific policy exclusions, we
have been and may continue to be subjeu ct to claims related to these exposures.

In addition to reserves we carry to cover exposure in our direct business, we have establa ished gross and net loss and LAE reserves for
assumed reinsurance pool business with asbestos and environmental damage liability of $29.5 million, $30.0 million and $30.3 million
at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These reserves relate to pools in which we have terminated our participation;
however, we continue to be subju ect to claims related to years in which we were a participant. Results of operations from these pools
are included in our Other segment. A significant part of our pool reserves relates to our participation in the ECRA voluntary pool from
1950 to 1982. In 1982, the pool was dissolved and since that time, the business has been in run-off.ff Our percentage of the total pool
liabilities varied from 1% to 6% during these years. Our participation in this pool has resulted in average paid losses of approximately
$2 million annually over the past ten years.

We estimate our ultimate liability for asbestos, environmental and toxic tort liabia lity claims, whether resulting from direct business,
assumed reinsurance or pool business, based upon currently known facts, reasonable assumptmm ions where the facts are not known,
current law and methodologies currently available. Although these outstanding claims are not believed to be significant, their
existence gives rise to uncertainty and are discussed becausea of the possibility that they may become significant. We believe that,
notwithtt standing the evolution of case law expanding liability in asbestos and environmental claims, recorded reservesrr related to these
claims are adequate. Neverthet less, the asbestos, environmental and toxic tort liability reserves could be revised, and any such revisions
could have a material adverse effeff ct on our results of operations for a particular quarterly or annual period or on our financial position.

Reinsurance

See “Reinsurance” in Item 1 – Business for information on our reinsurance programs.
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INVESTMENTS

The investments discussion below excludes amounts relating to the operations of Chaucer.

INVESTVV MENTTT RESULTUU STT

Net investment income before income taxes was as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )
Fixed maturities $ 232.4 $ 217.7 $ 205.8
Limited partnerships 19.7 24.1 15.3
Equity securities 16.3 17.0 18.0
Mortgage loans 16.3 14.0 11.4
Other investments 5.3 4.8 3.4
Investment expenses (8.7) (10.2) (10.0)
Net investment income $ 281.3 $ 267.4 $ 243.9
Earned yield, fixed maturities 3.58% 3.62% 3.75%
Earned yield, total portfolio 3.65% 3.74% 3.75%

The increase in net investment income in 2019 was primarily due to the continued investment of operational cash flows and the
investment of proceeds from the sale of Chaucer prior to their deployment, partially offsetff by lower limited partnership income and
the impacm t of lower new money yields. In 2018, the increase in net investmet nt income was primarily due to the investment of higher
operational cash flows and higher limited partnership income, partially offsetff by the impact of lower fixed income new money yields.
We expect average fixed income yields to continue to decline as new money rates remain lower than embem dded book yields.

INVESTMEVV NTEE PORTFOLFF IO

We held cash and investment assets diversified across several asset classes, as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018

(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )
Carrying
Value

% of Total
Carrying
Value

Carrying
Value

% of Total
Carrying
Value

Fixed maturities, at fair value $ 6,687.1 81.4% $ 6,161.5 74.1%
Equity securities, at fair value 575.7 7.0 464.4 5.6
Mortgage and other loans 441.2 5.4 405.7 4.9
Other investments 292.0 3.6 255.8 3.1
Cash and cash equivalents 215.7 2.6 1,020.7 12.3
Total cash and investments $ 8,211.7 100.0% $ 8,308.1 100.0%

CASHSS AND INVESTMENTMM STT

Total cash and investments decreased $96.4 million, or 1.2%, for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2019, primarily attributable to $550
million of accelerated share repurchases, shareholder dividend payments of $386 million, including special dividends of $289 million,
and repayment of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) debt and related prepayment fees of $151 million. These decreases were
partially offsetff by operational cash flows of approximately $536 million and market value appreciation of approximately $423 million.
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The folff lowing table provides information about the investmet nt typey s of our fixed maturities portfolio:
DECEMBER 31 2019
(in millions)( )

Investment Type
Amortized

Cost Fair Value

Net
Unrealized
Gains

Change in Net
Unrealized for

the Year
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 342.0 $ 349.8 $ 7.8 $ 12.6
Foreign governmr ent 15.7 16.1 0.4 0.3
Municipals:

Taxable 765.7 790.9 25.2 17.8
Tax-exemptm 41.4 42.6 1.2 1.8

Corporate 3,653.5 3,811.2 157.7 223.6
Asset-backed:

Residential mortgage-backed 905.4 921.4 16.0 28.0
Commercial mortgage-backed 666.4 691.9 25.5 33.6
Asset-backed 62.1 63.2 1.1 1.6

Total fixed maturities $ 6,452.2 $ 6,687.1 $ 234.9 $ 319.3

The increase in net unrealized gains on fixed maturities was primarily due to lower prevailing interest rates and tighter credit spreads.

Amortized cost and fair value by rating category were as follows:
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018

(dollarsll inii millions)s( )
NAIC Designation

Rating
Agency

Equivalent
Designation

Amortized
Cost Fair Value

% of
Total Fair
Value

Amortized
Cost Fair Value

% of
Total Fair
Value

1 Aaa/Aa/A $ 4,373.0 $ 4,522.7 67.6% $ 4,297.7 $ 4,258.8 69.1%
2 Baa 1,785.2 1,857.6 27.8 1,636.7 1,601.0 26.0
3 Ba 160.2 167.6 2.6 176.4 173.2 2.8
4 B 130.2 135.2 2.0 120.0 113.8 1.9
5 Caa and lower 2.0 2.2 —— 14.8 14.3 0.2
6 In or near defaula t 1.6 1.8 —— 0.3 0.4 ——
Total fixed maturities $ 6,452.2 $ 6,687.1 100.0% $ 6,245.9 $ 6,161.5 100.0%

Based on ratings by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”), approximately 95% of the fixed maturity
portfolio consisted of investment grade securities at Decembem r 31, 2019 and 2018. The quality of our fixed maturity portfolff io remains
strong based on ratings, capital structure position, suppu ort through guarantees, underlying security,tt issuer diversificff ation and yield
curve position.

Our investment portfolio primarily consists of fixed maturity securities whose fair value is susceptible to market risk, including
interest rate changes. See also “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk”. Duration is a measurement used to
quantifyff our inherent interest rate risk and analyze invested assets relative to our reserve liabilities.

The duration of our fixed maturity portfolio was as follows:
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(dollarsll inii millions)s( )
Duration

Amortized
Cost Fair Value

% of Total
Fair Value

Amortized
Cost Fair Value

% of Total
Fair Value

0-2 years $ 1,253.1 $ 1,276.0 19.1% $ 1,092.3 $ 1,101.5 17.9%
2-4 years 1,811.9 1,872.9 28.0 1,427.3 1,420.4 23.0
4-6 years 1,841.2 1,917.0 28.7 1,831.2 1,801.4 29.2
6-8 years 1,113.9 1,177.2 17.6 1,768.6 1,710.3 27.8
8-10 years 316.2 322.2 4.8 57.5 59.7 1.0
10+ years 115.9 121.8 1.8 69.0 68.2 1.1
Total fixed maturities $ 6,452.2 $ 6,687.1 100.0% $ 6,245.9 $ 6,161.5 100.0%
Weighted average duration 4.3 4.5

Our fixed maturity and equity securities are carried at fair value. Financial instruments whose value was determined using significant
management judgment or estimation constituted less than 1% of the total assets we measured at fair value. See also Note 5 - “Fair
Value” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Equity securities primarily consist of U.S. income-oriented large capia talization common stocks and developed market equity index
exchange-traded funds.

Mortgage and other loans consist primarily of commercial mortgage loan participations, which represent our interest in commercial
mortgage loans originated by a third-party. We share, on a pro-rata basis, in all related cash flows of the underlying mortgage loans,
which are investment-grade quality and diversified by geographic area and property type.

Other investments consist primarily of our interest in corporate middle market and real estate limited partnerst hips. Corporate middle
market limited partnerships may invest in senior or subordinated debt, preferredr or common equiq ty or a combination thereof,ff of
middle market businesses. Real estate limited partnerstt hips invest in debt and/or equity of real properties.

Investments in mortgage loan participations and limited partnett rships are generally illiquid in nature.

Although we expect to invest new funds primarily in investment grade fixed maturities, we have invested, and expect to continue to
invest, a portion of funds in limited partnertt ships, common equiq ty securities, below investment grade fixed maturities and other
investment assets.

We deposit funds with various state and governmental authorities. See Note 3 – “Investments” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information.

OTHER-THAN-TETT MPEE ORARRR Y IMPAIRMENTSNN

For the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we recognized in earnirr ngs $2.0 million, $4.6 million and $5.6 million,
respectively, of other-than-tempom raryr impairmm ents (“OTTI”). In 2019, OTTI consisted entirely of corporate fixed maturity securities.
In 2018, OTTI consisted of $2.6 million on fixed maturities and $2.0 million on other invested assets. In 2017, OTTI consisted of
$2.0 million on other invested assets, $1.8 million on fixed maturities and $1.8 million on equity securities.

The carryingr values of fixed maturity securities on non-accrual status at Decembem r 31, 2019 and 2018 were not material. The effectff s
of non-accruals compam red with amounts that would have been recognized in accordance with the original terms of the fixed maturities
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were also not material. Any defaults in the fixed maturities portfolio in future
periods may negatively affectff investment income.

UNREALUU IZELL DEE LOSSES

Gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities at Decemberm 31, 2019 were $7.6 million, a decrease of $126.6 million compared to
December 31, 2018, primarily attributable to lower prevailing interest rates and tighter credit spreads. At Decemberm 31, 2019, gross
unrealized losses consisted primarily of $3.9 million on corporate fixed maturities, $1.3 million on U.S. government securities and
$1.2 million on municipal securities. See also Note 3 – “Investments” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

We view gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities as temporam ry since it is our assessment that these securities will recover in the
near term, allowing us to realize their anticipated long-term economic value. Further, we do not intend to sell, nor is it more likely
than not we will be required to sell, such debt securities before this expected recovery of amortized cost (see also “Liquidity and
Capia tal Resources”). Inherent in our assessment are the risks that market factors may differ from our expectations; the global economy
reverts to recessionary trends; we may decide to subseu quently sell a security for unforeseen business needs; or changes in the credit
assessment from our original assessment may lead us to determine that a sale at the current value would maximize recovery on such
investments. To the extent that there are such adverse changes, an OTTI would be recognized as a realized loss. Although unrealized
losses on fixed maturities are not reflected in the results of financial operations until they are realized or deemed “other-than-t
temporary”, the fair value of the underlying investment, which does reflect the unrealized loss, is reflected in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

The following table sets forth gross unrealized losses for fixed maturities by maturity period at December 31, 2019 and 2018. Actual
maturities may differff from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations, with or without
call or prepayment penalties, or we may have the right to put or sell the obligations back to the issuers.
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )

Due in one year or less $ —— $ 0.3
Due after one year through five years 1.1 20.2
Due after five years through ten years 3.3 80.2
Due after ten years 2.0 8.3

6.4 109.0
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities 1.2 25.2

Total fixed maturities $ 7.6 $ 134.2
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Our investment portfolio and shareholders’ equity can be significaff ntly impacted by changes in market values of our securities. Market
volatilityt could increase and defaula ts on fixed income securities could occur. As a result, we could incur additional realized and
unrealized losses in futurett periods, which could have a material adverse impactm on our results of operations and/or financial position.

Monetary policies in developed economies remain accommodative amid signs of limited inflationary pressures and lower global
economic activity. Majora central banks continue to closely monitor geo-political developments, conditions in global financial markets
and the outlook for growth, and continue to demonstrate an ability and willingness to adjud st monetary policy as required to provide
liquidity, support growtht and achieve inflatioff n targets. In the United States, the Federal Reserve (thet “Fed”) reduced its federal funds
target range by 75 bps in 2019, including 25 bps during the fourth quarter of 2019, lowering its target range to 1.50% to 1.75%.
Recent economic activity has slowed, although growth continues at a moderate rate, and the Fed continues to expect growtht to remain
solid, labor markets to stay strong, and inflation to move back up over time to its 2% objeb ctive. The Fed has communicated that in
light of ongoing economic uncertainties and muted inflation pressures, it will continue to closely monitor the implmm ications of incoming
information and act appropriately to sustain the expansion. The Fed indicated the downside risks to economic activity have eased
slightly, but that risks to gross domestic product growtht remain. Two significff ant factors being watched carefully are the trade/tariff
negotiations between the United States and its various trade partners, and the negotiations between the U.K. and the European Union
regarding Brexit. Should trade negotiations lead to a shiftff or break-down in global trade patterns or further weakening in foreign
economic activity, there could be negative implications for certain issuers, sectors, or the economym at large.

Fundamental conditions in the corporate sector generally remain sound. While we may experience defauff lts on fixed income securities,
particularly with respect to non-investment grade debt securities, it is difficuff lt to foresee which issuers, industries or markets will be
affected. As a result, the value of our fixed maturt ity portfolio could change rapidly in ways we cannot currently anticipate, and we
could incur additional realized and unrealized losses in future periods.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

INTENN REEE STEE RATE SENSINN TIII VITYII

The valuation of the investment portfolio is subject to risk resulting from interest rate fluctuations, which may adversely impacm t the
valuation of the investment portfolio. In a rising interest rate environment, the value of the fixed maturity sector, which comprises
approximately 81% of our investment portfolio, may decline as a result of decreases in the fair value of the securities. Our intent is to
hold securities to maturity and recover the decline in valuation as prices accrete to par. However, our intent may change prior to
maturity due to changes in the financial markets, our analysis of an issuer’s credit metrics and prospects or as a result of changes in
cash flow needs. Interest rate fluctuat tions may also reduce net investment income and, as a result, profitff ability. The portfolio may
realize lower yields and thereforff e lower net investment income on securities because securities with prepayment and call features may
prepay at a differenff t rate than originally projected. Also, funds may not be available to invest at higher interest rates.

In a declining interest rate environment, prepayments and calls may increase as issuers exercise their option to refinance at lower rates.
The resulting funds would be reinvested at lower yields.

The following table illustrates the estimated impam ct on the fair value of our fixed maturity portfolio at Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018 of
hypothetical changes in prevailing interest rates, defined as changes in interest rates on U.S. Treasury debt. It does not reflect changes
in credit spreads, liquidity spreads and other factors that also affect the value of securities. Since changes in prevailing interest rates
are often accompanimm ed by changes in these other factors, the reader should not assume that an actual change in interest rates would
result in the values illustrated.
(dodd llars in millions)( )

STMENT TYPE +300bp +200bp +100bp 0 -100bp -200bp -300bp
Residential mortgage-backed securities $ 785 $ 830 $ 880 $ 921 $ 950 $ 965 $ 980
Municipal securities 730 765 795 834 870 910 950
All other fixed maturity securities 4,320 4,515 4,720 4,932 5,150 5,380 5,635
Total December 31, 2019 $ 5,835 $ 6,110 $ 6,395 $ 6,687 $ 6,970 $ 7,255 $ 7,565
Total December 31, 2018 $ 5,370 $ 5,620 $ 5,885 $ 6,162 $ 6,440 $ 6,710 $ 6,975

Our overall investment strategy is intended to balance investment income with credit and interest rate risk, while maintaining
sufficient liquidity and the opportunity for capital growth. The asset allocation process takes into consideration the typeyy s of business
written and the level of surplus required to support our different businesses and the risk return profiles of the underlying asset classes.
We look to balance the goals of capital preservation, net investment income stability, liquidity and total returt n.r
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The majoa rity of our assets are invested in the fixed income markets. Through fundamental research and credit analysis, with a focus
on value investing, our investment professionals seek to identify a portfolff io of stable income-producing higher quality U.S.
government, foreign government, municipal, corpr orate, residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities and asset-backed
securities. We have a general policy of diversifying investments both within and across majoa r investment t and industrial sectors to
mitigate credit and interest rate risk. We monitor the credit quality of our investments and our exposure to individual markets,
borrowers, industritt es, sectors and, in the case of commercial mortgage-backed securities and commercial mortgage loan
participations, property types and geographic locations. In addition, we currently carryrr debt that is subjeb ct to interest rate risk, which
was issued at fixed interest rates between 4.50% and 8.207%. Current market conditions, in light of our risk tolerance, restrict our
ability to invest fixed income assets at similar rates of return; therefore, earnings on a similar level of assets are not sufficieff nt to cover
current debt interest costs.

EQUITYTT PRICRR ECC RISK

Our equity securities portfolio is exposed to equity price risk arising from potential volatility in equity market prices. Portfolio
characteristics are analyzed regularly and price risk is actively managed through a variety of techniques. A hypotyy het tical increase or
decrease of 10% in the market price of our equity securities would have resulted in an increase or decrease in the fair value of the
equity securities portfolff io of approximately $58 million at Decembem r 31, 2019 and $46 million at December 31, 2018, which amounts,
after taxes, would be reported in net income.

OTHER ITEMS

Net income also included the following items:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(in millions)( )

2019
Commercial

Lines
Personal
Lines Other

Discontinued
Operations Total

Net realized and unrealized investment gains $ 75.0 $ 33.4 $ 1.0 $ —— $ 109.4
Other non-operating items (1.3) (1.2) (0.9) —— (3.4)
Discontinued operations - Chaucer business, including gain
on sale, net of taxes —— —— —— 0.4 0.4

Discontinued lifeff businesses, net of taxes —— —— —— (4.3) (4.3)

2018
Net realized and unrealized investment losses $ (35.5) $ (13.6) $ (1.6) $ —— $ (50.7)
Net loss from repayment of debt (18.7) (7.6) (1.9) —— (28.2)
Discontinued operations - Chaucer business, including gain
on sale, net of taxes —— —— —— 151.9 151.9

Discontinued lifeff businesses, net of taxes —— —— —— 0.1 0.1

2017
Net realized investment gains (losses) $ 17.7 $ 8.4 $ (5.0) $ —— $ 21.1
Other non-operating items (5.6) (4.6) (0.1) —— (10.3)
Discontinued operations - Chaucer business, including gain
on sale, net of taxes —— —— —— (13.1) (13.1)

Discontinued lifeff businesses, net of taxes —— —— —— (16.8) (16.8)

We manage investment assets for our Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other segments based on the requirements of our
combined property and casualty companies.mm We allocate the investment income, expenses and realized gains and losses to our
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Othert segments based on actuarial information related to the underlying businesses. We
managed investment assets separately for our former Chaucer business.

Net realized and unrealized gains on investments were $109.4 million for 2019, compared to $50.7 million of net realized and
unrealized losses for 2018 and $21.1 million of net realized gains for 2017. Net realized and unrealized gains in 2019 were primarily
due to $106.5 million of appreciation in the fair value of our equity securities. Net realized and unrealized losses in 2018 were
primarily due to $43.4 million of losses from the net change in fair value of equity securities that are required to be reflected in net
income beginning in 2018, due to the implm ementation of ASU 2016-01 effectff ive January 1, 2018. (See also Item O. “New Accounting
Pronouncements” in Note 1 – “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.) The
change in the fair value of equiq ty securities in both 2019 and 2018 resulted from prevailing market conditions. Additionally, in 2018
we recognized $4.6 million of OTTI losses and $2.7 million of losses recognized from the sale of securities, primarily fixed maturities.
Net realized gains in 2017 were primarily due to $26.6 million of gains recognized from the sale of securities, primarily equities, and
to a lesser extent, fixff ed maturities. These gains were partially offsff et by $5.6 million of OTTI losses.

57

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



At Decemberm 31, 2018, we had informed the FHLB of our intent to repay a $125 million FHLB note due 2029 with a coupu on of 5.5%,
with settlement occurrir ng on January 2, 2019. In the fourth quarter of 2018, we recorded a non-operating charge of $20.8 million
after-taxes related to the pre-payment provision. Additionally, in 2018 we repurchased subou rdinated debentures with a net carryinrr g
value of $9.6 million at a cost of $11.5 million, resulting in a loss of $1.9 million.

Included in “other non-operating items” above in 2017 were $10.2 million of emplm oyee termination costs associated with a company-
wide expense savings initiative.

Discontinued operations include our discontinued accident and health and life businesses as well as our former Chaucer operations. In
2019, discontinued operations, in total, generated a net loss of $3.9 million, net of tax, primarily related to the long-term care pool in
our discontinued accident and health business. In 2018, discontinued operations, in total, generated a gain of $152.0 million, net of
tax, primarily related to the sale of the Chaucer business. In 2017, discontinued operations, in total, generated a loss of $29.9 million,
net of tax, primarily related to the long-term care pool in our discontinued accident and health business and, to a lesser extent, the
Chaucer business. See also “Discontinued Operations – Chaucer Business” below and Note 2 – “Discontinued Operations” in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS - CHAUCER BUSINESS

Gain on Sale of Chaucer Businessf

On Decemberm 28, 2018, we completed the sale of Chauca er Holdings Limited to China Re and recognized a pre-tax gain on the sale of
$174.4 million and an income tax expense of $42.5 million. THG paid customary transaction costs along with providing certain
representations and warranties and agreeing to indemnify China Re for certain pre-sale contingent liabilities.

The following tabla e summarizes the components of the estimated gain in 2018 related to the sale of the Chaucer business as of
Decemberm 28, 2018. As discussed below the table, both the pre-tax gain and income tax expense were updated in 2019.
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2018
(in millions)
Initial consideration received from sale (1) $ 779.0
Adjustmd ent(1) (17.0)
Contingent proceeds (1) (2) 31.7
Total cash proceeds expected from sale of Chaucer Holdings Limited (1) 793.7
Less:

Carrying value of Chaucer business (3) 530.0
Transaction and other sale related costs (4) 30.6
Net realized losses on securities, pension and currenr cy translation obligations related to Chaucer business (5) 58.7

Total pre-tax reductions 619.3
Pre-tax gain on sale 174.4

Income tax expense (6) 42.5
Gain on sale $ 131.9

(1) Initial consideration for Chaucer Holdings Limited as determined in the sales and purchase agreement was $779 million. This
amount, along with $28 million in cash proceeds received from the sale of the Irish entity on Februaryrr 14, 2019 and $13 million
from the sale of the Australian entities on April 10, 2019, estimated contingent consideration of $31.7 million, and an
$85 million pre-signing dividend from Chaucer that was received in the second quarter of 2018, results in expected total
proceeds from the entire transaction of $936.7 million. These amounts were partially offsetff by $17.0 million paid to China Re
to adjud st the purchase price for amounts received by the Company from Chaucer prior to December 28, 2018.

(2) Contingent proceeds, as reflected in the sales and purchase agreement, may be up to $45 million and is determined based upon
2018 catastrophe losses. In 2018, our best estimate of contingent consideration was $31.7 million.

(3) The carrying value of the Chaucer business reflects its U.S. GAAP book value at Decembem r 28, 2018, excluding $7.9 million of
U.S.-related deferred tax assets that are no longer likely to be realized and therefore are reflected in the income tax expense
category.

(4) Transaction and othert sale related costs primarily include brokerage, legal, actuarial, tax and other professional fees, employmm ee
retention costs, costs for the purchase of aggregate excess of loss catastrophe coverage in consideration of the contingent
proceeds provision, along with certain other miscellaneous charges related to the execution of the transaction.

(5) As part of the transaction, investments held by Chaucer were transferrerr d to China Re resulting in the recognition of net realized
investment losses that were previously reflected in accumulm ated other comprehmm ensive income. Additionally, Chaucer’s deferred
pension obligations and currency translation obligations previously recognized in accumulm ated other comprehensive income
were recognized as losses associated with the transaction.

(6) The income tax expense represents the current tax obligation on the sale and the derecognition of deferred tax assets that are no
longer likely to be realized.
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Included in the previously recorded $174.4 million gain was $31.7 million of contingent proceeds, which were subject to change,
based on development of Chaucer’s 2018 catastrophe losses. During the first half of 2019, Chaucer experienced unfavorable
development on its 2018 catastrophe losses, primarily due to higher than expected losses for hurrr icane Michael, Typhoon Jebi and a
Colombian dam construction loss. Accordingly, we updated and reduced our best estimate of pre-tax contingent proceeds by $9.7
million. We received a cash payment of $22.0 million in final settlement of the contingent proceeds.

In addition, we recognized an income tax charge of $1.2 million in 2019 related to new tax regulations that were issued on June 14,
2019 by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, with an effeff ctive date retroactive to January 1, 2018. These new regulations
retroactively changed the taxation of certain non-U.S. income. Although the impam ct of these regulations relates to the calculation of
the income tax expense related to the sale of Chaucer, unlike the $42.5 million of income tax expense, noted above, that was reflected
in discontinued operations, ASC 740, Income Taxes, prescribes that the effect of certain retroactive tax law changes be presented in
continuing operations. Accordingly, we have presented this charge as a separate component of our non-operating items from
continuing operations. (See also “Income Taxes” below). Additionally, in the third quarter of 2019, we recognized $3.4 million of tax
benefits related to prior years.

On Februar ry 14, 2019, we complmm eted the sale of our Chaucer-related Irish entity and on April 10, 2019, we finalized the sale of the
Australiantt entities, completing the transfer of all Chaucer-related companies. Collectively, these entities constituted the Chaucer
business in 2018 and prior, whereas just the Irish and Australian entities comprised the Chaucer business reported in our results in
2019, until their respective sales to China Re. The sale of the Irish entity provided total proceeds of $28 million and resulted in a pre-
tax gain of $0.4 million, with a related income tax benefit of $0.5 million. The sale of the Australian entities for total proceeds of $13
million resulted in a pre-tax gain of $1.2 million and a related income tax expense of $0.1 million.

Income from Operations of Chaucer Business

The following table summarizes the results of operations for Chaucer for the periods indicated:
(inii millll ioll ns)s( ) 2018 (1) 2017
Revenues

Net premiums earned $ 850.0 $ 853.0
Net investment income 54.9 52.0
Other income 7.5 6.7

912.4 911.7
Losses and operating expenses

Losses and LAE 515.5 549.5
Amortization of deferff red acquisition costs 252.5 245.9
Other expenses 115.0 109.2

883.0 904.6
Income from Chaucer business before income taxes and other items
(previously presented as Chaucer's operating income) 29.4 7.1

Other items:
Interest expense (3.8) (3.3)
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) (1.3) 2.6
Other income 0.4 2.2

Income from Chaucer business before income taxes $ 24.7 $ 8.6

Loss and LAE ratio:
Current accident year, excluding catastrophe losses 54.8 % 53.0 %
Prior accident year reserve development, excluding catastrophe losses (4.3) % (4.0) %
Current accident year catastrophe losses 12.1 % 18.2 %
Prior accident year favorabla e catastrophe loss development (2.0) % (2.8) %

Total loss and LAE ratio 60.6 % 64.4 %
Expense ratio 42.5 % 40.9 %
Combim ned ratio 103.1 % 105.3 %

(1) 2018 reflects the results of operations for the period in which we owned Chaucer, which concluded with the sale of the Chaucer
business on December 28, 2018.
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Twelve monthstt ended December 31, 2019

Revenues from the portion of the Chaucer business remaining after the sale of the U.K. entities in 2018 was $6.7 million during the
year ended December 31, 2019. Pre-tax operating losses in this business totaled $0.5 million during the same period, whereas this
business provided afterff -tax income of $1.6 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2019. Income from the Chaucer business in the
year ended December 31, 2019 included a $2.0 million benefit related to a decrease in an uncertain tax position due to the expiration
of the statute of limitations.

2018 Compared to 2017

Chaucer’s net premiums earned were $850.0 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2018, compam red to $853.0 million for the year
ended Decemberm 31, 2017, a decrease of $3.0 million, or 0.4%. This was primarily due to a planned increase in the use of ceded
reinsurance, as a result of current market conditions, partially offsff et by new business growth in the casualtyt line.

Chaucer’s income before income taxes for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2018 was $24.7 million, compam red to $8.6 million for the
year ended Decemberm 31, 2017, an improm vement of $16.1 million. This increase is primarily due to lower catastrophe losses.
Catastrophe losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $85.8 million, compared to $131.1 million for the year ended
Decemberm 31, 2017, a decrease of $45.3 million. Chaucer’s income before taxes, excluding catastrophes, was $110.5 million in the
year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $139.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This $29.2 million decline was
primarily due to higher non-catastrophe current accident year large losses and higher expenses, primarily driven by higher brokerage
costs due to a change in business mix

INCOME TAXES

We are subjeu ct to the tax laws and regulations of the U.S. and foreign countries in which we operate. We file a consolidated U.S.
federal income tax returtt nrr that includes our holding company and its U.S. subsidiaries. Generally, taxes are accrued at the U.S.
statutt ory tax rate for income from the U.S. operations. In December 2017, the U.S. statutt ory rate decreased from 35% to 21%,
effective January 1, 2018. Our primary non-U.S. jurisdiction was the U.K., until the sale of our Chaucer business, completed on April
10, 2019, with the final sale of the Australian entities. The U.K. statutory tax rate was 19% during the period 2017 through 2018. We
accrue taxes on certain non-U.S. income that is subject to U.S. tax at the enacted U.S. tax rate. Foreign tax credits, where availabla e, are
utilized to offsetff U.S. tax as permitted.

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations was an expense of $93.1 million, $43.5 million, and $76.8 million in 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts resulted in consolidated effectff ive tax rates of 17.8%, 15.4% and 26.2% on pre-tax income
for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The provisions in 2019, 2018, and 2017 reflect benefits related to tax planning stratt tegies
implm emented in prior years of $14.8 million, $9.2 million, and $12.7 million, respectively. The provisions in 2019, 2018 and 2017 also
included excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation of $3.0 million, $2.3 million and $5.3 million, respectively. The
provision for 2019 includes a charge of $1.2 million, which relates to the aforementioned changes in the tax law related to the 2018
sale of Chaucer. The provision for 2018 reflects a tax benefit related to prior years of $4.3 million primarily resulting from a $40.0
million contribution to our U.S. pension plan made in Septemberm 2018 and reflected as a deductdd ion in our 2017 U.S. income tax return
at the then higher statutt ory tax rate. Lastly, the provision for the 2017 tax year furthet r reflects a tax benefit of $3.9 million related to
the revaluation of our net deferred tax liabilita ies as a result of the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”, “U.S. Tax
Reformff ” or “thet Act”). See the discussion of the new tax law, “U.S. Tax Reform”, below. Absent these items, the provision for
income taxes for 2019, 2018 and 2017 would have been expenses of $109.7 million, $59.3 million and $98.7 million, respectively, or
21.0% for 2019 and 2018 and 33.7% for 2017. The lower effeff ctive tax rate in 2019 and 2018 is primarily due to the aforemff entioned
2018 decrease in the U.S. statutory rate.

The income tax provision on operating income was an expense of $84.5 million, $69.3 million and $89.5 million for 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively. These provisions resulted in effectff ive tax rates for operating income of 20.3%, 19.2% and 31.7% in 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively. The provisions for 2019, 2018 and 2017 reflect the aforff ementioned excess tax benefits related to stock-based
compensation. In addition, the 2018 provision included the aforementioned tax benefit related to prior years of $4.3 million. Absent
these items, the provision for income taxes for 2019, 2018 and 2017 would have been expenses of $87.5 million, $75.9 million and
$94.8 million, or 21.0% for 2019 and 2018 and 33.6% for 2017.

The income tax provision on our former Chaucer business was an expense of $4.7 million and $21.7 million for 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The provision for 2017 reflects a one-time expense of $26.2 million related to the enactmet nt of the TCJA. This expense
included a revaluation of our net deferred tax assets and the recognition of federal income tax on previously untaxed earnings from
foreign operations of $13.5 million and $12.7 million, respectively. Absent these items, the provision for income tax for 2017 would
have been a benefitff of $4.5 million.

The 2018 income tax provision on the gain from the disposal of Chaucer business was an expense of $42.5 million. This provision
includes a write off of $8.0 million of deferred tax assets primarily attributable to Lloyd’s underwriting losses.

60

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



During 2019, we recorded a decrease in our uncertainrr tax position of $2.0 million due to the expiration of a statute of limitations. The
release of uncertain tax position was recorded as a benefit in the Chaucer discontinued business. During 2017, we recorded an increase
to our uncertain tax positions of $0.9 million related to the recognition of federal income taxes on previously untaxed earnings from
foreign operations. This amount is partially offsetff by a decrease in our uncertain tax positions of $0.6 million due to the expiration of a
statutt e of limitation, for a net change of $0.3 million. We are subjeu ct to U.S. federal and state examinations and foreign examinations
for years after 2015. There are no ongoing audits on our open tax years.

In prior years, we completed several transactions which resulted in the realization, for tax purposes only, of unrealized gains in our
investment portfolff io. As a result of these transactions, we were able to realize capital losses carried forward and release the valuation
allowance recorded against the deferredr tax asset related to those losses. The releases of valuation allowances were recorded as a
benefit in accumulmm ated othert comprehensive income. Previously unrealized benefitsff of $14.8 million, $9.2 million and $12.7 million
attributable to non-operating income, are recognized as part of our income from continuing operations during 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The remaining amount of $20.8 million in accumulm ated othert comprehensive income will be released into income from
continuing operations in future years, as the investment securities subjectu to these transactions are sold or mature.

U.S. TAX REFORMFF

On Decemberm 22, 2017, the TCJA was enacted in the U.S. The Act substantially changed many aspects of the U.S. Tax Code,
including reducing the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. While the new corporate rate was effeff ctive on January 1,
2018, we recognized the impactm of the rate change on our deferred tax balances as of the enactment date. The effect of this re-
measurement of our deferff red tax balances is a provision of $9.4 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2017. This provision is
recorded as a componem nt of income tax expense in continuing operations and within discontinued operations as a component of
income from Chaucer business. A tax benefit of $4.1 million was recognized in continuing operations and an expense of $13.5 million
was recognized in discontinued operations. This amount includes the revaluation of deferred taxes initially recorded through othet r
comprem hensive income and recorded through discontinued operations, such as unrealized appreciation on investments, emplm oyee
benefit plan-related items, foreign currency translation adjud stments and reserve adjud stments for discontinued business. Deferrrr ed taxes
related to the revaluation of our pension plans at Decemberm 31, 2017, as well as changes in unrealized gains and losses occurring after
the Act’s enactmentt date, are recorded at 21% in other comprehensive income.

The Act also created a territorial tax system, which will generally allow companies to repatriate futurtt e non-U.S. sourced earnings
without incurring additional U.S. taxes, by providing a 100% exemption on dividends received froff m certain non-U.S. subsiu diaries.
Although most of our non-U.S. income had been previously subju ect to U.S. taxes, a portion of our non-U.S. income had been
indefinitely reinvested overseas and was not subju ect to U.S. tax until repatriated. These non-U.S. earnirr ngs are now subject to a one-
time mandatory toll charge totaling $12.7 million, which is recorded within discontinued operations as a component of income tax
expense related to the Chaucer business for the year ended December 31, 2017.

In addition, the Act limited various existing deductions such as executive compensation and introduced new income taxes on certain
low-taxed non-U.S. income. Under the Act, the exemptm ion from the $1 million limitation on certain executive compensation has been
eliminated. As a result, we have recognized a provision of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The cumulm ative effecff t of the enactment of TCJA is an expense of $22.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, comprising the
aforementioned three components. Our estimates are not based upon provisional amounts, as defined in the SEC’s Staffff Accounting
Bulletin No. 118.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements.
These statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affecff t
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitia es and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actualtt results could differ from those estimates. The
following critical accounting estimates are those which we believe affecff t the more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our financial statements. Additional information about other significant accounting policies and estimates may be found
in Note 1—“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVE FOROO LOSSESEE ANDNN LOSS EXPENSESEE

See “Reserve for Losses and Loss Adjud stment Expenses” within “Results of Operations – Segments” for a discussion of our critical
accounting estimates for loss reserves.

REINSUNN RANCUU ECC RECOVERABLE BALANCENN SEE

See “Reinsurance Recoverables”a in Part I – Item 1 for information on our reinsurance recoverabla e balances.
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PENSIONSS BENEFITNN OBLIGATIBB ONSII

We currently have a qualifieff d defined benefit plan and several smaller non–qualifiedff benefit plans. Additionally, we held a defined
benefit pension plan for our international subsidiary, Chaucer, until its sale on December 28, 2018. Accordingly, this discussion
focuses on our domestic plans only. In order to measure the liabia lities and expense associated with these plans, we must make various
estimates and key assumptions, including discount rates used to value liabilities, assumed rates of return on plan assets, emplmm oyee
turnover rates and anticipated mortality rates. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed at least annually and are based on our
historical experience, as well as current facts and circumstances. In addition, we use outside actuaritt es to assist in measuring the
expenses and liabilities associated with our definff ed benefit pension plan.

Two significant assumptm ions used in the determination of benefiff t plan obligations and expenses that are dependent on market factors,
which have been subject to a greater level of volatility in recent years, are the discount rate and the returtt n on plan asset assumptm ions.
The discount rate enabla es us to state expected futurtt e benefit payments as a present value on the measurement date. We also use this
discount rate in the determination of our pre-tax pension expense or benefit. A lower discount rate increases the present value of
benefitff obligations and increases pension expense. We determined our discount rate for the domestic plan utilizing independent yield
curves which provide for a portfolio of high quality bonds that are expected to match the cash flows of our pension plans. Bond
information used in the yield curverr included only those rated Aa or better as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and had
been rated by at least two well-known rating agencies. The discount rates used to value liabilities in our qualifieff d pension plans were
3.75% and 4.50% as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

To determine the expected long-term returnr on plan assets, we generally consider historical mean returnsr by asset class for passive
indexed strategies, as well as current and expected asset allocations, and adjud st for certain factors that we believe will have an impam ct
on future returtt nsrr . Actual returt ns on plan assets in any given year seldom result in the achievement of the expected rate of return on
assets. Actual retut rns on plan assets in excess of these expected returns will generally reduce our net actuarial losses (or increase
actuarial gains) that are reflected in the accumulm ated othert comprehensive income balance in shareholders’ equity, whereas actual
returt nsr on plan assets that are less than expected returns will generally increase our net actuarial losses (or decrease actuariaaa l gains)
that are reflected in accumulated othert comprehensive income. These gains or losses are amortized into expense in futurtt e years. In
2019, we changed our asset allocation for our U.S. qualifiedff plan from approximately 85% fixed maturt ities and 15% equities to
approximately 90% fixed maturities and 10% equities.

The expected returt nrr on asset assumptm ion was 5.50% and 4.75% in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Asset returnsr are reflected net of
administrative expenses.

Net actuarial gains related to the domestic qualified plan of $20.5 million and losses of $19.9 million were reflected as changes to
accumulm ated other comprmm ehensive income in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Net actuarial gains in 2019 resulted from net investment
gains during the year, as well as favorabla e mortality experience, partially offsff et by the aforff ementioned decrease in the discount rate.
Net actuat rial losses in 2018 resulted primarily from investment losses experienced during the year, partially offsff et by increases in the
discount rate. In 2019 and 2018, amortization of actuarit al losses from prior years was $11.1 million and $8.6 million, respectively.

Expenses related to our defined benefit plan are generally calculated based upon information availablea at the beginning of the plan
year. Our pre-tax expense related to our domestic qualifiedff defined benefit plan was $7.6 million and $6.5 million for 2019 and 2018,
respectively. As a result of favorabla e market returns in 2019, a $10.0 million contribution into the qualified benefit plan and favorabla e
mortality experience for which decreases in the discount rate only partially offsetff the favorabla e investment experience during the year,
our pension expense related to our domestic qualifiedff definff ed benefit plan is expected to decrease from $7.6 million in 2019 to $0.3
million in 2020.

Holding all other assumptions constant, sensitivity to changes in our key assumptm ions related to our qualified defined pension plan is
as follows:

(in millions)( )
Discount Rate -

25 basis point increase
Change in Benefitff Obligation $ (9.6)
Change in 2019 Expense (1.2)

25 basis point decrease
Change in Benefitff Obligation 10.0
Change in 2019 Expense 1.2

ExpeEE cted Returnrr on Plan Assets -
25 basis point increase

Change in 2019 Expense (1.2)
25 basis point decrease

Change in 2019 Expense 1.2
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DEFERFF RED TAXESAA

Deferred tax assets and liabilities primarily result from tempom rary differff ences between the amounts recorded in our consolidated
financial statements and the tax basis of our assets and liabia lities and loss and tax credit carryfr orff warr rds. These temporary differff ences
are measured at the balance sheet date using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years the temporam ry
differff ences are expected to reverse.

The realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the existence of sufficient taxablea income within the carrybacy k or carryforff warr rd
periods under the tax law in the applicable tax jurisdiction. Consideration is given to available positive and negative evidence,
including reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income in each tax jurisdiction, tax planning strategies and
recent financial operations. Valuation allowances are established if, based on the weight of available information, it is more likely than
not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The determination of the valuation allowance for ouru
deferred tax assets requires management to make certain judgments and assumptm ions. Our judgments and assumptmm ions are subject to
change given the inherent uncertainty in predicting future perforff mance and specific industry and investment market conditions.
Changes in valuation allowances are generally reflected in income tax expense or as an adjustment to other comprmm ehensive income,
depending on the nature of the item for which the valuation allowance is being recorded.

The following are the components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as of Decembem r 31, 2019.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) Amount
(in millions)( )

Loss, LAE and unearner d premium reserves, net $ 139.9
Emplm oyee benefitff plan 7.6
Deferred acquisition costs (98.1)
Investments, net (87.9)
Softwff are capitalization (21.0)
Other, net 7.7

Total $ (51.8)

As of Decemberm 31, 2019, we did not have a valuation allowance and believe it is more likely than not that the remaining deferred tax
assets will be realized.

STATUTORYRR SURPLUS OF INSURANCE SUBSIDIARIES

The following table reflects statutt ory surplr us for our insurance subsidiaries:

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Total Statutoryr Capital and Surplus $ 2,470.2 $ 2,172.5

The statutory capital and surplus for our insurance subsidiaries increased $297.7 million during 2019, primarily due to approximately
$340 million of income and approximately $92 million in unrealized gains on investments, net of tax, primarily offsff et by a $140
million dividend paid by Hanover Insurance to THG.

The NAIC prescribes an annual calculation regarding risk based capia tal (“RBC”). RBC ratios for regulatory purposes, as described in
the glossary, are expressed as a percentage of the capia tal required to be above the Authorized Controltt Level (the “Regulatory Scale”);
however, in the insurance industry, RBC ratios are widely expressed as a percentage of the Company Action Level. The following
table reflects the Company Action Level, the Authorized Control Level and RBC ratios for Hanover Insurance (which includes
Citizens and other insurance subsiu diaries), as of Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018, expressed botht on the Industrytt Scale (Total Adjud sted
Capital divided by the Company Action Level) and Regulatory Scale (Total Adjusted Capital divided by Autht orized Control Level):
(dollarsll in millioll ns)s( )

DECEMBER 31, 2019

Companym
Action
Level

Authott rizeii d
Contrott l
Level

RBC Ratio
Industry

Scale

RBC Ratiott
Regulatory

Scale
The Hanover Insurance Company $ 1,063.7 $ 531.8 231% 463%

CEMBER 31, 2018
The Hanover Insurance Company $ 1,036.8 $ 518.4 209% 417%
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to generate sufficienff t cash flows to meet the cash requirements of business operations. As a
holding company, our primary ongoing source of cash is dividends from our insurance subsidiaries. However, dividend payments to
us by our insurance subsidiaries are subju ect to limitations impom sed by regulators, such as prior notice periods and the requirement that
dividends in excess of a specifieff d percentage of statutt ory surplus or prior year’s statutory earnings receive prior approval (so called
“extraordinary dividends”). Hanover Insurance paid $140.0 million in dividends to the holding company in both 2019 and 2018. In
2017, Hanover Insurance paid $296.8 million in dividends to the holding company, which included $80.0 million of extraordinaryrr
dividends.

Sources of cash for our insurance subsidiu aries primarily consist of premiums collected, investment income and maturing investments.
Primary cash outflows are paid claims, loss reserves, policy and contract acquisition expenses, othet r underwriting expenses and
investment purchases. Cash outflowff s related to loss reserverr s can be variable because of uncertainties surrounding settlement dates for
liabilities for unpaid losses and because of the potential for large losses, either individually or in the aggregate. We periodically adjud st
our investment policy to respond to changes in short-term and long-term cash requirements.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $602.9 million during 2019, as compared to $551.3 million during 2018 and $704.6
million in 2017. During 2019, the $51.6 million increase in cash provided was primarily the result of an increase in premiums
collected, partially offsetff by higher loss payments. During 2018, the $153.3 million decrease in cash provided was primarily the resu tlt
of higher loss payments, the contribution made to the qualifieff d defined benefit plan and taxes paid, partially offsetff by an increase in
ppremiums collected.

Net cash used in investing activities was $311.9 million during 2019, as compared to net cash provided of $271.3 million during 2018
and $506.3 million used in 2017. During 2019, cash used in investing activities pprimarily related to net purchases of fixed maturities
and, to a lesser extent, equity securities and other investments. During 2018, cash provided by investing activities primarily related to
net proceeds received from the sale of Chaucer. These proceeds were partially offsetff by net purchases of fixed maturities, commercial
mortgage loan participations, and other investments. During 2017, cash used in investing activities primarily related to net purchases
of fixed maturities, commercial mortgage loan participations, and other investments.

Net cash used in financing activities was $1,099.3 million during 2019, as compared to $171.0 million during 2018 and $111.7 million
in 2017. During 2019, cash used in financing activities primarily resulted from repurchases of common stock through three accelerat ded
share repurchase (“ASR”) agreements, the payments of two special dividends in addition to regular quarterly dividends to
shareholders, and the repayment of the FHLB advances. (See further discussion below for additional information regarding the special
dividend, the ASR agreements and the repayment of the FHLB advancesa ). During 2018, cash used in financing activities primarily
resulted from the payment of dividends to shareholders and repurcu hases of common stock. During 2017, cash used in financing
activities primarily resulted from the payment of dividends to shareholders and repurchases of common stock, partially offsff et by cash
inflows related to option exercises.

Dividends to common shareholders are subjeu ct to quarterly board approval and declaration. During 2019, our Board declared
dividends that totaled $195.0 million. This included three quarterly dividends of $0.60 per share and one quarterly dividend of $0.65
per share, as well as a special dividend declared in December 2019 of $2.50 per share, or approximately $96 million. In addition to
these dividends, in January 2019, we also paid a special dividend of $4.75 per share, that had been declared on Decembem r 30, 2018,
totaling $192.6 million. We believe that our holding company assets are sufficff ient to provide for future shareholder dividends, should
the Board of Directors declare them.

At Decemberm 31, 2019, THG, as a holding company, held approximately $340.7 million of fixed maturities and cash. We believe our
holding company assets will be sufficiff ent to meet our current year obligations, which we expect to consist primarily of quarterly
dividends to our shareholders (as and to the extent declared), interest on our senior and subordinatedu debenturtt es, certain costs
associated with benefits due to our former life emplm oyees and agents, and, to the extent required, payments related to indemnim fication
of liabilities associated with the sale of various subsidiaries. As discussed below, we have, and opportunistically may continue to,
repurchase our common stock and debt. We do not expect that it will be necessaryrr to dividend additional funds from our insurance
subsidiaries in order to fund 2020 holding company obligations; however, we may decide to do so.

We expect to continue to generate sufficieff nt positive operating cash to meet all short-term and long-term cash requirements relating to
currentr operations, including the funding of our qualifieff d defined benefitff pension plan. During 2019, we contributed $10 million to our
qualifieff d defined benefit pension plan. We believe that this plan is essentially fully funded. The ultimate payment amounts for our
benefit plan is based on several assumptm ions, including but not limited to, the rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate for benefit
obligations, mortality experience, interest crediting rates, inflation and the ultimate valuation and determination of benefit obligations.
Since differences between actualtt plan experience and our assumptions are almost certain, changes, both positive and negative, to our
current funding statust and ultimately our obligations in futurtt e periods are likely.
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Our insurance subsidiaries maintain a high degree of liquidity within their respective investment portfolff ios in fixed maturity and short-
term investments. We believe that the quality of the assets we hold will allow us to realize the long-term economic value of our
portfolff io, including securities that are currently in an unrealized loss position. We do not anticipate the need to sell these securities to
meet our insurance subsiu diaries’ cash requirements since we expect our insurance subsidiaries to generate sufficienff t operating cash to
meet all short-term and long-term cash requirements relating to current operations. However, there can be no assurance that
unforeseen business needs or other items will not occur causing us to have to sell those securities in a loss position before their values
fully recover, thereby causa ing us to recognize impaimm rment charges in that time period.

The Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program which provides for aggregate repurchases of our common stock of up
to $900 million, including a $300 million increase to the program on Decemberm 5, 2019. Under the repurchase authorization, we may
repurchase, from time to time, common shares in amounts, at prices and at such times as we deem appropriate, subjectu to market
conditions and other considerations. Repurchases may be executed using open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions,
accelerated repurchase programs or other transactions. We are not required to purchase any specific numberm of shares or to make
purchases by any certain date under this program. On January 2, 2019, pursuant to the terms of an accelerated share repurchase
(“ASR”) agreement executed on December 30, 2018 (the “Decemberm 2018 ASR”), we paid $250.0 million in exchange for
approximately 2.1 million shares of our common stock. In accordance with its terms, this agreement terminated on June 28, 2019.
Also on June 28, 2019, pursuant to the terms of a second ASR agreement (the “June ASR”), we paid $150.0 million in exchange for
approximately 1.1 million shares of our common stock. In accordance with its terms, the June ASR terminated on October 28, 2019.
On Decemberm 9, 2019, pursuant to the terms of a third ASR agreement (the “Decembem r 2019 ASR”) we paid $150.0 million in
exchange for shares of our common stock. Under the terms of the Decemberm 2019 ASR, we received an initial delivery of
approximately 0.9 million shares of our common stock, which is appa roximately 80% of the total numbem r of shares expected to be
received under this agreement. Final settlement of the December 2019 ASR is expected to occur not later than March 25, 2020. During
2019, in total we repurchased approximately 4.2 million shares at a cost off $563.6 million.

From time to time, we may repurchase our debt on an opportunitt stic basis. On January 2, 2019, we repaid $125 million of our FHLB
advances that were due 2029 and had an interest rate of 5.5%, along with related prepayment feff es of $26 million which were
recognized as a non-operating charge in 2018. We maintain our membership in FHLB which provides us with access to additional
liquidity; the amount of such liquidity is based on our holdings of FHLB stock and pledged collateral. At Decemberm 31, 2019, we had
additional borrowing capacity of $86.7 million. There were no borrowings outstanding under this short-term facility at Decembem r 31,
2019; however, we have borrowed and may continue to borrow, from time to time, through this facility to provide short-term liquidity.

On April 30, 2019, we entered into a new credit agreement that provides for a five-year unsecured revolving credit facility not to
exceed $200.0 million at any one time outstanding, with the option to increase the facility up to $300.0 million, (assuming no default
and satisfaction of other specified conditions, including the receipt of additional lender commitments). The agreement also includes an
uncommitted subfacility of $50.0 million for standbyd letters of credit. Borrowings, if any, under this new agreement are unsecured and
incur interest at a rate per annum equal to, at our election, either (i) the greater of,ff (a) the prime commercial lending rate of the
administrative agent, (b) the NYFRB Rate plus half a percent, or (c) the one month Adjud sted LIBOR plus one percent and a margin
that ranges from 0.25% to 0.625% depending on our debt rating, or (ii) Adjud sted LIBOR for the applicable interest period, plus a
margin that ranges from 1.25% to 1.625% depending on our debt rating. The agreement also contains certain financial covenants such
as maintenance of specified levels of consolidated equity and leverage ratios, and requiq res that certain of our subsu idiaries maintain
minimumm RBC ratios. Concurrentr with our entry into this agreement, we voluntarily terminated our existing $200.0 million credit
agreement, dated Novembem r 12, 2013. We currently have no borrowings under the new agreement and had no borrowings under the
previous agreement during 2019. The LIBOR rate, upon which Adjud sted LIBOR is based, is expected to be discontinued by the end of
2021. Our credit agreement permits us to agree with the Administrative Agent for the credit facility on a replacement to Adjusd ted
LIBOR subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions.

At Decemberm 31, 2019, we were in complim ance with the covenants of our debt and credit agreements.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Financing obligations generally include repayment of our senior debenturt es, subordu inated debenturestt and lease payments. The
following table represents our annual payments related to the contractual principal and interest payments of these financing
obligations as of December 31, 2019, unless otherwise noted, and lease payments reflect expected cash payments based upon active
lease terms. It is expected that in the normal course of business, leases that expire will generally be renewed or replaced by leases on
similar propertytt and equipment. In addition, we also have included our estimated payments related to our loss and LAE obligations
and our currer nt expectation of payments to be made to suppu ort the obligations of our benefit plans. The following tabla e also includes
commitments to purchase investment securities at a future date. Actualt payments may differff from the contractualtt and/or estimated
payments in the table.

DECEMBER 31, 2019
Maturity less
than 1 year

Maturity
1-3 years

Maturity
4-5 years

Maturity in
excess of
5 years Total

(in millions)( )
Debt (1) $ —— $ —— $ —— $ 662.7 $ 662.7
Interest associated with debt (1) 36.9 73.8 73.8 354.0 538.5
Lease commitments (2) 15.1 20.4 8.2 1.0 44.7
Defined benefitff pension and post-retirement benefit
obligation (3) 4.0 7.6 6.8 14.2 32.6

Investment commitments (4) 83.0 90.0 35.0 —— 208.0
Loss and LAE obligations (5) 1,740.7 1,702.1 712.1 1,499.5 5,654.4

(1) Debt in the maturity in excess of 5 years category includes our senior debentures due in 2025, which pay annual interest at a rate
of 7.625%, our senior debenturest due in 2026, which pay annual interest at a rate of 4.50%, our suboru dinated debentures due in
2027, which pay cumulmm ative dividends at an annual rate of 8.207% and our subordinated debenturt es due in 2053, which pay
annual interest at a rate of 6.35%. Payments related to the principal amounts of these agreements represent contractuat l maturity;
thereforff e, principal and interest associated with these obligations are reflected in the above table based upon the contractutt al
maturity dates.

(2) Our subsiu diaries are lessees with a numberm of leases.
(3) Amounts represent non-qualifiedff defined benefit pension and postretirement benefitff obligations and reflect estimated payments

to be made through plan year 2029 for pension, postretirement, and postemplm oyment benefits, although it is likely that payments
will be made beyond 2029. Estimates of these payments and the payment patterns are based upon historical experience. We do
not expect to make any significanff t contributions to our qualifieff d plan in order to meet our minimumm funding requiq rements for
the next several years; thereforff e, no contributions for this plan are included in this scheduld e. However, additional contributions
may be requiq red in the future based on the level of pension assets and liabilities in future periods. The ultimate payment amount
for our pension plan is based on several assumptm ions, including, but not limited to, the rate of return on plan assets, the discount
rate for benefit obligations, mortality experience, interest crediting rates and the ultimate valuation of benefit obligations.
Differences between actual plan experience and our assumptions are likely and will likely result in changes to our funding
obligations in future periods.

(4) Investment commitments relate primarily to limited partnett rships.
(5) Unlike many other forms of contracttt ualt obligations, loss and LAE reserves do not have definitive due dates and the ultimate

payment dates are subju ect to a numberm of variables and uncertainties. As a result, the total loss and LAE reserverr payments to be
made by period, as shown in the table, are estimates based principally on historical experience.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We currently do not have any material off-ff balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have an effectff on our financial
position, revenues, expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

CONTINGENCIES AND REGULATORYMATTERS

Inforff mation regarding litigation and legal contingencies appea ars in Note 16 – “Commitments and Contingencies” in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. Information related to certain regulatoryr and industry developments are contained in “Regulation”
in Part I - Item 1 and in “Risk Factors” in Part I – Item 1A.
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RATING AGENCIES

Insurance companies are rated by rating agencies to provide bothtt industry participants and insurance consumers information on
specificff insurance companies. Higher ratings generally indicate the rating agencies’ opinion regarding financial stability and a stronger
ability to pay claims.

We believe that strong ratings are importm ant factors in marketing our products to our agents and customers, since rating information is
broadly disseminated and generally used throughout the industry. Insurance company financial strength ratings are assigned to an
insurer based upon factors deemed by the rating agencies to be relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward protection of
investors. Such ratings are neither a rating of securities nor a recommendation to buy, hold or sell any security. Customers typiy cally
focus on claims-paying ratings, while creditors focus on debt ratings. Investors use both to evaluate a company’s overall financaa ial
strength.

RISKS AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains “forff warr rd-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. For a discussion of indicators of forward-looking statements and specific importanm t factors that could causa e
actualt results to differff materially from those contained in forward-looking statements, see “Risk Factors” in Part I – Item 1A. This
Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read and interpreted in light of such factors.

GLOSSARY OF SELECTED INSURANCE TERMS

Account businessee - Customers with multiple policies and/or coverages.

Account rounding – The conversion of single policy customers to accounts with multiple policies and/or additional coverages.

Benefit payma ents – Payments made to an insured or their beneficiary in accordance with the terms of an insurance policy.

Casualty insurance – Insurance that is primarily concerned with the losses caused by injun ries to third persons and their property (other
than the policyholder) and the related legal liability of the insured for such losses.

Catastropho e – A severe loss, resulting from natural or manmade events, including, among others, hurricanes, tornadoes and other
windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter weather, fire, explosions, and terrorism.

Catastrott pheo loss – Loss and directly identifieff d loss adjud stment expenses from catastrophes, including development on prior years’
catastrophe loss reserves. The Insurance Services Officff e (“ISO”) Propertytt Claim Services (“PCS”) defines a catastrophe loss as an
event that causa es $25 million or more in insured property losses from U.S. direct writers and affecff ts a significant number of property
and casualtyt policyholders and insurers. In limited instances where the impam ct of an event extends across multiple geographic areas or
time periods, but is not within the specific parameters established by PCS, THG may determine that certain losses are better included
within the same catastrophe event. In addition to those catastrophe events declared by ISO, claims management also generally
includes within the definition of a “catastrophe loss”, a property loss event that causes approximately $5 million or more in Company
insured losses and affects in excess of one hundred policyholders.

Cede;dd cedent;t ceding companyn – When a party reinsures its liabia lity with anothet r party, it “cedes” business and is referred to as the
“cedent” or “ceding company”.

Credit spread – The difference between the yield on the debt securities of a particular corporate debt issue and the yield of a similar
maturity of U.S. Treasury debt securities.

Current accidendd t year results � A non-GAAP measure of the estimated earnings impam ct of current premiums offsetff by estimated loss
experience and expenses for the current accident year. This measure includes the estimated increase in revenue associated with higher
prices (premiums), including those caused by price inflation and changes in exposure, partially offsff et by higher volume driven
expenses and inflation of loss costs. Volume driven expenses include acquisition costs such as commissions paid to agents, which are
typically based on a percentage of premium dollars.

Earned premium – The portion of a premium that is recognized as income, or earna ed, based on the expired portion of the policy
period, that is, the period for which loss coverage has actualtt ly been provided. For examplm e, after six months, $50 of a $100 annual
premium is generally considered earned premium. The remaining $50 of annual premium is unearned premium. Net earned premium
is earned premium net of reinsurance.

Excess of loss reinsurance – Reinsurance that indemnifies the insured against all or a specific portion of losses under reinsured
policies in excess of a specifieff d dollar amount or “retention”.

Exposure � As it relates to underwriting, a measure of the rating units or premium basis of a risk; for example,mm an exposure of a
numberm of automobiles. As it relates to loss events, the maximummm value of claims made on an insurer from an event or events that
would result in the total exhaustion of the cover or indemnim ty offerff ed by an insurance policy.
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ExpEE osure management actions – Actions that focus on imprm oving underwriting profitability and/or lessening earnings volatility by
reducd ing our exposures and property concentrations in certain geographia es and lines that are believed to be more prone to catastrophe
and non-catastrophe losses. These actions include, but are not limited to, non-renewal, rate increases, stricter underwriting standards
and higher deductible utilization, agency management actions, and more selective portfolio management by modifying our business
mix.

FreFF quency – The numberm of claims occurrirr ng during a given coverage period.

Loss adjustmett nt expex nses (�LAE� �)� – Expenses incurrr ed in the adjusting, recording, and settlement of claims. These expenses include
botht internal company expenses and outside services. Allocated LAE (“ALAE”) refers to defense and cost containment expenses,
including legal fees, court costs, and investigation fees. Unallocated LAE (“ULAE”) refers to expenses that generally cannot be
associated with a specificff claim. ULAE includes internal costs such as salaries, fringe benefits and other overher ad costs associated
with the claim settlement process and external adjud stment and appraisal fees.

Loss costs – An amount of money paid for an insurance claim.

Loss reserves – Liabilities establa ished by insurers to reflect the estimated cost of claims payments and the related expenses that the
insurer will ultimately be required to pay in respect of insurance it has written. Reserves are established for losses and for LAE.

Lower (higher) expenseee se – Represents the period over period comparison of expenses relative to growth in earned premium. Volume
driven expenses typically fluctuatt e commensurate with changes in premium. Accordingly, as we grow premium, these expenses
increase from an absolute dollar perspective, but tend to stay proportionate compared to premium. Fixed expenses can remain
constant or increase or decrease irrespective of the growth or decline in premium. When describing expenses as being “lower” or
“higher” we are generally referff ring to changes in fixed costs relative to premium (fixed cost leverage). These “lower” or “higher”
expenses correspond to a lower or higher expense ratio.

Marine Insurance – In Commercial Lines, this is a type of coverage developed for insuring businesses against physical losses to
property such as contractor’s equipment, builder’s risk and goods in transit. It covers articles in transit by all forms of land and air
transportation as well as bridges, tunnels, ocean and other means of transportation and communicmm ation. In the context of Personal
Lines, this term relates to floater policies that cover expensive personal items such as fine art and jewelry.

Morbidity – Morbidity relates to the occurrence of illness, disability or other physical or psychological impaim rment, whether temporary
or permanent, for insured risks. Morbir dity is a key assumptm ion for long-term care insurance and other forms of individual and groupu
health benefits.

Partnett r agents;tt partnertt agencies; partnertt indepee ndendd t agents; agencyc partners; business partners – Independent agents (agencies)
are self-emplm oyed, commission-based businesses who generally represent, and sell insurance policies provided by, several insurance
companies. THG has appointed and developed mutually beneficial relationships with a limited numberm of independent agents who are
demonstrated experts in their field, growth-oriented and align with our stratt tegy. Although we may refer to those agencies as “partnett r
agents”, these are not legally binding “partnett rships”, but rather an opportuntt ity for botht the agent (agencies) and THG to work together
and achieve common goals.

Peril – A cause of loss.

Price(in(( g) increase or decrease (Commercial Lines) – Represents the average change in premium on renewed policies caused by the
estimated net effecff t of base rate changes, discretionary pricing, inflation or changes in policy level exposure or insured risk.

Price(ing) increase or decrease (Personal Lines) – The estimated cumulative premium effectff of approved rate actions applied to
policies available for renewal, regardless of whether or not policies are actually renewed. Pricing changes do not represent actual
increases or decreases realized by THG.

Property insurance – Insurance that provides coverage for tangible property in the event of loss, damage or loss of use.

Rate – The estimated pure pricing factor upon which the policyholder’s premium is based excluding changes in exposure or risk.

Ratios: (1)1

Catastrophe loss ratio –The ratio of catastrophe losses incurred to premiums earned.

Combined ratio – This ratio is the GAAP equivalent of the statutory ratio that is widely used as a benchmark for determining an
insurer’s underwriting performaff nce. A ratio below 100% generally indicates profitabff le underwriting prior to the consideration of
investment income. A combined ratio over 100% generally indicates unprofitable underwritinrr g prior to the consideration of
investment income. The combined ratio is the sum of the loss and loss adjud stment expense ratio and the expense ratio.

Expense Ratio – The ratio of underwrirr ting expenses (including the amortization of deferredrr acquiq sition costs), less premium
installment and other fee income and premium charge offsff , to premiums earned for a given period.

Loss and Loss adjudd stmett nt expensx e (�LA� E�)� ratio – The ratio of loss and loss adjud stment expenses to premiums earned for a
given period. The LAE ratio includes catastrophe losses and prior year reserve development.

Loss ratio – The ratio of losses (including catastrophe losses) to premiums earnedrr for a given period.
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Reinstatement premium – A pro-rata reinsurance premium that may be charged to us by our reinsurers. A reinstatement premium may
be contractualt ly requiq red to be charged for restoring an amount of reinsurance coverage reducd ed as the result of a reinsurance loss
payment that depletes or exhausts a reinsurance treaty or treatytt layer. For examplm e, in 2005, this premium was requiq red to ensure that
our property catastrophe occurrence treaty, which was exhausted by hurricane Katrina, was available again in the event of anothet r
large catastrophe loss in 2005. Reinsurance reinstatement premiums accrued by us are accounted for as a reduction in net premiums
earned rather than as an “expense”. For certain reinsurance treaties, a ceding commission adjustment is recorded commensurate with a
reinstatement premium accrual.rr A ceding commission is a fee paid by a reinsurance company to a direct writer to cover the costs of
issuing the policy and is recorded as a contra-expense.

Reinsurance – An arrangement in which an insurance company, or a reinsurance compam ny, known as the reinsurer, agrees to
indemnim fy another insurance or reinsurance company, known as the ceding company, against all or a portion of the insurance or
reinsurance risks underwritten by the ceding company under one or more policies. Reinsurance can provide a ceding company with
several benefits, including a reduction in net liabia lity on risks and catastrophe protection from large or multiple losses. Reinsurance
does not legally discharge the primary insurer from its liability with respect to its obligations to the insured.

Riskii based capia tal (�RBC� �)� – A method of measuring the minimummm amount of capia tal appropriate for an insurance company to
support its overall business operations in consideration of its size and risk profile. The RBC ratio for regulatoryr purposes is calculated
as total adjud sted capital divided by requiq red risk based capia tal. Total adjud sted capia tal for property and casualty companies is capita al
and surplus, adjud sted for the non-tabua lar reserve discount applicable to our assumed discontinued accident and health insurance
business. The Company Action Level is the first level at which regulatory involvement is specifiedff based upon the level of capital.

Regulators may take action for reasons other than triggering various RBC action levels. The various action levels are summarized as
follows:

• The Company Action Level, which equals 200% of the Authot rized Control Level, requires a company to prepare and
submit a RBC plan to the commissioner of the state of domicile. A RBC plan proposes actions which a companym may take
in order to bring statutt ory capia tal above the Compam ny Action Level. Afterff review, the commissioner will notify the
company if the plan is satisfactory.

• The Regulatory Action Level, which equals 150% of the Authot rized Control Level, requires the insurer to submu it to the
commissioner of the state of domicile an RBC plan, or if applicable, a revised RBC plan. After examination or analysis,
the commissioner will issue an order specifying corrective actions to be taken.

• The Authot rized Control Level authorizes the commissioner of the state of domicile to take whatever regulatoryrr actions are
considered necessary to protect the best interest of the policyholders and creditors of the insurer.

• The Mandatory Controltt Level, which equals 70% of the Authot rized Control Level, authorizes the commissioner of the
state of domicile to take actions necessary to place the company under regulatory control (i.e., rehabilitation or
liquidation).

Securities Lending – We have, from time to time, engaged our banking provider to lend securities from our investment portfolff io to
third parties. These lent securities are fully collateralized by cash. When securities are lent, we monitor the fair value of the securities
on a daily basis to assure that the collateral is maintained at a level of at least 102% of the fair value of the loaned securities. We
record securities lending collateral as a cash equivalent, with an offsetting liability in expenses and taxes payable.

SeveritSS ytt – A monetaryrr increase in the loss costs associated with the same or similar type of event or coverage.

Social Infln ation – A term used to explain rising insurance claim payouts due to various factors associated with a more costly legal
environment, such as increased litigation frequency, expanded theories of liability and higher jury awards. Higher than the expected
litigation payouts to plaintiffs due to these and other factors, may then give rise to the initiation of additional lawsuits seeking
similarly elevated awards and increasing settlement costs, which can compound the effeff ct.

Specialty Lines – A majora component of our othert commercial lines. There is no accepted industry definition of “specialty lines”, but
for our purpose specialty lines consist of producd ts such as marine, surety, specialty industrit al property, profesff sional liability,
management liability and various othet r program businesses. When discussing net premiums written and othet r financial measures of
our specialty businesses, we may include non-specialty premiums that are written as part of the entire account.

Statutory accounting practices – Recording transactions and preparing financial statements in accordance with the rules and
procedures prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities including the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners, which in general reflect a liquidating, rather than going concern, concept of accounting.

Underwriting – The process of selecting risks for insurance and determining in what amounts and on what terms the insurance
compamm ny will accept risks.

Underwritingdd expenses – Expenses incurred in connection with the acquiq sition, pricing and administration of a policy or contractt , and
other insurance compam ny expenses unrelated to claims handling or investments.
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Unearnerr d premiums – The portion of a premium representing the unexpired amount of the contracttt term as of a certain date.

Written premium – The premium assessed for the entire coverage period of an insurance policy or contrat ct without regard to how
much of the premium has been earned. See also “Earned premium” above. Net premium written is written premium net of reinsurance.
(1) Ratios may not be comparabla e to similarly titled measures of other companies.

ITEM 7A–QAA UANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUTMARKET RISK

Reference is made to “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
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ITEM 8 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.:

Opinionii s on the Financial Statementstt and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompam nying consolidated balance sheets of The Hanover Insurance Group,u Inc. and its subsidiaries (thet
“Company”)m as of Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of
shareholders' equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, including the related notes
and scheduld es of condensed financial information of the registrant, of supplementaryr insurance information, and of supplemental
information concernirr ng property and casualty insurance operations as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2019, schedule of valuation and qualifyiff ng accounts for each of the three years in the period ended
Decemberm 31, 2019, and schedule of summary of investments – other than investments in related parties as of December 31, 2019
listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have
audited the Company's internar l control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria establa ished in Internal
Contrott l - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Compamm ny as of Decembem r 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended Decembm er 31, 2019 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting as of Decemberm 31,
2019, based on criteria establa ished in Internal Contrott l - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectff iveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal controltt over financial reporting based on our audits. We
are a publu ic accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are
requiq red to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicabla e rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perforff m the audits
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud,a and whether effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whethet r due to errorr r or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectivff eness of internal controlt based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such othet r procedures as we considered necessaryrr in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e
basis for our opinions.

Definitiii on and Limitattt iott ns of Internatt l Contrott l over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A companmm y’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonablea detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
compamm ny; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordanca e with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorit zations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectff iveness to future periods are subju ect to the risk that controls may become inadequaq te because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedured s may deteriorate.
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Criticaii l Auditdd MatMM tertt srr

The critical audit matter communimm cated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communim cated or required to be communicam ted to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjectu ive, or complmm ex judgments. The
communim cation of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or
on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of loss and loss adjustmett nt expee ense reserves

As described in Notes 1 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, loss and loss adjustmd ent expense reserves were $5.7 billion as
of Decemberm 31, 2019. These liabilita ies are determined using case basis evaluations and statistical analyses of historical loss patterns
and represent estimates of the ultimate cost of all losses incurred but not paid. The loss reserve estimation process relies on the basic
assumptmm ion that past experience, adjud sted for the effectsff of current developments and likely trends, is an appropriate basis for
management to predict futurtt e outcomes. As part of this process, management uses a variety of analytical methods that consider
experience, trends and other relevant factors, as well as considers numerous quantitative and qualitative factors, including the maturity
of the accident year, the level of volatility within a particular class of business, the sufficiency or quality of historical reported and
paid loss and loss adjud stment expenses information, legal and regulatory developments and changes in underwriting, claim handling
and case reserving practices. The Company’s ultimate incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) reserves are estimated by management and
reserving actuatt ries on an aggregate basis for each line of business or coverage for loss and loss expense liabia lities not reflected within
the case reserves.

The principal considerations for our determination that perforff ming procedures relating to the valuation of loss and loss adjud stment
expense reserves is a critical audit matter are there was significant judgment by management when developing their estimate. This in
turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment, subju ectivity and effoff rt in performff ing procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating
to the various analytical methods and factors used by management in developing the estimate, such as historical loss patterns and other
relevant quantitative and qualitative factors, which included the maturity of the accident year, the level of volatility within a particular
class of business, and the suffiff ciency or quality of historical reported and paid loss and loss adjud stment expenses information. Also,
our audit effoff rt included the involvement of profesff sionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing procedures and
evaluating the audit evidence obtained from these procedurdd es.

Addressing the matter involved perforff ming procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effeff ctiveness of controltt s relating to the Company’s
valuation of loss and loss adjud stment expense reserves, including controls over the analytical methods applied and development of
qualitative and quantitative factors. These procedured s also included, among otherst , the involvement of professionals with specialized
skill and knowledge to assist in either (i) developing an independent estimate of the reserves using historical loss patterns, and other
relevant quantitative and qualitative factors, which included the maturity of the accident year, the level of volatility within a particular
class of business, and the sufficienff cy or quality of historical reported and paid loss and loss adjud stmet nt expenses information, for
reserves by line of business or coverage on a test basis, and comparison of this independent estimate to management’s actuarially
determined reserves; or (ii) on a test basis for reserves by line of business or coverage, evaluating the appropriateness of
management’s analytical methods and reasonabla eness of factors for determining the reserve balances. Developing the independent
estimate also involved testing the completeness and accuracy of data provided by management.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, MA
February 24, 2020

We have serverr d as the Company’s auditor since 1991.
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions, except per share data)( , p p )
Revenues

Premiums $ 4,474.5 $ 4,254.4 $ 3,980.4
Net investment income 281.3 267.4 243.9
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses):

Net realized gains (losses) from sales and othert 4.9 (2.7) 26.7
Net change in fair value of equity securities 106.5 (43.4) ——
Net othert –trr han–temporaryrr impam irment losses on investments
recognized in earnings (2.0) (4.6) (5.6)

Total net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 109.4 (50.7) 21.1
Fees and othert income 25.5 23.2 22.5

Total revenues 4,890.7 4,494.3 4,267.9
Losses and expenses

Losses and loss adjud stment expenses 2,865.5 2,724.6 2,579.6
Amortization of deferff red acquisition costs 926.7 891.8 840.7
Interest expense 37.5 45.1 45.2
Loss on repayment of debt —— 28.2 ——
Other operating expenses 538.9 522.1 509.5

Total losses and expenses 4,368.6 4,211.8 3,975.0
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 522.1 282.5 292.9
Income tax expense (benefit):

Current 80.5 46.2 3.1
Deferred 12.6 (2.7) 73.7

Total income tax expense 93.1 43.5 76.8
Income from continuing operations 429.0 239.0 216.1
Discontinued operations:

Sale of Chauca er business, net of taxes (1.2) 131.9 ——
Income (loss) from Chaucer business, net of taxes 1.6 20.0 (13.1)
Income (loss) from discontinued life businesses, net of taxes (4.3) 0.1 (16.8)

Net income $ 425.1 $ 391.0 $ 186.2
Earnings per common share:
Basic:

Income from continuing operations $ 10.72 $ 5.63 $ 5.08
Discontinued operations:

Sale of Chauca er business, net of taxes (0.03) 3.11 ——
Income (loss) from Chaucer business, net of taxes 0.04 0.47 (0.30)
Income (loss) from discontinued life businesses, net of taxes (0.11) —— (0.40)

Net income per share $ 10.62 $ 9.21 $ 4.38
Weighted average shares outstanding 40.0 42.4 42.5

Diluted:
Income from continuing operations $ 10.56 $ 5.56 $ 5.03
Discontinued operations:

Sale of Chauca er business, net of taxes (0.03) 3.07 ——
Income (loss) from Chaucer business, net of taxes 0.04 0.46 (0.30)
Income (loss) from discontinued life businesses, net of taxes (0.11) —— (0.40)

Net income per share $ 10.46 $ 9.09 $ 4.33
Weighted average shares outstanding 40.6 43.0 43.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Net income $ 425.1 $ 391.0 $ 186.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Available-forff -sale securities:
Net appreciation (depreciation) during the period 238.8 (170.1) 13.4
Change in other-than-tempormm ary impaimm rment losses recognized in
other comprehensive income 2.8 —— 6.0

Amount realized with sale of Chaucer business 0.1 19.1 ——
Total available-forff -sale securities 241.7 (151.0) 19.4
Pension and postretirement benefits:

Net actuarial gains (losses) and prior service costs arising in the period 16.2 (17.0) 13.6
Amortization recognized as net periodic benefit and postrett irement cost 9.0 7.7 9.4
Amount realized with sale of Chaucer business —— 16.4 ——

Total pension and postretirement benefits 25.2 7.1 23.0
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment:

Amount recognized as cumulative foreign currency translation duriu ng
the period —— (1.7) 2.4

Amount realized with sale of Chaucer business 0.7 23.2 ——
Total cumulative foreign currency translation adjud stment 0.7 21.5 2.4

Total othet r comprm ehensive income (loss), net of tax 267.6 (122.4) 44.8
Comprehensive income $ 692.7 $ 268.6 $ 231.0

The accompanm ying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(inii millioll ns, except share data)a( , p )
Assets

Investments:
Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost of $6,452.2 and $6,245.9) $ 6,687.1 $ 6,161.5
Equity securities, at fair value 575.7 464.4
Other investments 733.2 661.5

Total investments 7,996.0 7,287.4
Cash and cash equivalents 215.7 1,020.7
Accruerr d investment income 53.0 53.2
Premiums and accounts receivable, net 1,260.4 1,176.7
Reinsurance recoverabla e on paid and unpaid losses and unearned premiums 1,814.0 1,648.6
Deferred acquisition costs 467.4 450.8
Deferred income tax asset —— 50.6
Goodwill 178.8 178.8
Other assets 402.4 371.6
Assets held-for-salff e —— 57.4
Assets of discontinued businesses 102.8 103.9

Total assets $ 12,490.5 $ 12,399.7
Liabilities

Loss and loss adjustmd ent expense reserverr s $ 5,654.4 $ 5,304.1
Unearned premiums 2,416.7 2,277.8
Expenses and taxes payable 627.7 909.8
Deferred income tax liability 51.8 ——
Reinsurance premiums payable 53.4 37.3
Debt 653.4 777.9
Liabia lities held-for-sale —— 22.2
Liabilities of discontinued businesses 116.9 115.9

Total liabia lities 9,574.3 9,445.0
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 20.0 million shares authorized; none issued —— ——
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 300.0 million shares authorized; 60.5
million shares issued 0.6 0.6

Additional paid-in capital 1,837.3 1,871.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 152.6 (116.5)
Retained earnings 2,410.9 2,182.3
Treasury stock at cost (22.1 and 18.2 million shares) (1,485.2) (983.5)

Total shareholders’ equity 2,916.2 2,954.7
Total liabia lities and shareholders’ equity $ 12,490.5 $ 12,399.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Preferred Stock

Balance at beginning and end of year $ —— $ —— $ ——
Common Stock

Balance at beginning and end of year 0.6 0.6 0.6
Additional Paid-in Capital

Balance at beginning of year 1,871.8 1,857.0 1,846.7
Prepayment and settlement of accelerated share repurchases (49.5) —— ——
Employee and director stock-based awards and othert 15.0 14.8 10.3

Balance at end of year 1,837.3 1,871.8 1,857.0
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net of tax
Net Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) on Investments:

Balance at beginning of year (27.2) 205.4 186.0
Net appreciation (depreciation) on available-for-sale securities 241.6 (170.1) 19.4
Adoption of Accounting Standards Updates (No. 2017-08 in
2019 and No. 2016-01 and No. 2018-02 in 2018) 1.5 (81.6) ——
Amount realized with sale of Chaucer business 0.1 19.1 ——

Balance at end of year 216.0 (27.2) 205.4
Defined Benefitff Pension and Postretirement Plans:
Balance at beginning of year (88.6) (79.5) (102.5)

Net amount arising in the period 16.2 (17.0) 13.6
Net amount recognized as net periodic benefit cost 9.0 7.7 9.4
Adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2018-02 —— (16.2) ——
Amount realized with sale of Chaucer business —— 16.4 ——

Balance at end of year (63.4) (88.6) (79.5)
Cumulative Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment:
Balance at beginning of year (0.7) (18.3) (20.7)

Amount recognized as cumulative foreign currency translation
during the year —— (1.7) 2.4

Adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2018-02 —— (3.9) ——
Amount realized with sale of Chaucer business 0.7 23.2 ——

Balance at end of year —— (0.7) (18.3)
Total accumulm ated othert comprmm ehensive income 152.6 (116.5) 107.6

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year 2,182.3 1,975.0 1,875.6
Cumulm ative effect of accounting change, net of taxes (1.5) 104.3 ——
Balance at beginning of period, as adjusd ted 2,180.8 2,079.3 1,875.6

Net income 425.1 391.0 186.2
Dividends to shareholders (195.0) (288.0) (86.8)

Balance at end of year 2,410.9 2,182.3 1,975.0
Treasury Stock

Balance at beginning of year (983.5) (942.5) (928.2)
Shares purchased at cost (514.1) (57.7) (37.2)
Net shares reissued at cost under emplmm oyee stock-based

compensation plans 12.4 16.7 22.9
Balance at end of year (1,485.2) (983.5) (942.5)
Total shareholders’ equity $ 2,916.2 $ 2,954.7 $ 2,997.7

The accompanm ying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income $ 425.1 $ 391.0 $ 186.2
Adjud stments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Loss (gain) from sale of Chaucaa er business 1.2 (131.9) ——
Net realized investment (gains) losses (109.0) 51.3 (23.7)
Net amortization and depreciation 21.6 24.6 30.1
Stock-based compensation expense 17.4 13.4 12.3
Amortization of defined benefit plan costs 11.4 9.7 14.0
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 12.5 (23.4) 39.8
Change in deferred acquisition costs (14.4) (19.2) (31.8)
Change in premiums receivable,a net of reinsurancea premiums payabla e (78.7) (73.9) (29.6)
Change in loss, loss adjud stment expense and unearned premium
reserverr s 498.6 584.9 949.5

Change in reinsurance recoverable (179.1) (248.1) (414.0)
Change in expenses and taxes payabla e 11.0 4.6 (0.5)
Other, net (14.7) (31.7) (27.7)

Net cash provided by operating activities 602.9 551.3 704.6
Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Proceeds from disposals and maturities of fixed maturities 1,336.9 1,094.2 1,225.3
Proceeds from disposals of equitq y securities and othert investments 250.3 158.4 164.9
Purchase of fixed maturities (1,588.3) (1,425.6) (1,645.8)
Purchase of equity securities and othet r investments (332.2) (178.3) (222.6)
Capital expenditures (13.3) (13.1) (18.6)
Net proceeds from sale of Chaucer business 34.7 635.7 ——
Other investing activities —— —— (9.5)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (311.9) 271.3 (506.3)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options 14.4 14.8 23.1
Change in cash collateral related to securities lending program (5.0) (19.0) (6.7)
Dividends paid to shareholders (386.2) (94.3) (86.8)
Repayment of debt (151.1) (11.6) ——
Repurchases of common stock (563.6) (57.7) (37.2)
Other financing activities (7.8) (3.2) (4.1)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,099.3) (171.0) (111.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash —— (4.0) 7.2
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (808.3) 647.6 93.8
Net change in cash related to discontinued operations 3.3 75.2 56.8
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,020.7 297.9 147.3
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 215.7 $ 1,020.7 $ 297.9
Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest payments $ 37.0 $ 47.8 $ 47.5
Income tax payma ents, net $ 113.7 $ 57.0 $ 51.1

The accompanm ying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARYRR OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. BASIS OF PRESENSS TANN TIONOO ANDNN PRINCINN PLEII SEE OF CONSOO OLIDLL ATDD IOTT NOO

The consolidated financial statements of The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. (“THG” or the “Company”), include the accounts of The
Hanover Insurance Company (“Hanover Insurance”) and Citizens Insurance Compam ny of America (“Citizens”), THG’s principal
property and casualty companies; and other insurance and non-insurance subsidiaries. These legal entities conducd t their operations
through several business segments discussed in Note 13 – “Segment Information.” The consolidated financial statements also include
the Company’s discontinued operations, consisting primarily of the Company’s former accident and health and life insurance
businesses and Chauca er Holdings Limited (“Chaucer”), a specialist insurance underwriting group which operates through the Society
and Corporation of Lloyd’s (“Lloyd’s”) and other international insurance and non-insurance subsidiaries. All intercompanym accounts
and transactions have been eliminated. On Decemberm 28, 2018, the Company completed the sale of Chaucer to China Reinsurance
(Group) Corpor ration (“China Re”), and subsu equeq ntly completed the sales of the Chaucer-related Irish and Australian entities on
Februar ry 14, 2019 and April 10, 2019, respectively. Accordingly, for all prior periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Chaucer’s accounts have been classified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income, and as held-forff -sale in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet at Decemberm 31, 2018 (See Note 2 – “Discontinued Operations”).

The preparation of financial statements in conforff mity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
(“U.S. GAAP”) requiq res the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affectff the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actualt results could differ from those estimates. In the opinion of the Company’s management these
financial statements reflect all adjud stments, consisting of normal recurring items necessary for a fair presentation of the financial
position and results of operations.

B. INVESTMEVV NTSEE

Fixed maturities are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, reported
in accumulmm ated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”), a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The amortized cost of fixed
maturities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity.

Equity securities are carriedrr at fair value. Increases and decreases in fair value are reported in net income.

Other investments consist primarily of mortgage participations and limited partnerships. Mortgage participations represent interests in
commercial mortgage loans originated and serviced by a third-party of which the Company shares, on a pro-rata basis, in all related
cash flows of the underlying mortgage loans. Mortgage participations are stated at unpain d principal balances adjud sted for deferred fees
or expenses, net of reserves. Reserves on mortgages are established and are collectively evaluated based on losses expected by the
Company for loans that may not be collectible in full. In establishing reservesrr , the Company considers, among other things, the
estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. Prior to May 2018, certain reacquisition rights retained by the third-party in the loan
participations required that these investments be accounted forff as secured borrowings under Accounting Standards Codificatiff on
(“ASC”) 860, Transfersff and Servicing.

Investments in limited partnett rships include interests in private equity funds which are accounted for in accordance with the equiq ty
method of accounting. Prior to January 1, 2018, when the Company’s interest in the partnership was minor, certain limited partnerst hip
investments were accounted for under the cost method.

Net investment income includes interest, dividends and income from limited partnett rship interests. Interest income is recognized based
on the effectff ive yield method, which includes the amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts. The effective yield used to
determine the amortization for fixed maturities subject to prepayment risk, such as mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, is
recalculated and adjusted d periodically based upon actualtt historical and projected future cash flows. The adjud stment to yields for highly
rated prepayable fixed maturities is accounted for using the retrospective method. The adjustment to yields for all other prepayable
fixed maturities is accounted for using the prospective method. Fixed maturities and mortgage participations that are delinquent are
placed on non-accrual statutt s, and thereafter interest income is recognized only when cash payments are received.

Realized investment gains and losses on sales are reported as a component of revenues based upon specific identificatioff n of the
investment assets sold. When an othert -than-temporary decline in the value of a specific investment is deemed to have occurred, and a
charge to earnirr ngs is required, the Company recognizes a realized investmet nt loss. Changes in the fair value of equity securities are
reported in net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses), including increases and decreases in fair value on securities that are
still held and realized gains and losses on securities that have been sold.

Prior to the sale of Chaucer on December 28, 2018, the Company also held investments in overseas deposits; such deposits were
maintained in overseas funds and were managed exclusively by Lloyd’s. These funds were requiq red in order to protect policyholders
in overseas markets and enabled the Company to operate in these markets. Net investment income and realized and unrealized
investment gains (losses) related to overseas deposits are included in income (loss) from Chaucer business within discontinued
operations.
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The Company reviews investment ts in an unrealized loss position to identifyff other-thant -temporarym declines in value. When an other-
than-temporm ary decline in value of a debt security is deemed to have occurred, the Company must assess whether it intends to sell the
security or more likely than not will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If the debt security
meets either of these two criteria, an other-than-temporary impam irment (“OTTI”) is recognized in earnir ngs equal to the entire
difference between the security’s amortized cost basis and its fair value at the impaim rment measurement date. If the Company does not
intend to sell the debt security and it is not more likely than not the Company will be required to sell the security before recovery of its
amortized cost basis, the credit loss portion of an OTTI is recorded through earnings while the portion attributable to all othet r factors
is recorded separately as a component of othert comprmm ehensive income. The amount of the OTTI that relates to credit is estimated by
compamm ring the amortized cost of the fixed maturity security with the net present value of the security’s projected future cash flows,
discounted at the effective interest rate implm icit in the investment prior to impamm irment. The non-credit portion of the impam irment is
equal to the difference between the fair value and the net present value of the security’s cash flows at the impam irment measurement
date. Once an OTTI has been recognized, the new amortized cost basis of the security is equalq to the previous amortized cost less the
amount of OTTI recognized in earnings.

C. FINANCIAL INSTNN RUMENTSTT

In the normal course of business, the Company may enter into transactions involving various typey s of financial instrumt ents, including
debt, investments such as fixed maturities, equity securities and mortgage loans, investment and loan commitments, swapaa contracts,
option contracts, forward contrat cts and futures contratt cts. These instruments involve credit risk and could also be subju ect to risk of loss
due to interest rate fluctuat tion. The Company evaluates and monitors each financial instrument individually and, when appropriate,
obtains collateral or othert security to minimize losses.

D. CASH ANDNN CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, amounts due from banks and highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an
original maturity of three months or less.

E. DEFERRED ACQUISITIONTT COSTSTT

Acquisition costs consist of commissions, underwriting costs and other costs, which varyr with, and are primarily related to, the
successful production of premiums. Acquisition costs are deferred and amortized over the terms of the insurance policies.

Deferred acquisition costs (“DAC”) for each operating segment are reviewed to determine if the costs are recoverable from future
income, including investment income. If such costs are determined to be unrecoverable,a they are expensed at the time of
determination. Although recoverability of DAC is not assured, the Company believes it is more likely than not that all of these costs
will be recovered. The amount of DAC considered recoverable, however, could be reduced in the near term if the estimates of total
revenues discussed above are reduced or permanently impam ired as a result of a disposition of a line of business. The amount of
amortization of DAC could be revised in the near term if any of the estimates discussed above are revised.

F. REINSURAEE NCE RECOVERABLEEE SEE

The Company shares certain insurance risks it has underwritten, through the use of reinsurance contracts, with various insurance
entities. Reinsurance accounting is followed for ceded transactions when the risk transfer provisions of ASC 944, Financial Services �
Insurance, have been met. As a result, when the Compam ny experiences loss or claims events that are subju ect to a reinsurance contract,
reinsurance recoverabla es are recorded. The amount of the reinsurauu nce recoverablea can vary based on the terms of the reinsurance
contracttt , the size of the individual loss or claim, or the aggregate amount of all losses or claims in a particular line or book of business
or an aggregate amount associated with a particular accident year. The valuation of losses or claims recoverabla e depends on whether
the underlying loss or claim is a reported loss or claim, or an incurred but not reported loss. For reported losses and claims, the
Company values reinsurance recoverablesa at the time the underlying loss or claim is recognized, in accordance with contracttt terms.
For incurred but not reported losses, the Company estimates the amount of reinsurance recoverablesa based on the terms of the
reinsurance contracts and historical reinsurance recovery information and applies that information to the gross loss reserve. Amounts
recoverabla e from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured business and the
balance is disclosed separately in the financial statements. However, the ultimate amount of the reinsurance recoverable is not known
until all losses and claims are settled. Allowances are established for amounts deemed uncollectible and reinsurance recoverablea s are
recorded net of these allowances. The Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentration risk to
minimize its exposure to significff ant credit losses from individual reinsurers.

G. PROPERTY,TT EQUIPII MPP ENMM T,NN CAPITPP ALTT IZEDZZ SOFTWARE AND LEASESEE

Property, equiq pment, leasehold improm vements and capitalized software are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Depreciation is generally provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets,
which generally range from 3 to 30 years. The estimated useful life for capitalized softwatt re is generally 5 to 7 years. Amortization of
leasehold improvemm ents is provided using the straight-line method over the lesser of the term of the lease or the estimated useful life
of the improm vements.
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The Company has operating and financing leases recorded at the present value of future minimumm lease payments, less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is generally provided using the straight-line method over the estimated usefulff lives of the
related assets, which generally ranges from 4 to 6 years for real estate and fleet leases.

The Company tests for the recoverability of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carraa ying
amounts may not be recoverable. The Company recognizes impaim rment losses only to the extent that the carryr ing amounts of long-
lived assets exceed the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the assets.
When an impaimm rment loss occurs, the Company reduces the carrying value of the asset to fair value and no longer depreciates the asset.
Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis.

H. GOODWILLII AND INTANGNN IBGG LEBB ASSETSS STT

In accordance with the provisions of ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, the Company carries its goodwill at cost, net of
amortization accumulated prior to January 1, 2002, and net of impam irments. Increases to goodwill are generated through acquiq sition
and represent the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of net assets acquiq red, including any intangibles acquired.
Since January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer amortized but rather, is reviewed for impairment. Additionally, acquisitions can also
produce intangible assets, which have either a definite or indefinite life. Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over that
life,ff whereas those intangible assets determined to have an indefinite life are reviewed at least annually for impamm irment.

The Company tests for the recoverabia lity of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives annually or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverabla e. The Company recognizes impaimm rment losses only
to the extent that the carrying amounts of reporting units with goodwill exceed the fair value. The amount of the impairmm ent loss that
would be recognized is determinr ed based upon the excess of the carryingr value of goodwill compared to the implm ied fair value of the
goodwill, as determined with respect to all assets and liabia lities of the reporting unit. The Company has perforff med its annual review of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment in the fourth quarters of 2019 and 2018 with no impaim rments
recognized. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company held goodwill of $178.8 million and intangible assets with indefinite lives
of $15.0 million.

I. LIABII ILBB ITLL IETT SEE FOROO LOSSES,EE LAE AND UNEARNEDEE PREMIUMS

Liabilities for outstanding claims, losses and loss adjud stment t expenses (“LAE”) are estimates of payments to be made for reporterr d
losses and LAE and estimates of losses and LAE incurred but not reported. These liabilities are determined using case basis
evaluations and statistical analyses of historical loss patternsr and represent estimates of the ultimate cost of all losses incurred but not
paid. These estimates are continually reviewed and adjusted d as necessary; adjustments are reflected in current operations. Estimated
amounts of salvage and subru ogation on unpaid losses are deducted from the liability for unpaid claims.

Premiums for direct and assumed business are reported as earned on a pro-rata basis over the contract period. The unexpired portion of
these premiums is recorded as unearned premiums.

All losses, LAE and unearned premium liabilities are based on the various estimates discussed in this note. Although the adequacy of
these amounts cannot be assured, the Company believes that it is more likely than not that these liabilities and accruals will be
suffiff cient to meet future obligations of policies in force. The amount of liabilities and accruals, however, could be revised in the near-
term if the estimates discussed above are revised.

J. DEBT

The Company’s debt at Decembem r 31, 2019 includes senior debenturt es and subou rdinated debenturt es. Debt instruments are carried at
principal amount borrowed, net of any applicable unamortized discounts and issuance costs. See Note 6 – “Debt and Credit
Arrangements”.

K. PREMIUM,MM PREMIUMMM RECEIVABLEBB ,E FEE REVENUE AND RELATEDEE EXPENSXX ESSS

Insurance premiums written are generally recorded at the policy inception and are primarily earner d on a pro-rata basis over the terms
of the policies for all products. Premiums written may also include estimates that are derived from multiple sources, which include the
historical experience of the underlying business, similar businesses and available industry information. These estimates are regularly
reviewed and updated, and any resulting adjustments are included in the current year’s results. Unearnerr d premium reserves represent
the portion of premiums written that relates to the unexpired terms of the underlying in-force insurance policies and reinsuranceaa
contracts.tt Premium receivablesa reflect the unpaid balance of premium written as of the balance sheet date. Premium receivables are
generally short-term in nature and are reported net of an allowance for estimated uncollectible premium accounts. The Company
reviews its receivables for collectability at the balance sheet date. The allowance for uncollectible accounts was not material as of
Decembem r 31, 2019 and 2018. Ceded premiums are charged to income over the applicable term of the various reinsurance contracts
with third-partytt reinsurers. Reinsurance reinstatement premiums, when required, are recognized in the same period as the loss event
that gave rise to the reinstatement premiums. Losses and related expenses are matched with premiums, resulting in their recognition
over the lives of the contracts.tt This matching is accomplm ished through estimated and unpan id losses and amortization of deferred
acquisition costs.
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L. INCOMEMM TAXESAA

The Compam ny is subject to the tax laws and regulations of the U.S. and foreign countries in which it operates. The Company files a
consolidated U.S. federal income tax return that includes the holding company and its U.S. subsiu diaries. Generally, taxes are accrued
at the U.S. statutt ory tax rate for income from the U.S. operations. In December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”) was
enacted, which reduced d the U.S. statutory rate from 35% to 21%, effeff ctive January 1, 2018. See Note 7 – “Income Taxes” for a
discussion of this law. The Company accrues taxes on certain non-U.S. income that is subject to U.S. tax at the enacted U.S. tax rate.
Foreign tax credits, where available, are utilized to offsff et U.S. tax as permitted.

The Company’s accounting for income taxes represents its best estimate of various events and transactions.

Deferred income taxes are generally recognized when assets and liabia lities have different values for financial statement and tax
reporting purpor ses, and for other temporam ry taxable and deductible differences as defined by ASC 740, Income Taxesaa (“ASC 740”).
These temporam ry differences are measured at the balance sheet date using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxablea income in the
years the tempom rary differences are expected to reverse. These differences result primarily from insurance reserves, deferrer d
acquisition costs, investments, software capitalization and emplm oyee benefitff plans.

The realization of deferredrr tax assets depends upon the existence of sufficient taxablea income within the carrybacky or carryfor rward
periods under the tax law in the applicable tax jurisdiction. Consideration is given to all available positive and negative evidence,
including reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxabla e income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations.
Valuation allowances are established if,ff based on availabla e information, it is determined that it is more likely than not that all or some
portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances are generally reflected in income tax expense
or as an adjud stment to othet r comprehensive income (loss) depending on the nature of the item for which the valuation allowance is
being recorded.

M. STOCK-CC BASEDEE COMPENPP SATNN IONTT

The Company recognizes the fair value of compensation costs for all share-based payments, including emplmm oyee stock options, in the
financial statements. Unvested awards are generally expensed on a straitt ght line basis, by tranche, over the vesting period of the award.
The Company’s stock-based compensation plans are discussed furthet r in Note 10 – “Stock-Based Compensation Plans.”

N. EARNINGII S PER SHARE

Earnir ngs per share (“EPS”) for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is based on a weighted average of the number of
shares outstanding during each year. Basic and diluted EPS is computed by dividing income availabla e to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period. The weighted average shares outstanding used to calculate basic EPS
differ from the weighted average shares outstanding used in the calculation of diluted EPS due to the effectff of dilutive emplm oyee stock
options, nonvested stock grants and other contingently issuable shares. If the effect of such items is antidilutive, the weighted average
shares outstanding used to calculate diluted EPS are equal to thost e used to calculate basic EPS.

Options to purchase shares of common stock whose exercise prices are greater than the average market price of the common shares
are not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share becausea the effectff would be antidilutive.

O. NEW ACCOUNTINGII PRONOUNCEMENTSTT

Recentlytt Implm ementedll Standardsdd

In March 2019, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2019-01, Leases (TopTT ic 842) � Codifici ation Improvements. This ASC update
modifies interim disclosure requirements related to the implmm ementation of ASC 842. This ASC update explicitly provides an exception
to certain disclosures required under ASC 250 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. An entity should apply the amendments as
of the date that it first applied ASC 842, using the same transition methodology. Consistent with the Company’s implm ementation of
ASC 842 on January 1, 2019, the updated guidance is effectff ive for interim and annual periods beginning afteff r Decemberm 15, 2018.
The Company implem mented this guidance effectff ive January 1, 2019 and it did not have an impactm on the Company’s financial position
or results of operations as the update is disclosure related.

In Februarrr yrr 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASC Update No. 2018-02 (Topic 220) Income
Statement � Repoe rting CompCC rehensive Income: Reclassil fii cation of Certain Tax Effecff ts froff m Accumulated Othett r Comprehensive
Income. This ASC update allows for a reclassification into retained earnings of the stranded tax effeff cts in AOCI resulting from the
enactment of the TCJA. Current guidance requires the effeff ct of a change in tax laws or rates on deferrerr d tax balances to be reported in
income from continuing operations in the accounting period that includes the period of enactment, even if the related income tax
effects were originally charged or credited directly to AOCI. The amount of the reclassification would include the effecff t of the change
in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate on the gross deferred tax amounts at the date of the enactment of the TCJA related to
items in AOCI. The updated guidance is effeff ctive for interim and annual periods beginning afterff December 15, 2018. Early adoption
is permitted. The Company early adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2018 with a cumulative effecff t adjud stment, which
reclassifieff d $6.5 million of benefitsff from AOCI to retained earnir ngs with no overall impam ct on the Company’s financial position.

81

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



In March 2017, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2017-08, Receivables � Nonrefundable Fees and Othertt Costs (Subtopic 310-20):
Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities. This guidance shortens the amortization period of premiums on certain
purchased callable debt securities to the earliest call date. The updated guidance is effeff ctive for annual and interim periods beginning
afterff Decemberm 15, 2018, and should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effectff adjustment directly to
retained earnir ngs as of the beginning of the period of adoption. The Company implm emented this guidance effective January 1, 2019.
Implmm ementing this guidance resulted in a cumulative effect adjud stment which reclassified unrealized losses, net of tax, of $1.5 million
from accumulated othert comprmm ehensive income to retained earnings.

In Februar ry 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASC Update No. 2016-02, Leases (TopTT ic 842) . This
ASC update requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-uff se asset, which represents the lessee’s right to use a specifieff d asset for the lease
term, and a corresponding lease liability, which represents a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured
on a discounted basis, for all leases that extend beyond 12 months. For finance or capitala leases, interest on the lease liability will be
recognized separately from amortization of the right-of-use asset in the statements of income and comprehensive income. In addition,
the repayment of the principal portion of the lease liability will be classified as a financing activity while the interest componemm nt will
be included in the operating section of the statement of cash flows. For operating leases, the asset and liabia lity will be amortized as a
single lease cost, such that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term, on a generally straight-line basis, with all cash flows
included within operating activities in the statement of cash flows. ASC Update No. 2016-02 requires that implementation of this
guidance be through a modified retrospective transition approach. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2018-11, Leases
(TopiTT c 842): Targeted Improvements, which provides entities with an additional transition method to adopt ASC Update No. 2016-02.
Under this optional transition method, an entity can initially apply the new guidance at the adoption date and recognize a cumulmm ative-
effect adjud stment to the opening balance of retained earninr gs in the period of adoption. The Company implmm emented this guidance
effective January 1, 2019 using the optional transition method provided in ASC Update No. 2018-11 and elected to utilize the practical
expedient package available in ASC Update 2016-02. The Company has also elected to utilize the practical expedient which allows an
entity not to separate lease and nonlease components for all of its asset classes. The effect of implm ementing this guidance increased
total assets and total liabilities each by approximately $35 million on January 1, 2019 and did not have a material effeff ct on the results
of operations.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2016-01, (Subtopic 825-10) Financial Instruments � Overall: Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This ASC update requires unconsolidated equity investments to be
measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized in net income, except for those accounted for under the equity
method. This update eliminates the cost method for equiq ty investments without readily determinable fair values, replacing it with othet r
methods, including the use of Net Asset Value (“NAV”). Additionally, when a public entity is required to measure fair value for
disclosure purposes and holds financial instruments measured at amortized cost, the updated guidance requiq res these instruments to be
measured using exit price. It also requires financial assets and financial liabilities to be presented separately in the notes to the
financial statements, groupeu d by measurement category and form of financial asset. The updated guidance is effectiff ve for annual
periods beginning afteff r December 15, 2017. In Februaryrr 2018, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2018-03, (Subtopic 825-
10) Technical Corrections and Improvem mentstt to Financial Instrutt mentstt � Overall. This ASC update clarifies the transition method for
equity investments without readily determinable fair values. Specifically, if an entity elects to measure these investmet nts at cost, less
impam irment, adjusted for changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment
of the same issuer (the “measurement alternative”), then transition is prospective. For all others, transition is modified retrospective,
requiring a cumulmm ative effect adjud stment. This ASU is effectivff e for annual periods beginning after Decembem r 15, 2017, and interim
periods within those years beginning after June 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted for interim periods beginning after December 15,
2017 as long as ASU No. 2016-01 has been adopted. The Company implm emented this guidance effecff tive January 1, 2018 concurrerr nt
with ASU No. 2016-01 for certain limited partnett rships without readily determinable fair values. The implm ementation of these
standards resulted in a benefit to retained earnings, through a cumulative effectff adjud stment, of $97.8 million, including a
reclassification of after-tax unrealized gains of $95.2 million from AOCI and an adjud stment of $2.6 million of gains to record
partnerstt hip investments at NAV.

Recently Issued Standartt ds

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2020-01 Investments � EquEE ity Securities (TopiTT c 321), Investments � Equitytt
Methott d and Joint Ventures (TopTT ic 323),3 and Derivatives and Hedging (TopTT ic 815)5 . This ASC update clarifies that an entity should
consider observable transactions that require it to either apply or discontinue the equity method of accounting when using the
measurement alternative under ASC 321. It also clarifies the accounting for certain forward contracttt s and purchased options
accounted for under ASC 815. The updated guidance is effectivff e for annual and interim periods beginning afteff r December 15, 2020.
The Company does not expect the adoption of ASC Update No. 2020-01 to have a material impam ct on its financial position or results
of operations.
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In 2019 and 2020, the FASB has issued several updates to ASC Update No. 2016-13, including the issuance in April 2019, ASC
Update 2019-04, Codificai tion Improvements to Topio c 326, Financial Instrumtt ents � Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and
Hedgid ng,gg and Topio c 825, Financial Instrutt mentstt , the issuance in May 2019, ASC Update 2019-05, Financial Instrumett ntstt � Credit
Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief, the issuance in November 2019, ASC Update No. 2019-11, Codificai tion
Imprm ovements to Topio c 326, Financial Instrutt mentstt � Credit Losses and the issuance in Februarrr y 2020, ASC Update 2020-02,
Financial Instrtt umentstt � Credit Losses (ToTT pio c 326) and Leases (TopiTT c 842)2 � Amendmedd ntstt to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 119 and Update to SEC Section on Effeff ctive Date Related to Accounting Standards Updatdd e No. 2016-026 ,
Leases (TopiTT c 842). ASC Update 2016-13 and the related, updated guidance are effective for interim and annual periods beginning
after Decemberm 15, 2019. The Compam ny does not expect the adoption of ASC Update No. 2016-13 and the related updates to have a
material impam ct on its financial position or results of operations.

In Decembem r 2019, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2019-12 Income Taxesaa (Topio c 740) � Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes. This ASC update removes certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC 740, Income Taxes, including intraperiod tax
allocation when there is a loss from continuing operations, foreign subsidiary treatment under certain conditions and for calculating
interim income taxes when the year-to-date loss exceeds the anticipated loss. This update also clarifiesff and amends existing guidance
related to changes in tax laws, business combinations and emplm oyee stock plans, among others. The updated guidance is effectff ive for
interim and annual periods beginning afterff December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted, including interim periods. The Company
does not expect the adoption of ASC Update No. 2019-12 to have a material effecff t on its financial position or results of operations.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2018-15, Intangibles � Goodwilldd and Othett r � Internal-Use Softwo are (SubSS topic
350-40):0 Customer�s Accounting for Implm ementation Coststt Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contracttt .
This ASC update requiq res the capia talization of implm ementation costs incurred in a hosting arrarr ngement that is a service contract
consistent with the requirements for capia talizing implmm ementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting
arrangements that include an internal-use softwartt e license). The guidance also requires an entity to expense the capitalized
implm ementation costs of a hosting arrangement that is a servirr ce contracttt over the term of the hosting agreement, and apply impam irment
guidance consistent with long-lived assets. ASC Update No. 2018-15 also provides specificff guidelines related to the presentation of
these capitalized implm ementation costs and related expenses in the financial statements. The updated guidance is effectivff e for interim
and annual periods beginning afteff r December 15, 2019, and should be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all
implm ementation costs incurred afterff the date of adoption. Early adoption is permitted, including interim periods. The Company does
not expect the adoption of ASC Update No. 2018-15 to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2018-14 (Topic 715-20) Compensation � Retirement Benefitsff � Defined Benefit
Plans � General � Disclosure Frameworkrr � Changes to the Disii closure Requirements for the Definff ed Benefit Plans. This ASC update
modifies disclosures related to definff ed benefit pension or othet r postrettt irement plans. This ASC update removes the disclosure of
amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income expected to be recognized over the next fiscal year and the effectsff of a one
percentage point change of health care cost trends on net periodic benefit costs and postretirement benefit obligations and clarifiesff the
specific requirements of disclosures related to the project benefit obligation and accumulatm ed benefit obligation. This ASC Update also
adds disclosures related to weighted average crediting rates for cash balance plans and requires disclosure of an explanation of any
significff ant gains and losses related to changes in benefit obligations for the period. The amendments in this ASC update are effective
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020, and should be applied on a retrospective basis to all periods presented. Early adoption
is permitted. Implm ementing this guidance is not expected to have an impamm ct on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations as the update is disclosure related.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2018-13 (Topic 820) Fair Value Measurement, Discloii sure Framework � Changes
to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The update removes the requirement for disclosure of the following: 1)
the amount and reasons for transfers between level 1 and level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, 2) the policy for timing of transfers
between levels, and 3) the valuation processes for level 3 fair value measurements. This update also added a requirement to disclose
the changes in unrealized gains and losses for the period included in other comprehensive income for recurring level 3 fair value
measurements held at the end of the reporting period and the rangea and weighted average of significant unobservable inputn s used to
develop level 3 fair value measurements, in addition to other fair value disclosure modifications. The updated guidance is effeff ctive for
interim and annual periods beginning after Decemberm 15, 2019, and should be applied prospectively for certain of the disclosure
requirements and retrospectively to all periods presented upon the effeff ctive date for other disclosure requirements. An entity is
permitted to early adopt any removed or modified disclosures upon issuance of the update and delay adoption of additional disclosures
until periods beginning afterff Decemberm 15, 2019, the effective date of the standard. Implmm ementing this guidance is not expected to
have an impam ct on the Company’s financial position or results of operations as the update is disclosure related.
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2017-04, (Topic 350) Intangibles � Goodwilldd and Other: Simplifyi ing the Test for
Goodwill Impairment. This guidance eliminates step 2 from the goodwill impam irmer nt test. Instead, an entity should perform its
goodwill impam irment test by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including any applicable income
tax effectff s, and recognize an impaim rment for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value.
However, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The updated guidance is
effective for annual or interim goodwill impam irment tests performed in fiscal years beginning afterff December 15, 2019. Early adoption
is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impam irment tests performed on testing dates afteff r January 1, 2017. The Company does not
expect the adoption of ASC Update No. 2017-04 to have a material impam ct on its financial position or results of operations.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2016-13, (Topic 326) Financial Instrutt mentstt � Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments (�A� SC Update No. 2016-13�)� . This ASC update introducd es new guidance for the accounting for
credit losses on financial instrut ments within its scope. A new model, referred to as the current expected credit losses model, requires
an entity to determine credit-related impam irment losses for financial instrur ments held at amortized cost and to estimate these expected
credit losses over the lifeff of an exposure (or pool of exposures). The estimate of expected credit losses should consider both historical
and current information, reasonablea and supportablu e forecasts, as well as estimates of prepayments. The estimated credit losses and
subsequent adjud stment to such loss estimates, will be recorded through an allowance account which is deducted from the amortized
cost of the financial instrument, with the offsetff recorded in current earnings. ASC Update No. 2016-13 also modifies the impam irment
model for availabla e-for-sale debt securities. The new model will require an estimate of expected credit losses only when the fair value
is below the amortized cost of the asset, thus the length of time the fair value of an available-for-sale debt security has been below the
amortized cost will no longer affect the determination of whether a credit loss exists. In addition, credit losses on available-for-sale
debt securities will be limited to the difference between the security’s amortized cost basis and its fair value. In November 2018, the
FASB issued ASC Update No. 2018-19, Codifii cation Improvements to Topio c 326, Financial Instrutt ments � Credit Losses, which
explicitly states that receivablesa arising from operating leases are not within the scope of Subtu opic 326-20.

Q. RECLASSIFICATIONTT SNN

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifieff d to conformff to the current year presentation.

2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIORR NS

Gain on Sale of Chaucer Businessf

On Decembem r 28, 2018, the Company completed the sale of Chaucer to China Re and recognized a pre-tax gain on the sale of $174.4
million and an income tax expense of $42.5 million. THG paid customary transaction costs along with providing certain
representations and warranties and agreeing to indemnify China Re for certain pre-sale contingent liabilities.

The following tabla e summarizes the components of the estimated gain in 2018 related to the sale of the Chaucer business as of
Decemberm 28, 2018. As discussed below the table, both the pre-tax gain and income tax expense were updated in 2019.
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2018
(in millions)( )
Initial consideration received from sale (1) $ 779.0
Adjustmd ent(1) (17.0)
Contingent proceeds (1) (2) 31.7
Total cash proceeds expected from sale of Chaucer Holdings Limited (1) 793.7
Less:

Carrying value of Chaucer business (3) 530.0
Transaction and other sale related costs (4) 30.6
Net realized losses on securities, pension and currenr cy translation obligations related to Chaucer business (5) 58.7

Total pre-tax reductions 619.3
Pre-tax gain on sale 174.4

Income tax expense (6) 42.5
Gain on sale $ 131.9
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(1) Initial consideration for Chaucer as determined in the sales and purchase agreement was $779 million. This amount, along with
$28 million in cash proceeds received from the sale of the Irish entity on Februrr ary 14, 2019, $13 million from the sale of the
Austratt lian entities on April 10, 2019, estimated contingent consideration of $31.7 million, and an $85 million pre-signing
dividend from Chauca er that was received in the second quarter of 2018, resulted in expected total proceeds from the entire
transaction of $936.7 million. These amounts were partially offsetff by $17.0 million paid to China Re to adjud st the purchase price
for amounts received by the Company from Chauca er prior to December 28, 2018.

(2) Contingent proceeds, as reflected in the sales and purchase agreement, may be up to $45 million and is determined based upon
2018 catastrophe losses. In 2018 the Company’s best estimate of contingent consideration was $31.7 million.

(3) The carrying value of the Chaucer business reflects its U.S. GAAP book value at Decembem r 28, 2018, excluding $7.9 million of
U.S.-related deferred tax assets that are no longer likely to be realized and therefore are reflected in the income tax expense
category.

(4) Transaction and othert sale related costs primarily include brokerage, legal, actuarial, tax and other professional fees, employmm ee
retention costs, costs for the purchase of aggregate excess of loss catastrophe coverage in consideration of the contingent
proceeds provision, along with certain other miscellaneous charges related to the execution of the transaction.

(5) As part of the transaction, investments held by Chaucer were transferrerr d to China Re resulting in the recognition of net realized
investment losses that were previously reflected in accumulm ated other comprehmm ensive income. Additionally, Chaucer’s deferred
pension obligations and currency translation obligations previously recognized in accumulm ated other comprehensive income
were recognized as losses associated with the transaction.

(6) The income tax expense represents the current tax obligation on the sale and the derecognition of deferred tax assets that are no
longer likely to be realized.

Included in the previously recorded $174.4 million gain was $31.7 million of contingent proceeds, which were subject to change,
based on development of Chaucer’s 2018 catastrophe losses. During the first half of 2019, Chaucer experienced unfavorable
development on its 2018 catastrophe losses, primarily due to higher than expected losses for hurrir cane Michael, Typhy oon Jebi and a
Columbian dam constructr ion loss. Accordingly, the Company updated and reduced its best estimate of pre-tax contingent proceeds by
$9.7 million. The Company received a cash payment of $22.0 million in final settlement of the contingent proceeds.

In addition, we recognized an income tax charge of $1.2 million in 2019 related to new tax regulations that were issued on June 14,
2019 by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, with an effeff ctive date retroactive to January 1, 2018. These new regulations
retroactively changed the taxation of certain non-U.S. income. Although the impam ct of these regulations relates to the calculation of
the income tax expense related to the sale of Chaucer, unlike the $42.5 million of income tax expense, noted above, that was reflected
in discontinued operations, ASC 740, Income Taxes, prescribes that the effect of certain retroactive tax law changes be presented in
continuing operations. Accordingly, we have presented this charge as a separate component of our non-operating items from
continuing operations. (See also Note - 7 “Income Taxes” below). Additionally, in the third quarter of 2019, the Company recognized
$3.4 million of tax benefits related to prior years, which are reflected in Discontinued Operations.

On Februarr ry 14, 2019, the Company completed the sale of its Chaucer-related Irish entity and on April 10, 2019 finalized the sale of
the Australian entities, completing the transfer of all Chaucer-related companies. Collectively, these entities constituted the Chaucer
business in 2018 and prior, whereas just the Irish and Australian entities comprised the Chaucer business reported in its results in
2019, until their respective sales to China Re. The sale of the Irish entity provided total proceeds of $28 million and resulted in a pre-
tax gain of $0.4 million, with a related income tax benefit of $0.5 million. The sale of the Australian entities for total proceeds of $13
million resulted in a pre-tax gain of $1.2 million and a related income tax expense of $0.1 million.

Income (lossll )s from Chaucer Business( ) f

Year ended December 31, 2019

Revenues from the portion of the Chaucer business remaining after the sale of the U.K. entities in 2018 was $6.7 million during the
year ended December 31, 2019. Pre-tax operating losses in this business totaled $0.5 million during the same period, whereas this
business provided afterff -tax income of $1.6 million for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2019. Income from the Chaucer business in the
year ended Decemberm 31, 2019 included a $2.0 million tax benefit related to a decrease in an uncertain tax position due to the
expiration of the statutt e of limitations.
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Years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The following table summarizes the results of operations for Chaucer for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2018 and 2017:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2018(1) 2017
(in millions)( )
Revenues

Net premiums earned $ 850.0 $ 853.0
Net investment income 54.9 52.0
Other income 7.5 6.7

912.4 911.7
Losses and operating expenses

Losses and LAE 515.5 549.5
Amortization of deferff red acquisition costs 252.5 245.9
Other expenses 115.0 109.2

883.0 904.6
Income from Chaucer business before income taxes and other items
(previously presented as Chaucer's operating income) 29.4 7.1

Other items:
erest expense (3.8) (3.3)

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) (1.3) 2.6
Other income 0.4 2.2

Income from Chaucer business before income taxes 24.7 8.6
Income tax expense (4.7) (21.7)
Income (loss) from Chaucer business, net of taxes $ 20.0 $ (13.1)

(1) 2018 reflects the results of operations for the period in which THG owned Chaucer, which concluded with the sale of the
Chaucer business on December 28, 2018.

The Compam ny recognized $0.8 million and $1.1 million in foreign currency transaction losses in net income in 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The following table provides the effectff s of reinsurance related to the Chaucer business for the periods indicated.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Premiums written:

Direct $ 625.3 $ 597.6
Assumed 685.3 646.9
Ceded (1) (459.9) (395.4)

Net premiums written $ 850.7 $ 849.1
Premiums earned:

Direct $ 611.9 $ 568.7
Assumed 667.2 628.3
Ceded (1) (429.1) (344.0)

Net premiums earned $ 850.0 $ 853.0
Losses and LAE:

Direct $ 362.2 $ 365.2
Assumed 568.7 570.7
Ceded (2) (415.4) (386.8)

Net losses and LAE $ 515.5 $ 549.1

(1) The increase in ceded reinsurance premiums from 2017 to 2018 was primarily due to Chaucer’s planned increase in reinsurance
purchases.

(2) The increase in ceded losses and LAE from 2017 to 2018 was primarily due to higher catastrophe loss activity in certain
Chaucer lines and due to the aforemff entioned increase in reinsurance purchases.
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Assets Held-ll fo- r-SalSS e

There were no assets or liabilities held-for-saff le at Decemberm 31, 2019. Total assets and liabilities held-for-sale were $57.4 million and
$22.2 million, respectively, at Decemberm 31, 2018. Assets and liabilities held-for-sale decreased during 2019 due to the
aforementioned sales of the Chaucer-related Irish and Australian entities. These balances are reflected in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets under the captions “Assets held-for-salff e” and “Liabilities held-for-sale”, respectively.

Cash Flows

The following table details the cash flows associated with the Chaucer business:

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 3.5 (22.8) 28.8
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (6.8) 131.1 (96.9)

Discontinued accident and health and life businesses

During 1999, the Company exited its accident and health insurance business, consisting of its Emplm oyee Benefit Servirr ces business, its
Affinity Group Underwriters business and its accident and healtht assumed reinsurance pool business. Prior to 1999, these businesses
comprised substantially all of the former Corporate Risk Management Servirr ces segment. On January 2, 2009, Hanover Insurance
directly assumed a portion of the accident and health business and the remainder of the Discontinued First Allmerica Financial Life
Insurance Compam ny (“FAFLIC”) accident and health business was reinsured by Hanover Insurance in connection with the sale of
FAFLIC to Commonwealth Annuity.

At Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018, the portion of the discontinued accident and health business that was directly assumed had assets of
$82.4 million and $81.6 million, respectively, consisting primarily of invested assets, and liabilities of $84.4 million and $81.4
million, respectively, consisting primarily of policy liabilities. At Decembem r 31, 2019 and 2018, the assets and liabilities of this
business, as well as those of the reinsured portion of the accident and health business are classified as assets and liabilities of
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company’s former life insuranceaa businesses include indemnitytt obligations and other activities.

Discontinued operations for the year ended Decemberm 31, 2019 resulted in losses of $4.3 million, including $0.9 million related to
income taxes. This business resulted in gains of $0.1 million in 2018 and losses of $16.8 million, net of tax benefits of $ $9.3 million
in 2017. The elevated losses in 2017 primarily relate to adverse loss trends in the Company’s long-term care pool.

3. INVESTMENTS

A. FIXEII DEE MATMM URITIRR ESII

The amortized cost and fair value of available-forff -sale fixed maturities were as follows:
DECEMBER 31, 2019
(inii millions)( ) Gross Gross OTTITT

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Losses

U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 342.0 $ 9.1 $ 1.3 $ 349.8 $ ——
Foreign governmr ent 15.7 0.4 —— 16.1 ——
Municipal 807.1 27.6 1.2 833.5 ——
Corporate 3,653.5 161.6 3.9 3,811.2 3.0
Residential mortgage-backed 905.4 17.1 1.1 921.4 ——
Commercial mortgage-backed 666.4 25.6 0.1 691.9 ——
Asset-backed 62.1 1.1 —— 63.2 ——
Total fixed maturities $ 6,452.2 $ 242.5 $ 7.6 $ 6,687.1 $ 3.0

87

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



DECEMBER 31, 2018
(inii millions)( ) Gross Gross OTTITT

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Losses

U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 414.7 $ 2.4 $ 7.2 $ 409.9 $ ——
Foreign governmr ent 7.3 0.1 —— 7.4 ——
Municipal 879.0 16.6 9.8 885.8 ——
Corporate 3,476.6 26.1 92.0 3,410.7 6.6
Residential mortgage-backed 728.4 2.7 14.7 716.4 ——
Commercial mortgage-backed 648.4 1.7 9.8 640.3 ——
Asset-backed 91.5 0.2 0.7 91.0 ——
Fixed maturities, excluding held-for-salff e (Chaucer) 6,245.9 49.8 134.2 6,161.5 6.6
Fixed maturities, held-for-sale 24.9 —— 0.4 24.5 ——
Total fixed maturities $ 6,270.8 $ 49.8 $ 134.6 $ 6,186.0 $ 6.6

OTTI unrealized losses in the tablesa above represent OTTI recognized in accumulated othert comprehensive income. This amount
excludes net unrealized gains on impamm ired securities relating to changes in the value of such securities subsequent to the impamm irment
measurement date of $4.2 million and $7.4 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In 2019, the Company discontinued its participation in a securities lending program. Securities on loan to various counterparr rties at
Decemberm 31, 2018 had a fair value of $4.8 million and were fully collateralized by cash. The fair value of the loaned securities was
monitored on a daily basis, and the collateral was maintained at a level of at least 102% of the fair value of the loaned securities.
Securities lending collateral was recorded by the Company in cash and cash equivalents, with an offseff tting liability included in
expenses and taxes payable.

At Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018, fixed maturities with fair values of $308.7 million and $299.9 million, respectively, were on deposit
with various state governmental authorities or trustees.

The Company enters into various agreements that may require its fixed maturities to be held as collateral by othet rs. At Decembem r 31,
2019 and 2018, fixed maturities with fair values of $94.0 million and $234.9 million, respectively, were held as collateral for the
FHLB collateralized borrowing program. See Note 6 — “Debt and Credit Arrangements” for additional inforff mation related to the
Compam ny’s FHLB program.

The amortized cost and fair value by maturity periods for fixed maturities are shown in the following table. Actual maturities may
differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties, or the Company may have the right to put or sell the obligations back to the issuers.
DECEMBER 31 2019
(in millions)( ) Amortized

Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 336.0 $ 339.2
Due after one year through five years 1,861.6 1,929.0
Due after five years through ten years 2,256.8 2,365.8
Due after ten years 363.9 376.6

4,818.3 5,010.6
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities 1,633.9 1,676.5
Total fixed maturities $ 6,452.2 $ 6,687.1
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B. UNREALIZLL EDZZ GAINS AND LOSSESEE

Unrealized gains and losses on availabla e-for-sale and other securities are summarized in the following table.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(in millions)( ) Equity

Fixed Securitiesi and
2019 Maturitiesi Othertt Total
Net depreciation, beginning of year $ (27.2) $ —— $ (27.2)
Net appreciation on available-for-sale securities 324.7 —— 324.7
Provision for deferredr income taxes (83.0) —— (83.0)
Cumulm ative effect adjusd tment for ASU 2017-08, net of tax 1.5 —— 1.5

243.2 —— 243.2
Net appreciation, end of year $ 216.0 $ —— $ 216.0

2018
Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 110.1 $ 95.3 $ 205.4
Net depreciation on available-for-sale securities (203.7) —— (203.7)
Provision for deferredr income taxes 33.6 —— 33.6
Amount realized with sale of Chaucer, net of tax 19.1 —— 19.1
Cumulative effectff adjud stment for ASUs 2016-01 and 2018-02, net of tax 13.7 (95.3) (81.6)

(137.3) (95.3) (232.6)
Net depreciation, end of year $ (27.2) $ —— $ (27.2)

2017
Net appreciation, beginning of year $ 127.1 $ 58.9 $ 186.0
Net appreciation (depreciation) on available-forff -sale securities (15.0) 55.9 40.9
Provision for deferredr income taxes (11.2) (19.5) (30.7)
Change in OTTI losses recognized in other comprehensive income 9.2 —— 9.2

(17.0) 36.4 19.4
Net appreciation, end of year $ 110.1 $ 95.3 $ 205.4

Effeff ctive January 1, 2018, increases or decreases in fair value of equity securities are no longer reported as unrealized gains and losses
in accumulmm ated othet r comprehensive income. Instead, they are reported in net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
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C. FIXEDXX MATURITRR YTT SECURITIETT SEE IN AN UNREALIZELL DEE LOSS POSITIOTT NOO

The following tables provide information about the Company’s available-forff -sale fixed maturity securities that were in an unrealized
loss position at Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018 including the lengthtt of time the securities have been in an unrealized loss position:
DECEMBER 31, 2019 12 months or less Greater than 12 months Total
(in millions)( ) Gross Gross Gross

Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair
Losses Value Losses Value Losses Value

Investment grade:
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 1.3 $ 73.0 $ —— $ 9.3 $ 1.3 $ 82.3
Municipal 1.1 72.5 0.1 5.6 1.2 78.1
Corporate 0.7 86.5 0.1 4.7 0.8 91.2
Residential mortgage-backed 0.7 69.2 0.4 34.4 1.1 103.6
Commercial mortgage-backed 0.1 40.6 —— 0.9 0.1 41.5
Asset-backed —— —— —— 1.7 —— 1.7

Total investment grade 3.9 341.8 0.6 56.6 4.5 398.4
Below investment grade:
Corporate 2.2 27.1 0.9 9.0 3.1 36.1

Total fixed maturities $ 6.1 $ 368.9 $ 1.5 $ 65.6 $ 7.6 $ 434.5

DECEMBER 31, 2018 12 months or less Greater than 12 months Total
(in millions)( ) Gross Gross Gross

Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair
Losses Value Losses Value Losses Value

Investment grade:
U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 1.1 $ 66.0 $ 6.1 $ 210.9 $ 7.2 $ 276.9
Foreign governmrr ents —— 2.0 —— 0.8 —— 2.8
Municipal 0.8 110.0 9.0 248.0 9.8 358.0
Corporate 30.0 1,277.9 43.9 781.6 73.9 2,059.5
Residential mortgage-backed 2.6 201.2 12.1 323.7 14.7 524.9
Commercial mortgage-backed 3.4 293.0 6.4 175.5 9.8 468.5
Asset-backed 0.4 42.3 0.3 18.0 0.7 60.3

Total investment grade 38.3 1,992.4 77.8 1,758.5 116.1 3,750.9
Below investment grade:
Municipal —— —— —— 0.9 —— 0.9
Corporate 8.1 185.6 10.0 54.0 18.1 239.6

Total below investment grade 8.1 185.6 10.0 54.9 18.1 240.5
Fixed maturities, excluding held-for-salff e (Chaucer) 46.4 2,178.0 87.8 1,813.4 134.2 3,991.4
Fixed maturities, held-for-sale 0.1 4.0 0.3 18.0 0.4 22.0
Total fixed maturities $ 46.5 $ 2,182.0 $ 88.1 $ 1,831.4 $ 134.6 $ 4,013.4

The Company views gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities as being temporary since it is its assessment that these securities will
recover in the near term, allowing the Company to realize the anticipated long-term economic value. The Company emplm oys a
systematic methodology to evaluate declines in fair value below amortized cost for fixed maturity securities. In determining OTTI, the
Compam ny evaluates several factors and circumstances, including the issuer’s overall financial condition; the issuer’s credit and
financial strength ratings; the issuer’s financial performance, including earnings trends and asset quality; any specific events which
may influence the operations of the issuer; the general outlook for market conditions in the industry or geographic region in which the
issuer operates; and the length of time and the degree to which the fair value of an issuer’s securities remains below the Company’s
amortized cost. The Company also considers any factors that might raise doubt about the issuer’s ability to make contractt uat l payments
as they come due and whether the Company expects to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security.
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D. OTHERTT INVESTMETT NTEE STT

The Company’s mortgage participations and other mortgage loans were $441.2 million and $405.7 million at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. Participating interests in commercial mortgage loans are originated and servirr ced by a third-party. For these
investments, the Company shares, on a pro-rata basis, in all related cash flows of the underlying mortgages. Mortgage participations
and othert mortgage loans were comprim sed of the following propertyrr types and geographa ic locations.
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Property Type:

Officff e $ 138.2 $ 141.1
Apartments 125.1 85.5
Retail 66.5 66.9
Hotel 62.1 62.7
Industrial 50.6 50.6
Valuation allowance (1.3) (1.1)

Total $ 441.2 $ 405.7

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Geographic Region:

cific $ 102.3 $ 92.5
South Atlantic 95.9 82.1
West South Central 71.2 65.9
Mid-Atlantic 53.3 53.4
New England 42.5 35.3
East Northt Central 27.8 27.9
Mountain 12.5 12.5
Other 37.0 37.2
Valuation allowance (1.3) (1.1)

Total $ 441.2 $ 405.7

At Decemberm 31, 2019, scheduled maturities of mortgage participations and other mortgage loans were as follows: due in 2021 - $57.4
million; in 2022 - $28.1 million; 2023 - $16.8 million; 2024 - $78.0 million and thereafter - $260.9 million. There were no scheduled
loan maturities in 2020. Actual maturities could differ from contractual maturt ities because borrowers may have the right to prepay
obligations witht or without prepayment penalties and loans may be refinff anced. During 2019, the Company did not refinance any loans
based on terms that differed from current market rates.

Other investments also include interests in limited partnerships of $278.5 million and $235.7 million at Decemberm 31, 2019 and
Decembem r 31, 2018, respectively.

E. OTHERTT

At Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s exposure to concentration of investments in a single investee that exceeded 10% of
shareholders’ equity included securities of U.S. government-sponsored agencies, as well as mortgage participations with a highly rated
single third party of $432.3 million and $396.7 million, respectively.

At Decemberm 31, 2019, there were contractual investment commitments of up to $239.5 million.
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4. INVESTMENT INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES

A. NET INVESTMENTNN INCOME

The components of net investment income from continuing operations were as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Fixed maturities $ 232.4 $ 217.7 $ 205.8
Limited partnerships 19.7 24.1 15.3
Equity securities 16.3 17.0 18.0
Mortgage loans 16.3 14.0 11.4
Other investments 5.3 4.8 3.4

Gross investment income 290.0 277.6 253.9
Less: investment expenses (8.7) (10.2) (10.0)

Net investment income $ 281.3 $ 267.4 $ 243.9

Effective January 1, 2018, with the implm ementation of ASC No. 2016-01, the change in fair value of limited partnerships previously
reported using the cost method is reported in net investment income, of which $4.6 million of holding losses and $5.3 million of
holding gains relates to securities still owned at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The carrying values of fixed maturity securities on non-accrual status at Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018 were not material. The effectff s
of non-accruals for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, compared with amounts of net investment income that would
have been recognized in accordance with the original terms of the fixed maturities were also not material.

B. NETNN REALIZEDLL AND UNRENN ALIZEE EDZZ INVESTMENMM TNN GAINSII AND LOSSES

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments froff m continuing operations, including OTTI, were as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Equity securities $ 106.5 $ (43.4) $ 19.8
Fixed maturities 3.1 (5.8) 3.6
Other investments (0.2) (1.5) (2.3)
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) $ 109.4 $ (50.7) $ 21.1

Effective January 1, 2018, as a result of the implm ementation of ASC No. 2016-01, net realized and unrealized investment losses
include changes in the fair value of equity securities. Previously, equity securities were categorized as available-for-sale and
unrealized gains and losses were reported in AOCI, a separate componm ent of shareholders’ equity.

The following table provides pre-tax net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on equity securities from continuing operations:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Net gains (losses) recognized during the period $ 106.5 $ (43.4)
Less: net gains (losses) recognized on equity securities sold during the period 2.8 (3.9)
Net unrealized gains (losses) recognized during the period on equity securities still held $ 103.7 $ (39.5)

For the year ended Decemberm 31, 2017, there were net unrealized gains on equity securities of $56.8 million recognized in AOCI.

Other-than-temporary-impairments

Included in the net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) were OTTI of investment securities totaling $2.0 million, $4.6
million and $5.6 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

For 2019, total OTTI from continuing operations was $3.8 million. Of this amount, $2.0 million, which related to fixed maturity
securities, was recognized in earnings and the remaining $1.8 million was recorded as unrealized losses in AOCI.

For 2018, total OTTI from continuing operations was $5.4 million. Of this amount, $4.6 million was recognized in earnings and the
remaining $0.8 million was recorded as unrealized losses in AOCI. The $4.6 million of OTTI recognized in earnings relates to $2.6
million of fixed maturity securities and $2.0 million of othet r invested assets.

For 2017, total OTTI from continuing operations was $5.9 million. Of this amount, $5.6 million was recognized in earnings and the
remaining $0.3 million was recorded as unrealized losses in AOCI. The $5.6 million of OTTI recognized in earnings relates to $2.0
million of other invested assets, $1.8 million of fixed maturity securities and $1.8 million of equities.
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The methodology and significant inputs used to measure the amount of credit losses on fixed maturities in 2019, 2018 and 2017, were
as follows:

Corporate bonds - the Company utilized a financial model that derives expected cash flows based on probability-of-default factors by
credit rating and asset duration and loss-given-default factors based on security type. These factors are based on historical data
provided by an independent third-party rating agency. In addition, other market data relevant to the realizability of contractual cash
flows may be considered.

The following table provides rollforff warrr ds of the cumulative amounts related to the Company’s credit loss portion of the OTTI losses
on fixed maturity securities from continuing operations for which the non-credit portion of the loss is included in other comprehensive
income.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Credit losses as of the beginning of the year $ 3.8 $ 3.6 $ 9.6
Credit losses on securities for which an OTTI was not
previously recognized 1.5 1.0 0.4

Additional credit losses on securities for which an OTTI was
previously recognized 0.3 0.1 0.1

Reductions for securities sold, matured or called (3.0) (0.9) (6.1)
Reductions for securities reclassified as intend to sell (0.3) —— (0.4)
Credit losses as of the end of the year $ 2.3 $ 3.8 $ 3.6

The proceeds from sales of available-forff -sale securities and the gross realized gains and gross realized losses on those sales, were as
follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(in millions)( )

Proceeds Gross Gross
2019 from Sales Gainsii Losses
Fixed maturities, excluding held-for-salff e (Chaucer) $ 541.2 $ 6.9 $ 5.7
Fixed maturities, held-for-sale 0.3 —— ——
Total fixed maturities $ 541.5 $ 6.9 $ 5.7

2018
Fixed maturities, excluding held-for-salff e (Chaucer) $ 296.5 $ 2.1 $ 8.4
Fixed maturities, held-for-sale 276.8 1.7 1.7
Total fixed maturities $ 573.3 $ 3.8 $ 10.1

2017
Fixed maturities, excluding held-for-salff e (Chaucer) $ 306.8 $ 8.1 $ 7.8
Fixed maturities, held-for-sale 188.0 4.1 0.4
Total fixed maturities $ 494.8 $ 12.2 $ 8.2

Beginning in 2018, equity securities are no longer classifieff d as available-forff -sale. Proceeds from the sale of equity securities for the
year ended Decembm er 31, 2017 were $128.8 million, resulting primarily in gross realized gains of $18.8 million.

5. FAIR VALUE

Fair value is defineff d as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transferff a liability, i.e., exit price, in an orderly
transaction between market participants. The Company emphamm sizes the use of observable market data whenever available in
determining fair value. Fair values presented for certain financial instrutt ments are estimates which, in many cases, may differ
significantly from the amounts that could be realized upon immediate liquidation. A hierarchy of the three broad levels of fair value
are as follows, with the highest priority given to Level 1 as these are the most observable, and the lowest priority given to Level 3:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabia lities in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observabla e market data, including model-
derived valuations.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity.
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When more than one level of input is used to determine fair value, the financial instrument is classified as Level 2 or 3 according to
the lowest level input that has a significaff nt impam ct on the fair value measurement.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments and have not
changed since last year.

FIXEDEE MATURITIETT SEE

Level 1 securities generally include U.S. Treasury issues and other securities that are highly liquid and for which quoq ted market prices
are availabla e. Level 2 securities are valued using pricing for similar securities and pricing models that incorporate observable inputs
including, but not limited to yield curvesrr and issuer spreads. Level 3 securities include issues for which little observable data can be
obtained, primarily due to the illiquid nature of the securities, and for which significff ant inputs used to determine fair value are based
on the Company’s own assumptm ions.

The Company utilizes a third party pricing service for the valuation of the majora ity of its fixed maturity securities and receives one
quote per security. When quoted market prices in an active market are availabla e, they are provided by the pricing service as the fair
value and such values are classified as Level 1. Since fixed maturities other than U.S. Treasury securities generally do not trade on a
daily basis, the pricing service prepares estimates of fair value for those securities using pricing techniques based on a market
approach. Inputs into the fair value pricing common to all asset classes include: benchmark U.S. Treasury security yield curves;
reported trades of identical or similar fixed maturity securities; broker/dealer quotes of identical or similar fixed maturity securities
and structural characteristics such as maturity date, coupou n, mandatory principal payment dates, frequencyq of interest and principal
payments, and optional redemption features. Inpun ts into the fair value applications that are unique by asset class include, but are not
limited to:

• U.S. government agencies – determination of direct versus indirect government support and whether any contingencies
exist with respect to the timely payment of principal and interest.

• Foreign government – estimates of appropriate market spread versus underlying related sovereign treasury curve(s)
dependent on liquidity and direct or contingent suppou rt.

• Municipals – overall credit quality, including assessments of the level and variability of:ff sources of payment such as
income, sales or property taxes, levies or user fees; credit supu port such as insurance; state or local economic and political
base; natural resource availability;t and susceptibility to natural or man-made catastrophic events such as hurricanes,
earthquakes or acts of terrorism.

• Corporate fixed maturities – overall credit quality, including assessments of the level and variability of:ff economic
sensitivity; liquidity; corporate financial policies; management quality; regulatory environment; competitive position;
ownership; restrictive covenants; and security or collateral.

• Residential mortgage-backed securities – estimates of prepayment speeds based upon: historical prepayma ent rate trends;
underlying collateral interest rates; geographic concentration; vintage year; borror wer credit quality characteristics; interest
rate and yield curve forecasts; government or monetary authoritytt support programs; tax policies; delinquency/default
trends; and, in the case of non-agency collateralized mortgage obligations, severity of loss upon default and length of time
to recover proceeds following default.

• Commercial mortgage-backed securities – overall credit quality, including assessments of the value and suppu ly/demand
characteristics of: collateral typey such as office,ff retail, residential, lodging, or othert ; geographia c concentration by region,
state, metropolitan statistical area and locale; vintage year; historical collateral perforff mance including defeasance,
delinquency, default and special servicer trends; and capa ital structure support features.

• Asset-backed securities – overall credit quality, including assessments of the underlying collateral type such as credit card
receivables,a auto loan receivables and equipment lease receivables; geographa ic diversification; vintage year; historical
collateral performance including delinquency, default and casualtyt trends; economic conditions influencing use rates and
resale values; and contract strutt ctural support features.

Generally, all prices provided by the pricing service, except actively traded securiu ties with quoted markea t prices, are reported as Level 2.

The Company holds privately placed fixed maturity securities and certain other fixed maturity securities that do not have an active
market and for which the pricing service cannot provide fair values. The Company determines fair values for these securities using
either matrix pricing utilizing the market approach or broker quotes. The Company will use observarr bla e market data as inputs into the
fair value techniques, as discussed in the determination of Level 2 fair values, to the extent it is available, but is also required to use a
certain amount of unobservable judgment due to the illiquid nature of the securities involved. Unobservable judgment reflected in the
Company’s matrix model accounts for estimates of additional spread required by market participants for factors such as issue size,
structural complexity, high bond coupon or othert unique featuret s. These matrix-priced securities are reported as Level 2 or Level 3,
depending on the significance of the impacm t of unobservablrr e judgment on the security’s value. Additionally, the Company may obtain
non-binding broker quotes which are reported as Level 3.
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EQUITYTT SECURITIESEE

Level 1 consists of publicly traded securities, including exchange traded funds, valued at quoted market prices. Level 2 includes
securities that are valued using pricing for similar securities and pricing models that incorporate observable inputs. Level 3 consists of
common or preferff redrr stock of private compam nies for which observable inputs are not available.

The Company utilizes a third-party pricing service for the valuation of the majoa rity of its equity securities and receives one quote for
each equity security. When quoted market prices in an active market are available, they are provided by the pricing service as the fair
value and such values are classified as Level 1. The Company holds certain equity securities that have been issued by privately held
entities that do not have an active market and foff r which the pricing service cannot provide fair values. Generally, the Company
estimates fair value for these securities based on the issuer’s book value and market multiples and reports them as Level 3.
Additionally, the Company may obtain non-binding broker quotes which are reported as Level 3.

OTHERTT INVESTMENEE TSNN

Other investments primarily include mortgage participations and limited partnerstt hips not subju ect to the equity method of accounting.
The fair values of limited partnerships not subju ect to the equiq ty method of accounting are based on the net asset value provided by the
general partnett r adjud sted for recent financial information and are excluded from the fair value hierarchy.

The estimated fair value of the financial instrutt ments were as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(in millions)( ) Value Value Value Value
Financial Assets carried at:
FaiFF r Value through AOCI:

Fixed maturities $ 6,687.1 $ 6,687.1 $ 6,161.5 $ 6,161.5
FaiFF r Value through NetNN Income:

Equity securities 575.7 575.7 464.4 464.4
Other investments 187.1 187.1 175.0 175.0

Amortized Cost/Cost:
Other investments 443.3 463.7 414.4 418.9
Cash and cash equivalents 215.7 215.7 1,020.7 1,020.7

Total financial instruments, excluding held-for-sff ale 8,108.9 8,129.3 8,236.0 8,240.5
Financial instruments, held-for-sale (Chauca er) —— —— 27.8 27.8
Total financial instruments $ 8,108.9 $ 8,129.3 $ 8,263.8 $ 8,268.3

Financial Liabilities carried at:
mortized Cost:
Debt $ 653.4 $ 722.1 $ 777.9 $ 825.0

The Company has processes designed to ensure that the values received from its third-party pricing service are accurately recorded,
that the data inputs and valuation approaches and techniques utilized are appropriate and consistently applied, and that the
assumptions are reasonable and consistent with the objectb ive of determining fair value. The Company performs a review of the fair
value hierarchy classifications and of prices received from its pricing service on a quarterly basis. The Compamm ny reviews the pricing
services’ policies describing its methodology, processes, practices and inputs, including various financial models used to value
securities. Also, the Company reviews the portfolio pricing, including a process for which securities witht changes in prices that exceed
a defined threshold are verified to independent sources, if availabla e. If upon review, the Company is not satisfied with the validity of a
given price, a pricing challenge would be submitted to the pricing servirr ce along with suppou rting documentation for its review. The
Company does not adjud st quotes or prices obtained from the pricing service unless the pricing service agrees with the Company’s
challenge. During 2019 and 2018, the Company did not adjud st any prices received from its pricing service.

Changes in the observabia lity of valuation inputs may result in a reclassificatff ion of certain financial assets or liabia lities within the fair
value hierarchy. As previously discussed, the Company utilizes a third party pricing service for the valuation of the majoa rity of its
fixed maturities and equity securities. The pricing service has indicated that it will only produce an estimate of fair value if there is
objeb ctively verifiable information to producd e a valuation. If the pricing servirr ce discontinues pricing an investment, the Company will
use observable market data to the extent it is available, but may also be required to make assumptmm ions for market based inpun ts that are
unavailable due to market conditions.

95

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



The following tables provide, for each hierarchy level, the Company’s assets that were carried at fair value on a recurring basis.

DECEMBER 31, 2019
(inii millions)( ) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fixed maturities:

U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 349.8 $ 157.9 $ 191.9 $ ——
Foreign governmr ent 16.1 —— 16.1 ——
Municipal 833.5 —— 821.4 12.1
Corporate 3,811.2 —— 3,810.6 0.6
Residential mortgage-backed, U.S. agency backed 919.1 —— 919.1 ——
Residential mortgage-backed, non-agency 2.3 —— 2.3 ——
Commercial mortgage-backed 691.9 —— 679.2 12.7
Asset-backed 63.2 —— 63.2 ——

Total fixed maturities 6,687.1 157.9 6,503.8 25.4
Equity securities 575.7 573.6 —— 2.1
Other investments 3.5 —— —— 3.5

Total investment assets at fair value $ 7,266.3 $ 731.5 $ 6,503.8 $ 31.0

DECEMBER 31, 2018
(inii millions)( ) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fixed maturities:

U.S. Treasury and government agencies $ 409.9 $ 154.9 $ 255.0 $ ——
Foreign governmr ent 7.4 —— 7.4 ——
Municipal 885.8 —— 864.7 21.1
Corporate 3,410.7 —— 3,409.9 0.8
Residential mortgage-backed, U.S. agency backed 713.7 —— 713.7 ——
Residential mortgage-backed, non-agency 2.7 —— 2.7 ——
Commercial mortgage-backed 640.3 —— 627.2 13.1
Asset-backed 91.0 —— 91.0 ——

Total fixed maturities 6,161.5 154.9 5,971.6 35.0
Equity securities 464.4 463.3 —— 1.1
Other investments 3.5 —— —— 3.5
Total investment assets at fair value, excluding held-for-sale
(Chaucera ) 6,629.4 618.2 5,971.6 39.6

Investment assets, held-forff -sale 24.5 5.7 18.8 ——
Total investment assets at fair value $ 6,653.9 $ 623.9 $ 5,990.4 $ 39.6

Limited partnett rships measured at fair value using the net asset value (“NAV”) based on an ownership interest in partners’ capital have
not been included in the hierarchy tables.a At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair values of these investments were $183.6 million
and $171.5 million, respectively, approximately 2% of total investment assets.

The following tables provide, for each hierarchy level, the Company’s estimated fair values of financial instruments that were not
carriedr at fair value.

DECEMBER 31, 2019
(inii millions)( ) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 215.7 $ 215.7 $ —— $ ——
Other investments 463.7 —— 2.1 461.6
Total financial instruments $ 679.4 $ 215.7 $ 2.1 $ 461.6

Liabilities:
Debt $ 722.1 $ —— $ 722.1 $ ——
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DECEMBER 31, 2018
(inii millions)( ) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,020.7 $ 1,020.7 $ —— $ ——
Other investments 418.9 —— 8.7 410.2
Total financial instruments, excluding held-for-sff ale 1,439.6 1,020.7 8.7 410.2
Financial instruments, held-for-sale (Chauca er) 3.3 3.3 —— ——
Total financial instruments $ 1,442.9 $ 1,024.0 $ 8.7 $ 410.2

Liabilities:
Debt $ 825.0 $ —— $ 825.0 $ ——

The following tables provide a reconciliation for all assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3).

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 Fixed Maturities

(in millions)( ) Municipal Corporate

Commercial
mortgage-
backed Total

Equity
and
Other

Total
Assets

Balance at beginning of year $ 21.1 $ 0.8 $ 13.1 $ 35.0 $ 4.6 $ 39.6
Total gains:

Included in other comprehensive
income - net appreciation on
available-for-saff le securities 0.9 —— 0.5 1.4 —— 1.4

Purchases and sales:
Purchases —— —— —— —— 1.0 1.0
Sales (9.9) (0.2) (0.9) (11.0) —— (11.0)

Balance at end of year $ 12.1 $ 0.6 $ 12.7 $ 25.4 $ 5.6 $ 31.0

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 Fixed Maturities

(in millions)( ) Municipal Corporate

Commercial
mortgage-
backed Total

Equity
and
Other

Total
Assets

Balance at beginning of year, excluding held-
for-sale (Chaucaa er) $ 24.6 $ 0.9 $ 14.2 $ 39.7 $ 4.7 $ 44.4

Transfers out of Level 3 (0.5) —— —— (0.5) —— (0.5)
Total gains (losses):

Included in total net realized and
unrealized investment gains (losses) 0.1 —— —— 0.1 (0.1) ——
Included in other comprehensive
income - net depreciation on
available-for-saff le securities (0.2) —— (0.3) (0.5) —— (0.5)

Sales (2.9) (0.1) (0.8) (3.8) —— (3.8)
Balance at end of year (1) $ 21.1 $ 0.8 $ 13.1 $ 35.0 $ 4.6 $ 39.6

(1) There were no Level 3 held-for-sale securities (Chaucer) at December 31, 2018.

During the year ended Decembem r 31, 2019, the Company did not transfer fixed maturities between Level 2 and Level 3. During the
year ended December 31, 2018 the Compam ny transferrff ed fixed maturities between Level 2 and Level 3 primarily as a result of
assessing the significance of unobservarr bla e inputs on the fair value measurement. There were no Level 3 liabilities held by the
Company for years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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The following table provides quantitative information about the significff ant unobservable inputs used by the Company in the fair value
measurements of Level 3 assets. Where discounted cash flows were used in the valuation of fixed maturities, the internally-developed
discount rate was adjud sted by the significff ant unobservable inputs shown in the table.

DECEMBER 31, 2019 2018
Valuation Significant Fair Range Fair Range

(in millions)( ) Technique Unobservable Inputs Value (Wtd Average) Value (Wtd Average)
Fixed maturities:
Municipal Discounted Discount for: $ 12.1 $ 21.1

cash flow Small issue size 0.7 - 6.8% (4.3%) 0.7 - 6.8% (3.4%)
Above-market coupon 0.5% (0.5%) 0.3 - 0.5% (0.5%)
Credit stress —— 1.3% (1.3%)

Corporrr ate Discounted Discount for: 0.6 0.8
cash flow Small issue size 2.5% (2.5%) 2.5% (2.5%)

Above-market coupon 0.3% (0.3%) 0.3% (0.3%)
Commercial Discounted Discount for: 12.7 13.1
mortgage-backed cash flow Small issue size 1.9 - 3.1% (2.7%) 1.9 - 3.1% (2.7%)

Above-market coupon 0.5% (0.5%) 0.5% (0.5%)
Lease structure 0.3% (0.3%) 0.3% (0.3%)

Equity securities Market
compam rables

Net tangible asset
market multiples 2.1 1.0X (1.0X) 1.1 1.0X (1.0X)

Other Discounted
cash flow

Discount rate
3.5 18.0% (18.0%) 3.5 18.0% (18.0%)

Significant increases (decreases) in any of the above inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value
measurement. There were no interrelationships between these inputs which might magnify or mitigate the effect of changes in
unobservabla e inputs on the fair value measurement.

6. DEBT AND CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

Debt consists of the following:
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Senior debenturtt es maturing April 15, 2026 $ 375.0 $ 375.0
Senior debenturtt es maturing October 15, 2025 62.6 62.6
Subordinated debenturtt es maturing March 30, 2053 175.0 175.0
Subordinated debenturtt es maturing Februarr ry 3, 2027 50.1 50.1
FHLB borrowings (secured) —— 125.0

Total principal debt 662.7 787.7
Unamortized debt issuance costs (9.3) (9.8)

Total $ 653.4 $ 777.9

The Company has outstanding 7.625% unsecured senior debenturestt with a par value of $62.6 million as of Decembem r 31, 2019 and
2018 and mature on October 15, 2025. Additionally, the Company has outstanding unsecured senior debenturest that were issued on
April 8, 2016 with a par value of $375.0 million, as of Decembem r 31, 2019 and 2018 and mature on April 15, 2026. Both of the
Company’s outstanding senior debenturestt are subju ect to certain restrictive covenants, including limitations on the issuance or
disposition of stock of restricted subsidiaries and limitations on liens, and pay interest semi-annually.

The Company has outstanding $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.35% subou rdinated unsecured debentures due March 30,
2053. These debentures pay interest quarterly. The Company may redeem these debenturtt es in whole at any time, or in part from time
to time, on or afteff r March 30, 2018, at a redemption price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition,
the Company’s subordinated debenturett s maturit ng Februar ry 3, 2027 have a par value of $50.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and
2018 and pay cumulative dividends semi-annually at 8.207%.
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On January 2, 2019, the Company repaid $125.0 million of its FHLB advances that were due 2029 and had an interest rate of 5.5%,
along with related prepayment fees of $26 million; such fees were recognized in 2018. Membership in FHLB provides the Company
with access to additional short-term liquidity based on the level of investment t in FHLB stock and pledged collateral. Total holdings of
FHLB stock were $2.1 million and $8.7 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. At December 31, 2019, the Company
had pledged government agency securities with a fair value of $94.0 million as collateral for periodic short-term borrowir ngs with the
FHLB. Additionally, at Decemberm 31, 2018, the Company had pledged government agency securities with a fair value of $234.9
million in suppu ort of the $125.0 million advance that was repaid on January 2, 2019, and for periodic short-term borrowings. There
were no borrowings outstanding with the FHLB at December 31, 2019 or 2018.

At Decemberm 31, 2019, the Compamm ny had a $200.0 million credit agreement which expires in April 2024. The Company had no
bborrowings under this agreement as of December 31, 2019.

Interest expense was $37.5 million, $45.1 million, and $45.2 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At Decemberm 31, 2019, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants associated with all of its debt indenturestt and credit arrangements.

7. INCOME TAXES

As noted above, on June 14, 2019, the U.S. Department of the Treasuryrr issued regulations that change the taxation of certain non-U.S.
income. These regulations apply retroactively to January 1, 2018. As a result, the Company incurred additional federal income tax of
$1.2 million from the 2018 sale of Chaucer. In accordance with ASC 740, the Company has recorded a provision for this amount as a
componem nt of income tax expense in continuing operations in its Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended Decemberm 31,
2019.

Provisions for income taxes have been calculated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740. Income from continuing operations
beforff e income taxes and a summary of the componem nts of income tax expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income are shown
below:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 522.1 $ 282.5 $ 292.9
Income tax expense (benefit):

Current $ 80.5 $ 46.2 $ 3.1
Deferred 12.6 (2.7) 73.7

Total income tax expense $ 93.1 $ 43.5 $ 76.8

The income tax expense attributable to the consolidated results of continuing operations is differeff nt froff m the amount determined by
multiplying income from continuing operations before income taxes by the U.S. statutoryr federal income tax rate of 21% in both 2019
and 2018 and 35% in 2017. The sources of the differff ence and the tax effeff cts of each were as follows:

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Expected income tax expense $ 109.6 $ 59.3 $ 102.5

Effect of changes in the tax law and rates 1.2 (4.3) (3.9)
Tax differeff nce related to investment disposals and maturities (14.8) (9.2) (12.7)
Stock-based compensation windfall benefit (3.0) (2.3) (5.3)
Nondeductdd ible expenses 1.7 1.6 1.0
Dividend received deduction (1.3) (1.2) (3.2)
Tax-exempt interest (0.3) (0.4) (0.9)
Change in liability for uncertain tax positions —— —— (0.5)
Other, net —— —— (0.2)

Income tax expense $ 93.1 $ 43.5 $ 76.8
Effective tax rate 17.8% 15.4% 26.2%
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The following are the components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities, (excluding those associated with its
discontinued operations).
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Deferred tax assets:

Loss, LAE and unearner d premium reserves, net $ 139.9 $ 129.8
Emplm oyee benefit plans 7.6 14.5
Investments, net —— 4.1
Other 8.3 16.3

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 155.8 164.7
Less: Valuation allowance —— 0.2
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 155.8 164.5
Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred acquisition costs 98.1 95.0
Investments, net 87.9 ——
Softwff are capitalization 21.0 18.3
Other 0.6 0.6

Total deferred tax liabilities 207.6 113.9
Net deferredr tax (liability) asset $ (51.8) $ 50.6

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferff red tax assets
will not be realized. The Company believes it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized.

In prior years, the Company completed several transactions which resulted in, for tax purposes only, realized gains in its investment
portfolio. As a result of these transactions, the Company was able to utilize capital losses carried forward and to release the valuation
allowance recorded against the deferred tax asset related to these losses. The releases of valuation allowances were recorded as a
benefit in accumulmm ated other comprehensive income. Previously unrealized benefits of $14.8 million, $9.2 million and $12.7 million,
are recognized as part of income from continuing operations during 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The remaining amount of
$20.8 million in accumulmm ated other comprmm ehensive income will be released into income from continuing operations in futurtt e years, as
the investment securities subject to these transactions are sold or mature.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for uncertain tax positions as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Liabia lity at beginning of year, net $ 3.0 $ 3.0 $ 2.7

Additions for tax positions of current year —— —— 0.9
Subtractions as a result of a lapse of the applicable statute of limitations (1.7) —— (0.6)

Liability at end of year, net $ 1.3 $ 3.0 $ 3.0

There are no tax positions at Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 forff which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain, but for which
there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. Because of the impacm t of deferred tax accounting, other than interest and
penalties, a change in the timing of deductions would not impam ct the annual effectivff e tax rate.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in feff deral income tax expense. For the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 the Company recognized a de minimis amount of net interest and has not recognized any penalties
associated with unrecognized tax benefits. During 2019, the Company released $0.3 million of accrued interest due to the expiration of
a statute of limitations.

In 2020, the Company is expecting to release $0.4 million of liability due to the expiration of a statute of limitations.

The Company or its subsidiaries file income tax returt nsr in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions, as well as
foreign jurisdictions. The Companmm y and its subsu idiaries are subject to U.S. federal and state income tax examinations and foreign
examinations for years afterff 2015.
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U.S. Tax Reform

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”, “U.S. Tax Reform” or “the Act”) was enacted in the U.S. The Act
substantially changed many aspects of the U.S. Tax code, including a reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to
21%. While the new corporate rate is effeff ctive on Januaryrr 1, 2018, the Company has recognized the impam ct of the rate change on its
deferred tax balances as of the enactment date. The effect of this re-measurement of the Company’s deferred tax balances was a
provision of $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This provision was recorded as a component of income tax expense
in continuing operations and as a component of the Chaucer business and reflected a tax benefitff of $4.1 million and an expense of
$13.5 million, respectively. This amount included the revaluation of deferred taxes initially recorded through other comprehensive
income and recorded through discontinued operations, such as unrealized appreciation on investments, emplm oyee benefit plan-related
items, foreign currency translation adjusd tments and reserve adjud stments for discontinued business. Deferrerr d taxes related to the
revaluation of the Company’s pension plans at Decemberm 31, 2017, as well as changes in unrealized gains and losses occurring afteff r
the Act’s enactmentt date, were recorded at 21% in other comprem hensive income.

The Act also created a territorial tax system, which will generally allow companies to repatriate futurtt e non-U.S. sourced earnings
without incurring additional U.S. taxes, by providing a 100% exemptionmm on dividends received from certain non-U.S. subsiu diaries.
Although most of the Company’s non-U.S. income had been previously subjeb ct to U.S. taxes, a portion of its non-U.S. income had
been indefinitely reinvested overseas and was not subject to U.S. tax until repatriated. These non-U.S. earnings were subject to a one-
time mandatoryrr toll charge totaling $12.7 million, which was recorded as a compomm nent of income tax expense in discontinued Chaucer
business for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017.

In addition, the Act limited various existing deductions, such as executive compem nsation, and introduced new income taxes on certain
low-taxed non-U.S. income. Under the Act, the exemptm ion from the $1 million limitation on certain executive compensation has been
eliminated. As a result, the Company recognized a provision of $0.2 million for the year ended Decembem r 31, 2017.

The Act modified the provisions applicable to the determination of the tax basis of unpaid loss reserves. These modifications impam ct
the payment pattern and applicable interest rate. The Act instructrr ed the Treasury Department to provide discount factors and othet r
guidance necessary to determir ne the appropriate transition adjud stment. Final discount factors were released in July 2019 and the
transition adjustment has been determined to total $114.5 million, resulting in a deferred tax liability of $24.0 million. This transitional
amount is taken into account ratably over eight years beginning in calendar year 2018. These provisions have no overall effecff t on
total income tax expense for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019.

The cumulative effect of the enactment of TCJA was an expense of $22.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, comprising
the aforff ementioned three components. The Company’s estimates were not based upon provisional amounts, as defined in the SEC’s
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118.

8. PENSION PLANS

DEFINFF EDNN BENEFIEE TII PLANS

The Compam ny recognizes the funded statust of its defined benefit plans in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. The funded status is
measured as the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obligation of the Company’s defined benefit
plans. The Company is requiq red to aggregate separately all overfunded plans from all underfundff ed plans.

Definff ed Benefite Plans

Prior to 2005, THG provided retirement benefitsff to substantially all of its emplm oyees under definff ed benefitff pension plans. These plans
were based on a defined benefit cash balance formulmm a, whereby the Company annually provided an allocation to each covered
emplm oyee based on a percentage of that employee’s eligible salary, similar to a defined contribution plan arrangement. In addition to
the cash balance allocation, certain transition groupu emplom yees who had met specifiedff age and service requirements as of
Decemberm 31, 1994 were eligible for a grandfathet red benefit based primarily on each emplm oyee’s years of service and compensation
during their highest five consecutive plan years of emplmm oyment. The Company’s policy for the plans is to fund at least the minimum
amount required by the Emplm oyee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”).

As of January 1, 2005, the defined benefit pension plans were frozen and since that date, no furthert cash balance allocations have been
credited to participants. Participants’ accounts are credited with interest daily, based upon the General Agreement of Trades and
Tariffsff rate (thet 30-year Treasury Bond interest rate). In addition, the grandfathered benefits for the transition groupu were also frozen
at January 1, 2005 levels with an annual transition pension adjustment calculated at an interest rate equal to 5% per year up to 35 years
of completed service, and 3% thereafter. As of December 31, 2019, based on current estimates of plan liabia lities and other
assumptions, the assets of the qualifieff d defined benefitff pension plan exceeded the projected benefit obligation by approximately $15.1
million.
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Assumptions

Definff ed Benefite Plans

In order to measure the expense associated with these plans, management must make various estimates and assumptmm ions, including
discount rates used to value liabilities, assumed rates of return on plan assets, emplmm oyee turnover rates and anticipated mortality rates,
for example.m The estimates used by management are based on the Company’s historical experience, as well as current facts and
circumstances. In addition, the Company uses outside actuaries to assist in measuring the expense and liability associated with these
plans.

The Company measures the funded statust of its plans as of the date of its year-end statement of financial position. The Company
utilizes a measurement date of Decemberm 31st to determine its benefit obligations, consistent with the date of its Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine pension benefit obligations are as follows:
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
Discount rate - qualified plan 3.75% 4.50% 3.88%
Discount rate - non-qualifiedff plan 4.00% 4.50% 3.88%
Cash balance interest crediting rate 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%

The Company utilizes a measurement date of January 1st to determine its periodic pension costs. Weighted average assumptm ions used
to determine net periodic pension costs for the defined benefit plans are as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
Qualified planll

Discount rate 4.50% 3.88% 4.25%
Expected returnt on plan assets 5.50% 4.75% 5.00%
Cash balance interest crediting rate 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%

NonNN -qualified plan
Discount rate 4.50% 3.88% 4.25%

The expected rates of returtt n were determined by using historical mean returns for each asset class, adjusted for certain factors believed
to have an impact on futurtt e returns. These returnsr are generally weighted to the plan’s actual asset allocation, and are net of
administrative expenses. For the qualifieff d defined benefit plan, the 2019 expected return on plan assets of 5.50% reflects long-term
expectations and increased slightly based upon long-term market expectations and expense management effoff rts. The Company
reviews and updates, at least annually, its expected return on plan assets based on changes in the actual assets held by the plan and
market conditions.

Plan Assets

Qualified Defined Benefit Planl

For the qualified defined benefit plan, a target allocation approach is utilized, which focuses on creating a mix of assets that will
generate modest growth from equity securities while minimizing volatility from changes in the markets and economic environment.
Various factors are taken into consideration in determining the appropriate asset mix, such as census data, actuarial valuation
information and capital market assumptions. Target allocations are reviewed and updated at least annually. Changes are made
periodically. During 2019, the target allocations changed from a mix of 85% fixed maturities and 15% equity securities to a portfolio
with 90% fixed maturities and 10% equity securities.

The following table provides its year-end 2019 target allocations and actual invested asset allocations at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

DECEMBER 31

2019
TARGET
LEVELS 2019 2018

Fixed income securities:
Fixed maturities 88% 88% 85%
Money market funds 2% 2% 2%

Total fixed income securities 90% 90% 87%
Equity securities:

Domestic 10% 10% 10%
International 0% 0% 3%

Total equity securities 10% 10% 13%
Total plan assets 100% 100% 100%

102

THE HANOVER INSUR ANCE GROUP   |    2 0 19 A N N UA L R E P O R T



The following tabla e presents, for each hierarchy level, the qualifieff d definff ed benefit plan’s investment assets that are measured at faff ir
value at December 31, 2019 and 2018. Refer to Note 5 – “Fair Value” for a description of the differff ent levels in the Fair Value
Hierarchy.
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( ) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fixed income securities:

Fixed maturities $ 33.6 $ 10.7 $ —— $ 22.9 $ 35.1 $ 9.3 $ —— $ 25.8
Money market mutual funds 7.8 7.8 —— —— 9.1 9.1 —— ——
Mutual funff ds —— —— —— —— 36.3 36.3 —— ——

Total investments at fair value $ 41.4 $ 18.5 $ —— $ 22.9 $ 80.5 $ 54.7 $ —— $ 25.8

Fixed Income Securities and Mutual Funds

Securities classified as Level 1 at Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018 include actively traded mutual funds and publu icly traded securities,
which are valued at quoted market prices. Securities classified as Level 3 at Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018 include assets held in a
fixed account of an insurance company. The fair value of the investment is estimated using a comparable public market financial
institution derived fair value curve that uses non-observable inputs for market liquidity and uniqueq credit characteristics of its
underlying securities.

The Plan also holds investments measured at fair value using NAV based on the value of the underlying investments, which is
determined independently by the investment manager and have not been included in the tabla e above. These include investments in
commingled pools and investment-grade fixed income securities held in a custom fund, and other commingled pools that primarily
invest in publicly traded common stocks and international equitytt securities. The daily NAV, which is not publu ished as a quoted market
price for these investments, is used as the basis for transactions. Redemptm ion of these funds is not subjeu ct to restriction. The fair values
of these investments are as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
Fixed maturities $ 394.3 $ 346.4
Equity securities:

mestic 51.7 9.3
International —— 14.6

Total equity securities 51.7 23.9
Total investments carried at NAV $ 446.0 $ 370.3

The table below provides a reconciliation for all assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3).
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Balance at beginning of period $ 25.8 $ 25.7
Plus: Assets transferff red from investments measured at fair value using NAV —— 2.1
Less: Assets transferred to Level 1 investments (3.5) (2.7)
Actuat l return on plan assets related to assets still held 0.6 0.7
Balance at end of year $ 22.9 $ 25.8

Obligations and Funded Status

The Company recognizes the current funded status of its plans in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the funded statust of the
plans are reflected as components of either net income or accumulmm ated other comprehensive income or loss. The components of
accumulated othet r comprmm ehensive income or loss are reflected as a net actuarial gain or loss.
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The following table reflects the benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets and funded status of the plans at Decemberm 31, 2019 and
2018.

DECEMBER 31
Qualified

Pension Plan
Non-Qualified
Pension Plan

(inii millionsll )s( ) 2019 2018 2019 2018
Changge in benefit gobligation:
Benefit obligation, beginning of period (1) $ 469.5 $ 501.2 $ 33.8 $ 36.6
Interest cost 19.9 18.4 1.4 1.4
Actuat rial losses (gains) 20.4 (17.5) (0.6) (1.3)
Benefits paid (37.3) (32.6) (2.9) (2.9)
Benefit obligation, end of year (1) 472.5 469.5 31.7 33.8
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of period 450.7 460.1 —— ——
Actuat l returt nrr on plan assets 64.2 (16.8) —— ——
Contributions 10.0 40.0 2.9 2.9
Benefits paid (37.3) (32.6) (2.9) (2.9)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 487.6 450.7 —— ——
Funded statustt of the plans $ 15.1 $ (18.8) $ (31.7) $ (33.8)

(1) The accumulated benefit obligation for these plans is equal to the projeo cted benefit obligation.

Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost

The components of total net periodic pension cost are as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Interest cost $ 21.3 $ 19.8 $ 21.9
Expected returnt on plan assets (23.4) (20.6) (21.4)
Recognized net actuarial loss 11.3 9.6 13.5
Net periodic pension cost $ 9.2 $ 8.8 $ 14.0

The following tablea reflects the total amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income relating to the defined benefit
pension plans as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions)( )
Net actuat rial loss $ 77.3 $ 109.7

The unrecognized net actuaritt al gains (losses) which exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the fair value of
plan assets are amortized as a componemm nt of net periodic pension cost over the next five years. The total estimated amount of actuarialtt
losses that will be amortized from accumulm ated other comprehensive income into net periodic pension cost in 2019 is $5.1 million.

Contributions

In accordance with ERISA guidelines, the Compamm ny is not required to fund its qualifieff d benefit plan in 2020. The Company expects to
contritt bute $2.9 million to its non-qualifiedff pension plan to fund 2020 benefit payments. During 2019 and 2018, the Company made a
discretionary contritt bution of $10.0 million and $40.0 million, respectively, to its qualified benefit plan. At this time, no additional
discretionary contritt butions are expected to be made into any of the plans during 2020, and the Company does not expect that any
funds will be returned from the plans to the Company during 2020.

Benefit Payments

The Company estimates that benefit payments over the next 10 years will be as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025-2029
(in millions)( )
Qualifieff d pension plan $ 37.4 $ 38.7 $ 37.5 $ 37.0 $ 35.3 $ 157.0
Non-qualifiedff pension plan $ 2.9 $ 2.9 $ 2.8 $ 2.6 $ 2.6 $ 11.3

The benefitff payma ents are based on the same assumptm ions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligations at the end of 2019.
Benefit payments related to the qualifiedff plan will be made from plan assets held in trustr and not included with Company assets,
whereas those payments related to the non-qualified plan will be provided for by the Company.
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DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

In addition to the defined benefit plans, THG provides a qualifiedff defined contributt tion 401(k) plan for all of its emplmm oyees, whereby
the Company matches emplom yee elective 401(k) contributions, up to a maximum of 6% of eligible compensation in 2019, 2018 and
2017. The Company’s expense for this matching provision was $22.2 million, $21.7 million and $21.3 million for 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively. In addition to this matching provision, the Company can elect to make an annual contribution to emplm oyees’
accounts. Additional contributions totaling $2.2 million were contributed to the plan during 2017.

9. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table provides changes in other comprehensive income.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017

Tax Tax Tax
Benefit Net of Benefit Net of Benefit Net of

(in millions)( ) Pre-Tax (Expense) Tax Pre-Tax (Expense) Tax Pre-Tax (Expense) Tax
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-
for-sale securities:
Unrealized gains (losses) arising
during period $ 327.5 $ (68.9) $ 258.6 $(209.7) $ 44.0 $(165.7) $ 77.0 $ (27.9) $ 49.1
Amount of realized (gains) losses
from sales and other (5.0) (13.7) (18.7) 2.5 (9.7) (7.2) (30.8) (1.4) (32.2)

Portion of other-than-temporam ry
impamm irment losses recognized
in earningsrr 2.1 (0.4) 1.7 3.5 (0.7) 2.8 3.9 (1.4) 2.5

Unrealized losses (gains) realized
with sale of Chaucer business 0.1 —— 0.1 24.2 (5.1) 19.1 —— —— ——

Net unrealized gains (losses) 324.7 (83.0) 241.7 (179.5) 28.5 (151.0) 50.1 (30.7) 19.4
Pension and postretirement benefits:

Net gains (losses) arising in the
period from net actuarial (gains)
losses 20.5 (4.3) 16.2 (21.3) 4.3 (17.0) 17.0 (3.4) 13.6

Amortization of net actuat rial losses
(gains) and prior service costs
recognized as net periodic
benefitff cost 11.4 (2.4) 9.0 9.7 (2.0) 7.7 14.0 (4.6) 9.4

Pension obligations recognized with
sale of Chauceraa business —— —— —— 21.2 (4.8) 16.4 —— —— ——

Total pension and postretirement benefits 31.9 (6.7) 25.2 9.6 (2.5) 7.1 31.0 (8.0) 23.0
Cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustmd ent:
Foreign currency translation
recognized during the period —— —— —— (2.2) 0.5 (1.7) 3.7 (1.3) 2.4

Currency translation obligation
recognized with sale of Chaucer
business 0.9 (0.2) 0.7 29.4 (6.2) 23.2 —— —— ——

Total cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustmd ent 0.9 (0.2) 0.7 27.2 (5.7) 21.5 3.7 (1.3) 2.4

Other comprehensive income (loss) $ 357.5 $ (89.9) $ 267.6 $(142.7) $ 20.3 $(122.4) $ 84.8 $ (40.0) $ 44.8
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Reclassificff ations out of accumulm ated othert comprehensive income were as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )

Amount Reclassified from
Details about Accumulated Other Accumulated Affeff cted Line Item in the Statement

Comprehensive Income Components Other Comprehensive Income Where Net Income is Presented
Unrealized gains (losses) on
available-for-ff sale securities $ 5.0 $ (3.2) $ 26.6 Net realized gains (losses) from sales and othet r

(2.0) (2.6) (3.6)
Net othet r-than-temporary impaim rment losses
on investments recognized in earnings

3.0 (5.8) 23.0 Total before tax
14.1 10.3 4.2 Tax benefit
17.1 4.5 27.2 Continuing operations; net of tax
(0.1) (19.1) —— Gain on sale of Chaucer business
—— (0.2) 2.5 Discontinued operations - Chaucer business

(0.1) 0.1 —— Discontinued lifeff businesses; net of tax
16.9 (14.7) 29.7 Net of tax

Amortization of defined benefit
pension and postretirement plans (11.4) (9.5) (12.4)

Loss adjud stment expenses and other operating
expenses (1)

2.4 1.9 4.3 Tax benefit
(9.0) (7.6) (8.1) Continuing operations; net of tax
—— (16.4) —— Gain on sale of Chaucer business
—— (0.1) (1.3) Discontinued operations - Chaucer business

(9.0) (24.1) (9.4) Net of tax
Currency translation obligation
recognized with sale of
Chaucer business (0.7) (23.2) —— Gain on sale of Chaucer business

Total reclassifications for the period $ 7.2 $ (62.0) $ 20.3 Benefit (detriment) to income, net of tax

(1) The amount reclassifiedff from accumulated other comprmm ehensive income for the pension and postretirement benefits was
allocated approximately 40% to loss adjud stment expenses and 60% to other operating expenses for each of the years ended
Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

10. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

On May 20, 2014, shareholders approved The Hanover Insurance Groupu 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2014 Stock Plan”).
With respect to new share-based award issuances, the 2014 Stock Plan replaced The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (the “2006 Stock Plan”) and authorized the issuance of 6,100,000 shares in a new share pool, plus any shares subjeu ct to
outstanding awards under the 2006 Stock Plan that may become available for reissuance as a result of the cash settlement, forfeiff turt e,
expiration or cancellation of such awards. The 2014 Stock Plan provides for the granting of the same types of awards as the 2006
Stock Plan, including stock options and stock appreciation rights (“SARS”), restricted and unrestricted stock, stock units, performance
and market-based stock awards and cash awards. In accordance with the 2014 Stock Plan, the issuance of one share of common stock
in the form of an option or SAR will reduce the share pool by one share, whereas the issuance of one share of common stock for the
other types of stock awards provided by the Plan will reduce the pool by 3.8 shares. As of Decemberm 31, 2019, there were 3,614,011
shares availabla e for grants under the 2014 Stock Plan.

Additionally, on May 20, 2014, shareholders approved The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Emplm oyee Stock Purchase Plan (thet
“ESPP Plan”) authorizing the issuance of 2,500,000 shares under such plan. As of Decemberm 31, 2019, 2,354,582 shares were
available for grant under the ESPP Plan.

Compensation cost, excluding the discontinued operations related to the Chaucer business, for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017 totaled $17.4 million, $14.9 million and $10.5 million, respectively. Related tax benefits were $3.7 million, $3.1
million and $3.7 million, respectively. Compensation cost attributabla e to the Chaucer business, net of taxes, for the year ended
December 31, 2017 totaled $1.2 million and was reflected in discontinued operations.
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STOCKTT OPTIONSII

Under the 2014 Stock Plan, options may be granted to eligible emplm oyees, directors or consultants at an exercise price equal to the
market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Option shares may be exercised subjectu to the terms prescribed by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (thet “Committee”) at the time of grant. Options granted in 2019, 2018 and
2017 generally vest over 3 years with 33 1/3% vesting in each year. Options must be exercised not later than ten years from the date of
grant.

Information on the Company’s stock options is summarized below.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017

(inii whole shares and dollars)ll( ) Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Outstanding, beginning of year 1,099,076 $ 85.75 1,062,177 $ 75.53 1,396,152 $ 68.63

Granted (1) 252,813 119.36 301,152 110.98 460,610 90.85
Exercised (191,601) 71.20 (210,190) 69.41 (464,726) 63.12
Forfeited or cancelled (38,729) 107.34 (54,063) 89.09 (329,859) 85.22

Outstanding, end of year 1,121,559 $ 87.88 1,099,076 $ 85.75 1,062,177 $ 75.53
Exercisable,a end of year 662,555 $ 75.63 515,286 $ 69.83 423,883 $ 62.41

(1) In accordance with plan provisions, 2019 includes 67,605 options related to special dividends paid by the Company in Januarya
2019 and Decemberm 2019, in order to retain the intrinsic value of outstanding awards. The remaining 185,208 option awards
were granted at an exercise price of $119.36.

Cash received for options exercised for the years ended Decembem r 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $12.3 million, $14.3 million and
$20.5 million, respectively. The intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $10.1
million, $9.6 million and $15.6 million, respectively.

The excess tax benefit realized from options exercised for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $1.7 million, $1.6
million and $4.0 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value at December 31, 2019 for shares outstanding and shares
exercisable was $54.7 million and $40.4 million, respectively. At Decemberm 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining contractut al life
for shares outstanding and shares exercisabla e was 7.1 years and 6.1 years, respectively. Additional information about emplmm oyee
options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2019 is included in the following table:

Options Outstanding Options Currently Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices Number

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Lives

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price Number

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
$34.66 to $40.01 45,843 2.78 $ 38.17 45,843 $ 38.17
$54.61 73,521 4.14 54.61 73,521 54.61
$66.14 to $68.41 111,474 5.17 66.15 111,474 66.15
$70.51 to $77.91 164,852 6.34 75.62 164,852 75.62
$82.39 to $85.87 263,936 7.20 85.36 174,334 85.25
$104.11 to $105.53 282,939 8.16 104.12 91,394 104.12
$113.32 to $117.22 178,994 9.17 117.15 1,137 113.32

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. For all options granted
through Decembem r 31, 2019, the exercise price equaled the market price on the grant date. Compensation cost related to options is
based upon the grant date fair value and expensed on a straight-line basis over the service period for each separately vesting portion of
the option as if the option was, in substance, multiple awards.

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $18.12 ,
$16.30 and $13.05, respectively.
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The following significant assumptmm ions were used to determine the fair value for options granted in the years indicated.
2019 2018 2017

Dividend yield 2.011% 1.740% to 1.954% 2.193% to 2.286%
Expected volatility 18.495% to 19.100% 17.943% to 18.500% 18.341% to 21.694%
Weighted average expected volatility 18.86% 18.20% 19.52%
Risk-freeff interest rate 2.527% to 2.617% 2.365% to 2.969% 1.324% to 2.201%
Expected term, in years 2.5 to 6.5 2.5 to 6.0 2.5 to 6.0

The expected dividend yield is based on the Companm y’s dividend payout rate(s), in the year noted, excluding the effect of any special
dividends provided. Expected volatility is based generally on the Company’s historical daily stock price volatility. The risk-free rate
for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effectff at the time of grant. The
expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options are expected to be outstanding and is derived primarily
using historical exercise, forfeiff t and cancellation behavior, along with certain othet r factors expected to differff from historical data.

The fair value of shares that vested during the years ended Decembem r 31, 2019 and 2018 was $9.5 million and $9.3 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the Compamm ny had unrecognized compensation expense of $2.7 million related to unvested
stock options that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.4 years.

RESTEE RICTETT DEE STOCKTT UNITNN STT

Stock grants may be awarded to eligible emplm oyees at a price establa ished by the Committee (which may be zero). Under the 2014
Stock Plan, the Compam ny may award shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units, as well as shares of unrestrit cted stock. Restricted
stock grants may vest based upon performff ance criteria, market criteria or continued emplm oyment and be in the form of shares or units.
Vesting periods are established by the Committee.

The Company granted market-based restricted share units in 2019, 2018 and 2017. Additionally, in 2019 the Company granted
performance-based restricted share units. These units generally vest after 3 years of continued emplm oyment and afterff the achievement
of certain stock perforff mance targets. The Company also granted time-based restricted stock units to eligible emplm oyees in 2019, 2018
and 2017 that generally vest after 3 years of continued empm loyment.

The following table summarizes information about employeem restricted stock units:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017

Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Time-based restricted stock units:
Outstanding, beginning of year 332,481 $ 97.28 298,528 $ 83.45 269,063 $ 73.91

Granted 149,698 117.60 152,529 111.66 130,075 90.40
Vested (109,493) 84.57 (72,710) 72.69 (70,590) 59.29
Forfeited (1) (37,520) 106.03 (45,866) 94.04 (30,020) 84.88

Outstanding, end of year 335,166 $ 109.55 332,481 $ 97.28 298,528 $ 83.45
Performance and market-based restricted stock units:

Outstanding, beginning of year 69,838 $ 95.58 102,586 $ 81.21 115,057 $ 78.82
Granted 42,605 116.67 35,063 118.60 60,101 79.48
Vested (23,521) 79.57 (14,032) 70.24 (17,642) 56.45
Forfeited (1) (2,670) 135.92 (53,779) 89.79 (54,930) 82.27

Outstanding, end of year 86,252 $ 110.70 69,838 $ 95.58 102,586 $ 81.21

(1) As a result of the sale of Chaucer and included in forfeiff tures in 2018 are 19,655 shares of time-based restricted stock units,
43,449 shares of perforff mance-based restricted stock units and 2,705 shares of market-based restricted stock units that were
awarded to Chaucer emplm oyees.

In 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company granted market-based awards totaling 24,410, 31,688, and 56,571, respectively, to certain
members of senior management, which are included in the table above as performance and market-based restricted stock activity. The
vesting of these stock units is based on the relative total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company. This metric is generally based on
relative TSR for a three year period as compared to a group of Property and Casualty peer companies. The fair value of market-based
awards was estimated at the date of grant using a valuation model. These units have the potential to range from 0% to 150% of the
shares disclosed.
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In 2019, market-based restricted stock units of 5,820 were included as granted due to completion levels in excess of 100% for units
granted in both 2016 and 2017. The weighted average grant date fair value of these awards was $75.95. In 2018, market-based
restricted stock units of 3,115 were included as granted due to completion levels in excess of 100% for units granted in 2015. The
weighted average grant date fair value of these awards was $70.24. In 2017, market-based restricted stock units of 5,881 were
included as granted due to completion levels in excess of 100% for units granted in 2014. The weighted average grant date fair value
of these awards was $56.45.

In 2019, the Compamm ny also granted performance-based restricted stock units totaling 18,195 to certain members of senior
management, which are included in the tabla e above as performff ance and market-based restricted stock activity. The vesting of these
stock units is determined through the use of a perforff mance-based metric (returt nr on equity) and has the potential to range from 0% to
150% of the shares disclosed.

The increase in intrinsic value from grant date of restricted stock and restricted stock units that vested during the years ended
Decembem r 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $3.7 million, $2.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The intrinsic value for perforff mance
and market-based restricted stock units that vested in 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $1.1 million in 2019 and $0.6 million in both 2018 and
2017. There were 1,674 shares, 10,330 shares and 53,840 shares of market-based awards that forfeiff ted in 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Also, during 2019, 2018 and 2017, there were 996 shares, 43,449 shares and 1,090 shares, respectively, of perforff mance-
based awards that forfeiff ted. The perfoff rmance-based awards in 2018 and 2017 related to Chaucer.

At Decemberm 31, 2019, the aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock units was $45.8 million and the weighted average remaining
contrt actualt lifeff was 1.3 years. The aggregate intrinsic value of performance and market-based restrit cted stock units was $11.8 million
and the weighted average remaining contractualt lifeff was 1.2 years. As of Decemberm 31, 2019, there was $22.9 million of total
unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock units and performance and market-based restricted stock units.
The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.8 years. Compensation cost associated with restricted stock,
restricted stock units and perforff marr nce and market-based restricted stock units is generally calculated based upon grant date fair value,
which is determined using current market prices.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY TRANRR SACTIONS

The following table provides weighted average share information used in the calculation of the Company’s basic and diluted earnirr ngs
per share:
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions, except per share data)( , p p )
Basic shares used in the calculation of earnirr ngs per share 40.0 42.4 42.5
Dilutive effeff ct of securities:

Emplm oyee stock options 0.3 0.3 0.3
Non-vested stock grants 0.3 0.3 0.2

Diluted shares used in the calculation of earnings per share 40.6 43.0 43.0
Per share effeff ct of dilutive securities on income from
continuing operations $ (0.16) $ (0.07) $ (0.05)

Per share effeff ct of dilutive securities on net income $ (0.16) $ (0.12) $ (0.05)

Diluted earnings per share during 2019, 2018 and 2017 excludes 0.2 million, 0.3 million and 0.4 million, respectively, of common
shares issuable under the Compam ny’s stock compemm nsation plans, because their effect would be antidilutive.

The Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program which provides for aggregate repurchases of up to $900 million,
including a $300 million increase to the program on December 5, 2019. Under the repurchase authorization, the Company may
repurchase, from time to time, common stock in amounts, at prices and at such times as the Compam ny deems appropriate, subject to
market conditions and other considerations. Repurchases may be executed using open market purchases, privately negotiated
transactions, accelerated repurchase programs or other transactions. The Compamm ny is not required to purchase any specific numbem r of
shares or to make purchases by any certain date under this program. Pursuant to the terms of ASR agreements executed on Decemberm
30, 2018 (thet “Decemberm 2018 ASR”) and on June 28, 2019 (the “June ASR”), the Company repurchased approximately 3.2 million
shares of its common stock for $400.0 million. On Decemberm 9, 2019, pursuant to the terms of a third ASR agreement (the “Decemberm
2019 ASR”) the Company paid $150.0 million and received an initial delivery of approximately 0.9 million shares of common stock,
which was approximately 80% of the total numbem r of shares expected to be repurchased under the December 2019 ASR. Final
settlement of the Decemberm 2019 ASR is expected to occur not later than March 25, 2020.
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12. DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS

INSUNN RANCEUU SUBSUU IDSS IADD RIESII

The individual law of all states, including New Hampsm hire and Michigan, where Hanover Insurance and Citizens are domiciled,
respectively, restrict the payment of dividends to stockholders by insurers. These laws affect the dividend paying ability of Hanover
Insurance and Citizens.

Pursuant to New Hampsm hire’s statutt e, the maximum dividends and othet r distributions that an insurer may pay in any twelve month
period, without prior approval of the New Hampsm hire Insurance Commissioner, is limited to the lesser of 10% of such insurer’s
statutory policyholder surplusr as of the preceding Decemberm 31, or statutt ory net income less net realized gains. Hanover Insurance
declared and paid dividends to its parent totaling $140.0 million in botht 2019 and 2018, and $296.8 million in 2017. In 2017, the
$296.8 million dividend included $80.0 million of extraordinary dividends. At January 1, 2020, the maximumm dividend payable
without prior approval is $106.5 million. In May 2020, the maximum dividend declared payabla e without prior approval will increase
by $140.0 million to a total amount of $246.5 million.

Pursuant to Michigan’s statutt e, the maximumm dividends and othert distributions that an insurer may pay in any twelve month period,
without prior approval of the Michigan Insurancea Commissioner, is limited to the greater of 10% of policyholders’ surplus as of
Decembem r 31 of the immediately preceding year or the statutory net income less net realized gains, for the immediately preceding
calendar year. Citizens declared dividends to its parent, Hanover Insurance, totaling $106.0 million, $87.9 million and $99.9 million in
2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Citizens cannot declare a further dividend to its parent without prior approval until Decemberm
2020, at which time the maximumm dividend declared payablea without prior approval would be $82.1 million.

The statutt es in botht New Hampshm ire and Michigan require that prior notice to the respective Insurance Commissioner of any proposed
dividend be provided and such Commissioner may, in certain circumstances, prohibit the payment of the proposed dividend.

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s primary business operations include insurance producd ts and servirr ces provided through three operating segments:
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other. Commercial Lines includes commercial multiple peril, commercial automobile,
workers’ compensation, and other commercial coverages, such as management and professional liabia lity, marine, Hanover Programs,
specialty industrial and commercial property, monoline general liabia lity and surety. Personal Lines includes personal automobile,
homeowners and othert personal coverages. Included in the Other segment are Opus Investment Management, Inc., which markets
investment management services to institutions, pension funds and othet r organizations; earnings on holding company assets; holding
compamm ny and other expenses, including certain costs associated with retirement benefits due to the Company’s former life insurance
emplmm oyees and agents; and, a run-offff propertytt and casualty voluntary pools business. On Decembem r 28, 2018, the Compam ny completed
the sale of Chaucer to China Re, and the sales of the Chaucer-related Irish and Australian entities were subsu equently completed on
February 14, 2019 and April 10, 2019, respectively. Accordingly, as of Decemberm 31, 2018, and for all prior periods, Chaucer’s results
of operations are classified as Discontinued Operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income and assets and liabilities related to
the Chaucer business have been classified as held-for-sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at Decembem r 31, 2018 (see Note 2 –
“Discontinued Operations”). Certain ongoing expenses have been reclassified from Chaucer to the othert three operating segments. The
separate financial information is presented consistent with the way results are regularly evaluated by the chief operating decision
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company reports interest expense related to debt separately from the earnings of its operating segments. For 2019, this consisted
of interest on the Company’s senior and subordinated debentures.

Management evaluates the results of the aforff ementioned segments based on operating income before taxes, excluding interest expense
on debt. Operating income beforff e taxes excludes certain items which are included in net income, such as net realized and unrealized
investment gains (losses). Such gains and losses are excluded since they are determined by interest rates, financial markets and the
timing of sales. Also, operating income before taxes excludes net gains and losses on disposals of businesses, gains and losses related
to the repayment of debt, discontinued operations, costs to acquire businesses, restructuring costs, the cumulative effect of accounting
changes and certain othert items. Although the items excluded from operating income beforff e taxes may be importm ant components in
understanding and assessing the Company’s overall financial performff ance, management believes that the presentation of operating
income beforff e taxes enhances an investor’s understanding of the Company’s results of operations by highlighting net income
attributable to the core operations of the business. However, operating income before taxes should not be construed as a subsu titute for
income beforeff income taxes or income from continuing operations and operating income should not be construtt ed as a substitu utet for
net income.
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Summarized below is financial information with respect to the Company’s business segments.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(inii millions)( )
Operating revenues:

Commercial Lines $ 2,843.5 $ 2,739.5 $ 2,573.8
Personal Lines 1,911.8 1,791.3 1,662.3
Other 26.0 14.2 10.7

Total 4,781.3 4,545.0 4,246.8
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 109.4 (50.7) 21.1

Total revenues $ 4,890.7 $ 4,494.3 $ 4,267.9
Operating income (loss) before interest expense and income taxes:

Commercial Lines:
Underwriting income $ 121.5 $ 85.0 $ 12.2
Net investment income 180.1 182.2 165.8
Other expense (1.5) (1.5) (0.6)

Commercial Lines operating income 300.1 265.7 177.4
Personal Lines:

Underwriting income 59.1 66.6 83.7
Net investment income 80.1 73.7 70.1
Other income 5.7 5.9 4.9

Personal Lines operating income 144.9 146.2 158.7
Other:

Underwriting loss (1.3) (4.2) (4.2)
Net investment income 21.1 11.5 8.0
Other expense (11.2) (12.7) (12.6)

Other operating income (loss) 8.6 (5.4) (8.8)
Operating income beforeff interest expense and income taxes 453.6 406.5 327.3

Interest on debt (37.5) (45.1) (45.2)
Operating income before income taxes 416.1 361.4 282.1

Non-operating income (loss) items:
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 109.4 (50.7) 21.1
Net loss from repayment of debt —— (28.2) ——
Other non-operating items (3.4) —— (10.3)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 522.1 $ 282.5 $ 292.9

The following table provides identifiable assets for the Compamm ny’s business segments and discontinued operations:
DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(inii millions)( ) Identifiable Assets
Property and Casualty $ 12,387.7 $ 12,238.4
Assets held-for-ff sale (1) —— 57.4
Assets of discontinued businesses 102.8 103.9

Total $ 12,490.5 $ 12,399.7

(1) See also Note 2 – “Discontinued Operations” for a discussion on the sale of the Chaucer business.

The Compam ny reviews the assets of its Property and Casualty Companies collectively and does not allocate them among the
Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Othert segments.
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14. REINSURANCE
In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to reduce the losses that may arise from catastrophes or other events that causa e
unfavorabla e underwrirr ting results by reinsuring certain levels of risk in various areas of exposure with othet r insurance enterprises or
reinsurers. Reinsurance transactions are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of ASC 944.

Amounts recoverabla e from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent witht the claim liability associated with the reinsured policy.
Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers to honor their obligations
could result in losses to the Company; consequeq ntly, allowances are established for amounts deemed uncollectible. The Company
determines the appropriate amount of reinsurance based on evaluations of the risks accepted and analyses prepared by consultants and
on market conditions (including the availability and pricing of reinsurance). The Company also believes that the terms of its
reinsurance contracts are consistent with industryrr practice in that they contain standard terms with respect to lines of business covered,
limit and retention, arbir tration and occurrence. The Company believes that its reinsurers are financially sound, based upon an ongoing
review of financial strength ratings assigned to them by rating agencies, their reputations in the reinsurance marketplace, collections
history, advice froff m third parties and the analysis and guidance of the Company’s reinsurance advisors.

As a condition to conduct certain business in various states, the Company is requiq red to participate in residuald market mechanisms,
facilities and pooling arrangements such as the Michigan Catastrophic Claims Association (“MCCA”). The Compamm ny is subject to
concentration of risk with respect to reinsurance ceded to the MCCA. Funding for MCCA comes from assessments against automobile
insurers based upon their share of insured automobiles in the state. Insurers are allowed to pass along this cost to Michigan automobile
policyholders. The Company ceded to the MCCA premiums earnedrr and losses and LAE incurred of $84.3 million and $108.5 million
in 2019, $70.9 million and $108.8 million in 2018, and $62.8 million and $81.4 million in 2017. The MCCA represented 56.4% of the
total reinsurance receivable balance at December 31, 2019. Reinsurance recoverables related to MCCA were $1,023.7 million and
$977.1 million at Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Because the MCCA is supported by assessments permitted by statute,
and there have been no significff ant uncollectible balances from MCCA identifiedff during the three years ending December 31, 2019,
the Company believes that it has no significant exposure to uncollectible reinsurance balances from this entity.

The following table provides the effects of reinsurance.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Premiums written:

Direct $ 5,090.8 $ 4,816.0 $ 4,540.0
Assumed 27.7 27.6 23.6
Ceded (536.8) (458.8) (454.5)

Net premiums written $ 4,581.7 $ 4,384.8 $ 4,109.1
Premiums earned:

Direct $ 4,953.3 $ 4,673.6 $ 4,399.9
Assumed 26.3 26.6 23.6
Ceded (505.1) (445.8) (443.1)

Net premiums earned $ 4,474.5 $ 4,254.4 $ 3,980.4
Percentage of assumed to net premiums earned 0.6 % 0.6 % 0.6 %
Losses and LAE:

Direct $ 3,223.3 $ 2,986.2 $ 2,934.6
Assumed 21.4 25.2 20.5
Ceded (379.2) (286.8) (375.5)

Net losses and LAE $ 2,865.5 $ 2,724.6 $ 2,579.6

15. LIABILITIES FOR OUTSTANDING CLAIMS, LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

Reserving Process Overview

Management’s process for establishing loss reserves is a comprm ehensive process that involves input from multiple functions
throughout the organization, including actuart ial, finance, claims, legal, underwriting, distribution and business operations
management. A review of loss reserves for each of the classes of business which the Company writes is conducted regularly, generally
quarterly. This review process takes into consideration a variety of trends that impam ct the ultimate settlement of claims. Where
appropriate, the review includes a review of overall payment patterns and the emergence of paid and reported losses relative to
expectations.
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The loss reserve estimation process relies on the basic assumptmm ion that past experience, adjusted for the effeff cts of current
developments and likely trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting future outcomes. As part of this process, the Company uses a
variety of analytical methods that consider experience, trends and other relevant factors. Incurrerr d but not reported (“IBNR”) reserverr s
are generally calculated by first projecting the ultimate cost of all claims that have been reported or expected to be reported in the
futurtt e and then subtu racting reported losses and loss adjud stment expenses. IBNR reserves include botht incurred-but-not-reported
liabilities plus expected development on reported claims included in the liabilityt for unpaid claims and claim adjud stment expenses.
Reported losses include cumulative paid losses and loss adjud stment expenses plus outstanding case reserves. The Company’s ultimate
IBNR reserves are estimated by management and reserving actuaries on an aggregate basis for each line of business or coverage for
loss and loss expense liabilities not reflected within the case reserves. Case reserves are established by claim personnel individually on
a claim by claim basis and based on information specific to the occurrence and terms of the underlying policy. Case reserves are
periodically reviewed and modified based on new or additional information pertaining to the claim.

For events designated as catastrophes, the Company generally calculates IBNR reserves directly as a result of an estimated IBNR
claim count and an estimated average claim amount for each event. Such an assessment involves a comprm ehensive analysis of the
nature of the event, of policyholder exposures within the affecff ted geographa ic area and of available claims intelligence.

Carried reserves for each line of business and coverage are determined based on the quarterly loss reserving process. In making the
determination, the Company considers numerous quantitative and qualitative factors. Quantitative factors include actual payments
made and changes in case reserve estimates in the period, as compared to previously experienced patterns, the maturity of the accident
year, trends observerr d over the recent past, the level of volatility within a particular class of business, the estimated effects of
reinsurance, including reinstatement premiums, general economic trends and other factors. Qualitative factors may include legal and
regulatory developments, changes in claim handling and case reserving practices, recent entry into new markets or products, changes
in underwriting practices, concernsrr that the Company does not have sufficient or quality historical reported and paid loss and LAE
information with respect to a particular line or segment of business, effecff ts of the economy and political outlook, perceived anomalies
in the historical results, evolving trends or othert factors.

Reserve Rollforll ward and Priorii Year Developmo ent

The Company regularly updates its reserve estimates as new information becomes availabla e and furthert events occur which may
impam ct the resolution of unsettled claims. Reserve adjustments are reflected in results of operations as adjustments to losses and LAE.
Ofteff n these adjud stments are recognized in periods subsequeq nt to the period in which the underlying policy was written and loss event
occurred. These types of subsequent adjustd met nts are described as loss and LAE “development”. Such development can be either
favorable or unfavorabla e to the Company’s financial results and may vary by line of business. In this section, all amounts presented
include catastrophe losses and LAE.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the gross beginning and ending reserverr for unpaid losses and loss adjud stment expenses.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Gross loss and LAE reserves, beginning of year $ 5,304.1 $ 5,058.5 $ 4,660.0

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 1,472.6 1,455.0 1,349.2
Net loss and LAE reserverr s, beginning of year 3,831.5 3,603.5 3,310.8
Net incurred losses and LAE in respect of losses
occurring in:

Current year 2,893.0 2,733.5 2,579.8
Prior years (28.4) (8.9) (0.2)

Total incurred losses and LAE 2,864.6 2,724.6 2,579.6
Net payments of losses and LAE in respect of losses
occurring in:

Current year 1,315.4 1,232.3 1,203.8
Prior years 1,301.1 1,264.3 1,083.1

Total payments 2,616.5 2,496.6 2,286.9
Net reserve for losses and LAE, end of year 4,079.6 3,831.5 3,603.5

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 1,574.8 1,472.6 1,455.0
Gross reserve for losses and LAE, end of year $ 5,654.4 $ 5,304.1 $ 5,058.5
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The following table provides a summary of (favff orable)/un// favorablea loss and LAE reserverr development.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Commercial multiple peril $ (19.5) $ (4.0) $ 2.9
Workers’ compensation (32.6) (31.0) (9.1)
Commercial automobile 5.8 23.2 2.3
Other commercial lines:

Hanover Programs 19.8 17.0 (1.9)
General liability (7.8) (27.9) (1.9)
Marine (13.3) (10.7) 1.5
Surety (4.1) (9.0) 0.1
Umbrem lla 2.8 2.3 0.9
Other lines (4.4) (0.8) (5.6)

Total othet r commercial lines (7.0) (29.1) (6.9)
Total Commercial Lines (53.3) (40.9) (10.8)

Personal automobile 21.6 14.3 3.4
Homeowners and othert personal lines 2.1 16.5 6.0

Total Personal Lines 23.7 30.8 9.4
Total Othet r Segment 1.2 1.2 1.2

Total loss and LAE reserve development, including
catastrophes $ (28.4) $ (8.9) $ (0.2)

Within other commercial lines, general liability is comprised of both monoline and claims-made general liability. Claims-made
general liability is primarily comprised of certain management and professional liability coverages. Other lines is primarily comprised
of miscellaneous commercial property, specialty industrial property, healthcare and fidelity lines. Loss and LAE reserve development
in the Other Segment is related to run-off voluntary property-casualty assumed reinsurance pools business.

As a result of continuing trends in the Company’s business, reserves, including catastrophes, have been re-estimated for all prior
accident years and were decreased by $28.4 million in 2019, by $8.9 million in 2018 and by $0.2 million in 2017.

2019

In 2019, net favorabla e loss and LAE development was $28.4 million, primarily as a result of net favorabla e Commercial Lines
development of $53.3 million, partially offsetff by unfavorabla e Personal Lines development of $23.7 million. Commercial Lines
favorable development was primarily due to lower than expected losses of $32.6 million within the workers’ compensation line in
accident years 2015 through 2018, as well as within the commercial multiple peril line in accident years 2015 through 2016 and within
other commercial lines. These were partially offseff t by higher than expected losses in the commercial automobile line driven by higher
bodily injury severity and personal injury protection losses. In addition, commercial lines favorabla e development includes lower than
expected losses related to the 2017 and 2018 California wildfires, including the sale of subru ogation rights on certain Califorff nia
wildfire losses, and hurricane Florence in 2018. Within other commercial lines, lower than expected losses in the marine line,
primarily in accident years 2015 through 2018, general liability lines and surety line were partially offseff t by higher than expected
losses in Hanover Programs, primarily in accident years 2011, 2013, 2015 and 2017. Personal Lines unfavorabla e development was
primarily due to higher than expected losses of $21.6 million in the personal automobile line, driven by bodily injun ry severity and
personal injuryn protection in accident years 2016 through 2017. In addition, Other Segment unfavorabla e development of $1.2 million
was due to the Company’s run-offff voluntaryr property-casualty pools business, which includes asbestos and environmental reserves.

2018

In 2018, net favorabla e loss and LAE development was $8.9 million, primarily as a result of net favorable Commercial Lines
development of $40.9 million, partially offsetff by unfavorabla e Personal Lines development of $30.8 million. Commercial Lines
favorable development was primarily due to lower than expected losses of $31.0 million within the workers’ compensation line in
accident years 2015 through 2017 and $29.1 million in other commercial lines, partially offsetff by higher than expected losses of $23.2
million in the commercial automobile line, driven by higher bodily injun ry severity in the 2014, 2016 and 2017 accident years. Within
other commercial lines, lower than expected losses in the general liability lines, related to the 2014 through 2016 accident years,
marine line in accident years 2015 through 2017, and surety line was partially offsetff by higher than expected losses in Hanover
Programs primarily in accident years 2010 through 2014. Personal Lines unfavorabla e development was primarily due to higher thana
expected losses of million in the personal automobile line, driven by bodily injuryn severity in the 2015 and 2016 accident years and in
the homeowners line in accident years 2015 through 2017. In addition, Other Segment unfavorable development of $1.2 million was
due to the Company’s run-offff voluntary property-casualty pools business, which includes asbestos and environmental reserves.
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2017

In 2017, net favorabla e loss and LAE development was $0.2 million, primarily as a result of net favorabla e development of $10.8
million for Commercial Lines, partially offseff t by unfavorabla e development of $9.4 million for Personal Lines. Commercial Lines
favorabla e development was primarily due to lower than expected losses within the workers’ compensation line in accident years 2012
through 2016. Personal Lines unfavorabla e development was primarily due to higher than expected losses in homeowners for accident
year 2016. In addition, Other Segment unfavorabla e development of $1.2 million was due to the Company’s run-offff voluntary
property-casualty pools business, which includes asbestos and environmental reserves.

Carried Reserves

The tablea below summarizes the gross, ceded and net reserve for losses and LAE and reconciles to the incurred claims development in
the following section. Accordingly, the commercial multiple peril, workers’ compensation, commercial automobile liability lines and
general liability and umbrm ella - occurrence presentation includes Hanover Programs business.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)( ) Gross Ceded Net Gross Ceded Net
Commercial multiple peril $ 1,298.5 $ (126.5) $ 1,172.0 $ 1,206.5 $ (110.8) $ 1,095.7
Workers’ compensation 795.3 (186.0) 609.3 775.9 (183.0) 592.9
Commercial automobile liability 467.7 (27.3) 440.4 433.5 (25.5) 408.0
General liability and umbrm ella - occurrence 575.9 (155.5) 420.4 534.1 (133.5) 400.6
General liability - claims made 268.1 (20.1) 248.0 245.9 (16.2) 229.7
Other lines 409.5 (89.5) 320.0 400.6 (78.4) 322.2

Total Commercial Lines and other 3,815.0 (604.9) 3,210.1 3,596.5 (547.4) 3,049.1
Personal automobile liability 1,626.4 (963.2) 663.2 1,514.0 (917.3) 596.7
Homeowners 172.4 (4.8) 167.6 158.2 (6.0) 152.2
Other personal lines 40.6 (1.9) 38.7 35.4 (1.9) 33.5

Total Personal Lines 1,839.4 (969.9) 869.5 1,707.6 (925.2) 782.4
Total loss and LAE reserves $ 5,654.4 $ (1,574.8) $ 4,079.6 $ 5,304.1 $ (1,472.6) $ 3,831.5

General liability and umbrem lla - occurrence is primarily comprised of our commercial monoline general liabia lity and umbrm ella
coverages. General liabia lity - claims made is primarily comprmm ised of our commercial professionff al and management liability lines.
Within total Commercial Lines and other, other lines is primarily comprised of marine, surety, specialty industrial and commercial
property, producd t liability, voluntary pools, healthcare and fidelity lines. Included in the above table, primarily in other lines, are $55.5
million and $57.6 million of gross asbestos and environmental reserves as of Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Incurred claimll s development tablesll

For the following net reserve components, commercial multiple peril, workers’ compem nsation, commercial automobile liability,
general liability and umbrm ella - occurrence, general liability - claims made, personal automobile liability and homeowners, the
Company is presenting incurred claims development tablea s by accident year. The commercial multiple peril, workers’ compensation,
commercial automobile liability, general liability and umbrem lla - occurrence lines presentation includes Hanover Programs business. In
each of these tables,a the Compam ny is presenting the numbem r of years for which claims are typically outstanding, which is consistent
with the period at which substau ntially all of the reserverr development has emerged based on past history.r The tables presented below
include cumulative incurrer d loss and allocated loss adjustment expenses (“ALAE”), cumulative paid loss and ALAE and IBNR
balances at Decembem r 31, 2019. IBNR includes both incurrer d but not reported liabilities and expected development on reported
claims. In addition, cumulative incurred claim counts are presented as of December 31, 2019 and claim duration is presented in a
separate tabla e disclosing the average annual percentage payout of incurred claims by age, net of reinsurance. Claim duration is
calculated as an average of paid loss and ALAE divided by incurredrr loss and ALAE by elapsaa ed year. The incurred claims
development tables presented are reconciled to the net carried reserves in the preceding tablea as of December 31, 2019.
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Incurrerr d claim count information presented represents claim frequency by individual claimant and measures the frequency of direct
claim settlements that have resulted in or are expected to result in claim payments. Claim count information is presented in a manner
consistent with that used in the quarterly loss reserving process. A single claim event, particularly in automobile lines, may result in
multiple individual claimants and, therefore, multiple claim counts. Incurred claim counts are comprised of outstanding claims and
those that are closed with a loss payment and exclude those that are closed without a loss payment. A single claim event may result in
multiple claims closed with a payment when a claim is subsequently reopened with furthet r payment. In this case, a reopened claim
payment is counted as an incremental claim settlement. Claim count information is not available for direct and assumed participations
in various involuntary pools and residuald market mechanisms, which represent approximately 5% or less of the total gross earned
premium and gross incurred claims for the lines presented. Incurred claim counts are also not adjud sted for the effecff t of claims ceded as
part of reinsurance programs, although the incurred losses and cumulative paid losses presented in the following tables are presented
net of reinsurance ceded.

Commercial multiple peril
in millions) As of

Incurred Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance December 31, 2019
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, Cumulative

Incurred
Accident 2013 2014 2015 Claim
Year Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019 IBNR Count
2013 $ 380.0 $ 362.5 $ 367.9 $ 391.8 $ 392.1 $ 393.0 $ 393.7 $ 11.2 14,815
2014 443.9 439.6 464.8 459.4 449.1 444.4 17.6 15,898
2015 446.0 456.3 463.7 467.4 465.2 24.1 15,623
2016 447.1 449.6 448.7 447.4 35.1 15,918
2017 538.7 544.8 551.6 66.9 16,712
2018 578.2 560.9 129.5 17,143
2019 583.8 243.0 15,534
Total $ 3,447.0

Cumulative Paid Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Accident 2013 2014 2015
Year Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019
2013 $ 137.6 $ 221.5 $ 262.3 $ 306.4 $ 334.6 $ 355.9 $ 366.3
2014 171.7 267.8 316.0 363.4 395.2 407.7
2015 161.9 260.1 315.6 363.2 397.0
2016 140.3 237.9 290.2 342.2
2017 170.9 296.4 370.6
2018 178.8 306.2
2019 169.3
Total 2,359.3

Total reserves for 2013 – 2019 accident years (incurred - paid) 1,087.7
Total reserves for 2012 and prior accident years 63.2
Unallocated loss adjud stment expense 21.1
Net reserves at December 31, 2019 $ 1,172.0
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Workers' compensation
($ in millions) As of

Incurred Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance December 31, 2019
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, Cumulative

Incurred
Accident 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Claim
Year Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019 IBNR Count
2010 $ 115.5 $ 116.9 $ 115.8 $ 115.9 $ 116.3 $ 114.9 $114.7 $115.9 $116.5 $ 116.2 $ 4.0 10,714
2011 141.4 144.2 144.3 145.5 143.8 146.7 148.3 147.9 147.7 6.6 12,469
2012 176.3 171.1 165.2 157.2 162.9 163.7 163.7 161.9 8.9 13,065
2013 179.3 167.4 160.1 154.4 155.3 155.4 154.9 9.5 11,715
2014 182.1 172.9 154.7 152.1 150.3 148.2 13.5 10,921
2015 189.6 164.2 157.5 150.3 146.0 18.5 11,447
2016 189.6 180.5 164.6 158.2 19.1 15,856
2017 186.1 172.1 160.8 22.3 16,629
2018 187.2 182.1 31.9 17,271
2019 187.9 65.0 15,622
Total $1,563.9

Cumulative Paid Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance
ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Accident 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Year Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019
2010 $ 22.1 $ 57.2 $ 76.9 $ 89.5 $ 96.5 $ 101.0 $104.2 $106.3 $107.2 $ 108.0
2011 30.0 71.3 97.3 114.0 122.9 128.0 130.9 132.8 134.2
12 30.4 74.8 102.6 120.1 130.7 136.0 141.4 143.7
13 30.9 74.6 101.2 114.0 122.8 127.4 131.4
14 30.6 70.5 92.3 105.6 112.5 117.8
15 28.0 65.7 87.2 99.4 105.8
16 33.9 78.1 99.5 111.1
17 32.8 73.0 94.1
18 35.6 80.7
19 33.3
tal 1,060.1

Total reserves for 2010 – 2019 accident years (incurred - paid) 503.8
Total reserves for 2009 and prior accident years 86.6
Unallocated loss adjud stment expense and other 18.9
Net reserves at December 31, 2019 $ 609.3
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Commercial automobile liability
in millions) As of

Incurred Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance December 31, 2019
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, Cumulative

Incurred
Accident 2014 2015 Claim
Year Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019 IBNR Count
2014 $ 168.5 $ 163.3 $ 177.3 $ 181.7 $ 185.1 $ 185.0 $ 3.5 13,473
2015 163.4 168.3 166.9 167.8 167.6 2.6 12,836
2016 157.0 157.7 163.0 174.3 12.9 11,665
2017 159.5 170.1 182.1 27.1 11,454
2018 182.8 176.1 58.6 11,094
2019 0.5 101.0 9,488
Total $ 1,065.6

Cumulative Paid Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Accident 2014 2015
Year Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019
2014 $ 33.1 $ 70.8 $ 102.7 $ 137.1 $ 168.2 $ 176.3
2015 32.2 63.8 96.4 129.3 144.5
2016 27.8 60.7 98.3 134.0
2017 26.9 71.2 105.9
2018 29.2 59.7
2019 .5
Total 9.9

Total reserves for 2014 – 2019 accident years (incurred - paid) 415.7
Total reserves for 2013 and prior accident years 19.2
Unallocated loss adjud stment expense 5.5
Net reserves at December 31, 2019 $ 440.4
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General liability and
umbrella - occurrence
($ in millions) As of

Incurred Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance December 31, 2019
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, Cumulative

d
Accident 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Claim
Year Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019 IBNR Count
2011 $ 47.6 $ 43.8 $ 38.2 $ 42.2 $ 51.0 $ 55.6 $ 55.4 $ 57.5 $ 58.8 $ 2.8 1,393
2012 77.2 59.3 62.2 64.3 71.1 74.2 69.1 71.2 3.1 1,779
2013 84.1 67.4 71.5 88.6 84.4 81.2 80.4 5.9 2,009
2014 100.9 82.3 98.6 101.4 98.3 99.8 7.7 2,115
2015 4.2 99.3 99.6 97.0 98.3 13.5 2,485
2016 95.6 100.7 101.5 100.8 20.1 1,927
2017 97.7 107.6 109.2 37.5 1,853
2018 99.8 106.4 53.4 1,835
2019 104.2 77.4 1,682
Total $ 829.1

Cumulative Paid Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance
ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Accident 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Year Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019
11 $ 1.6 $ 6.7 $ 19.4 $ 31.1 $ 39.8 $ 45.8 $ 47.8 $ 50.6 $ 52.9

2012 2.2 12.6 29.8 43.8 52.1 60.6 63.0 64.5
2013 2.4 11.0 26.8 43.1 56.1 63.5 67.6
2014 3.1 14.5 31.4 52.8 70.4 83.6
2015 3 15.2 30.8 48.5 65.7
2016 3.1 15.0 31.6 52.5
2017 4.4 17.0 34.5
2018 4.1 15.6
2019 7.5
Total 444.4

Total reserves for 2011 – 2019 accident years (incurred - paid) 384.7
Total reserves for 2010 and prior accident years 23.2
Unallocated loss adjud stment expense and other 12.5
Net reserves at December 31, 2019 $ 420.4
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General liability - claims made
($ in millions) of

Incurred Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance December 31, 2019
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, Cumulative

Incurred
Accident 2014 2015 Claim
Year Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019 IBNR Count
2014 $ 61.7 $ 69.9 $ 83.9 $ 86.2 $ 82.5 $ 82.9 $ 1.8 902
2015 93.2 98.8 98.4 90.2 90.3 3.5 1,016
2016 103.6 101.7 97.1 89.7 4.8 1,022
2017 103.3 104.6 98.1 14.4 1,156
2018 0.9 127.8 31.8 1,536
2019 126.8 60.3 2,567
Total $ 615.6

Cumulative Paid Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Accident 2014 2015
Year Unaudited Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019
2014 $ 11.0 $ 38.8 $ 59.1 $ 71.5 $ 75.4 $ 79.1
2015 10.0 43.6 64.2 76.0 81.8
2016 11.1 42.9 66.1 75.5
2017 12.3 42.3 67.2
2018 .3 56.1
2019 17.8
Total 377.5

Total reserves for 2014– 2019 accident years (incurred - paid) 238.1
Total reserves for 2013 and prior accident years 4.7
Unallocated loss adjud stment expense 5.2
Net reserves at December 31, 2019 $ 248.0
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Personal automobile liability
($ in millions) of

Incurred Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance December 31, 2019
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, Cumulative

Incurred
Accident 2015 Claim
Year Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019 IBNR Count
2015 $ 327.4 $ 334.1 $ 328.6 $ 332.4 $ 335.5 $ 5.6 42,411
2016 337.9 344.5 355.3 365.8 7.1 42,339
2017 363.6 362.3 383.4 15.6 42,769
2018 394.2 395.3 56.1 42,332
2019 431.2 177.4 38,568
Total $ 1,911.2

Cumulative Paid Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Accident 2015
Year Unaudited 2016 2017 2018 2019
2015 $ 112.9 $ 205.4 $ 261.5 $ 301.9 $ 317.7
2016 112.8 213.1 288.0 329.4
2017 115.0 229.2 302.7
2018 121.7 237.2
2019 131.0
Total 1,318.0

Total reserves for 2015 – 2019 accident years (incurred - paid) 593.2
Total reserves for 2014 and prior accident years 55.5
Unallocated loss adjud stment expense 14.5
Net reserves at December 31, 2019 $ 663.2

Homeowners
($ in millions) As of

Incurred Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance December 31, 2019
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, Cumulative

Incurred
Accident Claim
Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 IBNR Count
2016 $ 222.1 $ 226.5 $ 231.4 $ 230.8 1.5 25,462
2017 291.4 296.5 297.3 2.4 33,466
2018 312.9 316.2 8.6 32,644
2019 344.5 63.1 30,268
Total $ 1,188.8

Cumulative Paid Losses and ALAE, Net of Reinsurance
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Accident
Year 2016 2017 2018 2019
2016 $ 154.3 $ 207.9 $ 218.2 $ 224.3
2017 204.5 271.6 283.5
2018 213.7 290.1
2019 234.7
Total 1,032.6

Total reserves for 2016 – 2019 accident years (incurred - paid) 156.2
Total reserves for 2015 and prior accident years 8.0
Unallocated loss adjud stment expense 3.4
Net reserves at December 31, 2019 $ 167.6
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The following table is inforff mation about average historical claims duration as of December 31, 2019. The tabla e is computed based on
the paid and incurred claims data, net of reinsurance, for the accident years presented in the preceding claims development tables.

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance:
Unaudited

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Commercial multiple peril 33.1% 21.9% 11.7% 10.9% 7.2% 4.1% 2.6%
Workers' compensam tion 19.7% 27.1% 15.6% 9.4% 5.5% 3.4% 2.7% 1.5% 0.9% 0.7%
Commercial automobile liability 16.8% 20.0% 19.3% 19.6% 13.0% 4.3%
General liabia lity and umbrm ella
- occurrence 3.7% 11.4% 18.7% 20.0% 15.5% 11.2% 4.0% 3.4% 3.7%

General liability - claims made 12.8% 33.4% 24.7% 12.8% 5.5% 4.5%
Personal automobile liability 31.1% 28.5% 18.8% 11.7% 4.7%
Homeowners 67.8% 23.3% 4.2% 2.6%

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedingsdd

The Compam ny has been named a defendaff nt in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. In addition, the
Company is involved, from time to time, in examinations, investigations and proceedings by governmr ental and self-regulatory
agencies. The potential outcome of any such action or regulatory proceedings in which the Company has been named a defenff dant or
the subject of an inquiry or investigation, and its ultimate liability, if any, from such action or regulatory proceedings, is difficult to
predict at this time. The ultimate resolutions of such proceedings are not expected to have a material effect on its financial position,
although they could have a material effect on the results of operations for a particular quarter or annual period.

Residual Marketstt

The Compam ny is required to participate in residual markets in various states, which generally pertain to high risk insureds, disrupted
markets or lines of business or geographica areas where rates are regarded as excessive. The results of the residual markets are not
subject to the predictability associated with the Company’s own managed business, and are significff ant to botht the personal and
commercial automobile lines of business.

17. STATUTORY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company’s insurance subsiu diaries are required to file annual statements with state regulatory authorities prepared on an
accounting basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities (statutoryrr basis), as codified by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (“NAIC”). Permitted statutt ory accounting practices encompam ss all accounting practices that are not prescribed; such
practices differff from state to state, may differff from company to company within a state, and may change in the future. The Company’s
insurance subsidiaries did not have any permitted practices as of or for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Statutt ory capia tal and surplus differs from shareholders’ equiq ty reported in accordance with U.S. GAAP primarily because under the
statutt ory basis of accounting, deferff red acquisition costs are expensed when incurred and the recognition of deferred tax assets is based
on different recoverability assumptions.

The foff llowing table provides statut tory net income for the years ended Decemberm 31 and statutt ory capital and surplus for the insurance
subsidiaries as of Decemberm 31 for the periods indicated:
(inii millll ioll ns)s 2019 2018 2017
Statutt ory Net Income $ 348.4 $ 296.1 $ 254.5
Statutory Capital and Surplrr us 2,470.2 2,172.5 2,077.1

The minimumm statutoryrr capitala and surplus necessary to satisfyff the Company’s regulatory requirements was $531.8 million, $518.4
million and $500.7 million, which equalq s the Authorized Controlt Level at Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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18. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

The quarterly results of operations for 2019 and 2018 are summarized below.

THREE MONTHS ENDED
(in millions, except per share data)( , p p )
2019 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec.cc 31
Total revenues $ 1,219.5 $ 1,198.6 $ 1,214.7 $ 1,257.9
Income from continuing operations 122.6 85.0 111.2 110.2
Net income 122.4 74.0 118.9 109.8
Income from continuing operations per share:

Basic 3.02 2.09 2.81 2.81
Diluted 2.98 2.06 2.77 2.77

Net income per share:
Basic 3.01 1.82 3.00 2.80
Diluted 2.97 1.79 2.96 2.76

Dividends declared per share (1) 0.60 0.60 0.60 3.15

THREE MONTHS ENDED
(in millions, except per share data)( , p p )
2018 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec.cc 31
Total revenues $ 1,091.5 $ 1,133.4 $ 1,166.6 $ 1,102.8
Income from continuing operations 50.5 82.4 104.0 2.1
Net income 67.7 99.3 100.4 123.6
Income from continuing operations per share:

Basic 1.19 1.94 2.45 0.05
Diluted 1.17 1.91 2.41 0.05

Net income per share:
Basic 1.59 2.34 2.36 2.92
Diluted 1.57 2.31 2.33 2.88

Dividends declared per share(2) 0.54 0.54 0.54 5.35

(1) On Decemberm 5, 2019 the Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $2.50 per share.
(2) As a result of the sale of Chaucer (see Note 2 – “Discontinued Operations”), on Decembem r 30, 2018 the Board of Directors

declared a special dividend of $4.75 per share.

Due to the use of weighted average shares outstanding when calculating earnirr ngs per common share, the sum of the quarterly per
common share data may not equal the per common share data for the year.

During the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company recognized $26.3 million of prepayment fees related to its FHLB advance (see Note 6
– “Debt and Credit Arrangements”).

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events requiring adjud stment to the financial statements and no additional disclosures required in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 9–CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A–CAA ONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES EVALUATION

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of our “disclosure controlt s and procedures”, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e)
promulmm gated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

LIMITATIONII SNN ON THEHH EFFECTIVENFF ESNN SSS OF CONTROO OLS

Our management, including our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, do not expect that our disclosure controls over
financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A controltt system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonabla e, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Furthet r, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constrat ints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controltt s can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraudaa , if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be
faulty and breakdowns can occur becausa e of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management overrir de of the controls. The design of any system of controlt s is based
in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-
effecff tive control system, misstatements due to error or frauda may occur and not be detected.

CONCLNN USIOSS NOO REGARDINGII THEHH EFFECTIVENESNN SSS OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLTT S ANDNN PROCEDURCC ES

Based on our controlt s evaluation, our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer concluded that, as of the end of the period
covered by this annual report, our disclosure controltt s and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that (i) the
information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specifiedff in the SEC’s rules and forms and (ii) material information is accumulm ated
and communim cated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officerff and Chief Financial Officer,ff as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

MANAGEMENMM TNN �S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCINN ALII REPORTEE INGTT

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).ff Under the supeu rvision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,ff we conducted an evaluation of the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the updated Internal Contrott l � Integrated Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the updated frameworkr in Internalrr Control � Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal controltt over financial reporting was effectff ive as of Decemberm 31, 2019.

The effectiveff ness of our internal control over financial reporting as of Decembem r 31, 2019 has been audited by
Pricewaterhor useCoopers LLP, an independent registered publu ic accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

CHANGES IN INTERNAR L CONTROL

Our management, including the Chief Executive Offiff cer and the Chief Financial Officeff r, conducted an evaluation of the internal
controltt over financial reporting, as required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exchange Act, to determine whether any changes occurred
during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that have materially affeff cted, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officff er
concluded that there was no such change during the last quarter of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that
has materially affecff ted, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internalr control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B-OTHER INFORMATION

Board of Directors Matters

Election of Martin P. Hughes

On February 24, 2020, the Board of Directors elected Martin J. Hughes to the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Hughes, 71,
serves as non-executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of HUB International Limited (“HUB”), a privately held insurance
brokerage firm providing an array of property, casualty, risk management, life and health,t emplmm oyee benefits, investmet nt, and wealth
management products and servirr ces across Northt America. Mr. Hughes previously served as Chairman and CEO of HUB from 1999 to
2018 and as an executive of HUB from 2018 to January 2020. He joined Mack and Parker, Inc., an independent insurance agency, in
1973 (now a part of HUB), where he served as President from 1990 to 1999, and as Chairman from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Hughes has
also served as chair of both the Council of Insurance Agents & Brokers, an association of the top commercial insurance and emplm oyee
benefitsff intermediaries, as well as Assurex Global, a leading worldwide insurance services organization.

To balance our classes of directors, Mr. Hughes will serve in the class of directors whose term expires at the Company’s 2022 annual
meeting of shareholders.

Mr. Hughes will receive the same compensation for his service on the Compam ny’s Board of Directors as the Company’s othet r non-
emplm oyee directors, as described in Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that was filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 1, 2019, but pro-rated to reflect that he was appointed mid-term.

Election of Cynthtt ia L. Egan as Vice Chair of the Boardr

On Februaryrr 24, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company elected Cynthia L. Egan Vice Chair of the Board. In anticipation of Mr.
Condron’s mandatory retirement from the Board in May 2021 in accordance with the Company’s director retirement policy, Ms. Egan
was elected Vice Chair to assist in the Board’s orderly transition to a new independent Chair, with the expectation that she will be
elected as Chair following Mr. Condron’s retirement.

As Vice Chair, Ms. Egan will help to facilitate the functioning of the Board by assuming the duties and responsibilities that may be
assigned to her from time to time by the Chair or the full Board of Directors and, in the event Mr. Condron is not present at a meeting,
assuming the duties of the Chair and Independent Presiding Director.

Resignation of Michael D. Price

Citing personal reasons, on Februaryrr 21, 2020, Michael D. Price notified the Board of his intention to resign from the Board, effective
at the 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 12, 2020.
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PART III

ITEM 10–DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATERR GOVERNANCE

DIRECTORS OF THE REGISTRANRR T

Except for the portions about executive officff ers and our Code of Conduct that are set fortht below, this information is incorporated
herein by reference to the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 12, 2020 to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Set forth below is biographa ical information concernirr ng our executive officff ers.

Mark L. Berthiaume, 63

Executive Vice Presidendd t, Chiefe Technologyl Innovation Officer

Mr. Berthiaumt e has been head of Technology since joining THG in 2014. Prior to joining the Company, from 2001 to 2014, Mr.
Berthiauma e held a number of senior roles with The Chubb Corporation, last serving as Senior Vice President, International Chief
Information Officeff r. Previously, Mr. Berthiaumt e was Vice President, Specialty Insurance Chief Information Offiff cer of Orion
Capital/Royal and Sunalliance Insurance Group, from 1995 to 2001, and prior to that he held a number of systems development and
support positions with several insurance companies, including THG.

Jeffrey M. Farber, 55

Executive Vice President,t Chief Financial Officeff r

Mr. Farber joined THG in October 2016 afteff r spending the previous five years with American International Group (AIG). He joined
AIG as Senior Vice President and Deputy Chief Financial Offiff cer and then was appointed Chief Risk Officff er, Commercial and
Consumer Business. Prior to AIG, Mr. Farber serverr d as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of GAMCO Investors,
Inc., a public company asset manager. Previously, he held senior accounting and finance roles at The Bear Stearnsr Companies, Inc.,
most recently as Senior Managing Director, Controller and Senior Vice President, responsible for finance, tax and global procurement.
He began his career at Deloitte & Touche LLP, rising to partner in the firm.

J. Kendall Huber, 65

Executive Vice President,t General Counsel and Assistaii nt Secretaryr

Mr. Huberu has been General Counsel and Assistant Secretary since joining THG in 2000. Prior to joining THG, Mr. Huber was
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Promusmm Hotel Corporation from 1999 to 2000. Previously, Mr. Hubeu r was
Vice President and Deputyt General Counsel of Legg Mason, Inc. from 1998 to 1999, and of USF&G Corporation, where he was
emplmm oyed from 1990 to 1998. Mr. Huber was previously with the law firm now known as DLA Piper and a Lieutenant, U.S. Navy
Judge Advocate General’s Corps. Mr. Huber has indicated his intention to retire as of April 1, 2020.

Dennis F. Kerrigan, 55

Executive Vice President,t Deputye General Counsel and Assistant Secretarytt

Mr. Kerrigan joined the Company as Executive Vice President, Deputy General Counsel and Assistant Secretary, in January 2020. Mr.
Kerrigan is expected to succeed Mr. Huberu as General Counsel upon Mr. Huber’s retirement which is expected April 1, 2020. Beforff e
joining THG, Mr. Kerrigan was Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary for Zurich North America, from
2008 to 2019. Previously, he was a litigation partner with the law firm then knok wn as Dewey & LeBoeuf.

Richard W. Lavey, 52

Executive Vice President;t President,ee Hanover Agencyc Marketskk

Mr. Lavey has served as Executive Vice President, and President Hanover Agency Markets since Novembem r 2017. Mr. Lavey
previously served as Executive Vice President, Chief Growth Innovation Offiff cer from Februar ry 2017 to Novembem r 2017. Prior to that
time, he was President, Personal Lines of THG since Novembem r 2014 and Chief Marketing Offiff cer since 2011, assuming
responsibility for Field Operations in 2016. Mr. Lavey joined THG in 2004 and during this time has also served in the following roles:
Chief Distribution Offiff cer, Senior Vice President, Operations and Marketing; Regional President, Northeast; and Vice President, Field
Operations and Marketing & Distribution. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Lavey worked for The Hartford Financial Services
Group,u Inc. and The Travelers Corp.
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Denise M. Lowsley, 48

Executive Vice President,t Chief Human Resources Officer

Ms. Lowsley joined the Company as Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Offiff cer in October 2019. Prior to joining
the Company, she spent the past 10 years as Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Offiff cer at The Navigators Group,u Inc.,
a specialty property and casualty insurance holding compam ny. Before joining Navigators, Ms. Lowsley was International Vice
President, Compensation and Benefitsff at New York Life Insurance Companymm , and had spent the previous 10 years at Liberty Mutual
Insurance Group, rising to the role of Global Human Resources Manager.

John C. Roche, 56

President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Roche became President and Chief Executive Offiff cer in Novembem r 2017. Prior to that he led the Company’s personal and
commercial lines businesses as Executive Vice President and President, Hanover Agency Markets. Since joining the Company in
2006, Mr. Roche has served in several senior leadership positions, including President, Business Insurance; Vice President, Field
Operations, Marketing and Distribution; and Vice President, Commercial Lines Underwrirr ting and Product Management. Prior to
joining the Company, he served in senior roles at the St. Paul Travelers Compam nies. He began his career at Fireman’s Fund and
Atlantic Mutual, where he held a number of underwriting and management positions.

Bryan J. Salvatore, 55

Executive ViceVV President;t Presidee entdd ,t Specialtytt

Mr. Salvatore joined the Company in June 2017 as Executive Vice President and President, Specialty. Prior to joining the Company,
he spent 20 years with Zurich North America in a number of leadership roles, most recently serving as President of the company's
specialty productsd business since 2012. Prior to joining Zurich in 1997, Mr. Salvatore was a Director in the programs division of Frank
Crystal & Co., Inc., a leading brokerage firm.

Ann K. Tripp, 61

Executive Vice Presidendd t, Chief Investmett nt Officff er,r Treasurer and Presidee entdd ,t Opus Investment Management, Inc.

Ms. Tripp has been Chief Investment Officff er and President of Opus Investment Management, Inc. since 2006 and was elected
Treasurer in 2019. She joined the Company in 1987, and prior to becoming our Chief Investment Offiff cer, served in a variety of
increasingly senior roles within our investment department. Ms. Tripp is also the Investmet nt Officer of the Hanover Insurance Group
Foundation and serves on the board and sub-committees of several area non-profit organizations.

Mark J. Welzenbach, 60

Executive Vice President,t Chiefe Claims Offiff cer

Mr. Welzenban ch was appointed Chief Claims Officer of THG shortly afteff r joining the Company in 2005. Beforeff joining the Company,
Mr. Welzenbach was Senior Vice President, Claims for The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc. from 1995 to 2005. Prior to that,
he was Director of Claims from 1991 to 1995 for Travelers Insurance Company. Mr. Welzenbach began his career as a practicing
attorney.

OTHER SENIOR CORPORATRR E OFFICER OF THE REGISTRANTAA

Warren E. Barnes, 58

Senior Vice President,t Corporate Controller and Principali Accounting Officff er

Mr. Barnes was appointed Principal Accounting Offiff cer in 2015. Mr. Barnes joined the Company in 1993, and has been its Controller
since 1997. Before joining the Company, Mr. Barnes was emplm oyed from 1985 to 1993 by the public accounting firm then known as
Price Waterhouse. He is a certified public accountant in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the State of Vermont.

Pursuant to section 4.4 of the Company’s by-laws, each offiff cer shall hold officeff until the first meeting of the Board of Directors
following the next annual meeting of the shareholders and until his or her respective successor is chosen and qualified unless a shorter
period shall have been specified by the terms of his or her election or appointment, or in each case until such officerff sooner dies,
resigns, is removed or becomes disqualifieff d.

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board of Directors of THG has scheduled the 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders for May 12, 2020. The record date for
determining the shareholders of the Company entitled to notice of and to vote at such Annual Meeting is March 16, 2020.
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CODE OF CONDUCT

Our Code of Conduct is available, free of charge, on our website at www.hanover.com under “About Us – Corporate Governarr nce –
Compam ny Policies”. The Code of Conductd applies to our directors, officersff and employemm es, including our Chief Executive Offiff cer,
Chief Financial Officerff and Corporate Controller. In addition, we expect our agents, contractors and others with whom we do business
to act in accordance with our Code of Conducd t. We will disclose any futurtt e amendments to the Code of Conductdd (othet r than technical,
administrative or non-substantive amendments) within four business days following the date of such amendment. While we do not
expect to grant waivers to our Code of Conduct, any such waivers to our Chief Executive Offiff cer, Chief Financial Officerff or
Corporate Controller will be posted on our website at www.hanover.com, as required by applicable law or New York Stock Exchange
requirements. A printed copy of the Code of Conducd t will be provided, free of charge, by contacting the Company’s Corporate
Secretary at the Company’sm headquarters, 440 Lincoln Street, Worcester, MA 01653.

ITEM 11–EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporr rated herein by reference from the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 12, 2020, to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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ITEM 12–SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following tabla e sets forth information as of December 31, 2019 with respect to compemm nsation plans under which equity securities
of the Company are authorized for issuance.

Plan Category

Number of
securities to

be issued upon
exercise

of outstanding
options,
warrants

and rights (1)

Weighted
average exercise

price of
outstanding

options, warrants
and rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
under equity
compensation

plans (2)

Equiq ty compensation plans approved by
security holders 1,609,141 $ 87.88 5,968,593

Equiq ty compensatmm ion plans not approved by
security holders —— —— ——

Total 1,609,141 $ 87.88 5,968,593

(1) Includes 487,582 shares of common stock which may be issued upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock units and market-
based restricted stock units (assuming the maximumm award amount) of which, 21,066 represent dividend equiq valent shares
associated with the 2018 and 2019 awards. The weighted average exercise price does not take these awards into account.

(2) On May 20, 2014, shareholders approved The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2014 Stock
Plan”). With respect to new share-based award issuances, the 2014 Stock Plan replaced The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.
2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2006 Stock Plan”) and authorized the issuance of 6,100,000 shares in a new share pool
plus any shares subjectu to outstanding awards under the 2006 Stock Plan that may become available for reissuance as a result of
the cash settlement, forfeiture, expiration or cancellation of such awards. In accordance with the 2014 Stock Plan, the issuance
of one share of common stock in the form of an option or SAR will reduced the share pool by one share, whereas the issuance of
one share of common stock for the other typesyy of stock awards provided by the plan will reducd e the pool by 3.8 shares.
Additionally, on May 20, 2014, the shareholders approved The Hanoa ver Insurance Group 2014 Emplmm oyee Stock Purchase plan,
authorizing the issuance of 2,500,000 shares, under such plan.

Additional information related to Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management is incorporr rated herein by
reference from the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 12, 2020, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

ITEM 13–CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated herein by reference froff m the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 12, 2020, to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

ITEM 14–PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated herein by reference froff m the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 12, 2020, to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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PART IV

ITEM 15–EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(A)(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements and accompam nying notes thereto are included on pages 71 to 123 of this Form 10-K.

Pagea No. in this
Report

Report of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm ................................................................................................. 71
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended Decembem r 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017............................................. 73
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended Decembem r 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017................... 74
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of Decembm er 31, 2019 and 2018........................................................................................ 75
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017........................ 76
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017...................................... 77
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements......................................................................................................................... 78

(A)(2) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES
Pagea No. in this

Report
I Summary of Investments - Othet r than Investments in Related Parta ies ........................................................................ 137
II Condensed Financial Information of Registrant........................................................................................................... 138
III Supplementary Insurance Informff ation ......................................................................................................................... 141
IV Reinsurance .................................................................................................................................................................. 142
V Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ............................................................................................................................. 143
VI Suppu lemental Inforff mation Concernirr ng Property and Casualty Insurance Operations ................................................. 144
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(A)(3) EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2005, between The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., as Buyer, and the
Registrant, as Seller (the schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K), previously
filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 24, 2005 and
incorporr rated herein by reference.

2.2 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2008, by and between the Registrant and Commonwealth Annuity and Life
Insurance Company (the schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K), previously
filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 4, 2008 and
incorporr rated herein by reference.

2.3 Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of Shares in the Capia tal of The Hanover Insurance International Holdings Limited,
Chaucer Insurance Company Designated Activity Company and Hanover Australia HoldCo Pty Ltd., dated Septembem r 13,
2018, by and between the Registrant and China Reinsurance (Group)u Corporation (the schedules and exhibits have been
omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K), previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on September 13, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

2.4 Supplemental Agreement by and between the Registrant and China Reinsurance (Group) Corporation, dated December 28,
2018 relating to the Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of Shares in the Capital of The Hanover Insurance International
Holdings Limited, Chaucer Insurance Company Designated Activity Company and Hanover Australia HoldCo Pty Ltd.,
dated Septembem r 13, 2018, by and betweentt the Registrant and China Reinsurance (Group)u Corporr ation, previously filed as
Exhibit 2.1 to the Registratt nt’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 3, 2019 and incorporated
herein by reference.

2.5 Second Supplemental Agreement by and between the Registratt nt and China Reinsurance (Group) Corporation, dated March
27, 2019 relating to the Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of Shares in the Capiaa tal of The Hanover Insurance International
Holdings Limited, Chaucer Insurance Company Designated Activity Company and Hanover Australia HoldCo Pty Ltd.,
dated Septembem r 13, 2018, by and betweentt the Registrant and China Reinsurance (Group) Corporr ation, previously filed as
Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 2, 2019 and incorporated
herein by reference.

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registratt nt’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the Commission on March 16, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.

3.2 Amended By-Laws of the Registrant, previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Commission on Novemberm 21, 2006 and incorporatedrr herein by reference.

4.1 Specimen Certificff ate of the Registrant’s Common Stock, previously filed as Exhibit 4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 16, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.

4.2 Form of Indenture relating to the Debentures betwett en the Registrant, as issuer, and State Street Bank & Trustr Compam ny, as
trustr ee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-96764) filed with
the Commission on Septembm er 11, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference. (P)

4.3 Form of Global Debenture relating to the Registrant’s 7 5/8% Senior Debenturt es due 2025, previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to
the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 16, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.4 Indenture, dated Februarr ry 3, 1997, relating to the Registrant’s Junior Subordinated Debenturt es, previously filed as Exhibit 3
to the Registratt nt’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 5, 1997 and incorporr rated herein by
reference.

4.5 First Supplemental Indenture, dated July 30, 2009, amending the indenture dated Februar ry 3, 1997 relating to the Junior
Subordinated Debenturet s of the Registrant, previously filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the Commission on March 1, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

4.6 Form of Global Security representing $300,000,000 principal amount of Junior Subou rdinated Debenturtt es of the Registrant,
previously filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 1, 2010
and incorporatr ed herein by reference.

4.7 Indenture, dated as of March 20, 2013, by and between the Registrant, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustr ee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No: 333-187373) filed
with the Commission on March 20, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
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4.8 First Supplemental Indenturtt e (to the Indenture dated as of March 20, 2013), dated as of March 27, 2013, related to the 6.35%
Subordinated Debenturest due 2053, between the Registrant, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trusrr tee,
previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 27, 2013
and incorporatr ed herein by reference.

4.9 Form of Security Certificate representing the 6.35% Suboru dinated Debenturt es due 2053, previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 27, 2013 and incorporr rated herein by
reference.

4.10 Base Indenture, dated as of April 8, 2016, between the Registrant, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee,
previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 8, 2016
and incorporatr ed herein by reference.

4.11 First Supplemental Indenture (to the Base Indenturett dated as of April 8, 2016), as of April 8, 2016, between the Registrant,
as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustr ee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registratt nt’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 8, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

4.12 Form of Security Certificate representing the 4.5% Notes due 2026, previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 8, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

4.13 Description of Registrant’s Securities.

+10.1 State Mutual Life Assurance Compam ny of America Excess Benefit Retirement Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-91766) filed with the Commission on May 1, 1995 and
incorporated herein by reference. (P)

+10.2 The Hanover Insurance Group Cash Balance Pension Plan, as amended, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on October 31, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.3 The Hanover Insurance Group Retirement Savings Plan, as amended.

+10.4 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Qualified Retirement Savings Plan, previously filed as
Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on Februarr ry 24, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.5 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended, previously filed as Annex I to the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on March 29, 2012 and incorporated
herein by reference.

+10.6 Form of Non-Qualifiedff Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on
Novembem r 8, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.7 Form of Non-Qualifiedff Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on
Februar ry 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.8 Amendment to outstanding Stock Options issued under The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on
Februar ry 25, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.9 The Hanover Insurance Groupu 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously filed as Annex I to the Registrant’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on April 3, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.10 Form of Non-Qualifieff d Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrantt t’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 20, 2014
and incorporatr ed herein by reference.

+10.11 Amendment to outstanding Stock Options issued under The Hanover Insurance Groupu 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on
Februar ry 25, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.12 Form of Non-Qualifieff d Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on
Februar ry 25, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.
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+10.13 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan for
Chief Financial Officer, previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Commission on November 4, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.14 Form of Non-Qualifieff d Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on Februaryrr
27, 2018 and incorporated herein by refereff nce.

+10.15 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan for
Chief Financial Offiff cer, previously filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on Februar ry 27, 2018 and incorporated herein by referff ence.

+10.16 Form of Non-Qualifieff d Stock Option Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

+10.17 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on February 25, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.18 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term
Incentive Plan for Chief Financial Officff er, previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed with the Commission on Novemberm 4, 2016 and incorporr rated herein by reference.

+10.19 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on February 27, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.20 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term
Incentive Plan for Chief Financial Officer,ff previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Registratt nt’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the Commission on Februar ry 27, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Groupu 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 20, 2014 and
incorporr rated herein by reference.

+10.22 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Groupu 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on Februar ry 27, 2018 and
incorporr rated herein by reference.

+10.23 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Groupu 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan, previously
filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on Februar ry 27, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference.

+10.24 Form of Restritt cted Stock Unit Agreement under The Hanover Insurance Group 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Chief
Financial Offiff cer, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Commission on May 2, 2019 and incorporated herein by referff ence.

+10.25 The Hanover Insurance Group,u Inc. Amended and Restated Employment Continuity Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 11, 2008 and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.26 Form of Side Letter Agreement for New Participants in The Hanover Insurance Group Amended and Restated Emplm oyment
Continuity Plan waiving right to IRC §280G “Gross-Up” Payments, previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on July 29, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.27 Description of 2019 — 2020 Non-Employee Director Compensation, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 1, 2019 and incorporated herein by refeff rence.

+10.28 The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferral Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on Februarrr y 27, 2009 and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.29 Offeff r Letter, dated September 21, 2016, by and between Jeffreyff M. Farber r and the Registrant, previously filed as Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on Septemberm 23, 2016 and incorporated
herein by reference.
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+10.30 The Hanover Insurance Groupu Amended and Restated 2014 Emplm oyee Stock Purchase Plan, previously filed as Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-196107) filed with the Commission on May 20, 2014
and incorporatr ed herein by reference.

+10.31 Form of Leadership Severance Arrangement, previously filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the Commission on Februar ry 27, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.32 Form of Accident and Health Coinsurance Agreement between The Hanover Insurance Compam ny, as Reinsurer, and First
Allmerica Financial Life Insurance Company (the schedules and certain exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item
601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K), previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on August 4, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.33 Credit Agreement dated April 30, 2019, among the Registrant, as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative
agent, and various other lender parties, previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the Commission on May 2, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.34 Form of Accelerated Share Repurchase Confirmation betwett en the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., dated December
5, 2019, previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
Decembem r 6, 2019 and incorporr ated herein by reference.

21 Subsiu diaries of THG

23 Consent of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm

24 Power of Attorney

31.1 Certificff ation of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m. 78o(d), as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certificff ation of the Chief Financial Officeff r, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m, 78o(d), as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certificff ation of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certificff ation of the Chief Financial Officeff r, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99.1 Internal Revenue Service Ruling dated April 15, 1995 previously filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-91766) filed with the Commission on May 1, 1995 and incorporr rated herein by reference. (P)

101 The following materials from The Hanover Insurance Group,u Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
Decembem r 31, 2019 formatted in Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language (“iXBRL”): (i) Consolidated Statements of
Income for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017; (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for
the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017; (iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets at Decemberm 31, 2019 and 2018; (iv)
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017; (v) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Decemberm 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017; (vi) related notes to these consolidated
financial statements; and (vii) Financial Statement Schedules.

104 The cover page from The Hanover Insurance Group Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decemberm 31,
2019, formatted in iXBRL (embedded within EX-101).

+ Management contractt or compensatory plan or arranrr gement.
(P) Paper exhibits

ITEM 16 – FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.
Registrant

Date: February 24, 2020 By: /S/ JOHN C. ROCHE
John C. Roche,

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: February 24, 2020 By: /S/ JOHN C. ROCHE
John C. Roche,

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: /S/ JEFFREY M. FARBER
Jeffreyff M. Farber,

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Date: February 24, 2020 By: /S/ WARREN E. BARNES
Warren E. Barnes,

Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller and
Principal Accounting Officeff r

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Kevin J. Bradicich,

Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Jane D. Carlin,

Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
P. Kevin Condron,

Chairman of the Board

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Cynthia L. Egan,

Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Daniel T. Henry,

Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Wendell J. Knox,

Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Kathleen S. Lane,

Director
Date: February 24, 2020 By: *

Michael D. Price,
Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Joseph R. Ramrath,

Director

Date: February 24, 2020 By: *
Harriett Tee Taggart,

Director

Date: February 24, 2020 *By: /S/ JEFFREY M. FARBER
Jeffreyff M. Farber,
Attorney-in-fact
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SCHEDULE I

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS – OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES

DECEMBER 31, 2019
(inii millions)( )

Typeyy ofo investment Cost (1) Fair Value

Amount at
which

shown in
the balance

sheet
Fixed maturities:

Bonds:
United States Government and governmrr ent agencies and authorities $ 1,245.0 $ 1,268.9 $ 1,268.9
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 807.1 833.5 833.5
Foreign governmrr ents 15.7 16.1 16.1
Public utilities 387.2 403.6 403.6
All other corporate bonds 3,982.7 4,150.5 4,150.5

Total fixed maturities 6,437.7 6,672.6 6,672.6
Equity securities:

Common stocks:
Publu ic utilities 56.0 96.3 96.3
Banks, trusts and insurance companies 40.3 49.0 49.0
Indusd trial, miscellaneous and all other 297.8 429.4 429.4

Nonredeemable preferred stock 1.0 1.0 1.0
Total equity securities 395.1 575.7 575.7

Mortgage loans on real estate 441.2 461.6 441.2
Real estate 7.9 7.9 7.9
Other long-term investments 270.8 284.1 284.1
Short-term investments 14.5 14.5 14.5

Total investments $ 7,567.2 $ 8,016.4 $ 7,996.0

Original cost of equity securities and, as to fixed maturities, original cost reduced by repayments and adjusted for amortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts.
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SCHEDULE II

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANRR T

PARENT COMPANY ONLY

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Revenues

Net investment income $ 19.8 $ 11.8 $ 7.6
Net realized gains (losses) from sales and othert 5.3 (0.5) (0.2)
Other income 0.4 0.8 0.7

Total revenues 25.5 12.1 8.1
Expenses

Interest expense 37.4 37.8 38.1
Emplm oyee benefitff related expenses 5.0 5.1 7.4
Interest expense on loan from subsidiary 6.9 6.8 7.0
Other operating expenses 7.1 14.0 10.5

Total expenses 56.4 63.7 63.0
Net loss before income taxes and equity in income of subsiu diaries (30.9) (51.6) (54.9)
Income tax benefit 25.6 21.4 44.4
Equity in income of subsidiaries 432.4 288.4 196.1
Income from continuing operations 427.1 258.2 185.6

Sale of Chaucer business (net of income tax benefitff (expense) of $5.3
and $(42.5) in 2019 and 2018) (2.1) 131.9 ——

Income from discontinued lifeff business (net of income tax expense
of $0.2 and $0.1 in 2018 and 2017) 0.1 0.9 0.6

Net income 425.1 391.0 186.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 267.6 (122.4) 44.8
Comprehensive income $ 692.7 $ 268.6 $ 231.0

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II (CONTINUED)

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANRR T

PARENT COMPANY ONLY

BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2019 2018
(in millions, except per share data)( , p p )
Assets

Fixed maturities - at fair value (amortized cost of $321.2 and $380.5) $ 328.5 $ 374.3
Equity securities - at fair value 1.1 1.1
Cash and cash equivalents (1) 12.2 827.4
Investments in subsu idiaries 3,352.2 2,800.1
Net receivable from subsidiaries 25.1 25.0
Other assets (2) 3.2 34.6

Total assets $ 3,722.3 $ 4,062.5
Liabilities

Expenses and state taxes payabla e (3) $ 16.4 $ 275.2
Current income tax payable 3.5 46.9
Interest payabla e 7.8 7.8
Debt 778.4 777.9

Total liabia lities 806.1 1,107.8
Shareholders' Equity

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 20.0 million shares authorized,
none issued —— ——

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 300.0 million shares authorized,
60.5 million shares issued 0.6 0.6

Additional paid-in-capital 1,837.3 1,871.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 152.6 (116.5)
Retained earnings 2,410.9 2,182.3
Treasury stock at cost (22.1 and 18.2 million shares) (1,485.2) (983.5)

Total shareholders' equity 2,916.2 2,954.7
Total liabia lities and shareholders' equity $ 3,722.3 $ 4,062.5

(1) All of the Chaucer sale cash proceeds of $762.0 million that were received in 2018 were used in 2019 to fund accelerated stock
repurchases of $550.0 million and special dividends of $288.6 million.

(2) In 2018, other assets include a $31.7 million receivable for estimated contingent consideration related to the Chaucer sale. In
2019, $22.0 million of contingent proceeds were received and the remaining $9.7 million was recognized as a loss in
discontinued operations.

(3) The 2018 special dividend of $193.4 million, declared in conjunction with the sale of the Chaucer business, was paid in January
of 2019.

The condensed financial informff ation should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II (CONTINUED)

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANRR T

PARENT COMPANY ONLY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2019 2018 2017
(in millions)( )
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 425.1 $ 391.0 $ 186.2
Adjud stments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Loss (gain) from sale of Chaucer business 2.1 (131.9) ——
Net realized investment (gains) losses (5.3) 0.6 0.2
Equiq ty in net income of subsiu diaries (432.3) (288.4) (196.1)
Dividends received from subsidiaries 69.9 86.4 55.1
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (13.9) (5.3) 18.9
Change in expenses and taxes payabla e (107.8) 59.7 (27.4)
Change in net receivable from subsidiaries 11.6 8.9 9.0
Other, net 3.9 1.5 (0.1)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (46.7) 122.5 45.8
Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposals and maturities of fixed maturities 447.9 82.8 94.1
Proceeds from disposals of equity securities 121.9 —— ——
Purchase of fixed maturities (316.1) (4.0) ——
Purchase of equiq ty securities (121.9) —— ——
Net cash received from sale of Chaucer business 35.1 762.0 ——
Net cash used for business acquiq sitions —— —— (12.3)

Net cash provided by investing activities 166.9 840.8 81.8
Cash flows from financing activities

Repurchase of common stock (563.6) (57.7) (37.2)
Dividends paid to shareholders (386.2) (94.3) (86.8)
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options 14.4 14.8 23.1
Net cash related to short-term intercompam ny borrowings —— (19.8) ——
Repurchases of debt —— (11.6) ——
Other financing activities —— —— (4.1)

Net cash used in financing activities (935.4) (168.6) (105.0)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (815.2) 794.7 22.6
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 827.4 32.7 10.1
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 12.2 $ 827.4 $ 32.7

Included in other operating cash flows was the cash portion of dividends received from unconsolidated subsiu diaries. Additionally,
investment assets of $70.1 million, $179.8 million and $261.6 million were transferred to the parent company in 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, to settle dividend obligations and other intercompanymm borrowings and balances.

The condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE III
THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION

DECEMBER 31, 2019
(inii millions)( )

Segments

Deferred
acquisition

costs

Future
policy
benefits,
losses,
claims
and loss
expenses

Unearned
premiums

Other
policy
claims
and

benefits
payable

Premium
revenue

Net
investment
income (1)

Benefits,
claims,
losses
and

settlement
expenses

Amortization
of deferred
acquisition

costs

Other
operating
expenses

(2)
Premiums
written

Commercial Lines $ 307.4 $3,768.9 $ 1,446.7 $ 8.4 $2,654.2 $ 180.1 $ 1,610.0 $ 604.4 $ 330.3 $ 2,707.2
Personal Lines 160.0 1,839.4 970.0 —— 1,820.3 80.1 1,254.2 322.3 191.6 1,874.5
Other —— 37.7 —— —— —— 21.1 1.3 —— 23.1 ——
Interest on Debt —— —— —— —— —— —— —— —— 37.5 ——
Eliminations —— —— —— —— —— —— —— —— (6.1) ——

Total (4) $ 467.4 $5,646.0 $ 2,416.7 $ 8.4 $4,474.5 $ 281.3 $ 2,865.5 $ 926.7 $ 576.4 $ 4,581.7

DECEMBER 31, 2018
(inii millions)( )

Segments

Deferred
acquisition

costs

Future
policy
benefits,
losses,
claims
and loss
expenses

Unearned
premiums

Other
policy
claims
and

benefits
payable

Premium
revenue

Net
investment
income (1)

Benefits,
claims,
losses
and

settlement
expenses

Amortization
of deferred
acquisition

costs

Other
operating
expenses
(2), (3)

Premiums
written

Commercial Lines $ 296.9 $3,550.6 $ 1,369.5 $ 8.0 $2,548.4 $ 182.2 $ 1,568.3 $ 587.5 $ 318.0 $ 2,610.7
Personal Lines 153.9 1,707.6 908.3 —— 1,706.0 73.7 1,155.0 304.3 185.8 1,774.1
Other —— 37.9 —— —— —— 11.5 1.3 —— 54.3 ——
Interest on Debt —— —— —— —— —— —— —— —— 45.1 ——
Eliminations —— —— —— —— —— —— —— —— (7.8) ——

Total (4) $ 450.8 $5,296.1 $ 2,277.8 $ 8.0 $4,254.4 $ 267.4 $ 2,724.6 $ 891.8 $ 595.4 $ 4,384.8

DECEMBER 31, 2017
(inii millions)( )

Segments

Deferred
acquisition

costs

Future
policy
benefits,
losses,
claims
and loss
expenses

Unearned
premiums

Other
policy
claims
and

benefits
payable

Premium
revenue

Net
investment
income (1)

Benefits,
claims,
losses
and

settlement
expenses

Amortization
of deferred
acquisition

costs

Other
operating
expenses

(2)
Premiums
written

Commercial Lines $ 286.4 $3,399.3 $ 1,299.5 $ 8.2 $2,399.6 $ 165.8 $ 1,531.4 $ 557.9 $ 312.8 $ 2,462.0
Personal Lines 143.6 1,619.3 833.7 —— 1,580.8 70.1 1,046.9 282.8 178.5 1,647.1
Other —— 38.7 —— —— —— 8.0 1.3 —— 26.0 ——
Interest on Debt —— —— —— —— —— —— —— —— 45.2 ——
Eliminations —— (7.0) (1.5) —— —— —— —— —— (7.8) ——

Total (4) $ 430.0 $5,050.3 $ 2,131.7 $ 8.2 $3,980.4 $ 243.9 $ 2,579.6 $ 840.7 $ 554.7 $ 4,109.1

(1) The Company manages investment assets for its Commercial Lines, Personal Lines and Other segments on a combined basis,
based on the requiq rements of its combined property and casualty companies. Net investment income is allocated to these
segments based on actuarial information related to the underlying businesses.

(2) For othet r operating expenses that are not directly attributable to a single segment for combined property and casualty
compamm nies, expenses are generally allocated based upon eithet r net premiums written or net premiums earner d.

(3) In 2018 the Othet r segment includes $28.2 million of losses on the repayment of debt.
(4) Information for all periods excludes results and balances related to the former Chaucer business (See Note 2 – “Discontinued

Operations” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
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SCHEDULE IV

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

REINSURANCE

Incorporr rated herein by reference to Note 14 —“Reinsurance” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SCHEDULE V

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

DECEMBER 31
Additions

(in millions)( )
Description

Balanll ce at
beginning of

period

Charged to
coststt and
expensesxx

Chargedr to
other

accounts(1) Deductions
Balance at

end of periodff
2019
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 4.2 $ 9.5 $ —— $ (10.2) $ 3.5
Allowance for uncollectible reinsurance recoverablesa 3.9 —— —— —— 3.9

$ 8.1 $ 9.5 $ —— $ (10.2) $ 7.4
2018
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 4.3 $ 9.5 $ —— $ (9.6) $ 4.2
Allowance for uncollectible reinsurance recoverablesa 9.7 0.6 (6.4) —— 3.9

$ 14.0 $ 10.1 $ (6.4) $ (9.6) $ 8.1
2017
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3.7 $ 9.4 $ —— $ (8.8) $ 4.3
Allowance for uncollectible reinsurance recoverablesa (2) 13.1 0.3 0.1 (3.8) 9.7

$ 16.8 $ 9.7 $ 0.1 $ (12.6) $ 14.0

(1) Amounts charged to othert accounts include foreign exchange gains and losses. Additionally, in 2018 the Company sold its
former Chaucer business; accordingly, the $6.4 million balance associated with this business was reduced as part of the sale.

(2) The balance at beginning of period and the balance at end of period include $6.3 million and $6.4 million, respectively, for the
year-ended 2017 related to the former Chaucer business.
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SCHEDULE VI

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION CONCERNIR NG PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATRR IONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(in millions)( )

AffiliatioA n with Registre ant

Deferrede
acquisitioii n

costs

Reserves for
unpan id

claims and
claim

adjustment
expenses (1)1

Discount, if
any,

deducted
from

previous
column (2)

Unearned
premiums (1)1

Earned
premiums

Net
investment

income
Consolidated Property and Casualty Subsu idiaries (3)

2019 $ 467.4 $ 5,654.4 $ —— $ 2,416.7 $ 4,474.5 $ 281.3
2018 $ 450.8 $ 5,304.1 $ —— $ 2,277.8 $ 4,254.4 $ 267.4
2017 $ 430.0 $ 5,058.5 $ —— $ 2,131.7 $ 3,980.4 $ 243.9

Claims and claimii
adjustment

expensesxx incurred related to

Current ye rar Prior years

Amortization
of defee rred
acquisiii tion

coststt

PaiPP d claimsii
and claim
adjustment
expenses

Premiums
writtenii

2019 $ 2,893.9 $ (28.4) $ 926.7 $ 2,616.5 $ 4,581.7
2018 $ 2,733.5 $ (8.9) $ 891.8 $ 2,496.6 $ 4,384.8
2017 $ 2,575.1 $ (0.2) $ 840.7 $ 2,282.2 $ 4,109.1

(1) Reserves for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses are shown gross of $1,574.8 million, $1,472.6 million and $1,455.0
million of reinsurance recoverable on unpain d losses in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Unearned premiums are shown gross
of prepaid premiums of $149.3 million, $117.6 million and $101.8 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Reserves for
unpan id claims and claims adjustd ment expense also include policyholder dividends.

(2) The Company does not use discounting techniques.
(3) Information for all periods excludes results and balances related to the discontinued Chaucer business. See Note 2 –

“Discontinued Operations” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on that business.
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E N D N O T E S

(1) Operating income and operating income per diluted share are non-GAAP measures. The 

following is a reconciliation of operating income and operating income per diluted share 

to the closest GAAP measures, income from continuing operations and income from 

continuing operations per diluted share, respectively: 

YEARS ENDED

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019

($ in millions, except per share data)
$ 

Amount
Per Share 
Diluted

$ 
Amount

Per Share 
Diluted

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

Commercial Lines $265.7 $300.1 

Personal Lines  146.2  144.9 

Other  (5.4)  8.6

Total  406.5  453.6 

Interest expense  (45.1)  (37.5)

Operating income before income taxes  361.4 $8.40  416.1 $10.24 

Income tax expense on operating income  (69.3)  (1.61)  (84.5)  (2.08)

Operating income after income taxes  292.1  6.79  331.6  8.16 

Non-operating items:

Net realized gains (losses) from sales and other  (2.7)  (0.06)  4.9  0.12

Net change in fair value of equity securities  (43.4)  (1.01)  106.5  2.62
Net other-than-temporary impairment losses on 

investments recognized in earnings  (4.6)  (0.11)  (2.0)  (0.05)

Loss from repayment of debt  (28.2)  (0.65)  -    -   

Other  -    -   (3.4) (0.08)
Income tax benefit (expense) on non-operating 

items  25.8  0.60 (8.6)  (0.21) 

Income from continuing operations, net of taxes  239.0  5.56  429.0  10.56 

Discontinued Operations (net of taxes):

Sale of Chaucer business  131.9  3.07 (1.2) (0.03)

Income from Chaucer business  20.0  0.46 1.6 0.04

Income (loss) from discontinued life businesses  0.1  -   (4.3) (0.11)

Net income $391.0  $9.09 $425.1  $10.46 

Weighted average shares outstanding 43.0 40.6 

(2) Operating Return on Average Equity and Adjusted Operating Return on Average Equity  

(“Operating ROE” and “Adjusted Operating ROE”) are non-GAAP measures. Operating ROE 

is calculated by dividing operating income after income taxes for the applicable period 

(see end note (1)), by the average of beginning, ending, and interim quarter ends’ total 

shareholders’ equity, excluding unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturity 

investments, net of tax, for the period presented. Total shareholders’ equity, excluding 

net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturity investments, net of tax, is also 

a non-GAAP measure. Total shareholders’ equity is the most directly comparable GAAP 

measure. Total shareholders’ equity, excluding unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on 

fixed maturity investments, net of tax, as of December 31, 2018, was reduced by the payment 

of $250 million made on January 2, 2019 related to the accelerated share repurchase 

agreement (“ASR”) entered into on December 30, 2018. For Adjusted Operating ROE, 

shareholders’ equity is further adjusted for “the [then] un-deployed equity” attributable to 

the sale of Chaucer in 2018, which is also a non-GAAP measure. Additionally, for the calcu-

lation of Adjusted Operating ROE, Operating income, net of tax, was reduced for the net 

investment income related to un-deployed equity attributable to Chaucer, net of tax, held 

during the period. Operating ROE and Adjusted Operating ROE should not be construed as 

substitutes for GAAP ROE. See calculations in the following tables, including the calculation 

of ROE using net income and average shareholders’ equity without adjustments: 

PERIODS ENDED
($ in millions) Dec. 31, 

2018
Mar. 31, 

2019
Jun. 30, 

2019
Sep. 30, 

2019
Dec. 31, 

2019
Total shareholders’ equity (GAAP) $2,954.7 $2,927.0 $2,941.1 $3,086.8 $2,916.2 
Less: net unrealized appreciation  

(depreciation) on fixed maturity  
investments, net of tax  (27.2)  90.7  192.3  235.3  216.0 

Total shareholders’ equity, excluding net 
unrealized appreciation (depreciation) 
on fixed maturity investments, net of tax  2,981.9  2,836.3  2,748.8  2,851.5  2,700.2 

Less: Payment made on January 2, 2019 
for the ASR agreement entered into on 
December 30, 2018  250.0  -    -    -    -   

Total shareholders’ equity, excluding net 
unrealized appreciation (depreciation) 
on fixed maturity investments, net of 
tax, for Dec. 31, 2019, excluding the 
ASR payment  2,731.9  2,836.3  2,748.8  2,851.5  2,700.2 

PERIODS ENDED
($ in millions) Dec. 31, 

2018
Mar. 31, 

2019
Jun. 30, 

2019
Sep. 30, 

2019
Dec. 31, 

2019
 2,731.9  2,836.3  2,748.8  2,851.5  2,700.2

Less: un-deployed equity attributable 
to Chaucer  406.6  406.6  256.6  256.6  -   

Adjusted shareholders’ equity, excluding 
both net unrealized appreciation  
(depreciation) on fixed maturity  
investments, net of tax, and un- 
deployed equity attributable to Chaucer $2,325.3 $2,429.7 $2,492.2 $2,594.9 $2,700.2 

Average shareholders’ equity (GAAP) $2,965.2 
Average shareholders’ equity, excluding 

net unrealized appreciation (deprecia-
tion) on fixed maturity investments, net 
of tax, for Dec. 31, 2019, excluding the 
ASR payment $2,773.7 

Average adjusted shareholders’ equity,  
excluding both net unrealized appreci-
ation (depreciation) on fixed maturity 
investments, net of tax, and un- 
deployed equity attributable to Chaucer $2,508.5

YEAR ENDED

NET INCOME ROE December 31, 2019

Net income (GAAP)  $425.1 

Average shareholders’ equity (GAAP)  2,965.2 

Return on equity 14.3%

OPERATING INCOME ROE (non-GAAP)

Operating income after income taxes  $331.6 
Average shareholders’ equity, excluding net unrealized  

appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturity investments,  
net of tax, for Dec. 31, 2019, excluding the ASR payment  2,773.7 

Operating return on equity 12.0%

ADJUSTED OPERATING INCOME ROE (non-GAAP)

Operating income, net of tax (end note (1))  $331.6 
Less: Annualized net investment income related to un-deployed 

equity attributable to Chaucer, net of tax* 9.3
Operating income, excluding the net investment income related to 

the un-deployed equity attributable to Chaucer, net of tax 322.3
Average adjusted shareholders’ equity, excluding both net unrealized 

appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturity investments, net of 
tax, and un-deployed equity attributable to Chaucer  2,508.5 

Adjusted operating return on equity 12.8%

(3) The expense ratio is reduced by installment and other fee revenues for purposes of the 

calculation. 

(4) Net premiums written, excluding targeted underwriting actions in Commercial Auto and 

Hanover Programs, is a non-GAAP measure. The following is a reconciliation of net  

premiums written, excluding Commercial Auto and Hanover Programs, to the closest 

GAAP measure, net premiums written: 

YEARS ENDED
Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2019 Growth

Consolidated net premiums written $4,384.8 $4,581.7 4.5 %
Less: 

Commercial Auto 344.8 336.1 (2.5)%
Hanover Programs 219.0 200.3 (8.5)%

Net premiums written, excluding Commercial 
Auto and Hanover Programs $3,821.0 $4,045.3 5.9 %

(5) Combined ratio, excluding catastrophe losses, is a non-GAAP measure. The combined 

ratio (which includes catastrophe losses) is the most directly comparable GAAP measure. 

The following is a reconciliation of the GAAP combined ratio to the combined ratio, 

excluding catastrophes:

YEAR ENDED
December 31, 2019

Total combined ratio 95.6%
Less: 

Catastrophe ratio 3.8%
Combined ratio, excluding catastrophe losses 91.8%

* Net investment income related to the un-deployed equit y at t r ibutable for each quar ter is 
calculated by mult iply ing the respect ive quar ter ’s un-deployed equit y at t r ibutable to Chaucer 
by the respect ive quar ter ’s total pre -tax y ield, net of tax and div iding by 4 . For the year ended 
December 31, 2019, net investment income related to the un-deployed equit y at t r ibutable to 
Chaucer is calculated by adding the respect ive quar ters’ net investment income related to the 
un-deployed equit y at t r ibutable to Chaucer, net of tax .

(Please see the top of the next column for the remainder of this reconciliation)
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R E G I S T R A R  &  S T O C K  

T R A N S F E R  A G E N T

Computershare Investor Services 

P.O. Box 505000 

Louisville, KY 40233-5000 

800-317-4454

I N D E P E N D E N T  A C C O U N T A N T S

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

101 Seaport Boulevard 

Suite 500 

Boston, MA 02210

C O R P O R A T E  O F F I C E 

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.  

440 Lincoln Street 

Worcester, MA 01653 

508-855-1000

P R I N C I P A L  S U B S I D I A R I E S

The Hanover Insurance Company  

440 Lincoln Street 

Worcester, MA 01653

Citizens Insurance Company of America 

808 North Highlander Way 

Howell, MI 48843

F I N A N C I A L  S T R E N G T H  R A T I N G S *

A.M. BEST

STANDARD & 

POOR’S MOODY’S

The Hanover Insurance Company A A A2

Citizens Insurance Company of America A A –

D E B T  R A T I N G *

 

THE HANOVER INSURANCE GROUP, INC. A.M. BEST

STANDARD & 

POOR’S MOODY’S

Senior Debt bbb+ BBB Baa2

Subordinated Debentures bbb- BB+ Baa3

* The above rat ings are accurate as of March 17, 2020, and may be revised, superseded or withdrawn by the respect ive rat ing agency 
at any t ime. For the most cur rent information concerning the f inancial rat ings of The Hanover Insurance Group and i ts subsidiar ies, 
please v isi t the websites of the respect ive rat ing agencies.

I N V E S T O R  I N F O R M A T I O N

For more information, including our annual report on Form 10-K and our quarterly 

reports on Form 10-Q and other documents filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission, please visit our website at hanover.com under “Investors.” Alternatively, 

investors may address questions to: 

Oksana Lukasheva 

Vice President, Investor Relations and Financial Planning and Analysis  

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

508-855-2063 

olukasheva@hanover.com

A B O U T  T H E  H A N O V E R

The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. is the holding company for several property 

and casualty insurance companies, which together constitute one of the largest 

insurance businesses in the United States. The company provides exceptional 

insurance solutions through a select group of independent agents and brokers. 

Together with its agents, The Hanover offers standard and specialized insurance 

protection for small and mid-sized businesses, as well as for homes, automobiles 

and other personal items. For more information, please visit hanover.com.

https://hanover.com/
mailto:olukasheva@hanover.com
https://hanover.com/
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31  
(In millions, except per share amounts)

2018 2019

Revenues $4,494 $4,891

Net Income $391 $425

Operating Income After Income Taxes1 $292 $332

Total Assets $12,400 $12,491

Shareholders’ Equity $2,955 $2,916

PER SHARE DATA

Net Income Per Diluted Share $9.09 $10.46

Operating Income Per Diluted Share1 $6.79 $8.16

Book Value Per Share $69.81 $75.94 

1 Operat ing income af ter income taxes and operat ing income af ter income taxes per dilu ted share are non-GA AP measures. 
Operat ing income before income taxes is the total operat ing income of each of the three business segments (Commercial 
L ines; Personal L ines; and Other) before income taxes. The def ini t ions and reconciliat ions of operat ing income and operat ing 
income per dilu ted share to the most direct ly comparable GA AP measures, income f rom continuing operat ions and income 
f rom continuing operat ions per dilu ted share, respect ively, can be found in the endnotes.

REVENUE 
( in mil l ions)

$4,891
$4,494

$4,268$4,054$3,928

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

S & P P& C I N S U R A N C E I N D E X
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20152014 2016 2017 2018 2019

S & P P& C I N S U R A N C E I N D E X
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

FIVE-YEAR TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE*

* The graph above compares the per formance of the company’s common stock since December 31, 2014, with the per formance 
of the S&P Proper t y & Casualt y Insurance Index and the S&P 500 Index . Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2014, in 
The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc.’s common stock or applicable index , including reinvestment of div idends. Source: S&P 
Global Market Intelligence ©2019
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A N N U A L  M E E T I N G  O F  S H A R E H O L D E R S

The management and Board of Directors of The Hanover Insurance Group, Inc. 

invite you to attend the company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The meeting  

will be held on Tuesday, May 12, 2020, at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time. While we intend 

to hold our annual meeting in person at our corporate headquarters, we are 

monitoring the public health impact of the novel coronavirus outbreak and the 

COVID-19 illness. If we determine that holding an in-person annual meeting could 

pose a risk to the health and safety of our shareholders, employees, and directors, 

or if we are otherwise required by state, local or other authorities to limit physical  

attendance and/or access to the meeting site, the Company may decide to hold 

the annual meeting solely by means of remote communication. In the event we 

decide to hold the annual meeting solely by remote communication, we will 

announce that determination in advance as promptly as practicable, and details 

on how to participate and demonstrate your ownership as of the record date will 

be issued by press release, posted on both our website and our proxy hosting 

website and filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission as additional 

proxy material. 

C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E  A N D  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board Committee Charters, Code of 

Conduct and other governance information are available on our website at  

hanover.com, under “About Us — Corporate Governance.” For a printed copy  

of any of these documents, shareholders may contact the company’s secretary  

at our corporate offices. 

For information on our values, corporate responsibility and inclusion and diversity, 

see those headings on our website under “About Us.” 

The company has filed its CEO and CFO Section 302 certificates as exhibits to its 

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. In 2019,  

the company also has submitted its annual CEO certification to the New York 

Stock Exchange.

C O M M O N  S T O C K

The common stock of The Hanover 

Insurance Group, Inc. is traded on 

the New York Stock Exchange under 

the symbol “THG.” As of the close 

of business on March 17, 2020, the 

company had approximately 15,878 

shareholders of record. On the same 

date, the closing price of the company’s 

common stock was $92.93 per share.

C O M M O N  S T O C K  P R I C E S

2019 HIGH LOW

First Quarter $120.17 $108.54

Second Quarter $128.90 $114.11

Third Quarter $135.71 $127.20

Fourth Quarter $139.27 $126.14

2018 HIGH LOW

First Quarter $120.84 $106.61

Second Quarter $123.22 $112.61

Third Quarter $130.49 $115.28

Fourth Quarter $120.25 $105.29

https://hanover.com/
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